{ STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

1979 - 1982

_Massachusetts State Ethics Commission__|




STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS

1979 - 1982

PUBLISHED BY
THE MASSACHUSETTS STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
James Vorenberg (Chairman)
David Brickman
Frances M. Burns
Rev, Bernard P. McLaughlin
Joseph I. Mulligan, Jr.

Robert V. Greco, Executive Director



Included in this volume are:

1. All Commission Decisions and Orders issued through
December 31, 1982

2. Selected Disposition Agreements and Compliance Letters
issued through December 31, 1982,

3. Summaries of all Disposition Agreements issued through
December 31, 1982.

Cite actions by name of case, year and page, as follows:
In the Matter of John Doe, 19____ Ethics Commission (page)



TABLE OF CASES

(By subject or respondent)

Almeida, VICIOT . ..\ ittt it ittt e i ie ittt 14
Antonelli, Rocco, J., Sr. .o o e e 101
Bagni, Willlam L., Sr.. . ... i e e 30
Bayko, Andrew. . ... o oo i e et i e 34
Brawley, Henry A. . ... oot i i i i ittt e e 84
Brooks, Edward . ... ..ottt i i it it 74
Buckley, John R, ...ttt it e i e 2
Collector-Treasurer's Office of the Cityof Boston. . .. ............. ... ... 0. 35
Craven, James J., JT.. . ..ot i e 17
Cunningham, GEOIge .. ...ttt ittt iaianans 85
DelPrete, EAmMund W. . ..ot ittt sttt ettt 87
Doherty, Henry M.. .. ..ottt it e e it i e iaaaens 115
Doyle, C.Joseph. . ..ottt e 11
L T 1 57
Fleming, David L., Jr. ... ..o i ittt e 118
Foster, BadiG. . ... ... ittt i i e i st n e i e 28
Goodsell, AIHSOMn .. .u vttt it et ie e e et e et e e 38
Hanna, Frederick. . ..o i ittt ittt iieiie it torronracansianaenennss 1
Hatem, EllisJohn. ... ... . o e 121
Hulbig, William J. . . ..o oo e et s 112
Logan, Lowis L. .. oottt ettt 40
Martin, Michael. ... ...t iii ittt ittt et sta e eeraanen 113
McLean, William G. .. oo i it et et et i sttty 75
Mental Health, Department of, Compliance Letter 81-21...................00e. 50
Michael, George A. .. ... o ittt ittt it iy 59
Pellicelli, John A. ... ... o ittt 100
Risser, Herbert E., Jr. ...ttt iiiie e et iiiai e 58
Saccone, John P. ... o i e 87
Sharrio, Daniel. . . ..o ittt it e e e e i e e e 114
Simches, Richard B. .. ..ottt ittt i it ittt et et aaeananenns 25
Smith, Bernard J.. . . ...t oii ittt i et 24
White, Kevin H., Compliance Letter 82-2. . ........ ... . .ot 80



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 119

IN THE MATTER
OF
FREDERICK HANNA

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”) and
Frederick Hanna (“Mr. Hanna"), pursuant to
Section 11 of the Commission’s Procedures
Covering the Initiation and Conduct of Pre-
liminary Inquiries and Investigations.

On September 7, 1979, the Commission,
pursuant to Section 4(a) of General Laws, Chapter
268B, initiated a Preliminary Inquiry into pos-
sible violations of the Conflict of Interest Law,
General Laws Chapter 268A, involving Mr.
Hanna, a State Inspector for the Massachusetts
Department of Public Health, Division of Food
and Drug. In particular, the Inquiry focused on
Mr. Hanna's ownership of two private enter-
prises which did business with businesses regu-
lated by the Division of Food and Drug.

The Commission has concluded its investi-
gation into Mr. Hanna's involvement in the mat-
ters set forth herein and has made the following
findings to which the parties hereto agree:

1. Frederick Hanna has been an employee
of the Department of Public Health, Division of
Food and Drug since 1964, and currently holds
the position of Senior Food and Drug Inspector,
assigned to the Seafood Inspection Section. Mr.
Hanna has held this position since 1975, and is
responsible for conducting and/or supervising
all inspections of seafood, and wholesale and
retail businesses dedling in seafood products, in
the Greater Boston area.

2. Frederick Hanna and his spouse are the
principal owners of General Foods and Baking
Company, which was located in Quincy, Mass.
from September 1976 through August 1978.
During this period, the General Foods and Baking
Company produced and marketed baked stuffed
clams as its primary product. During this period,
General Foods and Baking Company purchased
raw seafood products from 4 seafood wholesalers
in the Greater Boston area and after processing,
sold its baked stuffed clam product to 8 seafood

wholesalers and retailers in the Greater Boston
area.

3. Between September 1976 and August
1978, Frederick Hanna, in his official capacity
as a Senior Seafood Inspector for the Division of
Food and Drug, personally conducted and/or
supervised over 60 separate inspections of the 12
seafood wholesalers and retailers in the Greater
Boston area, with which his company did busi-
ness.

4. Mr. Hanna's participation as a state
employee in the inspection of businesses from
which General Foods and Baking Company pur-
chased or to which it sold seafood products con-
stituted civil violations of Section 6 of General
Laws, Chapter 268A.

5. Mr. Hanna's conduct, in engaging in a
private enterprise which produced and marketed
products which he was responsible for inspecting,
and which sold those products to businesses which
he was responsible for inspecting and regulating,
constituted a civil violation of Section 23(e) of
General Laws Chapter 268A, in that it created a
reasonable basis for the impression that businesses
with which he did business in his private capacity
could unduly enjoy his favor in the performance
of his official duties.

6. In addition to their financial interest in
General Foods and Baking, Frederick Hanna
and his spouse are principal owners and operators
of Hanna Construction. Company of Dedham,
MA. Since 1958, the Hanna Construction Com-
pany has been primarily engaged in the business
of snow removal.

7. During the period from December 1974,
through March 1979, the Hanna Construction
Company contracted to plow parking lots of 4
large retail supermarket chain stores in the Greater
Boston area. During theé same period in which
Mr. Hanna's construction company was providing
snow removal services for these supermarkets,
Mr. Hanna in his capacity as a Senior Seafood
Inspector for the Division of Food and Drug,
personally conducted and/or supervised over 20
separate inspections of the businesses with which
his company did business.

8. Mr, Hanna's participation as a state
employee in the inspections of businesses with
which Hanna Construction Company had snow
removal contracts constituted civil violations of
Section 6 of General Laws Chapter 268A.

9. Mr. Hanna's conduct, in engaging in a
private enterprise which contracted to provide



snow removal services for those businesses he is
responsible for inspecting and regulating, con-
stituted a civil violation of Section 23(e) of Gen-
eral Laws, Chapter 268A, in that it created a
reasonable basis for the impression that businesses
with which he did business in his private capacity
could unduly enjoy his favor in the performance
of his official dyties.

10. During March of 1975, a Health In-
spector for the City of Boston conducted a sani-
tary inspection of the Near East Baking Company
of West Roxbury. The City Inspector reported
that the bakery was in poor sanitary condition
and recommended that the bakery be closed until
all identified code violations were corrected.

11. On March 27, 1975, Mr. Hanna con-
tacted the above mentioned Boston Health In-
spector, advised him that he was a State Food
and Drug Inspector, and further advised him
that'he had a financial interest in Near East Bak-
ing Company and demanded that the City In-
spector change his inspection report to reflect
more favorably the sanitary condition of the
bakery. The City Inspector refused Mr. Hanna’s
request and no changes were made in the in-
spection report.

12. Mr. Hanna's conduct as set forth in
paragraph 11 above, constituted a civil violation
of Section 23(d) of General Laws, Chapter 268A,
in that he attempted to use his official position
as a State Food and Drug Inspector to secure an
unwarranted privilege for himself and the Near
East Baking Company.

The State Ethics Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the
disposition of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following
conditions hereby agreed to by Frederick Hanna:

1. That he voluntarily terminate his em-
ployment with the Department of Public Health,
Division of Food and Drug within 90 days of the
execution of this Agreement;

2. That he pay to the State Ethics Com-
mission the amount of $6,500 as civil penalty
for his conduct as outlined above pursuant to the
terms and conditions agreed by the parties; and

3. That he waive all rights to contest the
findings of fact, conclusions of law and terms
and conditions imposed under this Agreement,
in this or any related civil proceeding in which
the State Ethics Commission is a party.

DATE: February 13, 1980

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLLK, ss Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 108

IN THE MATTER
OF
JOHN R. BUCKLEY

Appearances:
Robert J. Cordy, Esq: Associate General
Counsel, State Ethics Commission
Frank L. Bridges, Esq.: Counsel to the Re-
spondent

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch., Kistler, Brickman, Bern-
stein, McLaughlin

DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

On August 13, 1979, the Petitioner, the
¢State Ethics Commission by its Associate General
Counsel, filed an Order to Show Cause alleging
that the Respondent, John R. Buckley, had vio-
lated section 5(g) of the Financial Disclosure
Law, General Laws Chapter 268B, by inten-
tionally omitting certain information from his
Statement of Financial Interests (SFI) and failing
to correct the deficiencies or file a complete SFI
within 10 days of having received notice to do so
from the Commission.!/ Mr. Buckley admits the
allegations but denies that he violated the law.
He contends, inter alia, that the Financial Dis-
closure Law, General Laws Chapter 268B, and
the SFI's issued thereunder violate the right of
privacy of the members of his immediate family
in contravention of the state and federal con-
stitutions and that the Commission has exceeded
its authority by requiring disclosure on infor-
mation not required by law to be revealed. He
also contends that the Commission failed to con-
duct appropriate proceedings as required by
section 4 of Chapter 268B prior to initiating

1/M.G.C. c. 268B, §5(g) provides, in pertinent part “Failure of a
reporting person to file a Staternent of Financial Interest within ten days
after receiving notice to do so as provided in clause (f} of section 3 of
this chapter, or the filing of an incomplete Statement of Financial
Interests after receipt of such a notice, is a violation of this chapter
and the Commission may initiate appropriate proceedings pursuant
to the provisions of section 4 of this chapter.”



this proceeding and therefore is without juris-
diction to hear and decide this matter.

The hearing was held on January 25, 1980
before James Vorenberg, Chairman of the Com-
mission. See G.L. c. 268B, §4(c).?/ Post-hearing
briefs were filed by Counsel. Each Commissioner
received a copy of the transcript of the proceeding
and the exhibits, together with a copy of the
briefs. Oral argument before four members of
the Commission occurred on March 24, 1980.
In rendering this decision and order, each of
the participating Commissioners has heard and/
or read the evidence and arguments presented
by the parties.

II. Findings of Fact

1. On April 30, 1979, Mr. Buckley filed
his Statement of Financial Interests (SFI) with
the State Ethics Commission.*

2. Section C. 1 of the Statement of Financial
Interests for calendar year 1978 (SFI) requires
disclosure of the business associations of the filer
and the members of his immediate family, in-
cluding the name of the person having the associ-
ation and the position held by that person. Sec-
tion C. 1 of the statement filed by Mr. Buckley
contained the following statement:

Information omitted; privilege based

on privacy under appiicable State and

Federal Laws.

None as to filer.

3. Section J. 1 of the SFI requires disclosure
of real property located in Massachusetts with an
assessed valuation in excess of $1,000 in which
the filer or a member of his immediate family
held a direct or indirect financial interest, in-
cluding the identity of the person holding the
interest; section K. 1 requires disclosure of certain
liabilities in excess of $1,000 owed by the filer or
a family member, including the identity of the
debtor. Sections J. 1 and K. 1. of the SFI filed by
Mr. Buckley contained the statement:

Information omitted; privilege based

on privacy under applicable State and
. Federal Laws.

Mr. Buckley also stated that members of his
family had declined to disclose to him information
required in Section C.1, J.1 and K.1.

4. OnJune 27, 1979, the Executive Director
of the Commission sent Mr. Buckley a Notice of
Delinquency which advised him that his SFI was
deficient because he had not fully answered ques-

tions C.1, J.1 and K.1. The notice further ad-
vised Mr. Buckley that unless he amended his
Statement to conform to the requirements of the
law within 10 days, he would be in violation of
the law and subject to adjudicatory proceedings
and penalties including a civil fine of up to $1,000.

5. Mr. Buckley did not amend his State-
ment or file a new Statement within 10 days.
Rather, on July 10, 1979, he sent a letter to the
Executive Director advising him that he had
chosen not to amend his Statement. He also in-
formed the Executive Director that he had re-
tained an attorney to represent him and he re-
quested a hearing “to respond to the Notice of
Delinquency sent by the State Ethics Commission.”

6. On August 7, 1979, these facts were
presented to the Ethics Commission in Executive
Session. On that date, the Commission voted to
commence a preliminary inquiry. The Commis-
sion reviewed the staff’s report and recommend-
ation. Since the facts in the matter were not dis-
puted and the only issues presented were ones of
law, the Commission, on the same date, also
found reasonable cause to believe that a violation
of section 5(g) of Chapter 268B had occurred
and authorized the General Counsel to initiate
an adjudicatory proceeding against Mr. Buckley.

7. On August 13, 1979, the Commission
filed the Order to Show Cause which charged
Mr. Buckley with having violated section 5(g) of
Chapter 268B by filing a deficient SFI and failing
to correct his SFI within 10 days of having re-
ceived notice to do so. On this same date, the
Commission sent notice to Mr. Buckley of the
Commission’s action, and notified the Attorney
General :hat it had initiated a preliminary in-
quiry in this matter.

8. Mr. Buckley is married and, during
calendar year 1978, was the father of 4 dependent
children. Mr. Buckley testified that during 1978
his sole employment was as Secretary of Admini-
stration and Finance for the Commonwealth; he

*/G.L. c. 2688, §4{c) (18) provides: “Any member of the commis-
sion may administer oaths and any member of the commission may
hear tutimr;ny or receive other evidence in any proceeding before the
commission.”

3/The State Ethics Commission, created in 1978, is authorized and
required to implement and enforce the provisions of the Financial
Disclosure Law, Chapter 268B of the General Laws of Massachusetts,
which is applicable to certain state and county officials. In furtherance
of this objective, the Commission is required to prepare and publish
forms to be used by all persons required to file a Statemnent of Financial
Interests.



did not own, by himself, any real property in
Massachusetts with an assessed valuation in excess
of $1,000 nor did he owe, by himself, any lia-
bilities in excess of $1,000 required to be reported
on the SFI.

9. At the time he prepared his SFI, Mr.
Buckley was aware that some of his children had
been employed during 1978 and, although he
was aware of the names of some but not all of the
businesses by which they had been employed, he
intentionally omitted disclosing in section C.1
all information within his knowledge regarding
their business associations.

10. At the time he prepared his statement,
Mr. Buckley was aware that in 1978 he had a
financial interest, jointly or otherwise, with a
member of his immediate family in real property
located in Massachusetts with an assessed value
in excess of $1,000 and that he had a reportable
liability in excess of $1,000 which he owed jointly
with a member of his immediate family. Mr.
Buckley intentionally omitted disclosing infor-
mation in sections J.1 regarding the real property
and section K.1 regarding this liability.

11. Mr. Buckley testified that at the time
he prepared his statement he did not know
whether his children owned any real property in
this state with an assessed value in excess of $1,000,
nor did he know of any reportable liability in
excess of $1,000 owed by his wife or any of his
children as of December 31, 1978.

12. Mr. Buckley and his family followed
the legislative progress of the financial disclosure
law. They had many discussions regarding pro-
tecting to the degree possible the privacy of the
family members of public officials. His wife and
children objected strenuously to any public dis-
closure of information regarding their activities
since such disclosure, in their judgment, was not
necessary to insure the integrity of his activities
as a public employee. Mr. Buckley respected their
wishes when preparing his Statement in order not
to “exacerbate” the family situation,

III. Conclusions of Law

Three questions are raised in this case:

1) does the Commission have jurisdiction
to hear and decide this matter; 2) does the finan-
cial disclosure law constitute an unconstitutional
invasion into the privacy of the members of the
immediate family of public officials, and 3) has
the Commission exceeded the scope of its authority

by requiring the disclosure of information not
required by law to be revealed?

A. Jurisdiction ;

Mr. Buckley contends that the Commission
lacks jurisdiction to conduct this proceeding be-
cause it failed to comply with the “jurisdictional
prerequisites” mandated by section 4. Specifically,
he seeks dismissal of the charges on the grounds
that the Commission failed to conduct a sufficient
preliminary inquiry and failed to send notice to
the Attorney General of the initiation of the pre-
liminary inquiry “at the beginning” thereof as is
required by section 4(a). In essence, Mr. Buckley
challenges the fact that the Commission author-
ized the preliminary inquiry and made the reason-
able cause determination at the same time and
on the same set of facts without affording him
an opportunity for an “amicable resolution” of
the dispute prior to entering into the public phase
of the proceeding. He argues that the Commis-
sion should have coordinated its activities with
the Attorney General. Furthermore, Mr. Buckley
contends that the Commission did not have suf-
ficient evidence to warrant the conclusion that
there was “reasonable cause for belief’ that a
violation of the law had occurred.+

By enacting Chapter 210 of the Acts of 1978,
the Legislature required certain public officials
and employees to disclose publicly certain of
their financial interests as a means of assuring
the citizens of this Commonwealth of the “im-
partiality and honesty of public officials. . .”
Opinion of the Justices, Mass. Adv. Sh. (1978)
1116, 1131, 376 N.E.2d 810, 819 (1978). Simul-
taneously, the Legislature created the State Ethics
Commission, St. 1978, ¢. 210, §20(2). The Com-
mission was and is authorized to implement,
administer and enforce the financial disclosure
law. St. 1978, c. 210, §20, §§2, 3, 4, 5. Auchority
to render advisory opinions interpreting the con-
flict of interest law, General Laws, Chapter 268A,
was transferred from the Attorney General to the
Commission, St. 1978, c. 210, §§10, 20(3)(g)-

‘/Mr. Buckley concedes that the Commission has apparently un-
limited power to commence a preliminary inquiry under section 4(a),
Resp. Brief at 13. He contends, however, that while the contents of
his SF1 may have been sufficient to warrant the preliminary inquiry, they
were not sufficient to warrant the reasonable cause determination,
Furthermore, he suggests that there were no facts presented o the
Commission to show that reportable information had actually been
omitted from the SFI and, thercfore, there was no reason 10 believe
that the law had, in fact, been violated. Resp. Brief at 15,



In addition, the Commission was constituted as
the primary civil enforcement agency for vio-
lations of the conflict of interest law, as well as
the Financial Disclosure Law, St. 1978, c. 210,
§§12, 18, 20, §§3(i), 4, 5. In this regard, the
Commission is authorized to investigate allega-
tions, initiate accusations, adjudicate violations
and impose sanctions, St. 1978, c. 210, §20(4).

Pursuant to its enabling legislation, codified
in General Laws Chapter 268B, the Commission
is required to prescribe and publish rules and
regulations to carry out the purposes of Chapter
268B, §3(a), and to prepare forms for Statements
of Financial Interest for use by reporting persons,
§3(b). Section 5(g) outlines the financial infor-
mation which must be disclosed by a filer with
respect to himself and his immediate family. A
filer must disclose, among other things, infor-
mation regarding business associations, §5(g)(1),
property located in Massachusetts with an as-
sessed value in excess of $1,000, §5(g)(6), and
certain liabilities in excess of $1,000, §5(g)(3).5
Upon receipt of a Statement of Financial Interest,
the Commission must inspect the filing “in order
to ascertain whether any reporting person has
failed to file such a Statement or has filed a de-
ficient Staterment” and if it is ascertained that
the SFI fails to conform with the requirements
of the law, the Commission must send written
notice to the delinquent filer detailing the alleged
deficiency and the penalties for failure to file an
SF1, §3(f). Section 5(g) provides that the failure
of a reporting person to file an SFI within 10 days
of having received notice to do so, or the filing
of an incomplete statement after receipt of such
notice, is a violation of the chapter for which the
Commission may initiate appropriate proceedings
pursuant to section 4 of the law,

Section 4 governs the investigations and “ap-
propriate proceedings” conducted by the Com-
mission and establishes the scope of the Commis-
sions’s remedial and punitive powers. Section 4(a)
provides that upon receipt of a sworn complaint
or evidence “deemed sufficient”, the Commission
shall initiate a confidential preliminary inquiry
into any alleged violation of the law. That section
further provides that the General Counsel shall
notify the Attorney General “at the beginning”
of any preliminary inquiry and shall, within 30
days, send notice of the preliminary inquiry and
the general nature of the alleged inquiry to the
subject thereof. If the preliminary inquiry indi-
cates “reasonable cause for belief” that there has

been a violation of the laws, the Commission may
vote to initiate a full investigation and appropri-
ate adjudicatory proceedings, §4(c).%/ If the Com-
mission determines that a violation has occurred,
it may order the violator to (1) cease and desist,
(2) file any report, statement or other information
required by Chapters 268A or 268B, and/or (3)
pay a civil penalty of not more than $1,000 per
violation, §4(d).

While it is open to a Respondent to show
that the Commission failed to make the finding
of reasonable cause required by the statute, the
factual basis for making such a finding is not
subject to challenge. Standard Oil Co. of Cali-
fornia v. F.T.C., 596 F.2d 1381 (9th Cir. 1979),
cert. granted 40 U.S.L.W, 3554 (February 25,
1980); Hills Bros. v. F.T.C., 9 F.2d 481 (9th
Cir. 1926), cert. den. 270 U.S. 662 (1926). See
also Ewing v. Mytinger & Casselberry, Inc. 339
U.S. 594, 70 5.Ct. 870 (1950). As stated in Stand-
ard Oil Co. of California v. F.T.C., supra at
1386,

Because FTC complaints should

not issue other than as prescribed in 14

USC §46(b), SOCAL’s claims should

be reviewed. However, we emphasize

that review is limited. It cannot extend

to an assessment by the District Court

of what constitutes ‘reason to believe’

but simply whether the FTC disregarded

the mandate and restrictions of 15 USC

§45(b) by not even making the ‘reason

to believe’ determination at all.

If the district court finds as a fact

that the FT'C made the ‘reason to believe’

determination albeit with outside pres-

sures, then it can be concluded that the

FTC has complied with 45 USC §45(b)

and further review would be foreclosed.

If on the other hand the district court

finds that the complaint was issued

soley because of outside pressure or
with complete absence of a ‘reason to
believe’ determination, that the FTC

has not complied with the act.

The Commission has discretion to determine
whether sufficient cause exists to warrant action

$/Sce infra, page{9].

*/1f, however, the preliminary inquiry fails to indicate “'reasonable
cause for belief” that a violation has occurred, the Commission must
immediately terminate the inquiry and send notice thereof to the subject
and the Complainant, §4(b).



under section 4, see McKenney v. Commission
on Judicial Conduct, Mass. Adv. Sh., (1979)
1006, 388 N.E.2d 666, 672 (1979). The purpose
of the preliminary investigation “is to discover
and procure evidence, not to prove a pending
charge or complaint, but upon which to make
one if, int he [agency's] judgment, the facts thus
discovered should justify doing so.” Oklahoma
Press Publishing Co. v. Walling, 327 U.S. 186,
201, 66 S.Ct. 494, 501 (1946).7/ The nature and
duration of the investigation must, of obvious
necessity, depend on the circumstances of each
case. See, generally, McKenney v. Commission
on Judicial Conduct, Mass. Adv. Sh. (1980) 833.
The law gives and agency “great discretion in
deciding when to move from an investigative to
adjudicative stage”, Standard Oil Co. v. F.T.C.,
475 F. Supp. 1261, 1270 (N.D. Ind. 1979), or
whether to make such a move at all. Compare
Binns v. Board of Bar Overseers, 369 Mass.
851, 343 N.E.2d 868 (1976) (no appeal available
from decision of the Board not to institute pro-
ceedings); Vaca v. Sipes. 368 U.S. 171, 87 S.Ct.
903 (1967) (discretion vested in General Counsel
of the National Labor Relations Board to refuse
to issue a complaint is unreviewable).

An administrative agency’s investigations
and probable cause determinations are analogous
to grand jury proceedings, United States v.
Morton Salt Co., 338 U.S. 632, 642-3, 70 5.Ct.
357, 364 (1950); Ewing v. Mytinger & Cassel-
berry, Inc., 339 U.S. 594, 599, 70 5.Ct. 870, 873
(1950). Thus, just as it is clearly inappropriate
to challenge an indictment which is valid on its
face on the ground that the grand jury acted on
‘he basis of inadequate or incompetent evidence
since the adequacy of the evidence can be tested
at trial, United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338,
§44-5, 94 5.Ct. 613, 618 (1974); Commonwealth
v. Robinson, Mass. Adv. Sh. (1977) 2273, 368
N.E.2d 1210 (1977), an Order to Show Cause,
/alid on its face, will not be set aside on the
zround that the evidence presented to the agency
~as inadequate or insufficient, since the adequacy
ind sufficiently of the evidence can and must be
iested, in the first instance, at the administrative
1earing.

Furthermore, no authority has been cited,
r found, which suggests it was error for the
Sommission to authorize the preliminary inquiry,
leliberate on the evidence presented, and make
he reasonable cause determination at the same
neeting of the Comrmission.

Accordingly, since the determinations re-
quired as conditions precedent to bringing this
action were clearly made as required by section 4
of G.L. c. 268B, the Commission has jurisdiction
to hear and decide the case.?/

Mr. Buckley also challenges the failure of
the Commission to send notice of the initiation of
the preliminary inquiry to the Attorney General
“at the beginning” thereof as required by section
4(a). He notes that such notice serves the valid
purpose of enabling criminal investigations and
prosecutions to be coordinated between the vari-
ous law enforcement agencies without damaging
or hampering ‘the rights of the state or the ac-
cused. Notice was sent to the Attorney General
as required by section 4(a). While it is true that
the notice was sent on the same day that the
Order to Show Cause was filed, there is no evi-
dence that Mr. Buckley was harmed in any way
by the five (5) day delay in sending the notice.
The harm, if there has been any, would have
accrued to the Attorney General and he has not
complained of the procedure followed in this
case. Accordingly, the notice requirement of
section 4(a) was satisfied.

III. Right of Privacy

Chapter 210 of the Acts of 1978, including
the financial disclosure law, started as an initi-
ative petition filed with the General Court under
the provisions of Art. 48 of the Constitution of
the Commonwealth. The Senate requested an
opinion of the Justices of the Supreme Judicial
Court as to whether the law would violate the
constitutional rights of privacy of the persons
required to file and the members of their immedi-
ate families. On April 27, 1978, the Justices up-
held the financial disclosure provisions of the

'/"An investigation discovers and produces cvidence; an adjudi-
cation tests such evidence upon a record in an adversary proceeding . . .
to determine whether it sustains whatever charges are based upon it.”
General Parts Co, v. F.T.C., 445, F.2d 1382, 1388 (5th Cir. 1971).

*/Furthermore, it should be noted that, on August 7, 1979, the
Commission was advised that Mr. Buckley admitted on his SFI that he
had omitted reporting information and that he had failed to correct the
alleged deficiencies after having reccived the appropriate notice to do
so. His admitted refusal to disclose reportable information under these
circumstances constituted “reasonable cause for belief” that the law
had been violated; further investigation to determine exacily what he
had refused o disclose was unnecessary and could only have unduly
delayed a resclution of the matter. In fact, the Commission still does
not know exactly what information Mr. Buckley has failed to disclose
since he objected to the introduction of such evidence at the hearing,
preferring instead simply to admit that he has refused to disclosz infor-
mation requested on the form,



proposed law. Opinion of the Justices, Mass.
Adv. Sh. (1978) 1116, 1124-1134, 376 N.E.2d
810, 816-820. The Court noted that the filing of
Statements of Financial Interests by public of-
ficials, employees and candidates provides a
means “which the Legislature or the people could
believe to be rationally related to the achieve-
ment of the legitimate goal of assuring the people
of ‘impartiality and honesty of public officials
(§1 of the proposed new G.L. c. 268B)." Opinion
of the Justices, Mass. Adv. Sh. (1978) 1116, 1131,
376 N.E.2d 810, 819. While the Court held that
the test to be applied in evaluating the statute
against a right to privacy claim was whether the
law was rationally related to a legitimate state
purpose, it advised that, in its opinion, the law
would be constitutional even under the more
stringent “strict scrutiny” test. Opinion of the
Justices, spura. Accordingly, the Court con-
cluded that the financial disclosure law does not
violate the rights of privacy of filers or the mem-
bers of their immediate families in contravention
of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United
States Constitution or Articles 1, 14 or 16 of the
Massachusetts Declaration of Rights.

The rationale underlying disclosure of the
financial interests of family members are ap-
parent:

. . . [such disclosure] provisions are
reasonably necessary to promote the
act's underlying purposes, for otherwise
an official could defeat the disclosure
provisions by the simple means of trans-
ferring record title to his spouse or de-
pendent children. Finally, even as to
property in which the official has no
beneficial interest whatever (such as his
spouse’s separate property), the act
serves the legitimate purpose of assuring
that the official disclose the fact that
his spouse or dependent children own
property which might be materially af-
fected by his official actions., Common
sense tells us that although an official
may have no economic interest in such
property, nevertheless, he may react
favorably, or without total objectivity,
to a proposal which could materially
enhance the value of that property.
Disclosure might substantially inhibit
such sympathetic reaction, thereby pro-
moting the act’s goals of honesty and
impartiality in government. County of

Nevada v. MacMillen 11 Cal. 3d 662,

522 P.2d 1345, 1353 (1974).

In view of the strong public interest in as-
suring the honesty, integrity and impartiality of
public officials and employees, the overwhelming
weight of authority holds that financial disclosure
laws do not violate the rights of privacy of public
officials and employees or their immediate fam-
ilies. See O’Brien v. DiGrazia, 544, F.2d 543,
545-46 (1st Cir. 1976), cert. denied sub. nom.,
O’'Brien v. Jordan, 431 U.S. 914 (1977); County
of Nevada v. MacMillen, 11 Cal.3d 662, 676,
522 P.2d 1345, 1353-4 (1974); Fritz v. Groton,
83 Wash.2d 272, 517 P.2d 911, 923 (1974), app.
dismissed 417 U.S. 902 (1974); Stein v. Howlett,
52 I1l.2d 570, 289 N.E.2d 409, 413, app. dis-
missed 412 U.S. 925 (1973); Illinois State Em-
ployees’ Association v. Walker, 57 Ill.2d 512,
315 N.W.2d 9, 17, cert. denied sub. nom.; Troop-
ers Lodge No. 41 v. Walker, 419 U.S. 1058
(1974). See also Plante v. Gonzalez, 575 F.2d
1119, 1123-4, 1127-37 (5th Cir. 1978), cert.
denied 439 U.S. 1129 (1979) and cases cited
therein.

In City of Carmel-by-the-Sea v. Young,
2 Cal.3d 259, 466 P.2d 225 (1970), relied upon
by Mr. Buckley, the California Supreme Court,
employing the strict scrutiny test, invalidated a
requirement that public employees disclose all
investments exceeding $10,000 since those dis-
closures were unrelated to the narrow provisions
of the state’s conflict of interest law and there-
fore intruded into irrelevant private financial
matters. The California Supreme Court subse-
quently upheld the modified financial disclosure
law, enacted in response to the Carmel decision,
stating “[a]lthough the . . . act may to some ex-
tent invade the privacy of the official's spouse
or dependent children, we think the public's in-
terest in an honest and impartial government
outweighs the interest of such persons in main-
taining complete privacy in their financial affairs.”
County of Nevada v. MacMillen, 11 Cal.3d
662, 676, 522 P.2d 1345, 1353 (1974) (n.10).

The Supreme Judicial Court of Massachu-
setts, while clearly rejecting the strict scrutiny
analysis applied in Carmel, supra, specifically
indicated that our financial disclosure law would
be constitutional even under the more stringent
test. Opinion of the Justices, Mass. Adv. Sh.
(1978) 116, 1130-31, 376 N.E.2d 810, 818. More-
over, in California, “[n]o effort {was] made to
relate the disclosure to financial dealings or assets



which might be expected to give rise to a conflict
of interest. . ."”, City of Carmel-by-the-Sea v.
Young, 2 Cal.3d 259, 466 P.2d 225, 232 (1970).
That is not the case in Massachusetts.

The Massachusetts financial disclosure law,
unlike the California statute, complements the
provisions of the Massachusetts conflict of interest
law, General Laws Chapter 268B and the forms
issued pursuant thereto by the Ethics Commis-
sion require a filer to disclose his own and his
family's business associations,®/ interests in real
property with an assessed valuation in excess of
$1.000.®/ and certain liabilities in excess of
$1,000.''/ These disclosures complement the
provisions of the conflict of interest law which
prohibit state employees from receiving “anything
of value” from private sources in certain situ-
ations'?/ or from participating, except in limited
circumstances, in any particular matter in which
the state employee, a member of his immediate
family or certain business associates, has a fin-
ancial interest.!*/ Public financial disclosure
identifies actual or potential violations of the
conflict of interest law. The disclosures identify
situations in which a public official cannot both
maintain a private interest and exercise official
authority; they also seek to prevent filers from
circumventing the prohibitions of the conflict of
interest law by transferring assets, income or
liabilities to members of their immediate families.
See County of Nevada v. MacMillen, 11 Cal.3d
662, 676, 522 P.2d 1345, 1353 (1974). The right
of citizens to know that public office is not used
for private financial gain in violation of the public
trust justifies this limited intrusion into family
financial matters. Therefore, the provisions of
the financial disclosure law and the SFI's issued
thereunder do not violate the rights of privacy of
the family members of public officials and em-
ployees, Opinion of the Justices, Mass. Adv. Sh.
(1978) 1116, 1124-34; 376 N.E.2d 810, 816-210
(1978).

IV. Authority of the Commission

Finally, Mr. Buckley contends that the Com-
mission has exceeded its authority by requiring
disclosure of information not required by law to
be revealed. Specifically, he challenges the obli-
gation to report interests in real property or cer-
tain liabilities valued in excess of $1,000 in which
a member of his immediate family has a financial
interest and the requirement to disclose the

identity of the family member who has the busi-
ness association, owns the property or owes the
liability.

While an agency may not exceed or extend
its statutory authority or adopt a regulation which
conflicts with its enabling legislation, Bureau of
Old Age Assistance of Natick v. Commissioner
of Public Welfare, 326 Mass. 121, 124, 9%
N.E.2d 267, 269 (1950), its powers are shaped
by its enabling statute taken as a whole, and need
not necessarily be traced to specific words in the
law, Commonwealth v. Cerveny, 373 Mass. 345,
354, 367 N.E.2d 802, 808 (1977), and cases cited
therein. When an agency has a broad grant of
authority to implement a program of reform or
social welfare, it has a “wide range of discretion
in establishing the parameters of its authority”
and should construe its enabling legislation
broadly to further purposes of such reform, Levy
v. Board of Reg. & Discipline in Medicine,
Mass.Adv.Sh. (1979) 1857, 1865, 393 N.E.2d
1036, 1040, and to enable it to fill in the details
of the law in accordance with the legislative
policy. Commonwealth v. Racine, 372 Mass.
651, 635, 363 N.E.2d 500, 508 (1977); Harbor-
Vview Res, Comm., Inc. v. Quincy Housing
Authority, 368 Mass. 425, 332 N.E.2d 891, 895
(1975); Commonwealth v, Diaz, 326 Mass. 525,
527, 95 N.E.2d 666, 668 (1950). This authoricy
includes adopting regulations which are reason-
ably related to the purposes of the enabling leg-
islation: Consolidated Cigar Corp. v. Depart-
ment of Public Health, 372 Mass. 844, 850-58,
364 N.E.2d 1202, 1207-11 (1977); Town Taxi
Inc., v. Police Commissioner of Boston, Mass.
Adv. Sh. (1979) 738, 387 N.E.2d 129, 135, Levy
v. Board of Reg. & Discipline in Medicine,
supra and cases cited therein.

The legislation mandating public disclosure
of the financial interests of public officials and
employees and their immediate families is a re-
form measure designed to assure the citizenry of
the honestry and integrity of its officials and em-
ployees. The Ethics Commission, created as a
part of this reform measure, is the primary civil
enforcement agency for this law, G.L. c. 268B,

*/M.G.L. c. 268B, §5(g)(1); section C.1 of the 5F1, see infra.
*/M.G.C. c. 2688, §5(g)(6); section ].1 of the SFI, sec infra.
"/M.G.L. c. 268B, §6(g}(3): section K.1 of the SFI, see infra.
/M.G.L.c. 26BA, §§2, S and 4.

*/M.G.L. c. 26BA, §6.



§3(i); it is authorized to “prescribe and publish. . .
rules and regulations to carry out the purpose” of
the new law, G.L. c. 268B, §3(a), and to “pre-
scribe and publish . . . forms for the statements
[of financial interests] . . .”, G.L. c. 268B, §3(b).

The information required by law to be dis-
closed is set forth in section 5(g) of G.L. c. 268B,
That section provides in relevant part:

Reporting persons shall disclose,
to the best of their knowledge, the fol-
lowing information for the preceding
calendar year or as of the last day of
said year with respect to the information
required by clauses . . . 3, and 6 below;
such persons shall also disclose the same

information with respect to their im-

mediate family,'/ provided, however,

that no amount need be given for such
information with regard to the report-

ing person’s immediate family;

(1) the name and address of, the
nature of the association with, the share

of equity in, if applicable, and the

amount of income if greater than one

thousand dollars derived from each
business with which he is associated;5/
(8) the name and address of [cer-
tain creditors] to whom more than one
thousand dollars was owed. . .; and
(6) the description, as appearing

on the most recent tax bill, and the

amount of assessed value of all real

property located within the common-
wealth, in which a direct or indirect
financial interest was held, which has

an assessed value greater than one thou-

sand dollars;. . .

The form Statement of Financial Interests
for Calendar Year 1978, and the Instruction
Manual promulgated by the Commission pur-
suant to section 3(b), require disclosure in section
C.1 of the business associations of the reporting
persons and the members of his immediate family,
including the name of the person having the as-
sociation and the position which they held. Section
J.1 requires disclosure of real property located in
Massachusetts with an assessed valuation in excess
of $1,000 including the identity of the person
holding the interest, and section K.1 requires
disclosure of the reportable liabilities in excess
of $1,000 and the identity of the debtor. The
form and the instructions clearly indicate that

amounts need not be reported with respect to
family members.

Mr. Buckley claims that by requiring dis-
closures of real property valued in excess of $1,000
and liabilities in excess of $1,000 the forms and
instructions, and the statute itself, require dis-
closure regarding the “amounts” of the assets or
liabilities of family members in contravention of
the introductory paragraph of section 5(g), supra.
This argument overlooks the fact that the term
“amount”, when used in this statute, is defined as
“a category of value, rather than an exact dollar
figure. . .”'%/ The $1,000 minimum valuation
figure is the threshhold chosen by the legislature
to trigger the obligation to report a particular
asset or liability held, owned or owed by a filer
and/or his immediate family, and disclosing that
one is over the minimum is not disclosing an
“amount” as that word is defined in the statute.

The legislature has limited the extent of the
state’s intrusion into the privacy of the filer and
his family by requiring disclosure only of financial
interests which, in its judgment, are of sufficient
magnitude to potentially affect the filer in the
discharge of his official responsibilities. The
legislature has further limited the extent of the
state’s intrusion into the family member's personal
privacy by providing that the filer need not re-
veal the “category of value” of the separate pro-
perty or liabilities of a family member so long as
he reveals the identity of the financial interests
which might potentially be affected by his official
action. The filer must, however, identify and list
of the “category of value” for any property or
liabilities which he owns or owes jointly with a
family member; this limited intrusion into the
family member’s privacy is necessary to prevent

"/“Immediate Family"” is defined in section 1(i) as the spouse and
any dependent children residing in the reporting person's household.

*/M.G.L. c. 268B, §l(c) defines "husiness with which he is associ-
ated” as any business in which the reporting person or a member of
his immediate family is a general partner, proprietor, officer or other
employee, including one who is self-employed, or serves as a director,
trustee or in any similar managerial capacity; and any business more
than one percent of any class of the outstanding equity of which is
beneficially owned in the aggregate by the reporting person and mem-
bers of his immediate family.

18/“Amount” is defincd in Section 1(2) of G.L. ¢c. 268B as “a category
of value, rather than an exact dollar figure as follows: greater than
$1,000 but not more than $2,500; greater than $2,500 but not more
thar: $5,000; greather than $5,000 but not more than $10,000; greater
than $10,000 but not more than $25,000; greater than $25,000 but
not more than $50,000; greater than $50,000 but not more than $100,000;
greater than $100,000.



a filer from avoiding disclosure of the “category
of value” of his assets and liabilities simply by
sharing them with a member of his family and
thereby serves to assure the public that he has not
benefitted financially from his public position.

Mr. Buckley also questions the requirement
to disclose the identity of the family member who
has the business association (and the position
held), owns the real property or owes the liability.
Section 5(g), supra, requires a filer to disclose
“the same information” with regard to the mem-
bers of his family which he discloses as to himself.
Since the filer must disclose his assets, liabilities
and the nature of his business associations, he
must also disclose “the same information” for his
immediate family; the most effective way to in-
sure compliance with this mandate is to require
disclosure of the identity of the individual having
the interest. This information is also required in
order to insure that reporting persons do not
evade the requirements of the law by transferring
these assets or liabilities to their spouse or de-
pendents. Finally, this disclosure facilitates the
Commission’s ability to review the form and, if
necessary, compare reported information with
that information disclosed on previous SFI's or
brought to the Commission’s attention by some
other means. Accordingly, the disclosure of
“amount” and “identity” information is reason-
able and rationally related to the Commission’s
obligation to implement, administer and enforce
the statute and is proper.

Finally, Mr. Buckley contends that he did
not violate section 5(g) because he did not fail to
file an SFI after having received notice to do so.
Section 3(g) requires the Commission to inspect
SFIs and, if it is ascertained that an SFI fails to
conform to the law, the Commission must send
the filer notice detailing the alleged deficiencies
and the penalties for failing to file an SFI, §3(f).
Such a letter was sent in this case on June 20,
1979. Section 5(g) provides that the failure to file
and SFI within 10 days of the receipt of notice
or the filing of an incomplete statement after
receipt of such notice is a violation of the statute.
Mr. Buckley argues that the statute does not re-
quire a filer to amend a previously filed SFI after
receiving notice under section 3(f), nor does it
make the failure to amend a violation of chapter
268B. The financial disclosure law was enacted
to require public officials to disclose certain of
their financial interests and to provide sanctions
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in the event persons failed to comply with those
requirements after having received detailed notice
of the alleged deficiencies from the Commission.
It is implicit in the statutory scheme that the fail-
ure to amend a deficient statement constitutes a
violation subjecting the violator to appropriate
proceedings under section 4; certainly the legis-
lature could not have intended to insulate from
sanctioning an individual who files a deficient
SFI and then fails to respond when the Commis-
sion points out the deficiency. Accordingly, Mr.
Buckley's failure to amend his Statement after
having received the appropriate notice, consti-
tutes a violation of section 5(g).

* %ok ok R K

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that
John R. Buckley violated section 5(g) of General
Laws Chapter 268B by knowingly and intention-
ally failing to disclose information on his 1978
Statement of Financial Interests which is required
by law to be disclosed, and failing to correct the
deficiencies within 10 days of having received
notice to do so. The record reflects that Mr.
Buckley's actions with respect to filing the SFI
resulted from and were prompted by his concern
for his family and were taken in good faith with-
out any apparent attempt to mislead or deceive
the Commission or the public with regard to his
financial interests. On the other hand, we cannot
condone the filing of deficient Statements or the
refusal to list information known by a filer which
is required by law to be disclosed. Accordingly,
the Respondent, John R. Buckley, is hereby
ordered to:

1. File a Statement of Financial
Interests for 1978 which conforms to
the requirements of the law, or amend
his previously filed Statement within
seven (7) days of receipt of this opinion;

2. Pay a civil penalty of $250.00
(two hundred fifty dollars) within 30
days of receipt of this opinion; and

3. Cease and desist from refusing
to complete sections C.1, J.1, and K.1
to the best of his knowledge.

DATE: May 7, 1980
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DECISION AND ORDER
I. Procedural History
On October 19, 1979, the Petitioner filed an
Order to Show Cause alleging that the Respond-
ent, C. Joseph Doyle, while serving as a full-time
employee of the state legislature, acted as the
agent for the Jamaica Plain Community Develop-
ment Foundation (hereafter “JPCDF" or “found-
ation”) in its efforts to secure funding from two
(2) state agencies, the Department of Youth Ser-
vices (DYS) and the Department of Community
Affairs (DCA), in violation of section 4(c) of the
conflict of interest law, General Laws Chapter
268A.!/ The Respondent denied the allegations.

The evidentiary hearing was held on March
5, 1980 before Linda Kistler, Vice-Chairman of
the Commission. See M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(c).
Post-hearing briefs were filed by counsel. Oral
argument before the full Commission occurred
on April 16, 1980; the Respondent waived his
opportunity to appear at that proceeding.

In rendering this decision and order, each
Member of the Commission has heard and/or
read the evidence and arguments presented by
the parties.

II. Findings of Fact

Based on the testimony and documents in-
troduced at the hearing, the reasonable inferences
to be drawn therefrom, the following findings of

fact are hereby made:
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1. From November 1, 1976 to June 1,
1979, C. Joseph Doyle was employed by the Mass-
achusetts House of Representatives, House Com-
mittee on Rules, assigned as an aide to Repre-
sentatives James Craven, His area of expertise
involved transportation matters related to the
Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority
(MBTA) and the Southwest Corridor rapid
transit project.

2. Mr. Doyle was, at all times during the
course of his employment, a full-time employee
of the House of Representatives and of the Com-
monwealth.2/

3. In March and April, 1977, Mr. Doyle,
a resident of Jamaica Plain, participated in the
formation and incorporation of the Jamaica Plain
Community Development Foundation (JPCDF),
a private, non-profit corporation designed to
stimulate the social and economic development
of the Jamaica Plain Community. He originally
served as the Clerk and Secretary to JPCDF.

4. In the late summer of 1978, Mr. Doyle
began to serve on a voluntary basis as the Execu-
tive Director of JPCDF; his position was confirm-
ed by the Board of Directors in December 1978.
His role as Executive Director was to secure the
initial operating funding for JPCDF and he in-
tended to resign his state position in order to
become the paid Executive Director as soon as
sufficient funds were obtained to enable the
Foundation to commence operations and pay
him a salary.

5. In the late summer of 1978, Mr. Doyle
was advised by Representative Craven that funds
were available from DYS and DCA for grants to
community organizations. Through the end of
1978 and the beginning of 1979, while continuing
to serve as a full-time state employee, Mr. Doyle
engaged in a series of activities designed to obtain
funds from those agencies for JPCDF.

1/Section 4(c) of Chapter 268BA provides:

No state employee shall, otherwise than in the proper discharge
of his official duties, act as agent or attorney for anyone other than
the commonwealth or a state agency for prosecuting any claim against
the commonwealth or a state agency, or as agent or attorney for anyone
in connection with any particular matter in which the commonwealth
ar a state agency is a party or has a direct and substantial interest.

*/According to the House Rules, full-time employees may not
engage in outside business activities during regular business hours and
all employees are assumed to be full-time unless their personnel file
indicates otherwise. Rules of the House of Representatives, 1979-80,
Rule 16A(g) (formerly Rule 19A during 1977 and 1978). Mr. Doyle’s
personnel file at the House of Representatives does not contain any
statement that he was permitted to engage in outside activities during
his normal working hours.



6. In the late summer of 1978, Represent-
ative Craven arranged a series of meetings be-
tween Mr, Doyle and others representing JPCDF
and the Commissioner of DYS and the Secretary
of DCA. At these meetings, which were held in
the office of the Chairman of the House Com-
mittee on Ways and Means, Mr. Doyle, in his
capacity of Executive Director of JPCDF, de-
scribed the goals and purposes of the Foundation
to the agency officials and discussed with them
the possibility of obtaining agency funds for
JPCDF,

7. On November 7, 1978, JPCDF applied
to DYS for a grant to conduct a case study to
assess delinquency prevention and youth resource
needs in Jamaica Plain; the Executive Director
of JPCDF was to spend 25% of his time on this
project and was to be paid from the grant funds.
Mr. Doyle participated in drafting this grant
proposal and, following its submission, he met
with Sim Sitkin, Director of Research and Plan-
ning for DYS, on several occasions between mid-
November and mid-December 1978 to negotiate
the terms of ‘the JPCDF/DYS contract. The
$18,000 JPCDF/DYS contract was signed and
executed by a representative of DYS and Mr.
Doyle, acting in his capacity as the Executive Di-
rector of JPCDF, on December 21, 1978.

8. On December 1, 1978, JPCDF applied
to DCA for a grant to conduct an urban rein-
vestment survey; Mr. Doyle participated in draft-
ing this proposal and was listed on the applicant
cover sheet as the contact person for JPCDF on
this submission. On January 2, 1979, the Secretary
of DCA advised Mr. Doyle that he was approving
the grant to JPCDF subject to two (2) program
alterations; Mr. Doyle was advised to contact
Gerald Tuckman at DCA to discuss the program
revisions. Between late summer, 1978 and April
30, 1979, Mr. Doyle and Representative Craven
met with Mr. Tuckman on one occasion and Mr.
Doyle also had several conversations with Mr.
Tuckman regarding this contract. The $10,000
JPCDF/DCA contract was signed and executed
by the Secretary of DCA and Mr. Doyle, Execu-
tive Director of JPCDF, on April 30, 1979.

9. Mr. Doyle, a full-time state employee,
was acting solely as the representative of, and
agent for, JPCDF when he attended the meetings
and negotiated the contracts with DYS and DCA
officials and when he signed the DYS and DCA
contracts for grants on behalf of JPCDF; he was
not discharging his official duties as a full-time
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employee of the House Rules Committee when he
engaged in those activities on behalf of JPCDF.

10. Mr, Doyle resigned his state position as
of Friday, June 1, 1979 and assumed the full-
time position of Executive Director of JPCDF on
Monday, June 4, 1979.3/

11. Mr. Doyle resigned his position with
JPCDF on July 1, 1979; he did not receive any
monies from JPCDF. Mr. Doyle testified that he
is currently unemployed.

Conclusions of Law

The fundamental premise underlying the
conflict of interest law is to restrain government
employees from “engaging in conduct which
might be inimical to the best interests of the
general public” United States v. Mississippi
Valley Generating Co., 364 U.S. 520, 548 (1961)
(emphasis added), in order to insure that a public
employee will serve the public “first, last and
only”.4/ One of the ways in which the statute
accomplishes these purposes is by restricting the
activities in which a public employee may engage
in his private capacity.

Section 4 of the conflict of interest law,
General Laws Chapter 268A, the so-called “di-
vided loyalties” section, essentially prohibits all
full-time state employees from aiding or assisting
private parties in their dealings with the state.
Section 4{c) specifically and unequivocally pro-
hibits a state employee, otherwise than in the
proper discharge of his official duties, from acting
as the agent for anyone other than the Common-
wealth in relation to any particular matter in
which the state is a party or has a direct and sub-
stantial interest®/; among other things, this section
is designed to avoid the potential for “influence
peddling”. Since a state employee’s influence,
knowledge and contacts are presumed to extend
beyond his own agency, the statute prohibits all
state employees from actng as the agent for a
private interest in any particular matter in which

III.

1/The JPCDF/DYS contract was cancelled on or about June 13,
1979, apparently in part after DYS discovered that Mr. Doyle had been
a full-time state employee at the time he signed the contract on behalf
of JPCDF. Mr. Doyle, upon learning of the reason for the contract
cancellation, spoke to Robert Cordy, Associate General Counsel of the
Ethics Commission, regarding the applicability of the conflict of interest
law; at that meeting, Mr. Doyle told Mr, Cordy about the DCA con-
tract and other contracts he negotiated and signed on behalf of JPCDF
while serving as a state emplayee.

4/Buss, The Mamachusets Conflict-of-Interest Statute:
Analysis, 45, B.U. Law Rev. £99, 322 (1965) (hereafier Buss),

$/See note 1, supra,

An



the state has the requisite interest.®/ As a result,
this abolsute proscription serves the board pro-
phylatic purpose of preventing state employees
from engaging in activities which have the po-
tential for, or may give the appearance of, wrong-
doing.?/ In other words, the proscription pre-
vents temptation.?/

Mr. Doyle claims that he acted in good faith
and was not aware that his actions violated the
conflict of interest law. However, section 4{c)
establishes an objective standard of conduct for
state employees.®/ It is not necessary to show that
a state employee acted with any corrupt intent,
Commonwealth v. Dutney, 4 Mass. App. 363,
875 (1976).'°®/ Furthermore, ignorance of the
law is no defense to an action brought pursuant
to this section, Commonwealth v. Everson, 140
Mass. 292, 295 (1885); Commonwealth v.
O’Connell, 274 Mass. 315, 321 (1931) and cases
cited therein; Scola v. Scola, 318 Mass. 1, 7
(1945). Accordingly, a state employee is guilty of
violating section 4(c) whenever he fails to act in
accordance with the standard of conduct and
behavior established therein.

It is clear that Mr. Doyle, while working for
the Rules Committee of the House of Represent-
atives, was compensated for performing services
for and was employed by a state agency.'!/ Ac-
cordingly, he was a “state employee” for purposes
of the conflict of interest law!?/ and, as a result,
he owed his undivided loyalty to the state. It is
equally clear that grant applications to and con-
tracts made by state agencies are “particular
matters”'*/ to which the state, through its agencies,
is a party and has a direct and substantial in-
terest. See Attorney General Conflict Opinions
198, 312, 799, and 846. Accoridngly, section 4(c)
prevented him from acting as the agent for a
private interest in relation to those types of mat-
ters.

Mr. Doyle clearly acted as the “agent” for
JPCDF — someone other than the Common-
wealth. “One fundamental element in . . . every
agency is that the alleged agent . . . does some-
thing for or in behalf of the allged principal. . ."
Patterson v. Barnes, 317 Mass, 721, 723 (1945).
Mr. Doyle was the Executive Director of JPCDF,
having been confirmed in that position by its
Board of Directors. By seeking grants from two
state agencies, negotiating the terms of those
agreements and signing the contract documents
on behalf of the Foundation in his capacity as
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its Executive Director, Mr. Doyle repeatedly acted
as the “agent” for JPCDF .14/

Furthermore, Mr. Dolyle was clearly not dis-
charging his duties as a legislative aide when he
represented JPCDF in connection with these
grants. In other words, he was acting “otherwise
than as provided by law for the proper discharge
of his official duties.”!s/ While the duties of a
legislative aide may well include assisting individ-
uals and organizations in their dealings with the
state, such was not the case here. Mr. Doyle
was employed by the House Rules Committee,
specializing in transportation matters. However,
neither the subject matter of these grants —
juvenile delinquency and urban reinvestment —
nor the state agencies involved appear to be re-
lated in any way to Mr. Doyle’s duties and re-
sponsibilities as a state employee or to the juris-
diction of the House Rules Committee. In addi-
tion, Mr. Doyle admitted that he was actively

*/Buss, supra at 323.

7/The conflict of interest law was cnacted “as much to prevent
giving the appearance of conflict as to suppress all tendency to wrong-
doing.” Board of Selectmen of Avon v, Linder, 352 Mass. 581, 583
(1967).

'/Sece United States v. Missimsippi Valley Gencrating Co., 364
U.S. 520, 550 (1961 ) and cases cited therein.

*/1d. av 549.

18/Further Appellate Review denied 370 Mass. 868 (1976).

1/M.G.L.A.c. 268A, §1(p) defines “state agency” as “any depart-
ment of state government including the . . . legislative . . .”

12/“State employee” is defined in M.G. L. c. 2684, §1(q) as:

A person performing services for or holding an office, position,
employment, or membership in a state agency, whether by election,
appointment, contract of hire or engagement, whether serving with or
without compensation, on a full, regular, part-time intermittent or con-
sultant basis, . . .

This definition clearly encompasses individuals paid as consultants
aithough such individuals may not be eligible for other benefits offered
to state employees. See, for example, M.G.L.A. c. 32, §1 (excluding
consultants paid from the 03 account from eligibility for membership
in the state's contributory retirement system). Furthermore, since Mr.
Doyle was not permitted to cngage in outside activities during his normal
working hours, see note 2, supra, he cannot be considered to have been
a “special state employee” as that term is defined in section 1(0)2) of
Chapter 268A.

19/ The definition of the term “particular matter” includes “any . . .
application, submission . . . contract. . ." M.G,L.A, c. 2684, §1(k).

14/See Restatement {Second) of Agency, §§1(e), 1(f) (1957); United
States v. Sweig, 316 F. Supp. 1148, 1156-7 (5.D.N.Y. 1970); Conde
Nast Press v. Cornhill Publishing Co., 255 Mass. 480, 485 (1926);
Cellucci v, Sun 0il Co., 368 Mass. B11 {1975) and cases cited therein.

'"/While it is not necessary that the state employee have some
affiliation — formal or informal — with the private entity on whose
behalf he is acting in order to violate section 4(c), such an affiliation
raises the presumption that the state employee i3 acting for the benefit
of his private intcrests and not for the benefit of the government.



representing his private interest in its efforts to
secure state contracts while serving as a state
employee and that he intended to resign his state
position once sufficient funds had been secured
to enable the Foundation to pay him. This is the
classic case of “divided loyalties.”

Rk Ok k¥

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that
C. Joseph Doyle, while serving as a state employee
acted, otherwise than as provided by law for the
proper discharge of his official duties, as the
agent for someone other than the Commonwealth
in relation to particular matters in which the
state is a party and has a direct and substantial
interest in violation of section 4(c) of Chapter
268A. Clearly, by representing JPCDF in its
efforts to secure state contracts, Mr. Doyle's
actions violated the letter and the spirit of the
law. Although he claims that he acted in good
faith, he should have known that his activities on
behalf of JPCDF were inconsistent with his obli-
gation of loyalty to the state and with his public
trust. We note, however, that Mr. Doyle volun-
tarily advised the Commission, through his re-
quest for an advisory opinion and his discussions
with members of the staff, of the activities in
which he engaged on behalf of JPCDF while
serving as a state employee; that he voluntarily
resigned his position with JPCDF within a reason-
able time after questions were raised regarding
the propriety of his earlier actions on its behalf;
that he never received any compensation from
JPCDF; and, finally, that he is currently em-
ployed. Accordingly, he is hereby Ordered to:

Pay a civil penalty of two hundred fifty

dollars ($250.00) within thirty (30) days
of receipts of this decisinn.

DATE: June 18, 1980
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss Commission Adjudicatory

Docket No. 104

INTHEMATTER
OF
VICTOR ALMEIDA

Appearances:
Jo Ann Shotwell, Esq.: Counsel to the Pe-
titioner

Fred Thomas, Esq.: Counsel to the Re-
spondent

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Chairman; Brickman; Bemn-
stein; Kistler; McLaughlin

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On July 11, 1979 the Petitioner filed an
Order to Show Cause alleging that the Respond-
ent, Dr. Victor Almeida, had violated §5 of the
Financial Disclosure Law, General Laws Chapter
268B, by failing to file a Statement of Financial
Interests (SFI). The Respondent filed a timely
Answer in which he admitted that he had not
filed but denied that he violated the law.

An evidentiary hearing, at which the Re-
spondent represented himself, was held on Febru-
ary 27, 1980, before Commissioner Bernard
McLaughlin. See G.L. c. 268B, §4(c). Before the
hearing the parties entered into a written Stipu-
lation of Facts which was incorporated into the
record. Following the hearing, the Respondent
retained counsel and both parties filed briefs.
Each Commissioner received a copy of the trans-
cript of the proceedings and the Exhibits, to-
gether with a copy of the briefs. In rendering
this decision and order, each of the participating
Commissioners had heard and/or read the evi-
dence and arguments presented by the parties.

Finding of Fact
1. Dr. Almeida was a member of the Board
of Registration of Chiropractors within the



Executive Office of Consumer Affairs of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts from December
1968 until his resignation on May 1, 1979.

2. The Board of Registration of Chiro-
practors is the state agency responsible for grant-
ing and revoking chiropractors’ licenses pursuant
to G.L. c. 13, §64. As a member of the Board,
Dr. Almeida assisted in the examination of ap-
plicants and voted on whether or not they should
be licensed. He also participated in revocation
hearings.

3. The Board receives a periodic appro-
priation from the Commonwealth.

4. Each member of the Board 'receives
from the Commonwealth $15.00 for each day or
portion of a day spent in the performance of
official duties, Each member is also paid the
necessary traveling and other expenses actually
incurred. See G.L. c. 13, §66. Dr. Almeida was
so compensated during the time he served on the
Board except that he accepted no compensation
after January 31, 1979.

5. Dr. Almeida was designated by the
Secretary of Consumer Affairs as an individual
required to file, by May 1, 1979, an SFI for cal-
endar year 1978. This designation was received
by the Ethics Commission on January 10, 1979.

6. On February 3, 1979, Dr. Almeida was
informed by Assistant Attorney General Mitchell
Sikora, legal advisor to the Board, that he was
required to file an SFI for calendar year 1978.
Other Board members had been so informed at
their meeting held on January 17, 1979, Dr.
Almeida was not present at that meeting.

7. During the conversation on February
3rd, Sikora advised Dr. Almeida that he could
resign immediately and “hope for the best” al-
though resignation at that time would not be
timely so as to exempt him from filing.* Sikora
was never asked by the Board to submit to the
Ethics Commission a request for an exemption
on behalf of the Board. Sikora never advised Dr.
Almeida that he had submitted such a request.

8. The Ethics Commission never received
a request that members of the Board of Regis-
tration of Chiropractors be exempted from filing
SFI's. The Commission did receive requests to
exempt certain Boards of Registration on the
ground that the Board members were not entitled
to receive compensation for their services. The
Commission “de-designated” those Board mem-
bers on February 14, 1979.
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9. Dr. Almeida did not file a Statement of
Financial Interests for calendar year 1978 on or
before May 1, 1979.

10. On May 18, 1979, Dr. Almeida re-
ceived from the State Ethics Commission a formal
Notice of Delinquency informing him that, unless
he filed a Statement of Financial Interests for
calendar year 1978 within ten days, he would be
in violation of General Laws Chapter 268B and
subject to adjudicatory proceedings under §4
of that Chapter and penalties, including a civil
fine.

11. Dr. Almeida did not file a Statement
of Financial Interests within ten days of receiving
the Formal Notice of Delinquency. He has not to
this day filed a Statement of Financial Interests
for calendar year 1978.

12. By letter dated May 30, 1979, Dr.
Almeida informed the Ethics Commission that
he had resigned from the Board of Registration
of Chiropractors, effective May 1, 1979,

DECISION

The Respondent contends that he was not
required to file a Statement of Financial Interests
on the grounds that (1) the Financial Disclosure
Law, General Laws Chapter 268B and the SFI's
issued thereunder violate his constitutional right
of privacy, (2) he was not a public employee within
the meaning of G.L. c. 268B, §1(o), and (3) he
resigned from the Board.

Privacy

The provisions of the Financial Disclosure
Law and the SFI's issued thereunder do no vio-
late the rights of privacy of public officials and
employees, and members of their families. See
the discussion In The Matter of John R. Buckley
Commission Adjudicatory Docket No. 108, pp.
15-19 (decided May 7, 1980). As the Supreme
Judicial Court noted, the filing of Statement of
Financial Interests provides a means “which the
Legislature or the people could believe to be
rationally related to the achievement of the
legitimate goal of assuring the people of ‘impar-
tiality and honesty of public officials (§1 of the

*Chapter 210, §26 of the Acts of 1978 exempts from filing for 1978
all public employees wha were not employed on February 1, 1979,



proposed new G.L. c. 268B)"”. Opinion of the
Justices, Mass. Adv. Sh. (1978) 1116, 1131, 376
N.E. 2d 810, 819.

Public Employee
Section 5(c) of G.L. c. 268B provides that:
Every ‘public employee shall file a
statement of financial interests for the
preceding calendar year with the com-
mission within ten days after becoming
a public employee, on or before May
first of each year thereafter that such
person is a public employee and on or
before May first of the year after such
person ceases to be a public employee;
provided, however, that no public em-
ployee shall be required to file a state-
ment of financial interests for any year
in which he was a public employee for
less than eight days.
What must be disclosed is set out in §5(g).

Since it is agreed that the Respondent failed
to file an SFI within ten days after receiving notice
that he was delinquent (see G.L. c. 268B, §3(f)
and §5(g) (last paragraph)], the only issue is
whether he was a public employee for purposes
of filing. Public employee is defined in G.L,
c. 268B, §1(o) as

any person who holds a major
policymaking position in a govern-
mental body; provided, however, that

any person who receives no compen-

sation other than reimbursements for

expenses, Or any person serving on a

governmental body that has no authority

to expend public funds other than to

approve reimbursements for expenses

shall not be considered a public em-
ployee for purposes of this chapter.

The Board of Registration of Chiropractors
is a “governmental body” as that term is defined
in G.L. ¢. 268B, §1(h). See G.L. c. 13, §64.
Since the provisions of G.L. c. 13, §65 vests in
all members of the Board the same powers and
duties, each member will be considered the ex-
ecutive head of the Board so as to hold a “major
policymaking position” as that term is defined in
G.L. c. 268B, §1(l). See EC-FD-79-5. According-
ly, the Respondent will be considered a “public
employee” unless either of the two exemptions set
out in the definition of that term is satisfied i.e.,
he receives no compensation or the Board has no
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authority to expend public funds.

Clearly, the Respondent was compensated
for his service on the Board during 1978. The
$15.00 received by a member of the Board “for
each day or portion thereof spent in the perfor-
mance of his official duties”, as authorized by
G.L. c. 13, §66, is compensation and not reim-
bursement since it is in addition to payment for
“necessary traveling and other expenses actually
incurred”.

It has been agreed that the Board receives
a periodic appropriation from the Commonwealth.
G.L. c. 29, §3 requires that every officer having
charge of any office, department or undertaking
which receives a periodic appropriation submit
annual budget requests to the budget director.
Such budget requests are “authorizations for
expenditures of state funds”. See G.L. c. 29,
§6. No money is paid from an appropriation un-
less so authorized. See G.L. c. 29, §20. The Board,
therefore, has authority to expend public funds.

Accordingly, neither exemption of §1(o) is
satisfied in this case and the Respondent will be
considered a public employee for purposes of
Chapter 268B.

Resignation

The. Respondent argues that he should be
relieved of his obligation to file an SFI for 1978
because he resigned his position on the Board,
effective May 1, 1979. However, any such resig-
nation would have had to occur by February 1,
1979 to exempt the employee from the disclosure
requirements of Chapter 268B. See Section 26 of
Chapter 210 of the Acts of 1978.

It is of no consequence that the Respondent
did not learn until February 3, 1979 that he would
be required to file. Chapter 268B did not accord
designated individuals any right to notice prior
to February 1, 1979. Designations did not have to
be submitted to the Commission until April 1,
1979. In any event, the Respondent, in spite of
the suggestion of Assistant Attorney General
Sikora, did not resign immediately but chose to
remain on the Board for the next several months.
He contends that he hoped the Board members
would be “de-designated”. However, Sikora was
never asked by the Board to submit an exemption
request on its behalf.



ORDER

Based on the foregoing, we conclude that
Dr. Victor Almeida violated G.L. c. 268B, §5(g)
by failing to file a Statement of Financial Interests
within ten days of receiving the Commission’s
Notice of Delinquency. Accordingly, he is ordered
to:

1. File a Statement of Financial Interests for
1978 within seven (7) days of receipt of its opinion;
and

2. Pay a civil penalty of $100.00 (one hun-
dred dollars).

DATE: July 10, 1980

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 110

IN THE MATTER
OF
JAMES J. CRAVEN, JR.

Appearances:
Robert J. Cordy, Esquire: Counsel to the
Petitioner

Lawrence F. O'Donnell, Esquire: Counsel
to the Respondent

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch.; Kistler; Brickman; Bern-
stein; McLaughlin

DECISION AND ORDER

We find that the Respondent, Represent-
ative James J. Craven, violated Section 6 and 23(d)
of Chapter 268A and order that he pay a civil
penalty in the amount of $1,000 within 30 days
of the issuance of this Decision.!/
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I. Procedural History

On November 29, 1979, the Petitioner filed
an Order to Show Cause alleging that the Re-
spondent, James J. Craven, Jr., had violated
Sections 2(b), 6, and 23%(d) of Massachusetts
General Laws Chapter 268A, the state’s conflict-
of-interest law. The Respondent filed his Answer
to that Order on December 20, 1979, denying
that he had violated those provions.

An evidentiary hearing was held in this
matter on March 10 and 11, 1980, before James
Vorenberg, Chairman of the Commission. See
Mass. G.L. c. 268B, §4(c).2/ Post-hearing briefs
were filed by counsel. Each Commissioner re-
ceived copies of the transcript of the proceeding
and of all exhibits, together with copies of the
briefs. Oral argument before the full Commis-
sion occurred on April 30, 1980. Each of the
Commissioners participating in this Decision and
Order has heard and/or read the evidence and
arguments presented by the parties.

II. Findings of Fact

1. James]. Craven, Jr. has been an elected
member of the Massachusetts House of Repre-
sentatives representing parts of Roxbury, Jamaica
Plain and Roslindale from 1957 to the present.

2. James]. Craven, Jr. has been a member
of the Ways and Means Committee of the Mass-
achusetts House of Representatives from 1957 to
the present.

3. The Ways and Means Committee of the
Massachusetts House of Representatives evaluates
and makes recommendations to the full House
on the bvdget requests of all state agencies. These
recommendations carry great weight with the
full House membership.

4. 1In 1976 Representative Craven assisted
some associates in the formation of a community
development corporation in Jamaica Plain, known
as the Jamaica Plain Community Development
Foundation, Inc. (JPCDF), by recruiting mem-
bers of the Hispanic community in Jamaica Plain
to serve on its Board of Directors.

!/The Respondent was also charged with having violated Section
2(b) of Chapter 26BA. We do not find him in viclation of that provision.

*/Mass. G.L. c. 268B, §4(c) (3) provides "Any member of the
Commission may administer oaths and any member of the Commission
may hear testimony or receive other evidence in any proceeding before
the Commission."



5. JPCDF was incorporated in April of
1977. The first Executive Director of JPCDF was
Cornelius Joseph Doyle. Mr. Doyle was, from
November, 1976, through June, 1979, employed
by the Rules Committee of the Massachusetts
House of Representatives and assigned to Repre-
sentative James J. Craven.?/

6. In the late summer or fall of 1978 Repre-
sentative Craven assisted JPCDF in its efforts to
obtain government funds by advising persons
associated with that organization of the avail-
ability of grant monies in the budgets of the
Massachusetts Department of Youth Services
(DYS) and Department of Community Affairs
(DCA) and by arranging and attending a meeting
between DYS Commissioner Calhoun and repre-
sentatives of JPCDF.

7. In December of 1978, JPCDF was
awarded an $18,000 contract by DYS. That
contract was cancelled in June, 1978, because
DYS officials determined that there was a con-
flict-of-interest involved in the award.

8. In the spring of 1979, JPCDF was tenta-
tively awarded one $40,000 contract and one
$24,500 contract from the City of Boston. Both
awards were subsequently cancelled.

9. In August or September of 1978, Rep-
resentative Craven arranged and attended a
meeting in the offices of the Massachusetts House
Ways and Means Committee. Also attending
were Cornelius Joseph Doyle, then Executive
Director of JPCDF, William Flynn, then Secre-
tary of the Executive Office of Communities and
Development of the Commonwealth of Massa-
chusetts (EOCD), and Paul Collis, then William
Flynn's legislative assistant. At this meeting
Representative Craven recommended that JPCDF
be funded by EQOCD. Secretary Flynn advised
Representative Craven at this meeting that there
were several EOCD programs, including the
Urban Reinvestment Study (URS) Program,
under which JPCDF could apply for funding.

10. In November, 1978, Representative
Craven attended another meeting with Secretary
Flynn in the Ways and Means Committee offices.
Several other state legislators representing por-
tions of the City of Boston were also in attend-
ance at this meeting. The subject of this meeting
was the funding by EOCD of community de-
velopment groups in Boston. Secretary Flynn
advised the persons present at this meeting that
there were three EOCD programs, including

18

the URS Program, under which Boston groups
could apply for funding.

11. During the fall of 1978, DCA, a state
agency within the jurisdiction of EOCD, was im-
plementing a $150 million program which could
not proceed to the actual construction phase until
the Massachusetts House Ways and Means Com-
mittee approved a schedule submitted to it by
DCA. This schedule was pending before the Ways
and Means Committee of which Representative
Craven was a member at the time that the two
meetings described in Paragraphs 9 and 10 above
took place, a fact of which Secretary Flynn was
aware.

12. On November 21, 1978, James J.
Craven, Jr. attended a meeting at the DCA offices
located at 10 Tremont Street in Boston. Also
in attendance were Cornelius Joseph Doyle, then
Executive Director of JPCDF, two professionals
who were to conduct the research for JPCDF in
the event that it received a URS grant from DCA
(Dr. Janet Duncan, Associate Professor of Geo-
graphy at Boston State College, and Dr. John
Shea, also affiliated with Boston State College),
and two DCA staff members who would review
any proposal submitted by JPCDF for a URS
grant {(Gerald Tuckman, Director of the DCA
office of Resource Development, and Jeanne
Myerson, Community Economic Coordinator in
that office). Gerald Tuckman described at this
meeting the Request for Proposals for the De-
partment’s URS grants and explained that the
RFP had been circulated to a number of groups
throughout the state.

13. In the course of this November 21,
1978 meeting, Representative Craven strongly
pressed the DCA staff members present to award
a URS grant to JPCDF and indicated that the
DCA budget might be adversely affected if that
award were not made.

14. Gerald Tuckman knew of Represent-
ative Craven's position on the House Ways and
Means Committee and was very concerned about
Craven's comments at the November 21, 1978
meeting. Tuckman reported the occurrence to

3/Mr, Doyle was the named Respondent in an Order to Show Cause
issued by the Associate General Counsel of the Ethics Commission on
October 19, 1979. That Order alleged a violation of the conflict-of-
interest statute arising out of Mr. Doyle’s dual roles as employee of the
House Rules Committce and Executive Direcior of [JPCDF. The Decision
and Order of the Commission in that matter is being issued simultane-
cusly with this Decision,



his immediate supervisor, David Entin, that
same day. Mr. Entin knew of Craven's position
on the Ways and Means Committee and was
concerned about the reported reference by Repre-
sentative Craven to the DCA budget, since he
views DCA as primarily a public housing agency
serving many people in need. Entin subsequently
advised Secretary Flynn and Gerald W. Hayes,
Assistant Secretary of EOCD, of Representative
Craven’s reference to the DCA budget. Mr. Hayes
was aware that DCA had programs that could
not get under way without Ways and Means
approval of schedules and took David Entin’s
report of Representative Craven’s reference to
the DCA budget very seriously.

15. On December 1, 1978, JPCDF submit-
ted to DCA a proposal for a URS grant. DCA
received six other proposals for the $30,000 in
URS monies. All seven proposals were reviewed
and evaluated by Gerald Tuckman, Jeanne Myer-
son, Jack Kittredge, an expert in community in-
vestment with the Social Economic Council, and
Harriet Tagget, an official in the Banking Com-
missioner's office, They were evaluated on the
basis of the criteria set forth in the Request for
Proposals prepared by the DCA staff.

16. As a result of these evaluations, the
DCA staff submitted to Secretary Flynn a recom-
mendation that three of the groups receive grants,
in the amount of $10,000 each. Those three
groups were the Community Union Rural De-
velopment, Inc., in Greenfield, Massachusetts,
the Jamaica Plain Banking and Mortgage Com-
mittee, Inc., and the Southeastern Massachusetts
Advocacy Center in New Bedford, Massachusetts.
In making this recommendation, the staff noted
that a fourth proposal, that from the Brightwood
Neighborhood Council, Inc., in Springfield, was
of very high quality, but was not as good as the
other three. The staff did not recommend that
JPCDF receive funding under the URS program
because JPCDF did not propose the creation of
strategies to deal with disinvestment, as required
by the RFP.

17. Gerald Hayes subsequently informed
David Entin that he had discussed the URS pro-
posals with Secretary Flynn and that they had
decided to fund two of the groups recommended
for funding by the staff — namely, the Com-
munity Union Rural Development, Inc. and the
Jamaica Plain Banking and Mortgage Com-
mittee, Inc. — and tentatively to commit funds
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to JPCDF subject to their improving their pro-
posal to meet the program requirements. The
contacts made by Representative Craven with
EOCD officials relative to JPCDF and the con-
cern generated by those contacts over the impli-
cations for the DCA budget of failing to award
a grant to JPCDF were major factors leading to
this decision tentatively to commit funds to JPCDF.

18. Comnelius Joseph Doyle and Repre-
sentative Craven were notified by letter dated
January 2, 1979, from Secretary Flynn that an
award of $10,000 in URS monies had been ap-
proved subject to two alterations in the program
design.

19. When Secretary Flynn was replaced
by Secretary Matthews in January of 1979, the
latter agreed to award all grants to which Flynn
had committed EOCD. On April 30, 1979,
Secretary Matthews signed the $10,000 contract
between DCA and JPCDF.

20. By the spring of 1979, then, JPCDF
had been tentatively or finally awarded $92,500
in state and city funds.

21. On May 5, 1977, Representative Craven
and four of his brothers established the Celtic
Realty Trust. Representative Craven and the
four brothers were named as beneficiaries of the
Trust. Albert Buchwald, who was then serving
as President of JPCDF, and John Lawless, a Di-
rector of JPCDF, were named as Trustees of the
Trust. Also in May of 1977, the Celtic Realty
Trust purchased the building located at 2-16
Hyde Park Avenue, Jamaica Plain (the “Minton
Building”). In the fall of 1977, Representative
Craven assigned his 20 percent beneficial interest
in the Ceitic Realty Trust to his daughter, Theresa
Craven. The other four beneficial interests re-
mained unchanged throughout 1978 and 1979.

22. During the fall of 1978, it was the in-
tention of JPCDF to use some portion of the URS
grant, if received, to pay rent on office space in
the Minton Building. Representative Craven
was, during the period of time that he was ar-
ranging and attending meetings with EOCD of-
ficials relative to JPCDF, aware of this intention.

23. The proposal submitted to DCA by
JPCDF for URS funds called for, and the con-
tract ultimately awarded to JPCDF authorized,
the expenditure of some portion of the grant
monies on overhead expenses.

24. JPCDF paid to the Celtic Realty Trust
out of the URS grant monies $490 in rent on



space in the Minton Building for the month of
June, 1979. JPCDF subsequently received from
Gerald Tuckman of DCA a notice not to make
further expenditures out of the URS grant monies.

Decision
The Respondent has been charged with vio-
lating three separate provisions of Chapter 268A
— Sections 6, 2(b), and 23(d). We will address
each of these charges separately.
Before turning to the three charges, how-
ever, we will discuss certain preliminary issues.

III.

A. Constitutional Issues

The Respondent lists, in his Brief, six issues
relating to the constitutionality of Chapter 268A
and/or Chapter 268B [Arguments #1-6].4/ The
Respondent provides no discussion or citations
relative to these issues and has not, therefore,
properly raised the issues for our consideration,
In any event, the Commission has no authority
to adjudicate the constitutionality of Chapters
268A or 268B, as distinguished from the con-
stitutionality of applications of either statute to
particular facts. See Weinberger v. Salfi, 422
U.S. 749, 765 (1975); Johnson v. Robison, 415
U.S. 361, 367-68 (1974); Public Utilities Com-
mission of California v. U.S., 3565 U.S. 534,
539 (1957); Engineers Public Service Co. v.
U.S., 138 F.2d 936, 952-53 (D.C. Cir. 1943),
dismissed as moot, 332, U.S. 788 (1947); Panitz
v. District of Columbia, 112 F.2d 39, 41-42
(D.C. Cir. 1940); Davis, Administrative Law
Treatise, §20.04 at 74 (1st ed. 1958). Respond-
ent's issues numbered one through four and six
constitute pure questions of the constitutionality
of legislation acts and are, therefore, not within
the jurisdiction of this Commission. Respondent'’s
issue number five, while posing a question of
constitutional applicability, is again addressed to
the wrong forum. That issue is not relevant in
the context of this civil enforcement proceeding.

B. Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss

The Commission rejects the Respondent’s
conclusion that there is a lack of probative
evidence on the record of any wrongdoing on
his part and accordingly denies the Respondent’s
Motion to Dismiss this matter.

20

C. Standard of Proof

The question has arisen as to what standard
of proof applies to this proceeding.®/ The Peti-
tioner argues for application of the “preponder-
ance of the evidence” standard. It is settled law
that the “beyond a reasonable doubt” standard
of proof need not be satisfied before sanctions
are imposed by an administrative agency, even
where the conduct for which the administrative
sanctions are imposed may also be prosecuted
criminally. See Alsbury v. U.S. Postal Service,
530 F.2d 852, 855 (9th Cir. 1976); Polcover v.
Secretary of the Treasury, 477 F.2d 1223, 1231-
82 (D.C. Cir 1973); Kowal v. U.S., 412 F.2d
867, 870 (Ct. Cl. 1969). Proof by a preponder-
ance of the evidence is the standard generally
applicable to administrative proceedings. See
Fairfax Hospital Association Inc. v. Califano,
585 F.2d 602, 611-12 (4th Cir. 1978); Kephart
v. Richardson, 505 F.2d 1085, 1089 (3rd Cir.
1974); Kent v. Hardin, 425 F.2d 1346, 1349
(5th Cir. 1970). This standard applies to admini-
strative proceedings in Massachusetts, even
where a sanction as serious as disbarment is im-
posed. See Matter of Ruby, 328 Mass. 542, 547
(1952).

Administrative agencies are occasionally
held to a standard of clear and convincing proof
in cases where the potential consequences to the

4/ Those issues are characterized in the Respondent’s Brief as follows:

“1. Whereas the functions of the State Ethics Commission are
judicial in nature, its membership is unlawiully constituted in viclation
of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Part I1, c.
IL, s. I, Article IX.

2. General Laws c. 268B is an unconstitutional delegation of power
which is reserved to grand juries under the Constitution of the Com-
maonwealth of Massachuses.

3. General Laws c, 268B is an unconstitutional contravention of
the Separation of Powers Clause of the Constitution of the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts, Part I, Article XXX.

4. General Laws c. 26BA and c. 268B violate the Fourteenth Amend-
mient to the United States Constitution in an unconstitutional classifi-
cation of public officers and employees in relation to offenses which
are criminal in nature,

5. General Laws c. 268B establishes unconstitutiona! precedures
and requirements which, in the context of the massive publicity that
surrounded their application in this case, constituted a denial of the
right of an impartial trial by jury with respect to any person whaose
case is referred for prosecution.

6. General Laws c. 268A and c. 268B purports to set forth standards
of conflict of interest which are unconstitutionably vague and over-
broad.”

s/ While the Respondent raised this issue at the evidentiary hearing
before Chairman Vorenberg, he did not raise it to the full Commission.
We address the issue here because it was addressed in the Petitioner's
Brief 1o the full Commission.



subject of the adjudicatory proceeding are ex-
tremely serious. See, e.g., Addington v. Texas,
441 U.S. 418 (1979) [civil commitment proceed-
ing]); Woodby v. INS, 385 U.S. 277 (1966) [de-
portation proceeding]; Schneiderman v. U.S.,
$20 U.S. 118, 125 (1943) [denaturalization]
Collins Sec. Corp. v. S.E.C., 562 F.2d 820,
824 (D.C. Cir. 1977) [deprivation of livelihood
by revocation of broker's license].

Since the sanctions which the Commission
may impose upon the Respondent as a result of
this proceeding — namely, civil penalties and
orders to cease and desist®/ — are not nearly as
severe as those involved in the cases requiring a
clear and convincing standard, we hold that the
traditional perponderance standard applies to
this proceeding.

D. Single Presiding Commissioner

As was noted in Section I of this Decision,
James Vorenberg, Chairman of the Commission,
served as Presiding Officer at the evidentiary
hearing in this matter. The Respondent has
objected, both at the hearing and in his Brief, to
the absence of the full Commission from that
hearing. He claims that the procedure followed
was an unconstitutional denial of his right to due
process of law in that “the single Commission
member hearing the matter could recommend
criminal prosecution” and “was the same single
member who signed and served upon the Re-
spendent the Order to Show Cause.”’/ The Com-
mission rejects these arguments on the grounds
that the factual allegations upon which they are
based are untrue. A single Commission member
has no authority to refer a matter for criminal
prosecution, since Chapter 268B, Section 2(j)
requires the affirmative votes of three Commission
members for any action or recommendation of
the Commission. The Order to Show Cause was
signed by Robert J. Cordy, Associate General
Counsel of the Commission, and not by Chairtnan
Vorenberg. That Order was issued following a
majority vote of the Commission that there existed
reasonable cause to believe that the Respondent
had violated Chapter 268A.

We would point out that the combination
of investigative and adjudicatory functions in one
administrative agency is quite typical and has
been upheld by the United States Supreme Court.
See Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 46-59
(1974). Thus, the issuance of the Order to Show
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Cause in this matter by a majority of the Com-
mission members who were to participate in the
ultimate decision was entirely appropriate. See
School Committee of Stoughton v. Labor Re-
lations Commission, 4 Mass. App. Ct. 262, 272,
346 N.E.2d 129, 187 (1976) [“. . . the mere is-
suance of the complaint by the Commission does
not indicate a prejudgment of the merits of the
case.”].

The Respondent further contends that the
denial of his request for a hearing before the
full Commission violated Chapter 268B, Section
4(c),®/ which authorizes the Commission to initi-
ate “appropriate proceedings” to determine
whether Chapter 268A has been violated. Con-
trary to the Respondent's assertion, Section 4(c)
expressly authorizes “any member” of the Com-
mission to “administer oaths” and to “hear testi-
mony” or “receive other evidence” in any pro-
ceeding before the Commission. In view of the
facts that there are only five Commission mem-
bers, that they serve on a part-time basis, and
that evidentiary hearings can be very time-con-
suming, we believe it is reasonable for the Com-
mission to authorize single members to preside
at hearings.

We hold, therefore, that the denial of the
Respondent's request for a hearing before the
full Commission did not violate Chapter 268B,
Section 4(c).

E. Section6

We believe the prosecution has proved, by
a perponderance of the evidence, a violation of
Chapter 268A, Section 6. Indeed, we would reach
the same result even were we to apply the more
stringent standard of clear and convincing evi-
dence.

Section 6 embodies what has been described
as “the most obvious of all conflict-of-interest
principles” — namely, “that a public official
does not act in his official capacity with respect
to matters in which he has a private stake.” W.G.
Buss, “The Massachusetts Conflict-of-Interest
Statute: An Analysis,” 45 B.U.L. Rev. 299, 353
(1965). That section prohibits a state employee
from knowingly participating in “particular
matters” in which he/she or members of his/her

¢/See Chapter 268B, Section 4(d).
'/See Respondent’s Brief, Arguments 7 and 9.
*/5ee Respondent’s Brief, argument 8,



immediate family have a financial interest. It
seeks to ensure honesty in government by pre-
venting state employees from advancing their
own interests or those of family members at the
expense of the public welfare.

The Respondent, being an elected member
of the Massachusetts House of Representatives,
is a “state employee” for purposes of Chapter
268A. The award of the URS contract to JPCDF
is a “particular matter” for purposes of that
Chapter. See Chapter 268A, Section 1(k).

Chapter 268A, Section 1(j) defines “partici-
pate” to mean “participate in agency action or
in a particular matter personally and substanti-
ally as a state, county or municipal employee,
through approval, disapproval, decision, recom-
mendation, the rendering of advice, investi-
gation or otherwise.” (Emphasis Supplied] We
find that Representative Craven “participated”
in the award of the URS contract by EOCD to
JPCDF by his “recommendation” of JPCDF for
the contract. We also find that he “participated”
by injecting himself into the EOCD “decision”
relative to that contract,

We have found that Representative Craven
had, during the fall of 1978, contacts with EOCD
officials relative to funding for JPCDF. At the
time of these contacts DCA, an agency within
EOCD, was implementing a $150 million pro-
gram which could not proceed to actual con-
struction until the House Ways and Means Com-
mittee of which Representative Craven was a
member approved a schedule pending before it.
The record contains much and conflicting testi-
mony as to whether Representative Craven
“threatened” the DCA budget at a November 21,
1978 meeting with DCA officials. Indeed, some
of the questions posed by counsel for the Re-
spondent suggest a concern for whether Gerald
Tuckman was personally threatened, obviously
not an issue in this case. While we do not believe
that any particular characterization of Represent-
ative Craven’s reference to the budget is crucial
to this case, we do conclude, having reviewed all
of the testimony and made assessments as to
credibility, that Representative Craven strongly
pressed the DCA officials present at the November
21 meeting to award a grant to JPCDF and indi-
cated that the DCA budget might be adversely
affected if that award were not made.

The pressure applied by Representative
Craven to EOCD officials at a time when they
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had a matter of significance pending before his
Committee and his reference to the agency's
budget amounted to substantial participation
in the award of the contract to JPCDF by way
of recommendation. Moreover, the record shows
that Representative Craven's contacts with EOCD
officials and the concern generated by those
contacts for the DCA budget were major factors
leading to the ultimate decision to award the
URS contract to JPCDF. Thus, Representative
Craven actually participated personally and sub-
stantially in the decision to fund JPCDF.

Even if we had not made the finding noted
above with respect to Representative Craven's
reference to the DCA budget at the November
21 meeting, we would still hold that his strong
pressing of agency officials who knew of his
position on the Ways and Means Committee at
a time when their agency had a significant mat-
ter pending before that Committee constituted
“participation” in the award of the grant, both
by way of “recommendation” and by way of
“decision.”

Representative Craven’s brothers and
daughter had a “financial interest” in the award
of the URS contract to JPCDF. JPCDF had
decided, prior to that award, to rent office space
in the Minton Building, which Representative
Craven's brothers and daughter owned as bene-
ficiaries of the Celtic Realty Trust. JPCDF in-
tended to pay some portion of the URS grant,
once received, over to the Trust as rent on that
space. Since Representative Craven’s family
members stood to benefit financially from the
award of the contract to JPCDF, they had a
“financial interest” in that contract within the
meaning of Section 6. It is irrelevant that the
Celtic Realty Trust could secure other paying
tenants for the space which JPCDF intended to
occupy and meet its mortgage payments without
renting that space and that JPCDF could make
the rental payments without receiving the URS
grant.®/

The evidence further shows that Represent-
ative Craven knew, at the time he had his con-
tacts with EOCD officials relative to JPCDF, that

*/The Respondent places great emphasis in this connection on
the fact that only $490 was ever paid in rent by JPCDF to the Celtic
Realty Trust. That fact is also irrelevant 1o the analysis here. Moreover,
it was clearly anticipated, before JPCDF was ordered by DCA to stop
expending the URS contract monies, that more of those funds would be
paid to the Trust.



JPCDF planned to move into the Minton Building
and to pay rent to his family members through
the Celtic Realty Trust.

Thus, Representative Craven knowingly
participated in a particular matter in which
members of his family had a financial interest
in violation of Chapter 268A, Section 6. In so
doing, Representative Craven exhibited an in-
sensitivity to the fundamental principle that a
public official may not act on matters where the
financial interests of family members may inter-
fere with his or her impartial execution of the
public trust,

We hereby order the Respondent to pay
within 30 days of the issuance of this Decision a
civil penalty in the amount of $1,000 for his
violation of Chapter 268A, Section 6.

F. Section 2(b)

Chapter 268A, Section 2(b) prohibits a state
employee from “corruptly” demanding anything
of value for himself or for another person or
entity in return for being influenced in his/her
performance of any act within his/her official
responsibility. The Petitioner contends that
Representative Craven violated this provision by
corruptly demanding at the November 21, 1978
meeting with DCA employees a $10,000 contract
for JPCDF in return for being influenced not to
take unfavorable action as a member of the
House Ways and Means Committee on the DCA
budget.

While we are clear that Representative
Craven's conduct, including his conduct at the
November 21, 1978 meeting, constituted an
abuse of his public position and so find in con-
nection with his violation of Sections 6 and 23
of Chapter 268A, we do not believe that the
record in this case sufficiently establishes a
separate violation of Section 2(b).

G. Section 23

Section 23 of Chapter 268A sets out a code
of conduct to which public officials and em-
ployees must adhere if public confidence in
government is to be maintained. Paragraph (d)
of that Section provides that no state employee
may “use or attempt to use his official position
to secure unwarranted privileges” for himself or
others. We find that Representative Craven vio-
lated this provision of the state’s conflict-of-
interest law when he attempted to and did use
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his position as a member of the powerful House
Ways and Means Committee to secure the $10,000
DCA contract for JPCDF.

It is appropriate for members of the state
legislature and other public officials to recom-
mend constituents for government benefits.1%/
However, no public official may use his or her
official position to apply pressure to other state
employees or officials to abandon normal agency
procedures for evaluating applicants for and
awarding those benefits. An award of govern-
ment benefits based not on such procedures but
rather on pressure by a public official to act upon
an extraneous and inappropriate consideration
such as concern for the agency’s budget in an
“unwarranted privilege” within the meaning of
Chapter 268A, Section 23(d). Moreover, public
officials and employees should not use their public
positions to benefit ventures in which they or
members of their families have a financial in-
terest.

The record shows that Representative Craven,
in his contacts with EOCD officials, went beyond
merely recommending a constituent for govern-
ment benefits. His intense efforts to secure the
grant from DCA at a time when a schedule of
considerable importance to that agency was
awaiting action by his Committee and his indi-
cation that failure to award the grant to JPCDF
might have adverse consequences for the DCA
budget constituted an attempt to secure an un-
warranted privilege for JPCDF in violation of
Section 23(d).

The record reflects that these efforts by
Representative Craven were a major factor lead-
ing to the decision by EOCD officials to award a
grant to JPCDF even though the established
process for evaluating competing proposals did
not lead to a recommendation for such an award.
Thus, Representative Craven not only attempted
to use his position to secure the grant, but was
actually successful in that attempt. In other
words, Representative Craven did in fact “use”
his official position to secure the grant in vio-
lation of Section 23(d).

1%/This is true provided they do not violate the restrictions of
Chapter 26BA, Section 4 on assistance in connection with “particular
matters” to which the state is a party or in which it has a “direct and
substantial interest.”



If the Section 23(d) charge stood alone in
this case, we would order the Respondent to pay
a civil penalty for its violation. However, since
the conduct involved here is closely related to
that which we have already found violative of
Chapter 268A, Section 6, we will not impose a
separate penalty for this violation.!/

DATE: June 18, 1980

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 130

IN THE MATTER
OF
BERNARD J. SMITH

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreenient is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”) and
Bernard J. Smith (“Mr. Smith”), pursuant to
Section 11 of the Commission’s Procedures
Covering the Initiation and Conduct of Pre-
liminary Inquiries and Investigations. The
parties agree that this Agreement constitutes a
final order of the Commission enforceable in
the Superior Court of the Commonwealth.

On January 23, 1980, the Commission, pur-
suant to Section 4(a) of General Laws Chapter
268B, initiated a Preliminary Inquiry into pos-
sible violations of the Conflict of Interest Law,
General Laws, Chapter 268A, involving Mr.
Smith, an independent contractor engaged by
the Massachusetts Department of Public Health,
Lemeul Shattuck Hospital (“Hospital").

The Commission has concluded its investi-
gation into Mr. Smith’s involvement in the mat-
ters set forth herein and makes the following
findings of fact and conclusions of law to which
the parties hereto agree.

M/Commissioner McLaughlin dissents from the conclusion that
there was a violation of this Section. In his opinion, the record of this
case does not indicate evidence adequate to support a judgment that
a violation of 23(d) occurred. Commissioner Kistler joins in the finding
that Representative Craven violated Section 23(d) and futther belicves
that Representative Craven’s conduct in violation of that Section war-
ranted a $500 civil penalty in addition to the $1,000 sanction imposed
for violation of Section 6.
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1. Mr. Smith has been engaged as a nurse
recruiter for the Massachusetts Department of
Public Health, Lemuel Shattuck Hospital since
November of 1978. His official duties as a nurse
recruiter include traveling through New England
and other parts of the United States on behalf
of the Hospital to attend nursing conventions
and other events organized for the purpose of
nurse recruitment. His contract of employment
with the Commonwealth provides for compen-
sation in the form of salary, together with reim-
bursement for travel and related expenses. Said
contract also authorizes Mr. Smith to contract
on behalf of the Hospital directly with private
businesses for advertising and other nurse re-
cruiting related services. Mr. Smith's contract for
the period from November of 1978 through June
of 1979 provided for salary at the rate of $100 per
day; an advertising budget of $3,500, a travel
and lodging budget of $1,500, and an external
recruitment budget of $2,000. His contract from
July 1979 through June 1980 provided for salary
of $108.04 per day; an advertising budget of
$9,000, a travel and lodging budget of $3,500,
and an external recruitment budget of $1,500.00.

According to the terms of said contract,
Mr. Smith was to submit itemized vouchers for
payment of advertising, travel and recruiting ex-
penses on forms approved by the Dept. of Public
Health to the Fiscal Office.

2. During 1978 and 1979, Mr. Smith reg-
ularly contracted on behalf of the Hospital with
Alfred S. Buyer Inc. of Needham, for advertising
related to the recruitment of nurses for the Hos-
pital. During this same period of time Mr. Smith
occasionally contracted with Prime National
Publishing, Inc. of Weston (“Prime"”’) on behalf
of the Hospital for other services related to the
recruitment of nurses for the Hospital. Both of
these firms, promptly and satisfactorily perform-
ed all services required by these contracts and
periodically submitted bills to Mr. Smith for pay-
ment. Mr. Smith routinely requested and received
reimbursement from the Commonwealth for
these expenses but neglected to forward payment
to the aforementioned firms for several months,
These contracts totalled in excess of $5,000.

3. On numerous occasions during 1979
and 1980 Mr. Smith attended and participated
in Nursing Job Fairs, organized and conducted
by Prime in cities throughout the United States.
Mr. Smith was employed by Prime at these Job
Fairs at the rate of $200 per day and received



air travel and lodging paid for by Prime. Mr.
Smith also attended several of these same job
fairs on behalf of the Hospital and received his
full salary of $103.04 per day from the Common-
wealth in addition to receiving compensation
and related expenses from Prime. The total salary
he received from the Commonwealth while work-
ing simultaneously for Prime at these job fairs
was $2,679.04.

4. In connection with two of the job fairs
identified above, Mr. Smith contracted with
Prime on behalf of the Hospital to rent exhibitor’s
booth space at job fairs at which Mr. Smith was
also employed by Prime. At one of these job
fairs, the contract to rent exhibitor's booth space
was cancelled prior to the job fair.

5. Mr. Smith’s conduct as set out in Para-
graph 2, above, violated Section 23(d) of Chapter
268A in that he used his official position to ob-
tain unwarranted privileges, to wit: the personal
use of the Commonwealth’s funds for several
months, which funds were properly due and pay-
able to those firms mentioned in Paragraph 2,

6. Mr. Smith’s conduct as set out in Para-
graph 3, above, violated Section 4{a) and 4{c) of
Chapter 268A in that Mr. Smith received com-
pensation from and acted as an agent for Prime
at job fairs for which the Commonwealth had
also compensated Mr. Smith and at which the
Commonwealth had a direct and substantial
interest in his full time recruiting services.

7. Mr. Smith’s conduct as set out in Para-
graph 4, above, violated Section 6 of Chapter
268A, in that he participated in his official ca-
pacity, in the award of contracts between the
Hospital and Prime, a business organization with
which he had an arrangement for employement
at job fairs.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has de-
termined that the public interest would be served
by the disposition of this matter without further
enforcement proceedings on the basis of the fol-
lowing representations, terms and conditions
hereby made and agreed to by Bernard J. Smith:

1. That he is represented by Harvey Alford,
Esq., 600 Pleasant St., Watertown, MA and has
been fully advised as to all matters relating to
these proceedings and this agreement;

2. That he cease and desist from any pre-
sent or future conduct violating General Laws,
Chapter 268A;

3. That he pay the State Ethics Commission
the sum of $1,500 forthwith as civil penalty for
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the following violations:
(a) $500 for violating Section 4
of Chapter 268A,
{b) $500 for violating Section 6
of Chapter 268A;
(c) $500 for violating Section 23

of Chapter 268A;

4. That he pay to the State Ethics Com-
mission the sum of $2,679.04 as recoupment of
salary received from the Commonwealth at
Nursing Job Fairs at which he was also employed
and compensated by a private firm; which pay-
ments are to be made in accord with the schedule
of payments set out in appendix A of this Agree-
ment and incorporated herein by reference; and

5. That, in the future he promptly pay all
vendors, with whom he has occasion to contract
with on behalf of the hospital, in full, in accord-
ance with their billing terms.

6. That he waive all rights to contest find-
ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms and
conditions contained in this Agreement in this or
any related administrative or judicial proceeding.

DATE: September 23, 1980

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 133

IN THE MATTER
OF
RICHARD B. SIMCHES

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”} and
Richard B. Simches (“Mr. Simches”), pursuant
to Section 11 of the Commission’s Procedures
Covering the Initiaiton and Conduct of Pre-
liminary Inquiries and Investigations. The
parties agree that upon its execution this Agree-
ment shall constitute a final order of the Com-
mission enforceable in the Superior Court of the
Commonwealth.



On April 30, 1980, the Commission, pur-
suant to Section 4(a) of General Laws Chapter
268B, initiated a Preliminary Inquiry into pos-
sible violations of General Laws Chapter 268A,
(hereinafter referred to as either “Chapter 268A"
or the “Conflict of Interest Law") involving Mr.
Simches, a member of the Board of Governors
(“The Board") of the Motor Vehicle Reinsurance
Facility (“The Facility”).

The Commission has concluded its investi-
gation into Mr. Simches’ involvement in the mat-
ters set forth herein and make the following find-
ings of fact to which the parties hereto agree.

Findings of Fact

1. At all times in 1979, Mr. Simches was
the Regional Executive Director of Motor Club
of America Insurance Company (“MCA"); and
the owner of twelve (12) insurance agencies. In
addition, Mr. Simches has been the controlling
stockholder of the Safety Insurance Company
(“Safety”) since its formation in the Summer of
1979.

2. In November of 1977, Mr. Simches was
appointed by the Commissioner of Insurance to
be one of the members of the Facility’s Govern-
ing Board, and he has served in that capacity at
all times relevant herein.

3. The Facility was established pursuant
to M.G.L. Chapter 175, Section 113H, to ensure
that all Massachusetts drivers, and specifically
high risk drivers, would be able to obtain auto-
mobile insurance. It is governed by a thirteen-
member Board, all of whom are required to be
associated with the insurance industry. Board
members are unpaid and are appointed by and
serve at the pleasure of the Commissioner of In-
surance who also exercises other supervisory
powers over the Facility. All automobile insurors
in Massachusetts are members of the Facility
and all operating costs of the Facility are paid for
by the member insurance companies.

4. Automobile insurance companies rein-
sure their high risk policies through the Facility
which allocates the losses from those policies
among all the member insurance companies.
Two types of policies are reinsured through the
Facility:

a. Policies written by insurance
brokers with a high percentage of risk
business {“‘designated brokers™), who
are assigned to an insurance company
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(a “servicing carrier”) because no com-
pany will voluntarily underwirte their
policies; and

b. Policies written by agents with

a low percentage of risk policies (*vol-

untary agents”) which are voluntarily

underwritten by insurance companies.

5. In 1979 the Motor Club of America
Insurance Company (MCA), which had developed
particular expertise with high risk business, was
one of the Facility’s largest servicing carriers,
having been assigned many designated brokers
including the twelve insurance agencies owned
by Mr. Simches.

6. Automobile insurance companies report
monthly to the Facility the amount of money
taken in as premiums and the amount of losses
suffered from policies under the jurisdiction of
the Facility. On a quarterly basis, the Facility
staff squares accounts with the companies; if
premiums exceed losses, a company must pay
the difference to the Facility and if losses exceed
premiums, the Facility pays the difference to the
company. If, in any one month, the amount of
loss exceeds the amount of premiums by one and
a half times, the company can request an interim
reimbursement rather than wait for the close of
the quarter. Interim reimbursements can only
be granted by vote of the Board. MCA requested
interim reimbursements, sometimes in excess of
one million dollars, on seven occasions in 1979.
Mr. Simches, in his capacity as MCA'’s Regional
Executive Director, often personally made these
reimbursement requests in writing to the President
of the Facility, who then put them on the agenda
of the Board.

7. In the Spring of 1979 it became apparent
that MCA had severe financial difficulties and its
status as a servicing carrier became compromised.
In order to protect his business interests, Mr.
Simches, in the Summer of 1979, began to form
a new insuror, Safety, and proposed to the Board
that Safety assume MCA’s business once MCA
was eliminated as a Facility member. In July,
1979, Safety applied for a license at the Division
of Insurance, which took no final action on this
application until December 12, 1979.

8. On November 30, 1979, several Facility
Board members met with Division of Insurance
officials who experssed their serious concerns re-
garding the continued viability of MCA. The
Board called a special meeting for December 4,



1979, to determine what action, if any, should be
taken.

9. Mr. Simches was present at the Decem-
ber 4, 1979, meeting, and in his capacity as
Regional Executive Director of MCA answered
questions from Board members concerning
MCA's viability. After discussion, the Board
voted, with Mr. Simches abstaining, to terminate
MCA as a servicing carrier as of January 1, 1980,
and to have its staff develop a plan to reassign
MCA's business to already licensed carriers. The
Board also voted not to consider reassigning
MCA'’s business to Safety until it was licensed.
On December 6, 1979, one of Simches’ insurance
agencies filed suit to enjoin the termination of
MCA by the Facility.

16. Mr. Simches and his attorney then
called upon Neil Lynch, Counsel to the Governor,
and requested his assistance in breaking the
apparent bureaucratic logjam delaying action on
Safety’s license application. Mr. Lynch then called
the Commissioner of Insurance and told him that
a decision one way or another should be made
quickly on Safety’s application to avoid a sub-
stantial dislocation of the consumer market caused
by bureaurcratic red tape.

11. The Facility Board met in public ses-
sion on December 10, 11 and 12, 1979, to con-
sider further a number of matters concerning
the termination of MCA as a servicing carrier,
the reassignment of MCA's designated brokers,
and the resolution of the law suit brought by one
of Mr. Simches’ insurance agencies. At each of
these meetings, Mr. Simches appeared personally
before the Board as the corporate agent of his
insurance agency and urged the Board to con-
sider designating Safety as a servicing carrier and
assigning to it MCA's designated brokers, or, in
the alternative, reappointing MCA as a servicing
carrier.

12. At the meetings on December 10th
and 11th, the Board voted not to change the
reassignment plan it adopted at the December
4, 1979, meeting. Although present at these
meetings as a corporate agent, Mr. Simches ab-
sented himself from the executive sessions in
which the Board discussed and finally voted not
to change its position.

13. On December 12, 1979, Safety was
licensed by the Division of Insurance. The Board
met later that day and after questioning Mr.
Simches who now appeared as Safety’s corporate
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agent, voted to award 809% of MCA'’s business to
Safety. This decision was made only after Mr.
Simches agreed that all his insurance agencies
would change from being designated brokers to
voluntary agents. This would result in 25% of
Safety’s business being written as “voluntary,”
and thereby substantially increase its financial
contribution to the Facility's operating funds as
compared to the contributions made by MCA.
Mr. Simches again absented himself from the
Board’s vote on this matter.

14. By absenting himself from votes by
the Board on December 4, 10, 11 and 12th, con-
cerning matters affecting the: financial interests
of MCA and Safety, Mr. Simches was attempting
to avoid a conflict between his obligations as a
Board member and his personal interest in MCA
and Safety.

15, There is no evidence that by acting
as agent for his insurance agency, Safety or MCA
before the Board, Mr. Simches unduly or im-
properly influenced its decisions regarding either
the approval of MCA's interim reimbursement
requests, or the transfer of 80% of MCA'’s busi-
ness to Safety, as set out in paragraphs 6, 9 and
11-13 above. Nor is there evidence that the
Board's decisions on these matters were contrary
to the best interests of the insurance industry or
the Commonwealth.

16. At the time that he attended the Board
meetings on December 4, 10, 11 and 12 as agent
for MCA, Safety and his insurance agency, and
abstained from the votes noted in paragraph 14,
Mr. Simches did not know that he might be sub-
ject to the provisions of the Conflict-Of-Interest
Law. In part, this belief was the result of a legal
opinion given to the Facility by its legal counsel
in July 1978, and repeated thereafter, which
opined that the Facility was not a “governmental
body” for purposes of the State Administrative
Procedure law, General Laws Chapter 30A.

Conclusions of Law

The Commission concludes that the Facility
is a “state agency” within the meaning of and
consistent with the purposes of the Conflict-Of-
Interest Law, which purposes are broader and
more preventative in nature than those of the
State Administrative Procedure Law. The Com-
mission also concludes that members of the
Facility’s Board are “special state employees”



within the meaning of Section 1{0o) of Chapter
268A, and therefore subject to the provisions of
the Conflict-Of-Interest Law. In light of these
conclusions, which are made by the Commission
and not contested by Mr. Simches, the parties
agree that Mr. Simches violated Section 4{c) of
Chapter 268A, which prohibits special state em-
ployees from acting as agents for private entities
in relation to matters which are pending in the
state agency for which they serve, by: (1) per-
sonally appearing before the Board as the cor-
porate agent for his insurance agency, for MCA
and for Safety at its meetings on December 4,
10, 11 and 12, 1979; and (2) acting as MCA's
agent in requesting the Board to grant MCA
several interim reimbursements in 1979,

DISPOSITION

THEREFORE, in view of the facts and cir-
cumstances set out in paragraphs 1-16 of this
Agreement, the Commission has determined that
the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following
representations, terrns and conditions hereby
made and agreed to by Richard B. Simches:

1. That he is represented by Frederick
Pritzker, Esq., One Federal Street, Boston, and
has been fully advised as to all matters relating
to these proceedings and this Agreement;

2. That he cease and desist from acting as
the agent for Safety, MCA, or any other entity
in connection with any matter which is pending
before the Board while he remains a member of
the Board;

3. That he pay the sum of §500 to the State
Ethics Commission within three (3) days of the
execution of this Agreement; and

4, That he waive all rights to contest the
findings of fact, conclusions of law, and the terms
and conditions contained in this Agreement, in
this or in any related proceeding.

DATE: October 7, 1980
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLLK, ss Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 134

IN THE MATTER
OF
BADI G. FOSTER

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”) and
Badi G. Foster (“Mr. Foster”) pursuant to Section
11 of the Commission’s Procedures Covering
the Initiation and Conduct of Preliminary
Inquiries and Investigations. The parties agree
that upon its execution this Agreement shall con-
stitute a final order of the Commission enforce-
able in the Superior Court of the Commonwealth,

On February 25, 1980, the Commission,
pursuant to Section 4(a) of General Laws, Chapter
268B, initiated a Preliminary Inquiry into possible
violations of the Conflict-of-Interest Law, Chap-
ter 268A, involving Mr. Foster, a former Pro-
fessor at the University of Massachusetts at Boston.

The Commission has concluded its investi-
gation into Mr. Foster's involvement in the mat-
ters set forth herein and makes the following
findings of fact, to which the parties hereto
agree:

1. Mr. Foster was a full-time member of
the faculty at the University of Massachusetts at
Boston from November of 1972 until August 31,
1976. He was on a leave of absence from the
University for the period September 1, 1976 to
August 31, 1977, at which time he reassumed
his faculty position on a 2/3's time basis.

2. Cedar Associates Incorporated, waf
formed in May 1975, as a “for-profit” corpor-
ation. Mr. Foster was the President and sole
stockholder of the company. Its principal pur-
pose was to provide professional consultant ser-
vices in the field of minority education, minority
employment and other related areas.

3. On March 6, 1975, Mr. Foster was
selected by the State Department of Education
(“DOE") to be a2 member of an Ad Hoc Com-
mittee to review proposed programs for disad-



vantaged students. He served as a member from
July 1, 1975 to June 30, 1976. The responsibility
and purpose of the members was to review grant
proposals to determine their relevance to par-
ticular federal funding areas and the target
population. Such grant proposals were approved
or disapproved by DOE. However, grant pro-
posals had to be reviewed by at least three Ad
Hoc Committee members, who recommended
approval, disapproval, or referral to another
funding area. Members of the Ad Hoc Committee
who reviewed a proposal did not review the
budget for the proposal, as they had no respon-
sibility for review with respect to costs. Mr: Foster
reviewed at least 12 program proposals and he
recommended approval of each proposal that he
reviewed. The review of a proposal by a member
typically took about one half hour. As a member
of this committee, Mr. Foster was a “special state
employee” within the meaning of Section 1(0) of
Chapter 268A.

4, In the month of July, 1975, while serving
on the Ad Hoc Committee, Mr. Foster was one of
three members who reviewed Project Number
D15976, entitled “Vocational Counseling and
Career Development Program” which was pro-
posed by the Boston YWCA Cass Branch (“Boston
YWCA™). After reviewing the proposal, Mr.
Foster, as well as the other two readers, recom-
mended to DOE that the project be approved.
The Boston YWCA was subsequently awarded
$76,000 by DOE, and began work on this grant
in early 1976.

5. Inor about August 1976, Melvin McCoy,
Vice President of Cedar Associates, met an official
of the Boston YWCA at a National Urban League
Convention being held in Boston. They discussed
programs of the Boston YWCA for disadvantaged

_youth, and the need for evaluation of the effec-
tiveness of those programs.

On August 31, 1976, Badi Foster and Melvin
McCoy met with the Director of the Boston YWCA
and proposed that Cedar Associates review and
evaluate the programs developed under the
above DOE grant.

6. On October 30, 1976, the Director of
the YWCA requested permission from the DOE
to transfer funds from various budget line items
of the grant for the purpose of acquiring the
assistance of Cedar Associates.

7. OnDecember 7, 1976, Cedar Associates
entered into a contract with the Boston YWCA
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to perform a “formative and summative evalu-
ation of the Vocational Counseling and Career
Development Program.” Cedar Associates re-
ceived DOE grant funds totalling $9,213 for this
evaluation, and submitted its final report on May
12, 1977.

8. At the time that the contract between
Cedar Associates and the Boston YWCA was
executed, and during the period in which the
evaluation was performed, Mr. Foster was no
longer a member of the Ad Hoc Committee or
the University of Massachusetts faculty and was,
therefore, a “former state employee” within the
meaning of Chapter 268A.

9. There is no evidence that Mr. Foster
used his prior state positions to improperly secure
this contract, or that at the time he recommend-
ed that DOE award the $76,000 grant to the
Boston YWCA he intended to seek this contract,
or that at the time that Cedar Associates entered
this contract with the Boston YWCA he knew
that said contract would violate the Conflict-of-
Interest Law.

Based on the facts as set out in paragraphs
1-9 above, the Commission has concluded, and
the parties agree, that by Cedar Associates en-
tering a contract to perform services under a
grant which Mr. Foster reviewed, Mr. Foster
violated Section 5(a) of Chapter 268A, which
prohibits a former state employee from receiving
compensation in relation to any matter in which
the Commonwealth has a direct and substantial
interest and in which he participated while a
state employee.

THEREFORE, The Commission has de-
termined that the public interest would be served
by the disposition of this matter without further
enforcement proceedings on the basis of the fol-
lowing representations, terms and conditions
hereby made and agreed to by Badi G. Foster:

1. That he is represented by Thomas G.
Shapiro, Esq., 33 Broad St., Boston, and has
been fully advised as to all matters relating to
these proceedings and this Agreement;

2. That he cease and desist from entering
into contracts on behalf of Cedar Associates in
relation to any grant, contract or other particular
matter in which he participated while a state
employee;

3. That he pay to the State Ethics Com-
mission the sum of $1,800.00 as recoupment of



the economic benefit directly or indirectly re-
ceived by him under the contract between Cedar
Associates and the Boston YWCA; which pay-
ment is to be made in accord with a schedule
of payments set out in Appendix A of this Agree-
ment and incorporated herein by reference;

4. That he pay to the State Ethics Com-
mission the sum of $250.00 forthwith as civil
penalty for violating Section 5(a) of Chapter
268A; and

5. That he waive all rights to contest the
findings of fact, conclusions of law, and the terms
and conditions contained in this Agreement, in
this or in any related proceeding.

DATE: October 7, 1980

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory

Docket No. 124

IN THE MATTER
OF
WILLIAM L. BAGNI, SR.

Appearances:
David Burns, Esquire - Counsel to the Pe-
titioner

Ralph Champa, Esquire - Counsel to the
Respondent

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch.; Kristler; Brickman; Bern-
stein; McLaughlin

DECISION AND ORDER

We find that the Respondent, William L.
Bagni, Sr., violated Section 4 and 23 of Chapter
268A and order that he pay civil penalties totalling
$2,000 within 30 days of the issuance of this
Decision.

I. Procedural History
On February 13, 1980, the State Ethics
Commission initiated a Preliminary Inquiry in the
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matter of William L. Bagni, Sr., in accordance
with General Laws Chapter 268B, Section 4(a).
On May 13, 1980, the State Ethics Commission
found that there was reasonable cause to believe
that William L. Bagni, Sr. had violated Sections
4 and 23 of General Laws Chapter 268A and
authorized a full investigation into the matter
and the initiation of adjudicatory proceedings in
accordance with General Laws Chapter 268B,
Section 4(c).

On July 11, 1980, the Petitioner filed an
Order to Show Cause in accordance with the
State Ethics Commission’s Rules of Practice and
Procedure, 930 C.M.R. 1.01(5)(a), alleging that
William L. Bagni, Sr. had violated Sections 25(a),
(e) and (f) and Sections 4(a) and 4(c) of General
Laws Chapter 268A. That Order was subsequent-
ly served on the Respondent, William L. Bagni,
Sr., in accordance with the State Ethics Com-
mission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 930
C.M.R. 1.01 (4){f). On July 29, 1980, the Re-
spondent filed his Answer to the Order denying
that he had violated Section 23 or Section 4 of
Chapter 268A.

An evidentiary hearing was held in this
matter on September 29, 1980, before Commis-
sioner David Brickman. See General Laws Chap-
ter 268B, Section 4(c). Each Commissioner re-
ceived copies of the transcript of the proceeding
and of all exhibits. Each of the Commissioners
participating in this Decision and Order has
heard and/or read the evidence and arguments
presented by the parties.!/

II. Findings of Fact

1. The Respondent William L. Bagni, Sr.
was, at all times relevant to the violations alleged
in the Order to Show Cause in this matter, em-
ployed by the Massachusetts Department of
Public Utilities (“DPU") as an inspector assigned
to the Commercial Motor Vehicle Division
(“CMVD").

2. The Massachusetts General Laws and
regulations promulgated by the DPU require all
two truck operators and other common carriers
operating in Massachusetts to file written tariff
schedules showing their current prices for towing
and other related services with the Rates and

Research Division of the DPU.

1/Qral argument before the full Commission was scheduled for
Decernber 16, 1980 but was waived by the parties on December 15, 1980




3. The principal functions of the CMVD
relate to the administration and enforcement of
the Massachusetts Motor Carrier Act, General
Laws Chapter 159B. That Chapter regulates
persons transporting property for compensation
by motor vehicles, including tow truck owners
and operators, and provides for administrative
and criminal sanctions for violation of its pro-
visions.

4. The Respondent’s official duties and
responsibilities as an inspector assigned to the
CMVD include the periodic inspection of records
of all tow truck operators and other common
carriers for compliance with applicable state laws
and regulations, the investigation of all complaints
involving said tow truck operators and other
common carriers, and the gathering of evidence
for administrative and/or criminal prosecution
of violations of said laws and regulations.

5. As an inspector assigned to the CMVD,
the Respondent had no official duties relating to
the preparation or filing of written tariff schedules
by tow operators or other common carriers with
the Rates and Research Division of the DPU.

6. At the direction of Mr. Richard Connors,
the Director of the CMVD, Mr. George E. Will-
iams, the Assistant Director of the CMVD, issued

a memorandum dated September 19, 1978 to all '

CMVD personnel advising that “CMVD personnel
shall not act as couriers for carriers” in filing
tariffs and other documents with the Rates and
Research Division. This memorandum was sub-
sequently incorporated into the rules and pro-
cedure of the DPU.

7. George Herbert Simmons, Jr., a Senior
Rate Analyst employed in the Rates and Research
Division of the DPU, tries to assist carriers with
their tariff filings by telling them what format
to use. The DPU provides blank forms for tariff
filings and maximum rate schedules free of charge
to tow operators upon request.

8. On six occasions during the years 1977,
1978, and 1979, the Respondent received from
the tow truck operators listed below the sum of
$25.2/ for preparing or causing to be prepared
tariff certificates or tanff certificate supplements:

a. Alexander Despo, d/b/a
Massachusetts Custom Coach and Glass
Works (Certificate issued July 3, 1979);

b. George A. Veracka, d/b/a
Maynard Shell (Certificates issued
March 22, 1977 and July 17, 1979 and
a supplement issued March 6, 1978);

c. Howard A. Rhone, d/b/a
Sunnyside Exxon (Certificate and sup-
plement issued April 3, 1978);

d. Celorier and Elliot, Inc., Way-
land Shell Service (Certificate issued
February 16, 1978).

9. In five of the six instances listed in para-
graph 8, it was the Respondent who suggested
that new rates were needed and that the docu-
ments be prepared and filed.

10. A tariff certificate typically is a five
page document, four pages of which, however,
appear to be a pre-prepared standard schedule
of rates. The only page that is required to be
filled out is the cover page on which (in spaces
provided) is typed the name and address of the
tow truck operator, a number, a date and an
indication of the purpose of the certificate(for
example, “Used motor vehicles; within a radius
of 10 miles Town Hall, Natick™).

11. On at least the following two other
occasions, the Respondent prepared and filed
Certificates on behalf of tow truck operators but,
according to the operators involved, was not
compensated for doing so:

a. Cochituate Motors, Inc. (Cer-
tificate issued September 14, 1979);

b. Edmond Dionne, d/b/a Ed’s
Sunoco Station (Certificate issued July
28, 1979).

12. There was also evidence that the Re-
spondent assisted others in the preparation of
tariff certificates although it is unclear whether
he was compensated for doing so or whether he
actually filed the certificates on behalf of the
operators. On one occasion the Respondent sug-
gested to an operator that his rates should be
adjusted and offered to prepare the certificate
for $50; the operator indicated he would do it
himself.

13. All the parties named in paragraphs
8 and 11 above were, at the times referred to in
those paragraphs, subject to the Respondent's
authority as an inspector for the CMVD.

III. Decision

The Respondent has been charged with
violating Sections 4(a) and (c) and 23(a), (e),
and (f) of General Laws Chapter 268A. We shall
address Sections 4 and 23 separately.

*/In five of these six instances, the Respondent also received the
sum of $3 to cover the fee for filing these documents,
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A. Section 4

Chapter 268A, Section 4(a) provides that
“[no] state employee shall otherwise than as pro-
vided by law for the proper discharge of official
duties, directly or indirectly receive or request
compensation from anyone other than the Com-
monwealth or a state agency, in relation to any
particular matter in which the Commonwealth
or a state agency is a party or has a direct and
substantial interest.”

The parties have stipulated that the Re-
spondent is a “state employee” as that term is
defined in Chapter 268A. See General Laws
Chapter 268A, Section 1{g). Clearly, the tow
truck operators listed in paragraphs 8 and 11
above are not “Commonwealth or a state
agency.” The parties have stipulated, and we
have found (in paragraph 5 above), that, as an
inspector assigned to the Commercial Motor
Vehicle Division of the Department of Public
Utilities, the Respondent had no official duties
relating to the preparation or filing of written
tariff schedules by tow operators or other common
carriers with the Rates and Research Division of
the DPU. The parties have also stipulated that
the preparation and filing of a common tariff
certificate by a tow operator or other regulated
carrier with the Rates and Research Division of
DPU is a "particular matter” as that term is de-
fined in Chapter 268A (see General Laws Chap-
ter 268A, Section 1(k) to which the Common-
wealth is a party within the meaning of Chapter
268A, Sections 4(a) and (c).

“Compensation” is defined as “any money,
thing of value or economic benefit conferred on
or received by any person in return for services
rendered or to be rendered by himself or another.”
See General Laws Chapter 268A, Section 1(a).
The $25 the Respondent received on six separate
occasions from tow truck operators in return for
the preparation of certificates constituted com-
pensation. The evidence warrants a finding that
the Respondent sought this money for himself
and not for a typist. Such a fee would have been
disproportionate to the amount of typing involved.
On one occasion the Respondent was seen actually
typing a certificate. On another occasion, he
sought $50 for what would have been the same
amount of typing. Even if the Respondent turned
the money over to another individual, it would
still constitute “compensation” since, as that term
is defined, the money may be “received . . . in
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return for services . . . to be rendered by . . .
another.”

Accordingly, we find that on the six oc-
casions set out in paragraph 8 above, the Re-
spondent violated Section 4(a). In those two in-
stances where compensation may not have been
received, the Respondent nevertheless violated
Section 4(c) of Chapter 268A which prohibits a
state employee from acting “as agent . . . for any-
one in connection with any particular matter in
which the Commonwealth or a state agency is a
party or has a direct and substantial interest.”
In filing tariff certificates with the Rates and
Research Division of DPU on behalif of tow truck
operators, the respondent acted as their agent.
See Patterson v. Barnes, 517 Mass. 721, 723
(1945); Restatement (Second) of Agency, §1
(1957).

“[P]ublic officials should not in general be
permitted to step out of their official roles to
assist private entities or persons in their dealings
with government.” Perkins, The New Federal
Conflict-of-Interest Law, 76 Harv. L. Rev. 1113,
1120 (1963). Section 4 of Chapter 268A:

says, in effect, that the norm of
government employment is that the
regular public employee should, in the
usual case, be a public employee first,
last and only. For him to be a private
employee is a contradiction in terms;
it suggests that he is serving two masters.
The appearance of potential impro-
priety is raised - influence peddling,
favoring his private connections and
cheating the government. Whether or
not any or all these evils result, con-
fidence in government is undermined
because the public cannot be sure that
they will not result.

Buss, The Massachusetts Conflict-of-Interest
Statute: An Analysis, 45 B.U.L. Rev. 299, 322
(1965).

Whenever state employees receive compen-
sation from private interests or represent them
in matters in which the state also has an interest,
there is the potential that employees will favor
those private interests at the expense of the state.
Such favoritism is especially pernicious where the
state employee is receiving compensation from
a private party which has dealings with, has a
matter pending before, or is regulated by the



state employee’s own agency or where the em-
ployee represents the private party in its dealings
with his or her own agency. No state employee
could ever in good faith think it appropriate to
conduct private business with the very people he
is duty bound to regulate.

We hereby order the Respondent to pay
within 30 days of the issuance of this Decision
civil penalties totalling $2,000, that is, $300 for
each of his six violations of Section 4(a) and $100
for each of his two violations of Section 4(c).

B. Section 23

Section 2% of Chapter 268A sets forth six
additional prohibitions applicable to all public
employees. These provisions are collectively re-
ferred to as the “Standards of Conduct.” Since
they articulate some of the most fundamental
principles and prohibitions applicable to public
employment, the Standards serve essentially as a
general code of ethics which supports and supple-
ments the other provisions of the conflict of
interest law. The Standards extend beyond single
actions which constitute conflicts and address
both courses of conduct raising conflict questions
and appearances of conflicts.

Section 23(a) of Chapter 268A prohibits
state employees from accepting other employ-
ment which will impair their independence of
judgment in the exercise of their official duties.
Sections 23(e) and (f) prohibit state employees
from engaging in conduct which will give reason-
able basis for the impression that any person can
improperly influence them or unduly enjoy their
favor in the performance of official duties or from
pursuing courses of conduct which will raise
suspicion among the public that they are likely to
be engaged in acts that are in violation of their
public trust.

The testimony and other evidence contained
in the record of this hearing show a repeated
pattern of transactions for private gain between
the Respondent and several of the tow truck
operators which the Respondent regularly in-
spected in the course of his official duties. The
Respondent’s conduct is a classic example of
precisely the type of dealings between public
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employees and private businesses which Section
23(a) was intended to prohibit. As shown by the
testimony of the Director and Assistant Director
of the Commercial Motor Vehicle Division and
by the testimony of each tow truck operator, the
Respondent had substantial inspection and regu-
latory authority over those tow truck operators
requiring the exercise of his official judgment
in a fair and impartial manner. Indeed, it was
while he was on the premises conducting an of-
ficial inspection of their records that the Respond-
ent discussed and entered into these private busi-
ness arrangements. The fact that the Respondent
assisted some of those same tow truck operators
in the preparation and filing of their tariff cer-
tificates and requested and received private com-
pensation from them for those services would ir-
reparably compromise his impartiality and in-
dependence of judgment in his official dealings
with those tow truck operators.

The evidence also supports findings that
the Respondent violated Section 23(e) and 23(f)
by repeatedly soliciting private work from those
businesses over whom he has official responsi-
bility. There can be little doubt that such con-
duct creates an impression in the mind of the
public that those private tow truck operators who
paid for the services of the Respondent to assist
them in the preparation and filing of their tariff
certificates, could improperly influence him or
unduly enjoy his favor in the conduct of his of-
ficial inspections of their towing operations.
Moreover, the Respondent’s repeated solicit-
ations and receipt of private compensation from
those tow truck operators over whom he had of-
ficial inspection and regulatory authority, clearly
raises suspicion among the public that he was
likely to be engaged in acts in violation of his
public trust.

If the Section 23 violations stood alone in
this case, we would order the Respondent to pay
civil penalties for them. However, since we have
already imposed penalties under Section 4 for
those same incidents, we will not impose separate
penalties under Section 23.

DATE: January 29, 1981



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 139

IN THE MATTER
OF
ANDREW BAYKO

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”) and
Andrew Bayko (“Mr. Bayko”) pursuant to Section
11 of the Commission’s Procedures Covering the
Initiation and Conduct of Preliminary In-
quiries and Investigations. The parties agree
that this Agreement constitutes an assented to
final order of the Commission enforceable in the
Superior Court of the Commonwealth.

On September 26, 1980, the Commission,
pursuant to Section 4(a) of General Laws Chapter
268B, initiated a Preliminary Inquiry into pos-
sible violations of the Conflict-of-Interest law,
General Laws Chapter 268A, involving Mr. Bayko,
the former Wiring Inspector for the Town of
Salisbury.

The Commission has concluded its Inquiry
into Mr. Bayko's involvement in the matters set
forth herein and makes the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law to which the parties
hereto agree:

1. Mr. Bayko was employed by the Town
of Salisbury as its Wiring Inspector, during the
period from June, 1973 through September 15,
1980, and as such was a “municipal employee”
within the meaning of Section 1(g) of General
Laws Chapter 268A.

2. On September 8, 1980, Mr. Bayko sub-
mitted his resignation to the Salisbury Board of
Selectmen, and the same was accepted effective
September 15, 1980. Although Mr. Bayko had
attempted to resign his position on two prior oc-
casions, he had been asked by the Selectmen,
and he had agreed, to continue in his capacity
as Wiring Inspector.

3. Mr. Bayko's official duties as the Town
of Salisbury Wiring Inspector included the issuing
of wiring permits for electrical work being done
in the town, enforcing Section 3L of General
Laws Chapter 143 which requires that wiring
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permits be applied for and obtained for all such
electrical work, and inspecting all electrical work
performed in the town to insure its compliance
with Massachusetts Electrical Code, 527 CMR
12.00.

4. In addition to his official duties as
Wiring Inspector, Mr. Bayko has, since approxi-
mately 1974, performed private electrical work
in the Town of Salsibury through Bayko Elec-
trical Company.

5. Mr. Bayko, during the years he served
as the Salisbury Wiring Inspector, did not apply
for and obtain electrical permits for the private
electrical work that he performed in the Town
of Salisbury, as required by General Laws Chap-
ter 143, Section 3L. His appointing authority,
the Salisbury Board of Selectmen, was aware
that Mr. Bayko was performing private services
as an electrician in the Town of Salisbury but
was unaware that permits were not being obtained
for this work.

6. Mr. Bayko, during the years he served
as the Salisbury Wiring Inspector, did not have
the work he performed as a private electrician in
Salisbury, inspected as required by General Laws,
Chapter 143, Section 3L.

7. Mr. Bayko, by his conduct as set out in
paragraphs 3-6 above, violated the standards of
conduct for municipal employees set out in Sec-
tions 23(d) and (e) of General Laws Chapter
268A, which standards prohibit municipal em-
ployees and officials from engaging in conduct
which creates the impression that they can be
unduly affected in the performance of their of-
ficial duties, and from securing unwarranted
privileges or exemptions for themselves or others.

8. Mr. Bayko by his conduct as set out in
paragraphs 3-6 above, violated Section 19 of
General Laws Chapter 268A, by participating
in official matters in which he had a financial
interest.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has deter-
mined that the public interest would be served
by the disposition of this matter without further
enforcement proceedings on the basis of the
following representations, terms and conditions
hereby made and agreed to by Andrew Bayko:

1. That he is represented by David Halli-
nan, Esquire, One Church St., Salem, MA, 01970,
and has been fully advised as to all matters re-
lating to these proceedings and this Agreement;



2. That he will in the future cease and
desist from participating in his official capacity
in matters in which he has a financial interest;

3. That he pay forthwith to the Commis-
sion a civil penalty which, in view of other sanc-
tions imposed on Mr. Bayko by the Board of
Examiners of Electricians, the Commission has
set at $250; and

4. That he waive all rights to contest the
findings of fact, conclusion of law, and terms
and conditions contained in this Agreement, in
this or any related administrative or judicial
proceedings.

DATE: February 9, 1981

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss: Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 140

IN THE MATTER
QF
THE COLLECTOR-TREASURER'S OFFICE
OF THE CITY OF BOSTON, ET AL.

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”), and
the following officials and employees of the City
of Boston (“the City”): Newell Cook (“Mr. Cook™),
the former Collector-Treasurer and current
Auditor of the City, Dora Fredman (““Mrs. Fred-
man"), a clerk in the Collector-Treasurer'’s Office,
Lowell Richards (“Mr. Richards”), the Collector-
Treasurer of the City, and Kenneth Glidden
(“Mr, Glidden"), the First Assistant Collector-
Treasurer of the City, pursuant to Section 11 of
the Commission's Procedures Covering the Ini-
tiation and Conduct of Preliminary Inquiries
and Investigations. The parties agree that upon
its execution, this Agreement shall constitute a
final order of the Commission, enforceable in
the Superior Court of the Commonwealth.

On December 1, 1980, the Commission
initiated a Preliminary Inquiry, pursuant to
Section 4 of General Laws Chapter 268B, into
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alleged violations of the Conflict-of-Interest Law,
General Laws Chapter 268A (“Chapter 268A"),
by certain officials and employees of the Collector-
Treasurer's Office of the City of Boston (“Trea-
surer’s Office™). Specifically, the Preliminary In-
quiry was initiated after the Commission received
a complaint alleging that a part-time clerk em-
ployed by the Treasurer’s Office to process mu-
nicipal lien certificates, was receiving private
fees to expedite the issuance of said certificates;
that the only way to obtain a certificate within
the statutorily required time period was to pay a
private expediting fee; and that these private fees
had been charged and collected for several years
with the knowledge and approval of the officials
responsible for the operations of the Treasurer’s
Office, and with the full cooperation and par-
ticipation of the majority of attorneys who convey
real property in the City of Boston.

The Commission has concluded its Inquiry
into these allegations, and makes the following
findings of fact and conclusions of law to which
the parties hereto agree:

1. A municipal lien certificate (“certificate™)
is a document furnished by the collector of taxes
for all cities or towns of 5,000 residents or more
which indicates all taxes and other assessments,
which constitute liens on a particular piece of
property. Almost every transfer of real property
entails the issuance of a certificate.

2. Pursuant to G.L. c. 60, Section 23, cer-
tificates are to be furnished by the collector of
taxes within five business days of application.
The fee schedule, set by statute, and in Boston
by ordinance as well, begins at $10 per certificate
for vacant land and land housing single-family
structures, and graduates to $100 for commercial
properties.

3. The issuance of certificates in Boston
is handled by the Collecting Division of the
Treasurer's Office. Prior to July of 1977, the
entire operation (receipt of applications and
processing of certificates) was handled by two
full-time clerks. Approximately three years ago,
one of the clerks, Dora Fredman, retired at age
70 leaving only one clerk to handle the work,
with the occasional aid of other clerks in the
Division. Requests for certificates have frequently
been backlogged because of staff shortages.

4. The Collecting Division issues approxi-
mately 6,000 certificates each year. Of the cer-
tificates issued during the period from June 1979 -



September 1980, (the only period for which pre-
cise dates were available), approximately 40%
were furnished within the 5 business day period
as required by statute. Most of the other certifi-
cates were issued within a period of from two to
four weeks after application.

5. A sampling of thirteen of the many law
firms which regularly received the certificates
which they requested within the 5 day statutory
period, revealed that all thirteen firms paid pri-
vate “expediting fees” to Mrs. Fredman for prompt
processing of their certificates. The amount of
the individual fee paid varied between five and
ten dollars per certificate.

6. Prior to paying these expediting fees to
Mrs. Fredman, several of these firms had regularly
paid a similar fee to another employee of the
Treasurer’s Office who subsequently retired and
is now deceased.

7. All thirteen firms contacted were of the
understanding that Mrs. Fredman was a part-time
or retired city employee who was authorized to
collect these private fees. Few, if any, of the firms
pursued their inquiry into the legality of this
arrangement beyond asking Mrs. Fredman if the
private fees were authorized. However, if they
had inquired of anyone in authority in the Trea-
surer's Office, they would have been advised that
she had been authorized by officials in the Trea-
surer's Office to collect private expediting fees.

8. The issuance of a certificate involves
the accumulation of tax-related information
from three city departments: the Treasurer’s
Office, the Building Department, and the Public
Improvements Commission. Once gathered, this
information, is recorded on a certificate by the
clerks in the Collecting Division of the Treasurer's
Office. The actual collection of the tax data in
each department takes only a matter of minutes,
however, the issuance of a certificate when pro-
cessed through normal channels, can take several
days or even weeks depending on the character-
istics and history of the parcel of property for
which the certificate has been requested and the
length of delays in circulating the application
from department to department. When a certifi-
cate is “expedited,” it is processed out of order
and the information necessary to its completion
is personally gathered from the other depart-
ments by the clerk doing the expediting. It is
possible to expedite up to twenty (20) certificates
in a single day if those certificates do not present
any unusual problems.
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9. Although difficult to determine with
precision the exact amount of the expediting
fees paid to Mrs. Fredman in the 1978-1980
period, the Commission finds that said payments
totalled approximately $10,000.

HISTORY

10. Subsequent to Mrs. Fredman's retire-
ment in June of 1977, she approached James
Young, then Deputy Mayor for Fiscal Affairs,
and Newell Cook, then First Assistant Collector-
Treasurer and asked if it would be possible for
her to return to work in the Collecting Division
to process municipal lien certificates on a part-
time, contractual basis. Because Mrs. Fredman
had been an extremely effective employee, who
knew all of the quirks in the system, Mr. Young
hired her back on contract at terms which would
be consistent with the requirements of her re-
tirement.

11. Mrs. Fredman's first contract ran from
February 21, 1978 through June 30, 1978 for an
amount which was not to exceed $4,000. Her
second contract, again for $4,000, ran from
February 26, 1979 through June 30, 1979. Her
third contract was increased to a maximum of
$10,000 and became effective on July 7, 1980.
Pursuant to these contracts she was paid $2,280
in 1978, $2,742 in 1979, and $5,000 in 1980.
She also worked from time to time in the Trea-
surer's Office, in an uncompensated capacity,
during periods when she was not under the terms
of these contracts and after being permitted to
do so as set out in paragraphs 13 and 14 below.

12. None of the aforementioned contracts
between Mrs. Fredman and the City authorized
her to collect private fees for her services in ad-
dition to the compensation paid by the City.
Each of the contracts specifically stated that she
“shall be considered an employee for the pur-
poses of G.L. c. 268A (the Conflict-of-Interest
Law)”, and directed her attention to the pro-
hibitions of that law.

13. Mrs. Fredman approached Newell
Cook in 1978 during the term of her first contract
to ask if she could accept private fees from a
limited number of attorneys who she knew and
who needed expedient certificate delivery. Mr.
Cook authorized her to collect these private ex-
pediting fees for work she performed on her own
time. Mr. Cook authorized this arrangement
because Mrs. Fredman was on a contract and



not in his view a “city employee”, and because he
felt that this arrangement would be advantageous
to the City by helping to clear up the backlog of
certificates at no additional cost to the City.
When her first contract expired in June 1978,
she continued to work in the Collecting Division
on a part-time unpaid basis to service her private
customners for private fees.

14. Mrs. Fredman's 1979 and 1980 con-
tracts were approved by then Collector-Treasurer
Mr. Richards. During the terms of those contracts,
Mrs. Fredman sought and received authorization
from Mr. Richards, and from First Assistant
Treasurer Mr. Glidden to continue td use the
facilities of the Treasurer's Office to expedite
certificates for private fees on her own time,
Both Mr. Richards and Mr. Glidden authorized
this arrangement because it appeared to be ad-
vantageous to the City in that this expediting
service would not cost the City any money and
would help alleviate the backlog of certificate
requests, and because it was their understanding
that the acceptance of expediting fees was a long-
standing practice in the Treasurer's Office.

15. Messrs. Cook, Richards and Glidden
authorized Mrs. Fredman to collect these private
fees, as noted in paragraphs 13 and 14 above,
without checking with or advising Corporation
Counsel, and will full knowledge of the statutory
responsibility of the City to issue certificates within
five days of application without the payment of
an expediting fee for that service.

16. Although Messrs. Cook, Richards and
Glidden authorized Mrs. Fredman to collect these
private fees, the full extent of her expediting
business was not known to them. Mrs. Fredman's
private clientele grew from the limited number
of attorneys whom she had known from the past
and for whome she was authorized to expedite
certificates, to a large number of attorneys who
regularly conveyed real property in the City of
Boston. She collected expediting fees through-
out 1978, 1979, and 1980: both during the
periods when she was under contract with the
City, and also during those perios when she was
not under cotract but was permitted to conduct
her private business out of the Treasurer’s Office.
However, during those periods when she was not
under contract with the City, Mrs. Fredman also
performed numerous official tasks for and at the
direction of the Treasurer’s Office, for which
she received no compensation.
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17. In addition to authorizing Mrs. Fred-
man to continue to collect expediting fees, and
for the purpose of establishing an orderly system
for giving priority to the issuance of those certifi-
cates that were needed right away, Messrs. Rich-
ards and Glidden set up a parallel expediting
system to be run by the City. Starting in January
1980, applicants for municipal lien certificates
could pay an additional fee of $10, by certified
check made payable to the City, if they wished to
be certain of getting their certificate within the
five-day statutory period. This “official” expedit-
ing fee was never adopted by ordinance and
existed in addition to Mrs. Fredman's private
expediting business.

18. The practice of collecting expediting
fees, both private and public, was brought to a
stop by the City on October 16, 1980, after being
advised by the Commission that the practice
raised substantial questions under Chapter 268A.

CONCLUSIONS

19. The practice of City employees ex-
pediting the issuance of municipal lien certifi-
cates for an additional private fee has existed in
the office of the Treasurer of the City of Boston
for many years, predating the employment by
the City of the aforementioned employees and
officials, and has been explicitly and implicitly
approved by the Corporate City through and by
its officers and employees. During the years
1978-1980, which were subject to the Commis-
sion’s Inquiry, it was unlikely that a citizen ap-
plying for a municipal lien certificate from the
City could obtain that certificate within the 5 day
statutory period without paying a private expedit-
ing fee for that service.

20. The receipt by city employees, part-
time or otherwise, of private fees to expedite of-
ficial actions violates Sections 3 and 17 of the
Conlflict-of-Interest Law, Chapter 268A, because
those fees are paid to city employees for or be-
cause of official acts, and are paid in relation to
matters in which the City is a party and has a
substantial interest. The knowledge of those of-
ficials responsible for the actions of the Treasurer’s
Office, and their approval of the receipt of these
private expediting fees, in no way exempts those
actions from the prohibitions of the law.



21. The authorization of this improper
practice by the City and its officials, while not
motivated by considerations of personal gain,
nevertheless, tended to undermine public con-
fidence in government, in that it created the im-
pression that official acts could be unduly influ-
enced by those willing to pay private fees to City
employees for those acts, and that employees of
the Treasurer's Office were acting in violation
of their public trust, in violation of the standards
of conduct for municipal employees as set out in
Section 23(f) of Chapter 268A.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has deter-
mined that the public interest would be served
by the disposition of this matter without further
proceedings on the basis of the following repre-
sentations, terms and conditions hereby made
and agreed to by the parties:

A. The City officials and employees who
are parties hereto will forthwith take such steps
as are required, including the issuance of appro-
priate executive orders, to insure that

1. The practice of accepting pri-
vate expediting fees by employees of the
Treasurer’s Office will not be resumed;

2. All employees in the Trea-
surer's office are advised that the receipt
of private fees for public services is pro-
hibited by the Conflict-of-Interest Law,
Chapter 268A, unless said receipt is
specifically authorized by law.

B. The City officials and employees who
are parties hereto will report to the Commission,
within 30 days of the execution of this Agree-
ment, what steps they have taken to implement
the terms set out in paragraph A, above.

DATE: February 27, 1981
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 128

IN THE MATTER
OF
ALLISON GOODSELL

Appearances:
John H. Cunha, Jr., Esq.; Counsel for the
Petitioner
No appearance on behalf of Respondent

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Chairman; Brickman; Bernstein;
Kistler; McLaughlin

DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

On August 20, 1980, the Petitioner filed an
Order to Show Cause alleging that the Respond-
ent, Allison Goodsell, violated §5(g) of the Fin-
ancial Disclosure Law, General Laws Chapter
268B, by failing to file a Statement of Financial
Interests for 1979 (1979 SFI). On November 14,
1980, the Sheriff of Washington County, Rhode
Island, served the Order to Show Cause in hand
to Respondent. The Respondent failed to file an
Answer. On December 16, 1980, the Petitioner
moved for a Summary Decision pursuant to 930
CMR 1.01 (6)(f)(2).}/ On January 7, 1981, the
Petitioner submitted affidavits of staff members

/930 CMR 1.01 {(6)}()(2) provides as fotlows:

When the record discloses the failure of the Respondent to file
documents required by these Rules, 10 respond to notices or correspond-
ence, or to comply with the orders of the Commission or Presiding
Officer, or otherwise indicates 2 substantial failure to cooperate with
the Adjudicatory Proceeding, the Presiding Officer may issue an ovder
requiring that the Respondent show cause why a summary decision
should not be entered against him. 1f the Respondent fails to show such
cause, a summary decision may be entered in favor of the Petitioner,
Any such summary decision shali be granted only by the Commission,
shall be a Final Decision, and shall be made in writing as provided in
Section 9(m} of these Rules.



of the State Ethics Commission (the Commission)
stating they had been informed telephonically by
the Respondent’s attorney, Bruce Goodsell, that
the Respondent had no intention of filing her
1979 SFI because inter alia, she was beyond the
jurisdiction of the Commission. Presiding Com-
missioner Bernstein?/ ordered the Petitioner to
file a brief setting forth the Petitioner’s argu-
ment that the Respondent is subject to the personal
jurisdiction of the Commission. Upon the timely
filing of Petitioner's brief, Commissioner Bern-
stein, on March 6, 1981, ordered the Respond-
ent to show cause why summary judgment should
not be entered against her for failure to file an
Answer and to submit, as of March 24, 1981, a
reply brief on the issue of personal jurisdiction.
He scheduled a hearing on the Petitioner's Motion
for Summary Decision on March 30, 1981. Pur-
suant to notice, the full Commission attended
the hearing; the Petitioner argued but the Re-
spondent made no appearance, The Commis-
sion deliberated and ruled on the Petitioner’s
Motion in plenary session pursuant to 930 CMR

1.01 (6)(f)(2).%/
II. Findings of Fact
1. The Respondent was designated a “pub-
lic employee” within the meaning of Chapter
268B Section 1(o) and worked for more than
eight (8) days as a public employee in 1979,

2. The Respondent failed to file her 1979
SFI on or before May 1, 1980.

3. The Respondent failed to file her 1979
SFI1 after receiving notice of her delinquency.

DECISION

Jurisdiction

The Respondent’s residence in Rhode Island
did not preclude the Commission from obtaining
personal jurisdiction over her in this adjudicatory
proceeding. Personal and subject matter juris-
diction are conferred by General Laws Chapter
268B, Section 5(c).*/

Violation

It is clear from the procedural history of this
case that the Respondent has had ample oppor-
tunity to participate in this proceeding. No ap-
pearance, however, either special or general, has
been made on her behalf. We are compelled,
therefore, to find that Allison Goodsell violated
Section 5(g) of General Laws Chapter 268B by
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failing to file a 1979 SFI.

Penalty

In previous Final Decisions, the Commis-
sion chose not to impose the maximum civil
penalty for failure of a Respondent to file a State-
ment of Financial Interests.®/ This case is distin-
guishable from those because, unlike Respond-
ents Buckley and Almeida, Allison Goodsell re-
fused to respond in any way to this action. At a
minimurm, she could have made a special appear-
ance to challenge the Commission’s personal
jurisdiction, but chose instead to ignore these
proceedings. In so doing, she demonstrated a
lack of good faith in this matter.

ORDER

The Petitioner'’s Motion for a Summary
Decision is granted. Accordingly, the Respond-
ent Allison Goodsell is ordered to:

1. File a Statement of Financial Interests
for 1979 within seven (7) days of receipt of this
opinion; and

2. Pay a civil penalty of $1,000 (one thou-
sand dollars) to the Commission within thirty
(30) days of receipt of this opinion.

DATE: April 22, 1981

*/Single members of the Commission may preside over adjudi-
catory proceedings. See 930 CMR 1.0l (1)(c)8) which defines "Pre-
siding Officer” as “The individual . . . duly designated by the Com-
mission to conduct adjudicatory proceedings”. Sce also In the Matter
of James J. Craven, Jr., Commission Adjudicatory Docket No. 110,
Decision and Order, p. 13 (June 18, 1980).

1/9%0 CMR. 1.01 (6)}f{2) provides in pertinent part that "summary
decision shall be granted only by the Commission™,

1/G.L. c. 268B, §5(c) provides as follows:

Every public employee shall file a statement of financial interests
for the preceding calendar year with the Commission within ten days
after becoming a public employce, on or before May first of the year
after such person ccases to be a public employee; provided, however,
that no public employee shall be required to file a statement of financial
interests for any year in which he was a public cmployee for Jess than
cight days.

We find no provisiens within G.L. c. 268B which condition these
filing requirements on the choice of residence of the public employee.

$/The maximum civil penalty is established in G.L. ¢. 268B, §4(d)
{3) which provides that “the Commission, upon a finding . . . that there
has been a violation of c. 268A ar [c. 268B] may issue an order requir-
ing the violator to . . . (3) pay a civil penalty of not more than §1,000
for each violation. . .” As to the imposition of penalties for violations
of Section 5(g} of G.L. c. 268B, sce In the Matter of John R. Buckley,
Commission Adjudicatory Docket No. 108 Decision and Order. pp.
26-27 (May 7, 1980) and In the Mater of Victor Almeida, Commission
Adjudicatory Docket No. 104, Decision and Order, p. 8 (July 10, 1950).



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSET'TS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

SUFFOLK, ss.

Commission Adjudicatory
LIn % 7] 3

IN THE MATTER
OF

LOUIS L. LOGAN

Appearances: :

David J. Burns, Esq; Counsel for the Pe-

titioner, State Ethics Commission

David A. Mills, Esq: Counsel for the Re-

spondent, Louis L. Logan

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch.; Kistler, Brickman, Bern-
stein, McLaughlin

DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

The Petitioner filed an Order to Show Cause
on September 26, 1980 alleging that the Re-
spondent, Louis L. Logan, had violated Sections
3(b), and 4(a) and 6 of Chapter 268A, the Con-
flict of Interest Law and Section 7 of Chapter
268B, the financial disclosure law. The Petitioner
subsequently amended the Order on November
5, 1980 to allege that Logan had also violated
Sections 23(a), 23(e) and 23(f) of Chapter 268A.
The Respondent filed a timely Answer and Sup-
plemental Statement of Material Facts which
denied any violation of the aforementioned pro-
V1510118,

Pursuant to notice, evidentiary hearings
were conducted on January 13, 14 and 28, 1981
and February 4 and 6, 1981 before Commission
Vice-Chairman, Linda H. Kistler, a duly desig-
nated presiding officer. See M.G.L. c. 268B,
§4(c). The parties thereafter filed post-hearing
briefs on March 27, 1981 and argued orally be-
fore the full Commission on March 30, 1981.
In rendering this decision and order, each mem-
ber of the Commission has heard and/or read the
evidence and arguments presented by the parties.

II. Findings of Fact
1. Louis L. Logan is a certified public
accountant. During the period of December,

1976 to April, 1980, Mr. Logan was employed
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" Massachuse

by the Massachusetts Science and Technology
Foundation (Foundation) and its successor, Mass-
achusetts Technology Development Corporation
(Mass. Teck) and provided financial management
assistance to private companies in

2. The Foundation was an entity created
by the General Court in 1969 to encourage, pro-
mote and assist scientific and technological de-
velopment in the Commonwealth. St. 1969, c.
843, §§1 et seq. Foundation employees and con-
sultants provided a broad range of free tech-
nological and financial assistance to small and
emerging technology-based businesses.

3. Section 10 of the Foundation’s enabling
legislation (St. 1969, c. 843) established the fol-
lowing limitations on Foundation offices and
employees:

No officer or employee of the

Foundation shall be in the employ of

or be in any way, directly or indirectly,

financially interested in any person,

partnership, corporation or association
having any business or financial trans-
actions with the Foundation. No mem-

ber shall act as a member of the govern-

ing board, or vote as such, in connection

with any matter in which to his know-

ledge, he, his immediate family, or

any organization which he is serving

as a director, officer, trustee, partner

or employee, has a financial interest;

and any member, immediately upon

learning that any such matter is being

considered or proposed by the board,
shall fully disclose to the board the
nature of his interest therein.
As a Foundation employee, Logan was aware
that he was prohibited from accepting compen-
sation from companies which dealt with the
Foundation.

4, The Foundation received an annual ap-
propriation from the General Court ranging
from $50,000 to $280,000. The Foundation was
subject to an annual audit by the state auditor
and used stationery and forms bearing the seal
of the Commonwealth. Foundation employees
were not eligible for membership in the state
employee retirement system or group insurance
plan. Additionally, the Foundation was repre-
sented by private firms for legal and financial
matters. Foundation officials regarded the Found-
ation as a quasi-public organization.




5. The General Court enacted legislation
in 1978 which abolished the Foundation and re-
placed it with Mass. Teck. St. 1978, c. 497, §§1
et seq. Mass. Teck continued the Foundation’s
management assistance functions and was addi-
tionally authorized to lend nearly one million
dollars to technologically oriented businesses.
Mass. Teck delegated the investment decision-
making to an Investment Advisory Committee
(IAC) comprised of Mass. Teck governing board
members who met periodically in 1979 and 1980
to review and discuss investment applications
with the Mass. Teck staff.

6. Section 2 of the enabling statute of Mass.
Teck, G.L. c. 40G, establishes, in part, the fol-
lowing limitations on Mass. Teck directors, of-
ficers and employees:

The provisions of Chapter two
hundred and sixty-eight A shall apply

to all directors, officers and employees

of the MTDC, except that the corpor-

ation may invest in, purchase from, sell

to, borrow from, loan to, contract with

or otherwise deal with any person or

entity in which any director of the cor-

poration is in any way interested or in-
volved, provided that such interest or
involvement is disclosed in advance to

the members of the board and recorded

in the minutes of the board and pro-

vided, further that no director having

such an interest or involvement may
participate in any decision of the board
relating to such person or entity,

7. During the period of December 2, 1976
to September 26, 1977, Mr. Logan was employed
as a consultant to the Foundation. With few
exceptions, Mr. Logan worked on a full-time
five-day work week basis at a daily compensation
rate of one hundred dollars.

8. Mr. Logan assumed full-time employee
status with the Foundation on September 26,
1977 until October, 1978.

9. Mr. Logan continued as a full-time em-
ployee when Mass. Teck succeeded the Found-
ation in October, 1978 and remained at Mass.
Teck until April 25, 1980. His annual salary level
at Mass, Teck in 1979 was approximately
$28,000.1/

10. As an employee of the Foundation and
Mass. Teck and as part of his official duties,
Mr. Logan provided expert management and
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financial analysis assistance to several technologi-
cally-based Massachusetts businesses. These ser-
vices included the preparation of financial pro-
jections and assisting businesses in preparing and
pursuing loan applications with private and
public financial sources. Mr. Logan received
assignments from his supervisor, Paul Kelley,
and also worked directly with John Silvers and
Irving Sacks. Dr. Silvers was the Director of the
Foundation until May, 1977. Mr. Sacks served
as the Director of the Foundation and later Presi-
dent of Mass. Teck until April, 1980. Mr. Logan
additionally made presentations directly to Mass.
Teck governing board members during IAC
meetings in 1979 and 1980.

11. New England Ocean Services, Inc.
(NEOS) had developed and was attempting to
market micro-computer-based meters for under-
water use by divers in recreational, military and
commercial activities. During the period of 1977
to 1980, NEOS sought and received considerable
assistance from both the Foundation and Mass.
Teck. Mr. Logan was the principal staff member
to NEOS and serviced NEOS for approximately
two hundred hours during this period. His fin-
ancial management responsibilities included as-
sisting NEOS in the preparation and pursuit of
SBA loan applications. In particular, Mr. Logan
successfully assisted NEOS in receiving an SBA —
backed $220,000 loan from the Shawmut Bank
in May, 1979.

12, The Compactor Corporation (Com-
pactor) is a Chicopee-based company which pro-
duces household garbage compactors. When
Compactor was referred to the Foundation in
1976 or 1977, Mr. Logan became the principal
Foundation staff member for Compactor. Mr.
Logan’s assistance to Compactor began in 1977
and continued through the summer of 1979 while
at Mass. Teck. His services included providing
advice to Compactor in seeking Small Business
Administration (SBA)-backed loans, and in pre-
paring balance sheets and financial projections.

'/The record is not precise on this point. Although Esther Larson,
a Mass, Teck bookkeeper, testified that she believed Mr. Logan's 1979
salary 1o be $29,700, Mr. Logan's 1979 Statement of Financial Interests
states that he received $27,555 in income from Mass, Teck in 1979,
Accepting either version, it is clear that Mr. Logan's salary level as of
January 1, 1979 exceeded $21,162 which represents the salary for state
employees classified in Step One of Job Group XXV of the general
salary schedule, See G.L. c. 268B, §i(l).



13. During an unspecified period in 1977
prior to September, Mr. Logan prepared Com-
pactor’s Massachsuetts Corporation Excise Tax
Return and United States Corporation Income
Tax Return for the taxable year ending October
31, 1976. Mr. Logan performed the work on
several weekends at Compactor’s office in Chico-
pee. Mr. Logan did not immediately submit the
returns to Compactor. On June 12, 1978, Mr.
Logan forwarded duplicates of the Massachusetts
and United States tax returns to Compactor
together with signing and mailing instructions
which directed Compactor to pay $254 to the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

14. Within one week after receiving the
Massachusetts and United States tax returns from
Mr. Logan, Compactor mailed to Mr. Logan a
check for $600 as compensation for Mr. Logan's
preparation of the tax returns. Mr. Logan re-
ceived and endorsed the check shortly thereafter.
During this period, Mr. Logan was a full-time
employee of the Foundation.

15. While employed as a Foundation con-
sultant in 1977, Mr. Logan prepared document-
ation for NEOS which included financial pro-
jections and financial statements to accompany
a NEOS SBA-backed loan application. On Sep-
tember 20, 1977, Mr. Logan submitted a bill to
NEOS for $1,192 which included $980 for his
professional services in preparing the aforemen-
tioned documentation and $212 in expenses. Mr.
Logan wrote the following message on the bottom
of the invoice to NEOS:

Mike: Next Monday, I become a
full-time employee of the Foundation.
Therefore, 1 can no longer be your
accountant. I'll work with my replace-
ment to insure a smooth transition.

I know that you folks are broke.
Whenever you have some excess cash,

I'd appreciate a little on account.

NEOS paid Mr. Logan $1,192 in two installments
in 1978. On March 30, 1978 and November 11,
1978, NEQS wrote two checks to Mr. Logan for
$502 and $690, respectively. Mr. Logan received
the checks in 1978 and endorsed them.

16. In January, 1978, NEOS invited a
small group of outside experts in the areas of
finance, insurance and engineering, including
Mr. Logan, to serve on the NEOS Board of Ad-
visors. Following a discussion with his supervisor,
Paul Kelley, over the propriety of joining this
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group, Mr. Logan accepted the invitation. Mr.
Logan forwarded to Mr. Kelley a copy of his
January 27, 1978 acceptance letter in which he
stated that as a Foundation employee he was
constrained not to accept stipends, gratuities or
compensation in any form from any Foundation
clients for any services which he rendered. Mr.
Logan attended a NEOS Board of Advisors
meeting in early 1978 and received and endorsed
a $25 check from NEOS in April, 1978 as a fee
for his advisory services.

17. On at least four occasions in 1978,
Mr. Logan received checks from NEOS which he
characterized as loan reimbursements or reim-
bursements for the use of his credit card which
he had lent to NEOS officers. The checks were
for §512.50, $502.75, $1,000 and $200.%/

18. On March 14, 1978, Mr. Logan was
elected to the NEOS Board of Directors as one
of its three directors.®/ Mr. Logan diligently
pursued his duties as director until his resignation
on December 28, 1979. In particular, Mr. Logan
signed a resolution as a NEOS director on janu-
ary 12, 1979 authorizing either of the NEOS
officers, including himself, to execute a loan
application to the Shawmut Bank for up to
$250,000. Shawmut subsequently approved a

t/The purpose of a fifth check for $500 which Mr. Logan received
in 1978 is questionable. Michael Dembowski, the President of NEOS,
originally testified that the check was for private accounting services
which Logan had rendered but later changed his testimony to say that
the check was for a flight or loan. Mr. Dembowski conceded, however,
that he was uncertain and was speculating. Mr. Logan could not recall
the purpose of the check, which was written to him on the same date
on which NEOS wrote a $690 check te Mr. Logan in partial payment
for his prior financial services.

The Petitioner should have removed the uncertainty of purpose
for this check by subpoenaing NEOS' financial records which would
presumably have indicated how NEOS characterized the check for its
accounting purposes. Although there arc inferences suggesting that the
check was intended as compensation to Mr. Logan, the inference are
not persuasive, and we note that the Petitioner has chosen not to address
or pursue this point,

*/Although Mr. Logan claims that his employers knew about and
approved his serving on the NEOS Board of Directors during this
period, the record does not furnish corroborating evidence that any
Mass, Teck or Foundation officials knew about the directarship prior
1o December, 1979. Mr. Sacks denics such knowledge until December,
1979; Mr. Kelley had no clear recollection of a discussion with Logan
over @ NEOS directorship and could confirm only a discussion with
Mr. Logan over joining the NEOS Board of Advisers; Robert Crowley,
a Mass. Teck employce testified that he did not know about Logan's
directorship with NEOS until an 1AC meeting in 1980. It is also notable
that Mr. Logan never formaly notified the Foundation of his acceptance
of the NEQS directorship; two months easlier, Mr, Logan had sent
10 Mr. Kelley a copy of his acceptance of the NEOS Advisory Board
offer.



$220,000 SBA-backed loan to NEOS in May,
1979.

19. Mr. Logan was elected as NEOS Vice-
President in June, 1979¢/ and resigned from this
office on December 28, 1979.

20. Onseveral occasionsin 1978 and 1979,
NEOS attempted to hire Mr. Logan as a full-time
officer. In early or mid-1978, Mr. Logan rejected
a NEOS offer to serve as its Treasurer at an
annual salary of $35,000. Mr. Dembowski fre-
quently invited Logan to join NEOS as an officer
and informed Shawmut Bank officials on two
occasions about his interest in Logan. In Sep-
tember, 1979, both Mr. Dembowski and NEOS
Treasurer and Director, John Conway, expressed
to Mr. Logan their interest in his becoming
President of NEOS, although Mr. Logan did not
regard these discussions as formal job offers.

21. In June or July, 1979, Mr. Logan pre-
pared financial projections for NEOS which he
understood were to be submitted with a NEOS
SBA loan application. In September, 1979, Mr.
Logan received and endorsed a check from NEOS
for $300 for his preparation of the financial pro-
jections,

22. On three separate occasions in 1979,
Mr. Logan received and endorsed checks from
NEOS, which he had characterized as reimburse-
ments, for loans to officers who had used Mr.
Logan’s personal credit card. The first two
checks for $450 and $483.35 were reimburse-
ments for out-of-state trips by NEOS officers.5/
The third check for $67.20 was a reimbursement
for dinner. On each occasion, Mr. Logan allowed
NEOS officers to use his personal credit card to
cover NEOS' expenses.

23. By the end of 1979, NEOS owed money
to Logan for loans which he had advanced through
the use of his personal credit card, including
$570 for a business trip in December, 1979. Mr.
Logan testified that NEOS continued to owe him
money through 1980.

24. By the latter part of 1979, NEOS
needed additional capital. During the fall of
1979, Mr. Dembowski and Mr. Sacks discussed
the availability of loans from Mass. Teck, and
NEOS thereafter notified Mass. Teck that it
wished to become a loan candidate. NEOS filed
a formal loan application for $200,000 with
Mass. Teck on January 15, 1980, although Mass.
Teck was aware of NEOS’ application in Decem-
ber, 1979 and had commenced its investigation
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of the anticipated application well before the
actual filing date.

25. Mass. Teck scheduled an initial IAC
meeting for January 23, 1980 to consider the
NEOS loan application. Prior to this meeting,
Mr. Logan played a primary role in the Mass.
Teck staff review of the loan application. Mr.
Logan prepared the necessary staff work including
documentation and analysis and rewrote the
NEOS financial projections. Mr. Logan also
prepared, with another Mass. Teck staff member,
a flip chart as a visual aid for the January 28,
1980 IAC meeting. Mr. Logan evaluated the
NEOS loan application for Mr. Sacks and de-
termined that NEOS was qualified as a Mass.
Teck loan candidate. Mr. Sacks thereafter recom-
mended presentation of the NEOS loan appli-
cation to the IAC on the basis of Mr. Logan’s
recommendation.

26. Mr. Logan attended the January 23,
1980 IAC meeting and made a three to five-minute
staff presentation regarding the NEOS appli-
cation. Mr. Logan utilized the flip chart showing
his projections for NEOS and outlined the back-
ground of the company and how much it was
seeking. Mr. Logan also displayed a sample of
NEOS’ technology. Although Mr. Logan did not
state that he was recommending approval of the
loan, both Mr. Sacks and Mr. Kelley believed
that the recommendation of a Mass. Teck staff
member was implicit in an appearance before
and presentation to the IAC. Following Mr.
Logan's presentation, the IAC decided to invite
the officers of NEOS to appear before the IAC.

27. Mr. Logan and the NEOS principals
attended the second IAC meeting on February
13, 1980. Mr. Logan introduced the NEOS
principals to the IAC and sat down. Although

4/ There is persuasive evidence which supports this point. Mr. Logan,
through his attorney, admiued in his Answer to the Petitioner's Order
to Show Cause that he had been elected on June 25, 1979 as NEOS
Vice-President. Not only do NEOS' corporate records verify Mr. Logan's
election and service as a NEOS Vice-President, but also Mr. Logan's
December 28, 1873 letter to NEOS states that he is resigning as an officer
and director; Mr. Logan testified that only the positions of President,
Vice-President, Treasurer and Clerk could be characterized as NEOS
corporate officers. Even assuming that Mr. Logan was not active in
the Vice-Presidency and that the NEOS corporate records were not
accurate in all respects, we cannot adopt Mr. Logan's assertion that
he did not serve as the NEOS Vice-President in 1979,

*/Contrary to the allegation in the Petitioner's Order to Show
Cause, there is no evidence that Mr. Logan actually participated in
these trips. The extent of Mr. Logan’s participation, however, is in-
material to whether he received reimbursements.



Mr. Logan did not play an active role at this
meeting, he may have answered a question posed
by an IAC member regarding NEOS. Following
the meeting, the JIAC expressed skepticism over
NEOS’ financial outlook and assigned Mass,
Teck staff member Robert Crowley to investi-
gate the matter,

28. During the three-week period following
the February 13, 1980 IAC meeting, Mr. Logan
met with NEOS officials on four occasions and
discussed the Mass. Teck loan application.®/
Additionally, Mr. Logan attended a meeting in
Waltham on March 17, 1980 where the partici-
pants discussed ways of raising money for NEOS.
Mr. Logan's activity sheets which he prepared
for Mass. Teck payroll purposes reveal references
to NEOS on one dozen occasions during this
period.

29. During a NEOS Board of Directors
meeting in January, 1980,’/ Mr. Conway re-
quested that the Board replace Dembowski as
President. During the discussion, Mr. Logan’s
name was raised as a replacement. Mr. Logan
responded, “Let’s think about it and take it from
there."”

50. On the basis of this discussion, Mr.
Conway drafted a new version of the NEOS busi-
ness plan in January, 1980 which contained bio-
graphical information about Mr. Logan and
which stated that Mr. Logan was a candidate for
President of NEOS. Mr. Conway testified that he
notified neither Mr. Logan nor Mr. Dembowski
of his changes to the NEOS business plan. Mr.
Conway distributed several copies of the business
plan containing Mr. Logan’s name to the invest-
ment community during the period of January
to March, 1980.8/

31. Mr. Logan may have been unaware
until March, 1980 that a NEOS business plan
was in circulation containing his resume and
indicating his candidacy for NEOS President.®/

32. When Mr. Sacks became aware of the
NEOS business plan in mid-March, 1980, he met
with NEOS and Mass. Teck officials, including
Mr. Logan, and announced that NEOS would
not receive a loan from Mass. Teck. When the
issue of the appearance of Mr. Logan’s name
on a NEOS business plan was discussed, Mr.
Dembowski denied that Mr. Logan was to becorne
the President of NEOS.

33. In February, 1979, the Executive Office
of Economic Affairs notified the Commission
that certain employees appointed to positions
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within the secretariat, including Mr. Logan, Mr.
Sacks and Mr. Kelley, were required to file
annual financial disclosure statements.

34. In April, 1979, the Commission mailed
to Mr. Logan a financial disclosure form for
1978 together with instructions for filing. Mr.
Logan received the form and instructions on
April 12, 1979 at the office of Mass. Teck. Mr.
Logan read the instructions for ten to fifteen
minutes and discussed with Mr. Kelley whether
they should file the form. Following this discus-
sion, Mr. Logan quickly filled out the form. Mr.
Logan testified that he filled out the form “hastily”
and “gratuitously” to get the matter out of the
way before the form became lost. Mr. Logan
directed Esther Larson to type a copy of his hand-
written form. Mr. Logan signed the form on
April 12, 1979 and mailed it to the Commission.
Mr. Logan did not allege to the Commission at
the time of his 1978 or 1979 filings that he had
been improperly designated as a reporting em-
ployee.

85. Mr. Logan did not disclose in either
his original April, 1979 filing or in his amended
filing in July, 1979 that he was a Director of
NEOS in 1978, that he was employed by NEOS
and Compactor in 1978, or, alternatively, that he
was engaged in the private practice of accounting
in 1978. Further, Mr. Logan failed to list the
income which he derived from businesses such
as NEOS with which he was associated, including
the private practice of accounting.'®/

$/Robert Henderson, a Shawmut Bank official estified that Mr.
Logan informed him at one such meeting in late February, 1980 that
he was going to jein NEOS as a financial Vice-President. In view of
Mr. Logan’s denial of this statement as well as our uncertainty with
Mr. Henderson's testimony, we are unpersuaded by Mr. Henderson's
testimony on this point,

1/Mr. Conway was not certain about this date.

'/Although Mr. Dembowski testified that the business plan con-
taining Mr. Logan's name may have been in circulation as early as
October or November, 1979, we regard Mr. Conway to be a more
credible witness on this point inasmuch as he prepared the business
plan. We have no doubt that such a plan existed.

*/Although not free from doubt, we tend to credit Mr, Lagan's
testimony on this point. While there is evidence in the record, par:
ticularly in Mr. Logan's March 12, 1980 discussion with Mass. Teck
employee, Esther Larson, which creates an inference that Mr. Logan
was not surprised to Jearn about the business plan containing his name,
we do not find Mr. Logan’s testimony to be untenable, as suggested by
the Petitioner, .

/Question C-1 of the 1978 Statement of Financial Interests
(SF1) directed Mr. Logan to identify cach business with which he was
associated in 1978 as an employce or director. Question C-3 directed
Mr. Logan to identify the amount of income, if greater than $1.000,
which Mr. Logan had derived from any of the businesses identified in
Question C-1. The instructions to both question contained specific
examples of haw Mr. Logan should have reported this information.



36. Mr. Logan testified that he filed his
1979 United States and Massachusetts Income
Tax Returns on April 15, 1979 and included
within his computation of gross income for 1978
the compensation which he had received from
NEOS and Compactor.

37. InJanuary, 1980, the Executive Office
of Economic Affairs again designated Mr. Logan
as an employee subject to the financial disclosure
law, G.L. c. 268B. Accordingly, Mr. Logan
received a 1979 SFI form and instructions from
the Commission in April, 1980. Mr. Logan re-
viewed the form and instructions and determined
that they had not changed from the previous
year. Mr. Logan thereupon filled out the form
as “gratuitously” as in 1979. Mr. Logan did not
disclose in his 1979 SFI that he was a Director
and Vice-President of NEOS in 1979, that he
had received reimbursements from NEOS in
1979,11/ that he was employed by NEOS in 1979,
or, alternatively, was engaged in the private
practice of accounting in 1979.

III. Decision

The Respondent has been charged with
violating Sections 3(b), 4(a), 6, 23(a), 23(e) and
23(f) of Chapter 268A and Section 7 of Chapter

268B. We will address these charges separately.

A. Jurisdiction under Chapter 268A..

Mr. Logan initially contends that he was not
a state employee within the meaning of Section
1(q) of Chapter 268A because neither the Found-
ation nor Mass. Teck are state agencies within
the meaning of Section 1(p) of Chapter 268A.
Alternatively, Mr. Logan argues that it is unfair
to impute to him any knowledge that either the
Foundation or Mass. Teck is a state agency. We
agree with the Petitioner that the Foundation
and Mass, Teck are state agencies and that Mr.
Logan is therefore a state employee for the pur-
poses of Chapter 268A. We will consider Mr,
Logan’s alternative argument in due course.

1. Foundation

Section 1(p) of Chapter 268A defines state
agency as “any department of a state government
including the executive, legislative or judicial,
and all councils thereof and thereunder, and any
division, board, bureau, commission, institution,
tribunal or other instrumentality within such
department, and any independent state authority,
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district, commission, instrumentality or agency,
but not an agency of a county, city or town,"”
On the basis of our review of the Foundation's
enabling legislation and evidence presented
during the hearings, we conclude that the Found-
ation complies with this definition as an indep-
endent instrumentality. Contrary to Mr. Logan’s
assertion, we find ample interrelation between
the Foundation and Commonwealth to warrant
the application of Chapter 268A to the Found-
ation.

Under the terms of the Foundation’s en-
abling legislation, Chapter 843 of the Acts of
1969, the Foundation was created to accomplish
the public purposes of encouraging, prompting
and assisting scientific and technological develop-
ment in the Commonwealth. The Governor ap-
pointed the Foundation’s governing board mem-
bers and, during the Foundation's existence, it
received an annual appropriation from the Gen-
eral Court. The Foundation was also subject to
an annual audit by the State Auditor and used
copies of the official seal of the Cormmonwealth
on its stationery and forms. We regard the inter-
relation between the Foundation and the Com-
monwealth to be sufficient for the purposes of
the application of Chapter 268A. While it may
be true that the Foundation's organizational
structure was more akin to a corporation rather
than to a traditional public sector agency,'?/ we
do not believe that the application of Chapter
268A can be conditioned on the organizational
status of an entity. Previous opinions of the At-
torney General and Commission have applied
the definition of state agency broadly to a wide
range of entities, and we find no reason to depart
from this policy on the facts of this case. See,
EC-COI-79-131; EC-COI-79-105; Attorney Gen-
eral Conflict Opinion No. 856 (division of savings
bank life insurance); Attorney General Conflict
Opinion No. 855 {governor's council on vecation-
al education); Attorney General Opinion No.
548 (Lowell Technological Institute of Massa-

11/ Question I on the 1979 SFI directed Mr, Logan to identify certain
reimbursements which he had received in 1979. The instructions to
Question [ explained that reimbursements in excess of $100 had to be
reported if the source was a person having a direct interest in a matter
before a governmental body, and contained specific examples of how
Mr. Logan sheuld have reported the reimbursements from NEOS.

11,1 1972, the Attorney General advised the Foundation that the
liability of its governing board members was comparable to the lability
of the board of directors of a corporation. See, 1972.75 Auomey
General Opinion No. 10.



chusetts Research Foundation); W.G. Buss, “The
Massachusetts Conflict-of-Interest Statute; An
Analysis”, 45 B.U. Law Rev. 299, 309 (1965).

Further, we do not believe that the General
Court intended to exempt the Foundation from
the provisions of Chapter 268A when it created
the Foundation in 1969. To the contrary, the
terms of the enabling legislation and, in particu-
lar, Section 10 of Chapter 843 of the Acts of
1969, demonstrate a legislative perception of the
need for standards of conduct by Foundation
employees and officers which are consistent with
Chapter 268A. Moreover, our examination of
the progression of legislative drafts which culmin-
ated in the passage of Chapter 843 of the Acts
of 1969 reveals that the specific issue of exempt-
ing the Foundation from Chapter 268A was at
no time raised or considered by the General
Court."?/

2. Mass. Teck

We conclude that Mass. Teck is a state agency
within the meanings of Section 1(p) of Chapter
26BA. By its terms, Mass. Teck’s enabling statute
applies the provisions of Chapter 268A to all
directors, officers and employees of Mass. Teck.
See, M.G.L. c. 40G, §2.14/

3. Statusas a State Employee

Section 1(q) of Chapter 268A defines a state
employee in relevant part as follows:

a person performing services for

or holding an office, position, employ-

ment, or membership in a state agency,

whether by election, appointment, con-

tract of hire or engagement, whether

serving with or without compensation,

on a full, regular, part-time, intermit-

tent or consultant basis, including

members of the general court and ex-

ecutive council. . .
Inasmuch as we have previously concluded that
the instrumentalities which employed Mr. Logan
between December, 1976 and April, 1980 are
state agencies within the meaning of Section 1(g)
of Chapter 268A, we conclude that Mr. Logan
performed services for a state agency on a “full-
time, part-time, intermittent or consultant basis"
within the meaning of the above-cited definition
of state employee.
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3. Chapter 268A Allegations

1. Section 3(b)

The Petitioner contends that Mr. Logan
violated Section 3(b} of Chapter 268A by receiv-
ing $300 from NEOS in 1979 as private compen-
sation for his assistance in preparing financial
projections for an SBA loan application. We
agree.

Section 3(b) prohibits a state employee
“otherwise than as provided by law for the proper
discharge of official duty, directly or indirect-
ly . . . [to] receive anything of substantial value
for himself for or because of any official act or
act within his official responsibility performed or
to be performed by him."

Mr. Logan admits receiving $300 in private
compensation from NEOS in 1979 but claims
that the preparation of financial projects was
outside of his official responsibility at Mass.
Teck. We have reviewed the record and find
substantial and credible evidence which demon-
strates that the preparation of financial pro-
jections was within Mr. Logan’s responsibilities
both at the Foundation and at Mass. Teck.'s/
Further, we find that Mr. Logan's receipt of $300
from NEOS was not as provided by law for the
proper discharge of his official duty.'s/ We con-
clude that the $300 which Mr. Logan received
from NEOS constitutes something of substantial
value. See, Commonwealth v. Famigletti, 4
Mass. App. 584, 354 N.E. 2d 890 (1976).

Mr. - Logan argues that he was unaware of
the provisions of Chapter 268A and therefore
had not intent to violate the statute. Even as-
suming that Mr, Logan was unaware of the pro-
visions of Chapter 268A'"/ the issue of Mr.
Logan’s intent is irrelevant to our finding of a
violation of Section 3(b). Commonwealth v.
Dutney, 4 Mass. App. 353, 369, 375, 348 N.E.
2d 812 (1976); In the Matter of C. Joseph Doyle,

'1/5¢e, 1969 House Doc. No. 46, 1969 Senate Soc. No. 1459, 1969
Senate Doc, No. 15655, and 1969 House Doc. No, 5340,

'4/The provisions of Section 2 of Chapter 40G appear in paragraph
6 of the findings of fact.

%/The testimoney of Messrs. Dembowski, Conway and Kelley as
well as documents prepared by Mr. Logan support this point.

“/Both Mr. Sacks and Mr. Kelley testified that the receipt of
additional compensation or remuneration by Mr. Logan for acts within
his official responsibility would be improper.

Y/In view of Mr. Logan's correspondence to NEOS described in
paragraphs 15 and 16 of the findings of fact, we find the contention
somewhat doubtful.



Commission Adjudicatory Docket No. 109, De-
cision and Order, p. 7 (June 18, 1980). Sece,
Final Report of the Special Commission on Code
of Ethics, 1962 House Doc. No. 3650, at 11.

Accordingly, we find by a preponderance
of evidence that Mr. Logan violated Section 3(b)
by receiving $300 from NEOS in 1979 as private
compensation for his assistance in preparing fin-
ancial projections for an SBA loan application.
We disagree with Mr. Logan’s contention that
the standard of proof applicable in Commission
proceedings is “proof beyond a reasonable doubt”.
We have fully treated this matter previously and
find no reason to repeat that discussion here,
See, In the Matter of James J. Craven, Jr.,
Commission Adjudicatory Docket No. 110, De-
cision and Order, pp. 10-12 (June 18, 1980). See,
also, Steadman v. Securities and Exchange
Commission, U.S., 101 S. Ct. 999 (February 25,
1981) where the United States Supreme Court
added further support to our view that Commis-
sion findings need be supported by a preponder-
ance of evidence rather than by stricter standards
of proof.

2. Section 4(a}

We agree with the Petitioner that Mr. Logan
violated Section 4(a) of Chapter 268A by re-
ceiving $600 in private compensation from Com-
pactor in 1978 for the preparation of Compactor’s
Massachusetts Corporation Excise Tax Return,
Section 4(a) prohibits a state employee from “. . .
otherwise than as provided by law for the proper
discharge of official duties, directly or indirect-
ly [to] receive or request compensation from
anyone other than the Commonwealth or a state
agency, in relation to any particular matter in
which the Commonwealth or a state agency is a
party or has a direct and substantial interest”,
Section 1(k) of Chapter 268A defines “particular
matter” to include submissions. Since 1963, both
the Attorney General and more recently the
Ethics Commission have advised state employees
that state tax returns are submissions and are
therefore particular matters within the meaning
of Section 1(k). Further, these Advisory Opinions
have consistently stated that the Commonwealth
is a party to and has a direct and substantial
interest in state tax returns and in the collection
of state taxes. See, Attorney General Conflict
Opinion Nos. 645, 154, 2; EC-COI-80-16, EC-
COI-79-23. See, also, Commission Compliance
Letter 80-7 (May 23, 1980). Accordingly, Mr.
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Logan’s receipt of $600 from Compactor for the
preparation of Compactor’s Massachusetts Cor-
poration Excise Tax Return involved a matter of
direct and substantial interest to the Common-
wealth. Inasmuch as Mr. Logan prepared the tax
return for Compactor and received compensation
from Compactor while serving as a state employee,
we conclude that Mr, Logan violated Section 4(a)
of Chatper 268A.

Mr. Logan concedes that he received $600
from Compactor in 1978 for the preparation of
a state tax return but claims that his supervisor
and agency head at the Foundation were aware
of his private arrangement with Compactor and
had condoned it. Even assuming that Mr. Logan’s
superiors had approved of the arrangement, their
condonation does not establish a defense for Mr.
Logan or otherwise exempt him from the pro-
visions of Chapter 268A. See, In the Matter of
Collector-Treasurer’s Office of the City of
Boston, et al., Commission Disposition Agree-
ment pg. 8 (March 2, 1981). As a matter of sound
policy, to hold otherwise would legitimize an
agreement by the supervisors of a state agency
to undermine the provisions of Chapter 268A.
Evidence of condonation is relevant, however,
in determining the sanctions which the Com-
mnission will impose under Section 4(d) of Chapter
268B following the finding of a violation. Ac-
cordingly, we will consider the evidence surround-
ing the condonation of Mr. Logan's activities at
an appropriate point in this Decision.

3. Section 6

The Petitioner alleges that Mr. Logan vio-
lated Section 6 of Chapter 268A by participating
in the Mass. Teck review and evaluation of the
NEOS loan application while he was negotiating
or had an arrangement with NEOS concerning
prospective employment. On the basis of our
review of the record, we conclude that Mr. Logan’s
actions did not constitute a violation of Section
6.'%/ In particular, we find insufficient persua-
sive evidence from which we can conclude that

18 /Section 6(a) of Chapter 26BA provides in relevant part as follows:

Except as permitted by this section, any state employee who par-
ticipates as such employce in a particular matter in which 1o his know-
ledge he, his immeidate family or partner, a business organization in
which he is serving as officer, director, trustee, partner or employee, or
any person or organization with whom he is negotiating or has any
arrangement concerning prospective cmployment, has a financial
interest, shall be punished by a fine of not more than three thousand
dollars or by imprisonment for not more than two years, or both.



Mr. Logan was actively negotiating with NEOS
or had an arrangement with NEOS concerning
prospective employment. While a NEOS business
plan containing Logan’s name as a NEOS presi-
dential candidate was apparently circulating in
January, February and/or March, 1980, we find
insufficient evidence to conclude that Mr. Logan
was aware of the plan prior to March or had
authorized its distribution. Although there is
evidence that NEOS had offered positions to Mr.
Logan in 1978 and 1979, we are not persuaded
that Mr. Logan was continuing to negotiate with
NEOS in 1980. In particular, we note that when
Mr. Conway raised the possibility in January,
1980 of Mr. Logan becoming President of NEOS,
Mr. Logan's response was neutral. While there
are other inferences in the record from which we
could arguably speculate that Mr. Logan was
negotiating with NEOS, we find such inferences,
as a whole, unpersuasive,

4. Section 23

Section 23(a) of Chapter 268A prohibits a
state employee from “accept[ing]” other employ-
ment which will impair his independence of judg-
ment in the exercise of his official duties”. The
record is clear that Mr. Logan received $600 in
private compensation from Compactor and over
$1300%*/ from NEOS during the period in which
he was the primary staff person assigned by the
Foundation and Mass. Teck to assist these com-
panies. The compensation, moreover, was in-
tended to pay Mr. Logan for services which were
within areas of his official responsibility at the
Foundation and Mass. Teck. We therefore con-
clude that Mr. Logan's acceptance of private
compensation from the companies which he was
assisting as a state employee compromised his
impartiality and independence of judgment in
violation of Section 23(a).

Section 23(e) of Chapter 268A prohibits
a state employee from engaging in “. . . conduct
[which would] give reasonable basis for the im-
pression that any person can improperly influence
him or unduly enjoy his favor in the performance
of his official duties. . .” Section 23(f) of Chapter
268A prohibits a state employee from, “. . . pur-
sufing] a course of conduct which will raise sus-
picion among the public that he is likely to be
engaged in acts that are in violation of his trust.”

We conclude that Mr. Logan violated both
provisions by his conduct during the period of
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December, 1979 through February, 1980. By the
end of 1979, NEOS owed money to Logan from
the use of Mr. Logan’s credit card and from per-
sonal loans which he had advanced to NEOS.
During this period, NEOS notified Mass. Teck
that it was intending to apply for a large loan,
and Mr. Logan accepted the Mass. Teck assign-
ment to investigate and review the anticipated
application prior to the January 23, 1980 IAC
meeting. It is clear that Mr. Logan played a pri-
mary role in the Mass. Teck staff review and
recommended NEOS as a qualified applicant.
The IAC later recognized that NEOS' financial
picture, which had been based in part on Mr,
Logan’s input, was unduly optimistic and war-
ranted further investigation.

Mr. Logan should not have involved him-
self in any way in the Mass. Teck review of the
NEOS loan application and should have immedi-
ately disclosed his financial connection with
NEOS when he received the assignment to review
the application. We conclude that by advancing
his personal funds to NEOS during the period
of his investigation of the merits of the NEOS
loan application, Mr. Logan created the impres-
sion that NEOS could unduly enjoy favor in the
performance of his official duties and raised
suspicion that his actions were in violation of
his trust.

C. Jurisdiction under Chapter 268B

We agree with the Petitioner that Mr. Logan
was a public employee within the meaning of
Section 1(o) of Chapter 268B and was therefore
properly designated as a reporting person for
1978 and 1979.2°/ The definition of public
employee under Section 1(o) of Chapter 268B
applies to any person who holds a major policy-
making position in a governmental body. Section
1(e) defines a major policy-making position as

"/The $1,300 figure does not include $212 which Mr, Logan
characterized as “expenses” or $300 for whose purpese Mr. Logan could
hot account.

*%/In view of our jurisdictional conclusion, we need not reach the
issue of whether Mr. Logan is estopped from now challenging his status
as a reporting person. In essence, Mr. Logan contends that he was
entitled to file 5FIs for 1978 and 1979 with impunity because he was
unaware that he had been designated as a reporting person or was
otherwise subject 1o the provisions of Chapter 2688, We find the con
tention somewhat strained, particularly where Mr, Logan preparcd,
reviewed and signed both SFIs and at no time prior to the institution
of thes proceedings



. . any person whose salary equals or exceeds
that of a state employee classified in step one of
job group XXV of the general salary schedule
contained in section forty-six of chapter thirty
and who reports directly to said executive or de-
partment head”. We find that Mr. Logan com-
plies with this definition. His annual salary ex-
ceeded the statutory threshold, and he regularly
reported directly to the administrative head of
the Foundation and Mass. Teck. Notwithstand-
ing Mr. Logan's assertions that his policy-making
role was minimal, we find that evidence such as
Mr. Logan's presentations to the IAC confirms
Mr. Logan’s direct reporting relationship to his
executive or department heads.

D. Chapter 268B Allegations

We agree with the Petitioner that Mr. Logan
filed false SFIs in both 1978 and 1979 in violation
of Section 7 of Chapter 268B and, accordingly,
we will order appropriate sanctions. However,
we do not concur with the Petitioner's contention
that the false filings were intentionally motivated,
and we therefore find no need to impose maxi-
mum sanctions in each instance or to commence
proceedings for perjury.?!/

1. 1978 SFX

The evidence establishes that Mr. Logan
was a NEOS Director in 1978 and that he was
employed by NEOS and Compactor in 1978.
Further, Mr. Logan received in excess of $1,000
in income from NEQOS.22/ Inasmuch as the 1978
SFIs which Mr. Logan prepared, signed and filed
do not disclose that he was a NEOS Director,
that he was employed by NEOS and Compactor
in 1978 or that he received in excess of $1,000
income from NEOS in 1978, we conclude that
Mr. Logan filed a false 1978 SFI1.23/

2. 1979 SF1

The evidence establishes that Mr. Logan
held the offices of NEOS Director and Vice-
President in 1979, that he received reimburse-
ments from NEOS in 1979 totalling $1,000.25,
and that he was employed by NEOS in 1979.
Inasmuch as the 1979 SFI which Mr. Logan
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prepared, signed and filed did not disclose his
NEOS offices, his reimbursements from NEOS
and his employment with NEOS in 1979, we con-
clude that Mr. Logan filed a false 1979 SFI.

3. Intentional False Filing

On the basis of our review of the record, we
find that Mr. Logan’s conduct in preparing and
filing his 1978 and 1979 SFIs did not rise to the
level of intentional and deliberate false filings,
as alleged by the Petitioner. We do find, how-
ever, that Mr. Logan demonstrated a cavalier
and reckless approach in his filings. The Supreme
Judicial Court has recognized that the filing of
S¥Is provides a means “which the Legialture or
the people could believe to be rationally related
to the achievement of the legitimate goal of as-
suring the people of ‘impartiality and honesty
of public officials (§1 of the proposed new G.L.
c. 268B)™. Opinion of the Justices, Mass, Adv.
Sh. (1978) 1116, 1131, 376 N.E. 2d 810, 819.
The law requires a commitment to a reasonable
degree of care and diligence in fulfilling this
legislative goal. We expect no less from certified
public accountants such as Mr. Logan who serve
in positions of public trust.

On the basis of the foregoing, we conclude
that Louis L. Logan violated Sections 3(b), 4(a)
and (e) and (f) of General Laws Chapter 268A
and Section 7 of General Laws Chapter 268B.
Pursuant to our authority under Section 4(d) of
Chapter 268B, we hereby order Mr. Logan to
pay the civil penalties as set forth below. In ar-
riving at these penalties for violations of Chapters
268A and 268B, we have carefully considered
the mitigating factors raised by Mr. Logan and

1 /Mr, Logan signed both the 1978 and 1979 SFIs under the pains
and penalties of perjury.

®/Mr. Logan received fees totaling $1,217 from NEOS in 1978.
Even assuming that we disregard $212 which Mr. Logan billed as
“expenses”, the remaining sum exceeds §1,000. While we could have
arguably characterized as an honorarium the $25 ‘which Mr. Logan
received for his service for the NEOS Board of Advisors, Mr. Logan
has not raised this point. Moreover, our adoption of this argument
would only justify further violations inasmuch as Mr. Logan stated in
his 1978 SF1 that he received no honoraria.

t/We also find that Mr. Logan failed to report the maintenance
of a private accounting practice in his 1978 SFI. However, in view of
our findings of multiple violations with regard to the 1978 SFI, we need
not address this additional omission.



in particular are aware that the practice of the
Foundation and Mass. Teck in advocating pri-
vate companies may have created ambiguity for
Mr. Logan over his loyalty to the Commonwealth.
While this factor does not excuse Mr. Logan's
violations of Chapter 268A, it does furnish a
basis for our decision to impose less-than-maxi-
mum penalties in this case. Accordingly, we
order Louis L. Logan to:

1. Pay $300 (three hundred dollars) to the
Commission as reimbursement for the amount of
compensation which he received from NEOS in
violation of Section 3(b) of Chapter 268A.24/

2. Pay $200 (two hundred dollars) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for receiving com-
pensation from NEOS in violation of Section 3(b)
of Chapter 268A.

3. Pay 8600 (six hundred dollars) to the
Commission as reimbursement for the amount of
compensation which he received from Compactor
in violation of Section 4(a) of Chapter 268A.

4. Pay $200 (two hundred dollars) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for receiving com-
pensation from Compactor in violation of Sec-
tion 4{a) of Chapter 268A.

5. Pay $500 (five hundred dollars) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for his violations
of Sections 23(e) and (f) of Chapter 268A.25/

6. Pay $750 (seven hundred fifty dollars)
to the Commission for the false filing of his 1978
SFI in violation of Section 7 of Chapter 268B.

7. Pay $750 (seven hundred fifty dollars)
to the Commission for the false filing of his 1979
SFI in violation of Section 7 of Chapter 268B.

We order Mr. Logan to pay these penalties
totalling $3,300 (three thousand three hundred
dollars) to the Commission within thirty days of
receipt of this Decision and Order.

DATE: April 28, 1981

*/We will not permit Mr. Logan to keep the compensation which
he received unlawfully from NEOS and Compactor, See, In the Matter
of Joseph Counter, Commission Disposition Agreement, p. 3, (February
12, 1980): In the Matter of Badi Foster, Commission Disposition
Agreement, p. 5, {October 7, 1980,

1/Since we have already assessed penalties under Sections 8(b)
and 4(a) for conduct which also forms the basis of a violation of Sectien
23(a), we find no need to impose a separate penalty for Mr. Logan's
violation of Section 23(a).
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THE COMMONWEALTH
OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
July 29, 1981

Richard Ames, Esquire

General Counsel

Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Department of Mental Health
160 North Washington Street
Boston, MA 02114

COMPLIANCE LETTER 81-21
Dear Mr., Ames:

In the Matter of Rae Ann O'Leary, Com-
mission Docket No. 118, the Commission found
that the employment of employees of the De-
partment of Mental Health (DMH) by service
providers was not an uncommon practice at
partnership clinics. Since that time [October,
1979], your office and the staff of the State Ethics
Commission have engaged in discussions of this
and other personnel practices involving various
forms of dual compensation to DMH employees
from public and private sources. You have vol-
untarily provided detailed examples of such com-
pensation arrangements, as well as copies of
intradepartmental correspondence and legal
memoranda addressing the subject. This material
and the discussions have significantly aided our
analysis and understanding of DMH's needs,
rationale and options.

As set out below, it is the Commission's
view that these dual compensation arrangements
violate the conflict of interest law, General Laws
Chapter 268A, particularly §§4 and 7. The Com-
mission also recognizes that many of these per-
sonnel practices have developed over a long
period of time and have been approved by the
Department, in part, in an effort to insure proper
coverage and service. On the other hand, the
Commission has a responsibility to interpret and
enforce the law in an even-handed manner and
not to single out any agency of government for
particularly lenient or harsh treatment.

To strike an appropriate balance between
these concerns, the Commission will not at this
time initiate any formal inquiry or enforcement



action against any DMH employee with respect
to the practices discussed below, but will consider
this Compliance Letter as notice to the Depart-
ment, its employees and vendors that all such
practices must end.* The Commission’s decision
not to commence enforcement proceedings with
respect to future violations is conditioned upon
receiving an acceptable Plan of Compliance from
the Department by September 30, 1981. That
Plan should indicate the steps taken and to be
taken to conform the Department’s personnel
and contracting practices to the requirements of
Chapter 268A. If the Department considers it
necessary for some arrangements to continue
beyond September 30th in order to maintain
critical services, it may request in its Plan that
they be allowed to continue for a specified length
of time. Any such request must 1) describe the
arrangement(s), 2) identify the position(s)/em-
ployee(s) involved, 3) explain why the arrange-
ment must continue, and 4) propose a schedule
for phasing out such practices within a year.
Within thirty (30) days of receiving the Plan, the
Commission will notify the Department whether
the Plan is acceptable, and, if it is not, what
further action must be taken. Thereafter, assum-
ing submission of an acceptable Plan, any devi-
ation or amendment will require a specific re-
quest (indicating the individual(s) involved, the
service(s) to be performed, and the target date
for phase-out). If the Commission does not ap-
prove the request, it will notify the Department
and the individual within thirty (30) days of
receiving the request. In any event, no such ar-
rangement may continue for longer than one
year. Any acts inconsistent with the conclusions
reached below which have not been the subject of
a specific approval will be pursued in the context
of formal enforcement proceedings.

Copies of this letter will be sent to Regional
and Area Directors of the Department. We trust
that your office will disseminate this letter to
other personnel and outside groups involved in
these practices so that they may be aware of the
Commission’s interpretation of the law and its
position regarding enforcement in this matter.

A. Current Practices in DMH

Broadly stated, the personnel practices in
question fall into two categories:

(1) DMH employees working in the con-
text of “partnership clinics” and being paid for
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that work by DMH with state funds and simul-
taneously, by the non-government partner, pri-
marily with funds which do not originate from
the state;

(2) Individuals who are employed by DMH
either part-time or full-time and who, on their
own time, work for private corporations which
are DMH vendors, and are paid for the latter by
funds which originate from DMH, from other
state sources, or from non-state sources.

The first category encompasses DMH em-
ployees who receive the additional compensation
from the non-state partner for performing the
services which are part of their state duties (here-
inafter referred to as “plain supplementation”),
and other DMH employees who receive the ad-
ditional compensation for performing extra
duties, beyond the scope of their state respon-
sibilities, at a partnership clnic (hereinafter re-
ferred to as “earned supplementation”).

The rationale advanced by DMH
for these arrangements is:

(a) that the salary supplement-
ation is necessary to attract qualified
professionals, who might otherwise
choose more lucrative private employ-
ment, into the partnership clinic where
they perform administrative as well as
treatment functions;

(b) that the receipt of dual com-
pensation does not automatically result
in conflict because the two partners
providing the compensation have
mutual goals, not adversarial interests,
and thus there is no dual or conflicting
loya'ty, but rather loyalty to the clinic;

(c) that the compensation ar-
rangement is “provided by law for the
proper discharge of official duties”
(thus satisfying Ch. 268A, §4) by virtue
of Ch. 19, §1 which authorizes the De-
partment to enter into agreements with
“partnership clinics”; and

(d) that a fixed annual salary
alone from the private partner does not
constitute “financial interest in a state
contract” in violation of Ch. 268A, §7
unless the recipient has a proprietary
interest, or a “controlling interest” in
the private contractor.!/

*It remains in the discretion of the Attorney General and District
Attorneys whether any criminal proceedings are 1o be initiated.
!/ Letter of Richard Ames to Scott Harshbarger, july 30, 1980.



The second category of personnel practices
covers DMH employees, some of whom are as-
signed to work for vendors as part of their regular
responsibilities, who have a second job working
for a DMH vendor. Sometimes the second job is
with the same vendor to which the person is as-
signed in his/her state capacity; in other cases,
the second job is with a different vendor. Some-
times the two jobs are performed at the same
work site; sometimes at separate locations.

The Department’s justifications for this
practice appear to be:

(a) that the individual's state
salaries are insufficient to attract good
people to work with the client popu-
lations served by DMH and the vendors,
and there is a personnel shortage in
some areas;

(b} thatitis often the only way to
insure round-the-clock provision of ser-
vices for clients;

(c) that the receipt of a fixed
salary or hourly rate from the vendor
does not rise to the level of a “financial
interest in- a state contract” in contra-
vention of Ch. 268A, §7;

(d) that the source of the earned
compensation is not, in some cases, the
DMH?7 contract fee, but rather a non-
DMH or even non-state account; and

(e) that after the Ethics Com-
mission had put a temporary morator-
ium on issuing opinions regarding §7
in 1980 pending the passage of an
amendment to §7, resumption of §7
enforcement would be irrational and
discriminatory, and any actual conflicts
could better be detected and handled by
a systematic in-house Departmental
review of such arrangements.?/ Such
a review is already in force within your
office.

Position of the State Ethics Commission

1. Partnership Clinic Context

This letter will not address at length those
situations in which the recipient of supplemen-
tion from the private partner is assigned to work
at area or regional offices of the Department,
where treatment policy, funding decisions and
evaluations affecting partnership clinics are

B.
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made. Your office has acknowledged the poten-
tial impropriety of such arrangements and dis-
tinguishes these situations (apparently few in
number) from the more common examples of
recipients working at the partnership clinics.®/
A DMH employee’s receipt of outside compensa-
tion from an outside entity which the employee
is obligated to evaluate in any way is a clear
example of one of the serious problems which
Ch. 268A was intended to prevent. This holds
true whether the recipient has final authority
over partnership contracts or merely contributes
evaluative information which could subsequently
be used by the individual responsible for negoti-
ating or executing such contracts. The Commis-
sion’s view is necessarily that any such compen-
sation must not be allowed.

(a) Plain supplementation

In the case of plain supplementation paid to
state employees assigned to work at a partnership
clinic, such compensation is improper. Specifi-
cally, the Commission views such arrangements
as violative of Ch. 268A, §4(a) which states:

No state employee shall otherwise
than as provided by law for the proper
discharge of official duties, directly or
indirectly receive or request compen-
sation from anyone other than the com-
monwealth or a state agency, in relation
to any particular matter in which the
commonwealth or a state agency is a
party or has a direct and substantial
interest.

The statutory definition of “particular matter”
includes a contract, decision, determination,
proceeding, application, submission, and other
items.*/ According to opinions of the Attorney
General, it may also include the treatment of
patients®/ and the placement of patients in pro-
grams.5/ From the information you have provided
to us, it is clear that plain supplementation is
paid to DMH employees as a result of the part-
nership contract between the Department and
the private entity which is clearly a particular
matter of direct and substantial interest to DMH.

*/Letter of Richard Ames (0 James Vorenberg, November 12, 1980.
3/Supra, note 1, a1 6.

4/M.G.L. Ch. 268A, §1(k)

¥/ Attorney General Conflict Opinion No. 746.

*/ Attorney General Conflict Opinion No, 821,



In addition, plain supplementation may, in some
cases, also relate to other matters, such as the
treatment of patients, placement of patients in
communty-based programs, the private partner’s
application for a grant, the submission of a new
or modified program, an accreditation decision,
Medicaid certification, or similar situation. In all
of these cases, the payment relates to a “particular
matter” and is prohibited.

M.G.L. Ch. 19, §1, which you cite as au-
thorization for the dual compensation, merely
states that DMH

may enter into agreements with
non-profit charitable corporations,
partnerships or collaboratives. . . for

the establishment and maintenance of

community health centers . . . for the

providing of mental health services and

may enter into such agreements with

other partnership clinics providing

mental health services with the de-

partment.
Neither the statutory language nor any interpre-
tive case law specifically mentions dual compen-
sation to state employees or sanctions it, nor does
M.G.L. Ch. 40, §5, paragraph 40C, which per-
mits towns to appropriate money to pay for ser-
vices rendered by outpatients mental health par-
tnership clinics. These statutory enactments are
general authorizations to permit the establish-
ment of partnership clinics and payment to the
clinics for services rendered, respectively. Con-
traposed is the precise language of Ch. 268A, §4
which controls in the absence of specific statutory
language to the contrary.,

In addition to §4, it should be noted that §3
also prohibits public employees from receiving
additional compensation for performing the very
duties which they are already obligated to per-
form by virtue of state employment, even if there
is no corrupt intent involved in such compen-
sation.”/

Several arguments, besides statutory lan-
guage, support this view. First, there is an in-
herent danger that the private partner feels
coerced into paying the supplementation in
order to maintain good relations and its contract
with DMH. This potential for coercion exempli-
fies one of the very reasons that Ch. 268A was
passed, namely, that the state employees should
not be allowed to use their status for their own
pecuniary advantage. In addition, they should
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not be in a position of simultaneously serving
two masters.

Second, this issue is not new, nor is it the
first time it has been raised in your Department.
In your January, 1979 memorandum concerning
the proposed salary supplementation of the Com-
mission of Public Health, you noted that

[t]he Actorney General clearly be-
lieved that a statutory amendment
should be sought for such a direct salary
supplement . . . Subsequent events sug-

gest that [the Secretary of Human Ser-

vices] made a serious error in not re-

questing the Attorney General's advice

at the outset of his negotiations [for the

supplementation]. We should be care-

ful not to repeat that mistake.®/

In fact, when the Actorney General was asked
about salary supplementation more recently, in a
situation very similar to that of DMH, he again
stated that it was illegal under §4.%/

Third, while it may be true that state salaries
for mental health professionals are lower than
private sector salaries, and that recruitment is
difficult, this is not a unique situation. The same
might be said for attorneys, auditors, computer
specialists, engineers and other professionals.
Those who accept state emplolyment must often
do so at a financial sacrifice.

Although it is unclear from the figures you
have provided to us exactly how many employees
receive plain supplemtntation, you have told us
that 370 state employees receive additional com-
pensation from partnership corporations. You
have also disclosed that 30 out of 45 clinic di-
rectors receive supplementation. This is of par-
ticular concern, since according to the DMH
Manual of Operating Policies and Procedures
for Partnership Clinics, the clinic directors are
responsible for fiscal management, recommend-
ing the employment and dismissal of DMH staff
on assignment to the clinic, hiring and dismis-
sing of the non-DMH staff, and preparing fiscal

'/See, ¢.g., In the Matter of the Collector-Treasurer’s Oflice of
the City of Boston, et al., Commission Disposition Agréement (March
8, 1981); In the Matter of Louis L. Logan, Commission Decision and
Order (April 28, 1981), pp. 19-20; Atorney General Conflice Opinion
No, 805.

¥/Memorandum of Richard Ames to John Isaacson, Re: Com-
missioner of Public Health - Supplemental Income, January 18, 1979.

*/Attorney General Conflict Opinion No, 805.



projections for inclusion in the state budget. It is
obvious that these functions could all have a sub-
stantial effect on an ongoing contract with DMH,
as well as the negotiation of such a contract. A
state employee performing these tasks can hardly
be expected to have only the state’s best interests
in mind when that person is also being paid by
the private partner. Like the private partner,
such an employee would have a vested interest in
seeing a contract renewed with terms and amounts
favorabie to the private entity.

For all of these reasons, in the absence of
specific legislative authorization, plain supple-
mentation of income for DMH employees is pro-
hibited by Ch. 268A, §4. Designation of these
individuals as “special state employees” would
not affect this conclusion, since under the seventh
paragraph of §4 a special state employee is still
subject to restrictions when the additional com-
pensation is paid in relation to a particular

matter
(1) in which he has at any time
participated as a state employee, or
(2) which is or within one year
has been a subject of his official re-
sponsibility, or
(3) which is pending in the state
agency in which he is serving,
Because §4 is seen to be determinative, further
discussion of other sections of Ch. 268A, (e.g. §3
and §23) which may also be relevant will be
omitted here.

(b) Earned supplementation

Earned supplementation, that is compen-
sation from the non-state partner to a state em-
ployee for services performed under contract at
a partnership clinic, is nevertheless “compensa-
tion from anyone other than the commonwealth”.
It relates to a contract in which DMH (and the
state) is a party and has a direct and substantial
interest, so that the previous discussion of Ch.
268A, §4 and related policies is similarly appli-
cable here. It should be noted that the prohibition
of §4 does not depend on the level of responsi-
bility of the state employee's job. Nor does it de-
pend on the extent to which the public position
would allow the employee to exert influence over
or in favor of the non-state party. Rather, the
prohibition attaches by virtue of the compen-
sation and its relation to the particular matter,
in this instance, the partnership contract and the
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second employment contract. Prior opinions of
the Attorney General suggest that a state em-
ployee is prohibited from assisting a private entity
in any phase of a matter which is ultimately of
interest to the state.!®/

A public employee cannot serve two masters,
It is immaterial that the state employee working
in the context of a partnership clinic may be
furthering the same goals, common to the state
and the private partner, in both jobs. The in-
terest of the commonwealth or state agency is not
required to be adverse to the interest of the out-
side entity;

. it is not always easy, or even
possible, to know when interests are
consistent or identical. Moreover, even
when the state’s interest is indistinguish-
able from that of the private employ-
ment, the state employee may be able
to use the leverage of his state position
to his own private advantage.!!/

Even in the case of a cooperative enterprise be-
tween the state and an outside employer, it is
difficult to assume identity of interests when the
outsider is a private entity rather than another
level of government.!*/

It might appear that a possible exemption
from the §4 rule is available to special state em-
ployees under the tenth paragraph of §4, which
states:

This section shall not prevent a
present or former special state employee
from aiding or assisting another person
for compensation in the performance
of work under a contract with or for the
benefit of the commonwealth; provided,
that the head of the special state em-
ployee’s department or agency has cer-
tified in writing that the interest of the
commonwealth requires such aid and
the certification has been filed with the
State Ethics Commission.

Since the word *person™ is not defined in this
statute, it is arguable that it includes not only a
natural person but any entity which might con-
tact with the commonwealth, including a private
non-profit corporation.

19/Sce, €.g. Attorney General Conflict Opinions Nos. 126, 119.

1/Buss, The Massachusetts Conflice of Interest Statute: An
Analysis, 45 B.U.C. Rev. 299, 352 (1965).

't/1d. at 335.



However, the application of this exception
has been very narrow, and it has been used only
when the seventh paragraph of §4 (discussed
above) was satisfied. In a recent conflict opinion
dealing with this paragraph, the Attorney Gen-
eral allowed an exemption from §4 only where
neither the state employee nor her department
participated in the award or implementation of
the grant for services in any way, the contract
for services was competitively bid, and the em-
ployee’s department had no formal agreement
or contract with the service provider.!*/ Such is
not the case in the compensation arrangements
you have described to us, since DMH. clearly
has a contractual relationship with the partner
which provides services and supplementation.
Thus, this paragraph of §4 would not appear to
apply to the supplementation practices you have
described to us. Any attempt to use this exemp-
tion would necesitate individual certification to
the State Ethics Commission and a finding that
such certification was appropriate.

Even if special state employees utilized this
exemption, they would still be subject to the re-
strictions of §6 of Chapter 268A, which in some
cases prohibit the employee from participating
as a state employee

in a particular matter in which to

his knowledge he . . . [or] a business

corporation in which he is serving as . . .

employee, or any person or organization

with whom he is negotiating or has any
arrangement concerning prospective

employment, has a financial interest . . .

The phrase “business organization” in this context
has been construed to include a private non-profit
corporation.'4/ It is the Commission’s view that
“financial interest” would include an employee’s
interest in receiving a salary relating to the par-
ticular matter, as well as a business organization's
interest in receiving a government contract; the
former is discussed at greater length in the next
section.

2. Employment With Vendors

In our discussions, you have expressed con-
cern about DMH employees who work on their
own time for DMH vendors for compensation.

The present view of the Commisison is that
where state funds are involved, this practice is
prohibited by §7 with certain exceptions. Ad-
ditionally, some cases may violate §§4, 6 and 23
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of Ch. 268A. The main focus of this letter will
be on §7.

Section 7 imposes civil and criminal penalties

on
A state employee who has a fin-
ancial interest, directly or indirectly in

a contract made by a state agency, in

which the commonwealth or a state

agency is an interested party, of which
interest he has knowledge or has reason

to know. . .

This ban is broad in order to prevent public
employees from gaining private benefit from such
arrangements as a result of their public positions,
and to protect the state from improvident bar-
gains which might result from the improper in-
fluence of any insider.!®/ It does not depend on
whether the state employee appears to be in a
position to have influenced the making of the
second contract.!®/ Rather, the rule is prophy-
latic. Because it is impossible to articulate a
standard to distinguish between employees in a
position to influence and those who are not in
such a position, all are treated as though they
have influence.!”/ The concept of prohibiting
these arrangements is neither new nor unique.
Section 7 is a recodification of a statute which,
in one form or another, has been a part of Mass-
achusetts law since 1872.

Specifically applied, §7 does not allow a
DMH employee to also work for a state vendor
and receive state funds. The financial interest
of the state employee in the vendor need not be
proprietary, but can be seen to exist whenever
the employee receives compensation from the
contracting agency which is attributable to its
contracts with the state. This standard was reiter-
ated by Commissioner Okin in a May 8, 1978
memo to the State Advisory Council on Mental
Health and Mental Retardation. The barred
financial interest may be direct or indirect, and
may be related to a state contract or state grant.'8/
The reasonableness of the amount is irrelevant.*/
Although in one opinion the Attorney General
stated that §7 was directed toward proprietary

3/ Attorney General Conflict Opinien No. 796.

4/See, e.g., Attorney General Conflict Opinions Nos. 835, 670, 617.
'*/Buss, supran. 11, at 368,

"/1d. at 872,

"/1d. ac §74.

1%/ Attorney General Conflict Opinien No. 798

"Buss, supran. 11, at 372,



interests, that opinion stated.
there may be instances where a
state employee with only an income or

salary interest in a contract between a

private corporation and a state agency

may . . . receive such a direct financial
benefit from the contract that his in-
terest would constitute a “financial in-

terest” within the purview of §7.20/

The prohibition, as applied by the Attorney
General and the State Ethics Commission, at-
taches when (1) the employee is compensated
for duties which are related to the contract with
the state;?!/ or (2) the compensation, whether
paid directly out of a state account or out of a
vendor’s own account, derives from funds paid
by the state.?2/ The vendor’s coniract need not
emanate from DMH; §7 prohibits interest in a
contract with any state agency, and §4 prohibits
interest in a contract with a county agency.

The §7 ban applies irrespective of opportunity
for the exercise of influence or the use of inside
knowledge. Moreover, many of the DMH situ-
ations present serious questions about actual
self-dealing: they involve second jobs under con-
tracts made by one’s own agency. It is unclear
whether they are advertised at all outside the
agency; even if so, it is easy to see how a DMH
employee could have unfair advantage by virtue
of early notice of an opening and/or acquaint-
ance with the people involved in hiring decisions.
Although you have stressed that use of DMH em-
ployees in these situations is essential, from ex-
amples you have provided it appears that some of
the positions involve no unique knowledge or
aptitude. More importantly, it appears that there
have, in fact, been instances of self-dealing and
irregular awarding of such contracts for services
with DMH. Because actual and potential abuses
are present in such arrangements, the conflict of
interest law does not permit them, except for the
narrow exceptions which follow.

A vendor’s payment of a state employee on
a second job might be permissible if the compen-
sation came out of a vendor's account whose
funds were neither received from nor reimbursed
by DMH or another state agency.??/ Receipt of
non-state compensation, however, would still
possibly jeopardize a state employee under §4,
if it were in relation to a particular matter in
which the state had a direct and substantial in-
terest or was a party. The employee's actions for
the state vis-a-vis the vendor might also still be
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restricted under §6. Also, payment out of a sep-
arate account would not in and of itself be deter-
minative, without further inspection. There is
the very real danger that vendors may use multi-
ple accounts and transfers of funds among them
to obscure the actual source of payments.

Section 23 may also be applicable to some of
the practices in question. Specifically, §23(a)
which states

[No state employee shall] accept

other employment which will impair

his independence of judgement in the

exercise of his official duties
is particularly relevant in those situations where
an individual's state assignment involves work at
(or concerning) the same agency which employs
him or her after hours. And §23(d), which states

[No state employee shall] use or

attempt to use his official position to

secure unwarranted privileges or ex-

emptions for himself or others
clearly applies to state employees who use inside
information to find extra work or use their know-
ledge and expertise gained in state service to
further the interests of non-state parties (e.g. in
tailoring their program or budget proposals to fit
state needs and plans). The likelihood of this
occurring in some of the situations you have out-
lined cannot be ignored. Finally, §§23(e) and (f),
which deal with the public’s perception of state
employees’ activities, makes clear that even the
appearance of impropriety is not only to be avoid-
ed, but subject to discipline.

For purposes of §7, it generally will make
no difference if the individual is designated a
special state employee. Although §7 contains
two exemptions for “specials”, they are limited
in scope. The first [§7(d)] relates to special state
employees who do not participate in or have of-
ficial responsibility for any of the activities of the
contracting agency (DMH) and who file a dis-
closure statement with the Ethics Commission.
The second [§7(e)] requires not only disclosure to
the Commission but the approval of the Governor
with the advice and consent of the Executive
Council. Even if either of these exemptions apply,

9/ Attorney General Conflict Opinion No. 746.

*/Auorney General Conflict Opinion No. 617.

*/Artorney General Conflict Opinions No. 798, 797, 628; EC-
COI-79-5.

#/Sec EC-COL-79.5,



other sections, such as §§4, 6 or 23, might still
restrict the employee’s activities.

It is clear that some of these arrangements
have existed for many years, and that a large
number of employees are currently involved. In
discussions between our offices, it has appeared
that these employment contracts were brought
to your attention and systematically reviewed
when the Ethics Commission implemented a
temporary moratorium on issuing conflict of
interest opinions based on §7 of Ch. 268A, and
you institutionalized an internal monitoring sys-
tem using §23 (the supplemental standards of
conduct) as a standard.

From copies of Departmental memoranda
which you have provided to us, it is clear that,
prior to the moratorium, DMH acknowledged
that these arrangements were prohibited. Com-
missioner Okin’s memo of March 21, 1980 (to
the executive staff, vendors and others] states
that, according to the Deputy Commissioner's
memorandum of Novernber 9, 1978,

01 or 02 employees were prohibited
from receiving consultant funds under

03 or 07 contracts except in emergency

circumstances involving full-time em-

ployees for whom a waiver was granted

by the Deputy Commissioner after a

review by the Legal Office.

The weight of Attorney General’s opinions was
in support of this prohibition. It is unclear under
what authority the Department felt enabled to
waive the statutory proscription.

In any case, from at least March, 1980
through early 1981, a number of DMH employees
were permitted such arrangements. The reason
for the moratorium of the State Ethics Commis-
sion (namely, uncertainty about pending amend-
ments to §7) became moot when §7 was amended
in June of 1980 to only allow state employees to
teach part-time in state educational institutions.
At that time, the Commission resumed issuance
of opinions based on the remaining §7 prohibi-
tions. Now that a year has passed, the Commis-
sion must go forward in actively enforcing the
law with respect to DMH. To do otherwise would
risk the appearnce that the Commission sanctions
some violations and not others, and would cause
a serious loss of respect for the law.

While, as noted above, the Commission is
sensitive to the Department’s need to provide
extensive coverage and service to its client popu-
lation, Chapter 268A embodies an overriding
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and longstanding policy against self-dealing and
against the existence of relationships which put
conflicting pressures on state employees. The
Commission’s position here is consistent with
sixteen years of opinions of four Attorneys Gen-
eral. The legislature has recognized that public
confidence in the disinterested and loyal service
of state employees may be undermined by po-
tential evils as well as existing ones, and the Com-
mission is bound by that view.

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

ROBERT V, GRECO
General Counsel

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 146

IN THE MATTER
OF
DAVID L. DRAY

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”) and David
L. Dray {“Mr. Dray”) pursuant to Section 11 of the
Commission's Procedures Covering the Initiation and
Conduct of Preliminary Inquiries and Investigations.
The parties agree that this Agreement constitutes a
consent to final order of the Commission enforceable
in the Superior Court of the Commonwealth, pur-
suant to Section 4(d) of General Laws Chapter 268B.

On May 20, 1981, the Commission initiated a
Preliminary Inquiry, pursuant to Section 4(a) of
General Laws, Chapter 268B, into possible violations
of the Conflict-of-Interest Law, Chapter 268A, in-
volving Mr. Dray, former Executive Director of and
legal counsel to the Hull Redevelopment Authority
and former Hull Town Counsel.

The Commission has concluded its investigation
into Mr. Dray’s involvement in the matters set forth
herein and has found reasonable cause to believe
that Mr. Dray has violated Section 20 of Chapter
268A. The parties agree to the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law relating to Mr, Dray's in-
volvement in the matters set forth herein.



1. The Hull Redevelopment Authority (HRA)
is a public agency established pursuant to General
Laws Chapter 121B for the purposes of carrying out
urban renewal projects, and as such is a municipal
agency as defined in Section 1(f) of Chapter 268A.

2. The HRA is made up of five members, four
of which are elected and one of which is appointed
by the Department of Community Affairs, and has
the authority to employ legal counsel, an executive
director, and such other staff necessary to carry out
its responsibilities.

3. Mr. Dray served under contract as legal
counsel to the HRS from December 1974 until April
4, 1978 in a part-time capacity.

4. InNovember 1977, Mr. Dray became Acting
Executive Director to the HRA at an annual salary
of $15,600, and was a municipal employee as defined
in Section 1(g) of Chapter 268A.

5. During the period of November 1977 to
April 1978, while Mr, Dray was the Acting Executive
Director of the HRA, he received $3,915 in fees
under his legal services contract with the HRA.

6. Mr. Dray's continuation under contract as
legal counsel to the HRA, and his receipt of fees
under that contract after November 1, 1977 when he
became Acting Executive Director of the HRA vio-
lates Section 20 of Chapter 268A, in that Dray, as a
municipal employee, had a financial interest in a con-
tract with the same municipal agency by which he
was employed from November 1977 through April
1978,

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforcement
proceedings on the basis of the following represent-
ations, terms and conditions hereby made and agreed
to by David L. Dray:

1. That he pay the State Ethics Commission
the sum of $3,915 forthwith as recoupment of the
salary received by him under contract as legal coun-
sel to the HRA while he was also the Acting Execu-
tive Director to the HRA;

2. That he pay the State Ethics Commission
the sum of $1,000 forthwith as civil penalty for vio-
lating Section 20 of Chapter 268A; and

3. That he waive all rights to contest the find-
ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms and con-
ditions contained in this Agreement in this or any
related administrative or judicial proceedings.

DATE: August 19, 1981
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 147
IN THE MATTER
OF

HERBERT E. RISSER, JR.
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”) and Her-
bert E. Risser, Jr. (“"Mr, Risser”) pursuant to Section
11 of the Commission's Procedures Covering the
Initiation and Conduct of Preliminary Inquiries and
Investigations. The parties agree that upon its ex-
ecution, this Agreement shall constitute an assented
to final order of the Commission enforceable in the
Superior Court under §4(d) of G.L. c. 268B.

On May 4, 1981, the Commission initiated a Pre-
liminary Inquiry into possible violations of the con-
flict-of-interest law, G.L. c¢. 268A, involving Mr,
Risser, the Registrar of the Registry of Vital Records
and Statistics (“the Registry”), a division of the De-
partment of Public Health., The Commission had con-
cluded its Preliminary Inquiry into Mr. Risser’s in-
volvement in the matters set forth herein, and makes
the following findings of fact to which the parties
hereto agree:

1. Mr, Risser has been employed by the Regis-
try since 1963. He was appointed Acting Registrar in
1974, and Registrar in 1976.

2, The Registry serves as the central de-
pository for all birth, marriage, and death records
in the Commonwealth. Some of its employees work
with vital records to compile statistics, and others
provide copies of certificates to the public upon
request and payment of a fee.

3. Each year, the Registry processes thou-
sands of requests for certified copies of birth, death,
and marriage certificates. In addition to requests
from the general public, requests came from in-
stitutions and organizations seeking uncertified
copies for research purposes. Up until the Spring of
1981, certified copies were furnished upon payment
of a $2 per copy fee; uncertified copies were fur-
nished at $.35 per copy. The fees were designed to
cover the cost of indexing, searching, and copying
original records. .

4. Because of high demand for records and
short supply of staff, the Registry has, on occasion,



faced serious backlogs in furnishing requested
documents. As a matter of both policy and practice,
priority has always gone to meeting over-the-counter
requests from the general public, resulting in delays
of up to three months for research institutes and
organization who request large numbers of certifi-
cates. On occasion some of these organizations have
supplied their own personnel to index and search out
the records in order to speed up the process.

5. Two organizations needing prompt service
for their certificate requests hired Mr. Risser to
work overtime at the Registry to meet their de-
mands. Between 1976 and 1980, Risser received
$440 from the Monsanto Company and $230 from
John Hopkins University to speed up the processing
of their record requests. Mr. Risser received a $1 pri-
vate fee for every certificate that he indexed himself
for these two organizations. This private fee would
cover the cost of indexing each name listed on a
requisition form from either Monsanto or John
Hopkins. Once he had located the required records,
he would notify the institution, which would pay the
Commonwealth $.35 per available record, in addition
to the $1 private fee.

6. All the work for which Mr, Risser was pri-
vately paid was done at the Registry after normal
working hours.

7. Mr. Risser was the only employee at the
Registry to maintain this type of private working
arrangement during the years 1976-1980. However,
in 1970, a similar arrangement had been negotiated
between then Registrar Edward Kloza and the
National Cancer Institute whereby three Registry
employees, including Mr. Risser, were selected to
work overtime indexing records at an hourly rate
paid by the Institute.

8. Mr. Risser's working arrangements with
Monsanto and John Hopkins were initiated by em-
ployees of those organizations. In 1976, a represent-
ative from John Hopkins asked Mr. Risser if John
Hopkins could hire someone from the Registry to
work at the Registry indexing their record requests,
Recalling the arrangement of 1970, Mr. Risser
agreed to enter into this private working relationship
with John Hopkins. In 1979, an employee from
Monsanto called Mr. Risser to ascertain the reason
for the delay in processing records it had requested,
When Mr. Risser informed Monsanto that the
Registry faced a backlog of two to three months,
Monsanto asked if someone could be hired to work
overtime to circumvent the backlog. Mr. Risser
agreed to do so.
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9. Mr. Risser did not charge or receive private
fees from these organizations during periods when
their requests were not backlogged and could be
handled without substantial delay by the Registry
staff.

Based on the facts as set out in paragraphs 1-9
above, the Commission has concluded, and the
parties agree, that by receiving private fees from
John Hopkins and Monsanto for processing their
certificate requests, which processing involves of-
ficial acts within Mr. Risser’s responsibility as
Registrar, Mr. Risser violated Section 3 of G.L. e¢.
268A.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforcement
proceedings, on the basis of the following terms and
conditions hereby made and agreed to by Mr. Risser:

1. Mr. Risser will cease and desist from receiv-
ing private fees for any official act performed by the
Registry;

2. Mr. Risser will pay to the State Ethics Com-
mission the amount of $870 as recoupment of monies
received in violation of G.L. ¢. 268A; and

3. Mr. Risser will pay to the State Ethics Com-
mission the amount of $250 as civil penalty for violat-
ing G.L. c. 268A.,

DATE: August 27, 1981

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory

Docket No. 137

IN THE MATTER
OF
GEORGE A. MICHAEL

Appearances:
Robert J. Cordy, Esq.: Counsel for Petitioner,
State Ethics Commission
John P. White, Jr., Esq: Counsel for Re-
spondent, George A. Michael

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch.; Kistler, Bernstein, Brick-
man, McLaughlin



DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

The Petitioner filed an Order to Show Cause
on January 6, 1981 alleging that the Respondent,
George A. Michael, had violated Sections 3(b),
6, 23(d), 23(e). and 23(f) of M.G.L. Chapter
268A, the Conflict-of-Interest Law, Section 7 of
M.G.L. Chapter 268B, the financial disclosure
law. The Respondent filed an Answer which
denied any violation of the aforementioned pro-
visions and which, in addition, raised defenses
based on the asserted unconstitutionality of the
Commission's organization and procedures.

On or about March 26, 1981, Respondent
filed in Superior Court a Complaint for Declara-
tory Judgment and requested issuance of a pre-
liminary order against the Commission’s pro-
ceedings, asserting the constitutional rights in-
cluded in his Answer. The Request was denied
by the Superior Court (Ronan, J.) on March 30,
1981 and this was affirmed on April 3, 1981 by
the Appeals Court (Armstrong, J.).

Pursuant to notice, evidentiary hearings were
conducted on April 1, 6, 8, 10, and 28 and June
23, 24, and 30!/ before the Commission Vice-
Chairman, Linda H. Kistler, a duly designated
presiding officer. See, M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(c).
The parties thereafter filed post-hearing briefs
on July 31 and August 4, 1981. In rendering this
Decision and Order, each member of the Com-
mission has heard and/or read the evidence and
arguments presented by the parties.

II. Findings of Fact

1. George A. Michael (“Mr. Michael”) was
employed as the Director of the Mass. Division of
Food and Drug from 1953 to 1981.

2. The Division of Food and Drug is a
division within the Department of Public Health
established by M.G.L. c. 17, §4. It has regulatory
and inspection authority over the manufacturing,
wholesale and retail sale of most foods, beverages,
drugs, cosmetics, bedding and upholstered furni-
ture in Massachusetts. See, M.G.L. ¢. 94 and
94B. It has the authority to embargo and seek
condemnation of merchandise it finds to be mis-
branded, adulterated, or otherwise unfit for hu-
man consumption, to order destroyed any article
of bedding or upholstered furniture it finds to be
contaminated in any way, to grant and suspend
certain licenses, to seek criminal complaints,
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and to order the closure of certain businesses
which do not comply with the sanitary require-
ments of the law. See, M.G.L. c. 94, 94B; 105
CMR 590.027, 590.126, 590.127 and 620.005.

3. The Division of Food and Drug is re-
sponsible for inspecting and approving or dis-
approving for sale to the public all food, drugs,
cosmetics, beverages, tobacco products, bedding
and upholstered furniture which have been ex-
posed to contamination by fire, flood, or other
disaster and which are being reconditioned for
sale to the public (“salvage merchandise™).
M.G.L. c. 94, §§189, 276, 307.

4, Building 19, Inc. (“Building 19") is a
Massachusetts corporation formed in 1964 by
Harry Andler, Gerald Elovitz and one other in-
dividual; it is engaged primarily in the business
of buying, reconditioning and retailing to the
public salvage merchandise.

5. Salvage merchandise owned by Building
19 has been subject to regular and frequent in-
spections by the Division of Food and Drug since
1964. Some of these inspections were conducted
by Mr. Michael personally, and others were con-
ducted by other inspectors from the Division of
Food and Drug at Mr. Michael’s direction.?/

6. On numerous occasions, the President
of Building 19, Gerald Elovitz, discussed with
Mr. Michael and received advice from him on
the salvageability of merchandise which had not
yet been purchased by Building 19; on some oc-
casions, the Division of Food and Drug tested
such merchandise for Building 19.

7. Since at least 1972, Mr. Michael per-
sonally participated in the evaluation of salvage
merchandise from Building 19. In addition, on
numerous occasions he told inspectors whether
to release embargoed merchandise, what had to

1/ Additional hearing dates were scheduled for May and early
June, but were continued at the request of Respondent's counsel due to
the ill health of Respondent.

t/Although there was testimony which indicated that inspectors
sometimes received their asignments from individuals other than Mr.
Michael, in the Commisison’s view there was sufficient testimonial and
documentary evidence to support a finding that, on some occasions,
inspectors were assigned their duties specifically by Mr. Michael. In
addition, the Commission finds it reasonable to infer from Mr, Michael's
occupancy of the position of Director that he also had seme degree of
general responsibility for allocating the personnel resources of his Division,
although the Commission does not consider this inference to be indis-
pensable to finding the fact stated above,



be done to merchandise before it could be re-
leased for sale, and when it had to be destroyed.?/

8. During the period from approximately
1964 through 1980, Mr. Michael accepted dis-
counts, ranging up to sixty percent, on merchan-
dise he purchased at Building 19 on numerous
occasions, which discounts were not and are not
extended or available to Building 19's regular
customers.*/

9. During the period from approximately
1964 through and including 1980, Mr. Michael
accepted charge account privileges from Building
19, which privileges were not and are not extend-
ed or available to Building 19's regular customers.

10. During the period from approximately
1975 through and including 1980, Mr. Michael
obtained discounts and charge privileges for
others, including members of his family and staff
at the Division of Food and Drug, from Building
19.5/

11. During the period from 1975 through
and including 1980, Mr. Michael bought and
charged merchandise, for himself and members
of his immediate family and staff, from Building
19, which would have cost an ordinary customer
approximately $7,000, but on which Mr. Michael
received discounts, most of which ranged between
30 and 60 percent; in 1976 through 1980, in-
clusive, the discounts received by Mr, Michael
totalled at least $100 each year.®/

12. Gerald Elovitz, the President of Build-
ing 19 who, for the past five years, has been re-
sponsible for extension of discounts and charge
privileges, became acquainted with Mr, Michael
exclusively in the context of business and regula-
tory dealings between Building 19 and the Divi-
sion of Food and Drug, and had no independent
social or familial relationship or friendship with
him.

13. The maintenance of a cooperative
working relationship with the Division of Food
and Drug is and has been important to Building
19's business; in particular the availability of in-
spectors to check Building 19's merchandise
promptly is and has been of benefit to the busi-
ness.

14. The discounts and charge privileges
noted in paragraphs 8 through 11 above, were
extended to and received by Mr. Michael, at
least in part, for or because of acts within his
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official responsibility performed or to be per-
formed by him, as set out in paragraphs b through
7 above; specifically, they were extended to him
in appreciation for the guidance and counsel
given to the management of Building 19 by

3/In his oral argument, Counsel for Mr. Michael pointed out that,
under M.G.L. c. 94, §1B9A, cither the Commissioner of Public Health
or his agent could release embargoes, and thus any testimony to the
effect that Mr. Michael directed the release of all embargoes was mis-
leading and not binding. However, the Commission finds no incon-
sistency here: the law clearly permicted Mr. Michael, as an agent of
the Commissioner of Public Health, to release embargoes; in addition,
Inspectars O'Hearn, Babineau and Chin of the Division of Food and
Drug all testified that, as a matier of practice, embargoes were only
released after Mr, Michael so directed.

+/In cross-examination, counsel for Mr. Michael elicited testimony
which showed that discounts on damaged merchandise were available
to the general public and that the prices paid by Mr., Michael to Building
19 were sufficient to cover the seller’s cost of the merchandise. Never:
theless, the Commission concludes from a fair reading of ail the evidence
that a significant number of the discounts received by Mr. Michael were
not for damaged merchandise, and thus, not generally avzilable; and
that the discounted prices he paid, even if sufficient to cover costs, were
substantially lower than those paid by others for the same merchandise,

*/Although the record is not free from doubt on the identity of
those for whom Mr. Michael obtained discounts and charge privileges,
the Commission finds ample evidence to conclude that he obtained them.
This finding is supported by the testimony of Gerald Elovitz, Thomas
Connelly, Peter Stamper, Loretta Pongonis, and Robert Mahoney and
various exhibits in evidence. The Commission notes in particular that
the testimony indicated that these discounts were given to others only
if Respondent accompanicd them. As to the identity of the recipients,
the Commisison finds the evidence sufficient to infer that Mr. Michael
obtained discounts and charge privileges for his sister (or sister-in-law)
Libby Michael, his daughters, and his sccretary/assistant, Diane Hurley.
The Commission considers the evidence insufficient 10 warrant such a
finding with respect to purchases which may have been made by a
Michelle Kasinski. The Commission also declines to find that the dis-
counts and charge privileges from Building 19 received by George T.
Michael, Respondent’s son, were obtained for him by Respondent,
since there was testimony which suggested that the son had an independ-
ent relationship with the store’s founder and that the son dealt with
the store directly rather than through his father.

8/ Although there was credible testimony to the effect that Mr.
Michael made purchases prior to 1975, the witnesses did net put a dollar
value on those purchases, and no documentation of these sales was
introduced into evidence; therefore, the Commission makes no finding
with regard to the number of value of pre-1975 purchases.

Regarding the 1975-1980 purchases, because in some instances
the amount actually paid or the regular price per item is uncerain
(due to purchases being aggregated, and to informal record-keeping)
and because of the volume of documentation, the Commission con-
siders it expedient to express the discounts received in terms of a range
of percentages.

It should be nioted that, for reasons explained at the end of footnote
5, purchases made and discounts received by George T. Michael are
not included in this finding and not attributed to his father, the Re-
spondent,



Respondent, and the prompt inspections per-
formed by the Division of Food and Drug at
Building 19.7/

15. Pursuant to the requirements of
M.G.L. c. 268B, Mr. Michael was designated a
“public employee” as defined in Section 1(o) of
that chapter, and was required to file and did file
Statements of Financial Interests with the Ethics
Commission for calendar years 1978 and 1979.

16. M.G.L. c. 268B requires the disclosure
of gifts received by “public employees” which ag-
gregate more than $100 in the calendar year and
which come from individuals or businesses which
have a direct interest in a matter or matters be-
fore the governmental body by which the public
employee is employed.

17. Building 19 had a direct interest in
matters before the Division of Food and Drug
during 1978 and 1979.

18. Building 19 extended discounts to Mr.
Michael which exceeded $100 in aggregate value
in both 1978 and 1979.

19. Mr. Michael did not disclose the dis-
counts he received from Building 19 in 1978 and
1979 in the Statements of Financial Interests
which he filed with the Ethics Commission for
1978 and 1979.

20. The Bargain Center, Inc. (“Bargain
Center”) is a Massachusetts company, formed in
1937, and engaged in the business of buying, re-
conditioning and retailing to the public salvage
merchandise.

21, From at least 1972 through and in-
cluding 1980, Mr. Michael and other Division of
Food and Drug inspectors inspected on a regular
and frequent basis and at the times requested by
the Bargain Center, salvage merchandise owned
and proposed for sale by the Bargain Center.8/

22. From at least 1972 through and in-
cluding 1980, Mr. Michael regularly and fre-
quently advised the principals of the Bargain
Center on how to handle and recondition its
salvaged products, and approved, both directly
and indirectly, such merchandise for sale to the
public.?/

23. From at least 1976 through and in-
cluding 1980, Mr. Michael accepted discounts of
15 to 25 percent on merchandise purchased at
the Bargain Center, which discounts were not
extended or available to the Bargain Center's
regular customers; further, Mr. Michael availed
himself of these discounts approximately ten
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times a year during that period and, on at least
one occasion in 1979, the value of the discount
exceeded $50.19/

24, On at least one occasion in 1980, Mr.
Michael obtained a discount for a Diane Hurley,
whom he represented to be his assistant, on mer-
chandise she purchased at the Bargain Center;
the value of the discount was $145.11/

26. The maintenance of a cooperative
working relationship with the Division of Food
and Drug is and has been important to Bargain
Center's business; in particular, the availability
of inspectors to check Bargain Center's merchan-
dise promptly is and has been of benefit to the
business.

26. The discounts noted in paragraphs 23
and 24, above, were extended to and received by
Mr. Michael, at least in part, for or because of
acts within his official responsibility performed

?/Although Elovitz testified that, in extending these privileges to
Mr. Michael, he was doing so0, in part, to continue a practice initiated
by his predecessor, Mr. Andler, he also testified that he extended them
for the reasons given in this finding. The Commission is not persuaded
by Mr. Michacl's contention that the privileges were extended wholly or
primarily out of friendship, for the following reasons: (a} the record
contained no evidence of the purported friendship between Andler
and Michael; (b) in the absence of such evidence, it would be imptoper
to infer that the “tradition” of extending these privileges, started by
Mr. Andler, was based on friendship with Mr. Michael, just as it would
be improper to infer any other rationale, absent evidence to support it;
{c) Mr. Elovitz testified to the reasons included in paragraphs 12-14,
and his testimony was both credible and uncontradicted on these points,

*/Becausc, there was no specific testimony or documentary evidence
introduced which related to inspections at the Bargain Center prior to
1972, the Commission limits this finding to 1972 and subsequent years.
Also, because there was no evidence in the record which would suggest
that Mr, Michael specifically assigned the other inspectors to perform
inspections at the Bargain Center, the Commission does not specifically
find that the other inspectors were acting at Mr. Michael's direction,
as alleged.

*/The record contains specific evidence that Mr, Michael personally
contacted Mr. VanDam of the Bargain Center to approve the sale of
merchandise, and the Commission finds this evidence to be persuasive
of the fact that Mr. Michael directly approved certain merchandise; on
his indirect approval, the comments in footnote 3 are equally applicable
here,

'*/Maxwell VanDam, President of the Bargain Center, testified
that he and his associates have extended discounts to Mr. Michael since
VanDam because president in about 1976, continuing a policy set by
his predecessor, a Mr. Koppelman. Because not testimony was given
regarding how much prior 1o 1976 this practice occurred, nor any
pre-1976 sales documentation introduced into evidence, the Commission
limits its finding to 1976 through 1980, inclusive.

''/As noted in footnote 6, the record was not free from doubt as
to the identity of the person Mr. Michael introduced as Diane Hurley,
but again the Commission considers the evidence sufficient 10 sustain
this finding. Mr. VanDam testified that Mr. Michael came in with the
person, had introduced her to VanDam, indicated that the merchandise
was for her and was present while VanDam made the sale



or to be performed by him, as set out in para-
graphs 21 and 22 above.?/

27. Value Village, Inc. (“Value Village™)
is a Massachusetts company, formed in 1968,
and engaged in the business of buying, recon-
ditioning and retailing to the public salvage
merchandise.

28. From at least 1973 through and in-
cluding 1980, Mr. Michael, and other Division of
Food and Drug inspectors at his direction, on a
regular and frequent basis and at times requested
by Value Village, inspected salvage merchandise
owned by Value Village.

29. On at least one occasion, Mr. Michael
personally advised the president of Value Village
as to how to recondition products. On another
occasion, three days before Easter in 1976, Mr.
Michael directed two other inspectors to ac-
company him on the inspection of a shipment of
Easter candy, owned by Value Village. The candy
could not be sold until it was inspected and ap-
proved by the Division of Food and Drug, and
Mr. Michael released it for sale the same day.!3/

80. From approximately 1968 through
and including 1980, Mr. Michael received a 10
to 15 percent discount on merchandise he pur-
chased at Value Village.

3$1. From approximately 1968 through
and including 1980, Mr. Michael purchased at
least $200-$300 worth of merchandise at Value
Village, on which he received discounts.'*/

82, The discounts set out in paragraphs 30
and 31 above were extended to and received by
Mr. Michael because of the prompt service which
the Division of Food and Drug provided to Value
Village, which service was of importance and
benefit to Value Village.!s/

33. D.G.M. Consultants (“DGM") is a
food testing and consulting company doing busi-
ness in Massachusetts. It is owned and operated
by Dr. George T. Michael, the son of George A.
Michael, the Respondent.

34. Cumberland Farms, Inc. (“Cumber-
land Farms™) is a company doing business in
Massachusetts, engaged in the business of manu-
facturing, processing and retailing food products.
It employs DGM as a technical analytical con-
sultant for its products at a fee of approximately
$500 per month,

35. On March 13, 1979, a major ammonia
leak occurred in the Cumberland Farms ice
cream processing plant in Canton, Massachusetts.
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Inspectors Babineau and Luke from the Division
of Food and Drug went to the plant that same
day, placed an embargo on the Cumberland
Farms ice cream processing and storage facilities
and on all ice cream raw materials and products
then held in those facilities.

%6. On March 13, and 14, 1979, Inspectors
Babineaun and Luke, of the Division of Food and
Drug, took samples of the ice cream products
which had been exposed to the aforementioned
ammonia leak and brought the samples to Mr.
Michael’s office at the Division of Food and Drug
in Jamaica Plain.

87. On March 13, and 14, 1979, Mr.
Michael personally participated, with others, in
the testing of the ice cream samples from the
Cumberland Farms plant.

38. During the period from March 13,
1979, through approximately April 30, 1979,
Mr. Michael personally participated in the Cum-
berland Farms matter by assigning Division of
Food and Drug personnel to work on the matter,
by testing the aforementioned ice cream product
samples, by participating in decisions on the re-
conditioning of some of the Cumberland Farms
products which had been embargoed after the
ammonia leak, and by personally contacting the
management of Cumberland Farms with regard
to the matter.

12/Maxwell VanDam testified that he extended the discount to Mr.
Michael as a continuation of the policy established by his predecessor,
Mr, Koppelman (now deceased). There is no evidence in the record of
a friendship or personal social acquaintance between Mr. Michael and
cither Mr. VanDam or Mr. Koppelman, Mr, VanDam testified that he
gives discounts to people the store does business with, as a “good business
practice™; and he gives them to Mr, Michael and other Division of Food
and Drug employees as a token of appreciation for their prompt service
and advice, and because he wants to continue receiving their prompt
service and professional advice, The Commission considers this testimony
sufficient to support its finding.

1/ With regard to the actual inspection of Easter candy, the record
is unclear as to the degree of Mr. Michael's participation; but based
on the testimony of Melvin VanDam, William Babincau, and the docu-
ments in evidence, the Commisison finds that VanDam contracted
Michael, who initiated the inspection and gave a final release on that
same day; the Commission leaves open the question of whether Michael
inspected the merchandise himself cither before or after the arrival of
other inspectors,

14/Mr, VanDam testified that the purchases totalled perhaps
$200-$300, but also said that he probably told a staff investigator the
purchases amounted to §100 per year; because the discrepancy was not
resolved by the introduction of any documentation or further testimeny,
the Commisison restricts its finding to the Jower figure,

15/ Again, the Commission notes that no other evidence, of either
friendship or social relationship between Michael and Melvin VanDam,
was introduced which would suggest any other basis for the discount.



3%. On or about March 13, 1979, Dr.
George T. Michael, the owner of DGM and son
of Mr. Michael, the Respondent, was asked by
the management of Cumberland Farms to evalu-
ate, test and provide professional advice on re-
conditioning of the ice cream exposed to ammonia
by the March 13, 1979 ammonia leak.

40. During the period from March 13,
1979 through approximately April 30, 1979, Dr.
George T. Michael tested and evaluated this ice
cream on behalf of Cumberland Farms, provided
professional advice concerning the reconditioning
of this product, in return for compensation, and
had a financial interest in the resolution of this
matter.

41. During the period from March 13,
1979 through approximately April 30, 1979, the
Respondent, Mr. Michael knew that his son, Dr.
George T. Michael, was being compensated by
Cumberland Farms for testing and evaluating
the aforementioned ice cream products and for
providing professional advice on the recondition-
ing of those products.'¢/

42. DeMoulas Supermarkets, Inc. (“De-
Moulas Markets") is a company doing business
in Massachusetts, and is engaged in the business
of retailing food products to the public.

43. DeMoulas Markets employs DGM as a
food consultant.

44. On or about February 2, 1977, all foods
in the DeMoulas Markets' warehouse located in
Tewksbury, Massachusetts, were seized by the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration due to
rodent infestation; a consent decree was subse-
quently entered and a bond posted by DeMoulas
Markets.

45. On or about February 4, 1977, De-
Moulas Markets hired DGM to develop and im-
plement a reconditioning program in order to
secure the release of the bond which had been
posted pursuant to the aforementioned seizure,
and DGM, therefore, had a financial interst in
the matter.

46. During the period from February 4,
1977 through at least March, 1977, the Respond-
ent, Mr. Michael, initiated and participated in
several official actions intended to accelerate the
release of the bond which had been posted by
DeMoulas Markets, pursuant to the seizure and
consent decree. In particular, he personally
visited the DeMoulas Markets warehouse on
February 5, 1977 and told a federal inspector
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that he had given “them” a clean bill of health
and asked how the reconditioning process could
be expedited; he spoke with the Acting District
Director of the U.S. Food and Drug Administra-
tion on February 7, 1977, at which time the
Respondent agreed to assist federal officials in
the DeMoulas matter; he assigned inspectors from
the state Division of Food and Drug to inspect
DeMoulas Markets’ retail outlets and warehouse,
and to monitor the reconditioning process, and
had documentation of the latter sent to federal
authorities shortly before the end of the seizure
and release of the bond on March 4, 1977.17/

47. In its decision to release the bond on
the DeMoulas Markets' warehouse contents and
end the seizure on March 4, 1977, the federal

'%/The only individuals who could give definitive testimony on this
point were the Respondent and his son; the Respondent did not take
the witness stand in these proceedings. His son testified that, during
the time period at issue, he may have had a general discussion with
the Respondent about abserption principles and time lapse for ammonia
dissipation, but he recalled no specific mention of Cumberland Farms
at that time. He also testified that his memory on earlier events would
be better in 1979 than in 1981. Capt. Agnes testified that he interviewed
both the Respondent and his son (separately) in October, 1979, and
that in the course of those interviews, the Respondent said that he and
his son had discussed the icc cream, namely, the kinds of tests the
Division of Food and Drug was performing on it; and that Respondent
also said his son was a consultant for Cumbetland Farms but he (He-
spondent) didn't know exactly when he (the son) started. Agnes testified
that during an interview, George T. Michael told Agnes that he had had
a conversation with his father concerning the Cumberland Farms ice
cream in question, particularly on whether aeration was a good recon-
ditioning mechanism, and that the conversation ook place during the
period at issue.

The Commission finds the testimony of Capt. Agnes to be the
mare persuasive for the following reasons: (a) taken as a whole, the
testimony of George T, Michael was often unresponsive and obfuscatory;
(b) on this particular issue, he could have had strong motivation,
namely, loyalty to his father, not to be completely forthcoming in his
answers; {c) by his own admission, his memory on facts and issue was
clearer in 1979; and (d) even accepting George T. Michael's version of
the facts, namely, that there was a conversation about ammonia absorp-
tion and dissipation generally, it strains credulity to maintain that during
such a specialized conversation, Respondent would not have realized,
if he was not told outright, that the reason his son was inquiring about
these principles was that he was professionally involved in the matter.

The Commission acknowledges that this finding is based largely
upen hearsay introduced through Captain Agnes. However, the Com.-
mission considers his testimony to be reliable; and the only person who
could refute the testimony (the Respondent) did not take the stand. Even
if the Commission were bound by the Rules of Evidence, which it is not,
the statements would have been admissible as exemptions 1o the hearsay
rule, as admission of a party-opponent,

/Much testimony centered upan Mr. Michael's comment during
the February 5th conversation that he had given “them" a clean bill of
health, and whether “them” referred to the retail stores or the warchouse.
The Commission sees no relevance in making this distinction, since in
either reading of the comment, Mr. Michael's assertion was question-
able,



Food and Drug Administration relied, in part,
on the results of the state Division of Food and
Drug investigation, conducted at the initiation
and direction of Mr. Michael, the Respondent.®/

48. During the period from February 5,
1977 through approximately March 1, 1977, the
Respondent, Mr. Michael, knew that DGM had
been retained by DeMoulas Markets to help
secure the release of the warehouse from federal
custody, and that his son had a financial interest
in the matters,!?/

49. Seamark Corporation (“Seamark”), is
a company doing business in Massachusetts which
is engaged in the business of importing and
wholesaling seafood products.

50. Seamark has retained DGM to test its
seafood imports since approximately 1977;
among the services it performs, DGM tests shrimp
for Seamark.

51. On or about April 18, 1978, Purity
Supreme Supermarkets of North Billerica, Mass-
achusetts, purchased and took delivery at its
warehouse of a shipment of MarcaMar brand
shrimp from Seamark,

52. On or about April 21, 1978, after a
problem with MarcaMar brand frozen shrimp
had arisen in a retail store in Walpole, a Division
of Food and Drug seafood inspector visited the
Purity Supreme warehouse in North Billerica,
visually examined and embargoed 110 cases of
MarcaMar shrimp at the warehouse and tock
samples for testing.

53. Tests on the shrimp samples from the
previously mentioned retail outlet and from the
Purity Supreme Warehouse were not completed
by the Division of Food and Drug until April 24,
1981, at which time they were found to have a
strong odor,

54. On the same day that the aforemen-
tioned samples were collected from the embar-
goed shrimp at the warehouse, April 21, 1978,
and prior to completion of tests on these samples
by the Division of Food and Drug, the Respond-
ent directed and lifting of the embargo on the
shrimp at the warehouse, and the inspector lifted
the embargo.2?/

55. The investigations unit of the staff of
the State Ethics Commission conducted the in-
vestigation into the subject matter of this pro-
ceeding. That unit is headed by Robert J. Cordy
(“Mr. Cordy"), Associate General Counsel for
Investigation and Enforcement, who directed the

inquiry.
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56. On October 16, 1980, Mr. Cordy filed
with the Commission a written recommendation,
based on evidence referred to the Commission
by the Department of the Attorney General, that
the Commission authorize a Preliminary Inquiry
into the actions of George A. Michael. The Com-
mission authorized the inquiry on that date.

57. On December 1, 1980, Mr. Cordy filed
with the Commission a report on the Preliminary
Inquiry in the Matter of George A. Michael,
summarizing the information developed during
the inquiry and recommending that there was
sufficient factual basis to support a finding of
“reasonable cause” to believe that Mr. Michael
had violated M.G.L. c. 268A and 268B.

58. Based upon the Preliminary Inquiry
Report, the Commission voted, on December 1,
1980, to find that there was reasonable cause to

"/According to the record, Davis of the FDA told Michael that
the state’s documentation of reconditioning was necessary to release of
the bond; and the bond was released the day after the documentation
was received. Robert Crowell of the FDA, who was the compliance
officer in charge of the DeMoulas matter, also testified that he relied,
in part, on these documents in deciding that the purpose of the seizure
had been fulfilled.

*/The Commisison bascs this finding upon: (a) the testimony of
Capt. Agnes, which recounted Mr. Michael's statement to Agnes in an
October, 1979 interview that, during his February 5, 1977 visit o the
DeMoulas warchouse, Mr. Michael learned from Michael DeMoulas that
George T. Michael was a consultant for DeMoulas: (b) during the same
interview, Agnes testified, Respondent said he had had a conversation
with his son about the unsatisfactory pesticide procedures at the DeMoulas
warehouse, but Respondent didn't say when this conversation occurred;
(c) George T. Michael testified that he and his father may have had a
general conversation on the “concept of the problem™ during the time
the son was working on the matier; and (d) according to Capt. Agnes’
testimony, George T. Michael told him in an October, 1979 interview
that about 2 or § weeks after the federal seizure he had a follow-up con-
versation with his father (the Respondent) on the DeMoulas matter. The
Commission, in viewing this testimony as a whole, considers it sufficient
1o support the finding, and makes the same observations on George T,
Michael's testimony and on the use of hearsay evidence as in feotnote 16.

#/The Commission notes that the evidence on this issue is sketchy,
but finds it sufficient in several respects to support the finding that Mr.
Michael released the embargo: (a) The embargo slip, identified by its
maker, Frederick Hanna, bears the notation in his writing, “Released
By G.A.M. on 4/21/78 P.M."; (b) Hanna testified that he asked Chief
Inspector Murphy to explain the release but Murphy teld him Mr.
Michael had released it, and didn't explain further and this gave rise
to the aforementioned notation; (c) Several Division of Food and Drug
inspectors testified that as a matter of Division practice, embargoes
were not released unless Mr. Michael so directed.

In crediting Murphy's explanation in (b), above, the Commission
is aware that such an assertion by Murphy might be of questionable
use in a court because of the hearsay rule. However, as stated in footnate
16, the Commission considers Captain Agnes’ testimony to be reliable,
and the Respondent chose not to testify on this or any other issue; in
any event, even if the Commission were bound by the Rules of Evidence,
which it is not, the statements probaby would have been admissible
under an exemption to the hearsay rule, since Murphy is now dead.



believe that Mr. Michael had violated the atore-
mentioned laws, and authorized the staff to con-
duct a full investigation and, at its conclusion,
initiate adjudicatory proceedings.

59. Following the above-mentioned au-
thorization, Mr. Cordy drafted and filed an
Order to Show Cause why Mr. Michael should
not be found in violation of M.G.L. c. 268A
and 268B, on January 6, 1981. The text of that
Order was not reviewed by the Commission.

60. Mr. Cordy appeared as Counsel for
the Petitioner, the State Ethics Commission,
during the adjudicatory proceedings in this
matter.

61. The members of the State Ethics Com-
mission have acted as triers of fact and law in
the instant proceeding, and have made findings
of fact and conclusions of law as set forth in
this Decision and Order.

IIX. Decision

The Respondent has been charged with
violating M.G.L. c. 268A, §§3(b), 6, 23(d), (e)
and (f) and c. 268B, §7. We will address these
charges separately. First, however, the Commis-
sion addresses certain constitutional issues raised
by Respondent.

A. Constitutional Issues

1. Combination of Investigatory, Pro-
secutorial and Adjudicatory Functions.

In his Answer, Respondent contends that his
due process rights under the federal and Mass-
achusetts constitutions are violated by virtue of
the organization and procedures of the State
Ethics Commission, in which investigatory, pro-
secutorial and adjudicatory functions are com-
bined, in one agency. He also alleges that this
combination of functions, in and of itself, imper-
missibly deprives him of an impartial factfinder.

The Commission finds no merit in Respond-
ent’s constitutional argument. The constitutional
validity of such a combination has been upheld
both by the United States Supreme Court, in
Withrow v, Larkin, 421 U.S. 35 (1975), and by
the Massachusetts Appeals Court in School Com-
mittee of Stoughton v. Labor Relations Com-
mission, 4 Mass. App. Ct. 262 (1976). In addition,
Withrow has been cited and applied by the
Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court in the case
of Dwyer v. Commissioner of Insurance, 376
N.E. 2d 826 (1978), in which the court affirmed
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the authority of the Commissioner of Insurance
to conduct a dismissal hearing after having di-
rected a subordinate to investigate the matter
and reviewing the investigative results. Withrow
was also cited by the Massachusetts Superior
Court (Ronan, ].) in George A. Michael v. State
Ethics Commisison, Superior Ct. No. 47401, the
action in which the Respondent unsuccessfully
attempted to obtain injunctive relief against the
Commission’s hearing prior to their commence-
ment. That court also cited the Opinion of the
Justices, 375 Mass. 795 (1978), an opinion which
was rendered to the Massachusetts Senate prior
to the passage of M.G.L. c. 268B (the statute
which created the Commission), and which noted
no constitutional defect in the statutory scheme.

2. Alleged Disqualification of Com-
mission

Respondent also contended in his Answer
that the Commission members were disqualified
from sitting in judgment on this matter by virtue
of their prior exposure to evidence in the matter,
their ex parte communications with Counsel for
Petitioner relative to the matters in issue, their
vote authorizing the filing of an Order to Show
Cause, and their issuance of press releases relative
to the matter.

The only evidence introduced by Respondent
in support of this contention is an affidavit from
Counsel for the Petitioner, setting forth the ac-
tivities of the Commission and its staff with re-
gard to this matter prior to the issuance of the
Order to Show Cause, and copies of the Pre-
liminary Inquiry Recommendation and Report
reviewed by the Commission during that period.

The Commission, in reviewing this record,
finds no support for the Respondent's argument
that the Commission is disqualified as a matter
of law from adjudicating this matter. Rather,
the Commission calls attention to: (a) M.G.L.
c. 268B, §4(a), which mandates that the Com-
mission initiate a preliminary inquiry upon
receipt of evidence which it deems sufficient --
thereby assigning to the Commission the duty of
evaluating the sufficiency of evidence at an early
stage; (b) M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(c), which permits
the Commission to vote to initiate proceedings if
a preliminary inquiry indicates reasonable cause
for belief that c. 268A or 268B has been vio-
lated -- again, an authorization for the Com-
mission to review the sufficiency of evidence be-



fore proceeding to the next phase of a matter;
and (c) the Dwyer and Stoughton cases, cited
above, which find no disqualification by virtue of
prior exposure to evidence in an ex parte ad-
ministrative context, or by prior issuance of a
complaint in a matter, respectively.

3. Applicability of Ex Post Facto Pro-
hibition to Commission’s Adjudication and
Penalization of Conduct Which Occurred Prior
to the Commission’s Creation

The Respondent maintains that the Com-
mission is constitutionally prohibited from pen-
alizing those whom it finds to have violated
M.G.L. c. 268A prior to the enactment of c.
268B, i.e., prior to the Commission’s creation
and its assumption of enforcement powers over
such violations.

The Commission rejects this contention by
noting that the ex post facto prohibition is only
applicable to criminal or penal statutes, Calder
v. Bull, 3 (U.S.) Dall., 386 (1798); Bankers
Trust v. Blodgett, 260 U.S. 647 (1923); Reale
v. Judges of the Superior Court, 265 Mass. 135
(1928) and not to the imposition of additional
civil or regulatory sanctions on past conduct,
Helvering v. Mitchell, 303 U.S. 391, 399 (1938);
Flemming v. Nestor, 363 U.S. 603 (1960). In
Opinion of the Justices, 375 Mass. 795 (1978),
the Supreme Judicial Court stated that the im-
position of a $1,000 penalty by the State Ethics
Commission, envisioned by M.G.L. c. 268B, was
not to be imposed where there was a criminal
violation, was not intended to punish the com-
mission of a crime, was not a “capital or infamous
punishment”, and was a familiar device conferred
upon administrative bodies to assist them in the
performance of their duties. The Commission
considers these elements sufficient to characterize
its enforcement powers as civil rather than
criminal, thus negating any application of the ex
post facto prohibition to its regulatory activities.

B. Jurisdiction

Both parties agree that Respondent was,
at all times relevant to the matter at issue, a
state employee within the meaning of M.G.L.
c. 268A, §1(qg) and thus subject to the proscrip-
tions of that chapter. The parties also agree that
Respondent was designated a “public employee”,
as defined in M.G.L. c. 268B, §1(o) and was
required to file (and did in fact file) Statements
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of Financial Interests with the Commission for
Calendar years 1978 and 1979, pursuant to that
chapter.

C. Chapter 268A Allegations
1. Building 19
a. Section 3

The Petitioner contends that Mr. Michael
violated M.G.L. c. 268A, §3(b) by receiving dis-
counts and charge privileges from Building 19
as tokens of appreciation for the prompt service
and guidance that his Division provided the
store. The Commission agrees.

Section 3(b) prohibits a state employee

otherwise than as provided by law

for the proper discharge of official duty,

directly or indirectly . . . [to] receive

anything of substantial value for him-

self for or because of any official act

or act within his official responsibility

performed or to be performed by him,

The record is abundantly clear that Mr,
Michael received the discounts and charge pri-
vileges from 1964 through 1980.2!/ It is also clear
from the sales receipts in the record that discounts
received by Mr. Michael from 1976 through
1980, inclusive, totalled more than $100 each
year, and often considerably more. The Com-
mission finds that these discounts constitute
something of “substantial value” received by Re-
spondent.??/ See, Commonwealth v. Famigletti,
4 Mass. App. 584, 354 N.E. 2d 890 (1976). The
record contains no evidence that the discounts
and charge privileges were provided by law for
the proper discharge of official duty, and thus
the Commission concludes that they were not,
and that Respondent violated Section 3(b) in
1976 through 1980, inclusive.

Mr. Michael argues that there was no “quid
pro quo” involved here, and thus no violation of

#1/The Commission considers it unneccessary to find, as alleged,
that Mr. Michael requested the discounts; it does so because Section 3
is violated whether the person solicits or accepts [anything of substantial
value] and it has found that Mr. Michael accepted the discounts,

2/The Respondent also argued that because the prices he paid for
the merchandise he purchased at Building 19 covered the store’s cost
af the items, he did not receive anything of substantial value but rather
paid an amount equal te or greater than value of the merchandise. The
Commission rejects this argument and finds that, because the prices he
paid were substantially lower than those charged to ordinary customers,
Respondent did receive something of substantial value. With few ex-
ccptions, the discounts were not given because the merchandise was
damaged, in which case a discount might have been generally available.



Chapter 268A. However, a Massachsuetts court
has held that, to find a violation under Section
3(b), corrupt intent need not be shown, and it is
enough that a defendant requested or received
something of substantial value for or because of
an official act already performed or to be per-
formed by him. Commonwealth v. Dutney, 4
Mass. App. 363, 375, 348 N.E. 2d 812 (1976).
The Ethics Commission has followed this ruling,
and has found Section 3 to be violated when extra
compensation was received by a public employee
for doing the job she was required tc do by virtue
of her public employment. See In the Matter of
the Collector-Treasurer’s Office of the City of
Boston, et al., Commission Disposition Agree-
ment (March 2, 1981).

A public employee need not be impelled to
wrongdoing as a result of receiving a gift or
gratuity of substantial value, in order for a vio-
lation of Section 3 to occur. Rather, the gift may
simply be a token of gratitude for a well-done
job or an attempt to foster goodwill. All that is
required to bring Section 3 into play is a nexus
between the motivation for the gift and the em-
ployee’s public duties. If this connection exists,
the gift is prohibited. To allow otherwise would
subject public employees to a host of temptations
which would undermine the impartial perfor-
mance of their duties, and permit mulitiple re-
muneration for doing what employees are already
obliged to do - a good job. Sound public policy
necessitates a flat prohibition since the alternative
would present unworkable burdens of proof. It
would be nearly impossible to prove the loss of an
employee’s objectivity or to assign a motivation
to his exercise of discretion. If public credibility
in government institutions is to be fostered, con-
straints which are conducive to reasoned, im-
partial performance of public functions are neces-
sary, and it is in this context that Section 3 oper-
ates.

Thus the Commission disagrees with Re-
spondent's contention that, because he performed
his official duties as provided by law, his receipt
of discounts and charge privileges was not illegal.
The record contains adequate evidence for the
Commission to find that the extension of the
privileges was in return for past cooperation and
prompt service by Respondent’s Division, and to
ensure the continuation of such service. In so
finding, the Commission notes that it is probably
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rare to find an explicit expression or open ac-
knowledgement of such a mutual “understand-
ing,” and thus it is to be expected that such a
finding will ordinarily have to be drawn by in-
ference, as is done here, if Section 3 is to be given
a sensible reading.

b. Section 23

The Commission finds that Respondent vio-
lated Section 23(d), which prohibits “use [of]
official position to secure unwarranted privileges
or exemptions for himself or others.” The record
contains adequate evidence to find that, from at
least 1975 through and including 1980, Re-
spondent obtained discounts for himself, his sister
(or sister-in-law) and his secretary/assistant. The
Commission finds most of these discounts to have
been “unwarranted” to the extent that they were
not generally available to the public, not given
for reason of merchandise damage in most cases,
not the result of personal, social acquaintance or
family relationships with Building 19's owner,
not provided for by law, and thus in violation of
Section 23(d).

The Commission also finds that Respondent
violated Section 23(e), which prohibits a state
employee

by his conduct [giving] reasonable
basis for the impression that any person

can improperly influence or unduly en-

joy his favor in the performance of his

official duties. . .

In sustaining the violation, the Commission
notes that the record shows that Respondent
advised Building 19's owner as to whether or not
to purchase certain shipments of salvage mer-
chandise, and occasionally had such merchandise
inspected before Building 19 decided to purchase
it. Such advice, even if not improperly given,
nevertheless indicates that Respondent at times
was particularly accommodating towards Build-
ing 19. This, coupled with his receipt of the dis-
count and charge privileges, provides reasonable
basis for the impression that Respondent was
influenced in the performance of his duties with
respect to Building 19 because of the privileges.

2. Bargain Center
a. Section3
Petitioner asks the Commission to find that
Respondent violated M.G.L. c. 268A, §3(b) by



receiving discounts for himself and others from
the Bargain Center which were given for or be-
cause of acts within his official responsibility
performed or to be performed by him.

There is sufficient evidence in the record
to support the assertion that Respondent received
discounts of 15 to 25 percent on his purchases
from the Bargain Center. There is also sufficient
evidence to find that these discounts were ex-
tended for or because of acts within his official
responsibility: Maxwell Van Dam, president of
Bargain Center, testified that his reasons for pro-
viding the discounts were his appreciation for the
prompt service and advice by the Respondent’s
Division, and Van Dam’s desire to continue to
receive such prompt service and advice.

With respect to whether or not the discounts
from the Bargain Center were of “substantial”
value, the Commission finds that they were, on
at least two occasions: (a) In 1979, the Respond-
ent received a discount of over $50 on the pur-
chase of linoelum; and (b) in 1980, Respondent
obtained a discount of $§145 on a piece of furni-
ture purchased by Diane Hurley. Accordingly,
the Commission finds that Respondent violated
Section 3(b} on these two occasions.

b. Section 23

The Commission finds that Respondent
also violated M.G.L. c. 268A, §23(d) and (e) by
his receipt of discounts from the Bargain Center.

With respect to Section 23(d), the Com-
mission is pursuaded that Respondent used his
position to obtain these discounts for himself
and for Diane Hurley, and that, at least in the
case of the linoleum purchase, the discount was
unwarranted. The Commission makes no such
finding with respect to the discount received by
Diane Hurley since there was evidence in the
record to the effect that the merchandise she
purchased was damaged; absent any specific
information as to the extent of the damage, the
Commission is unable to determine to what ex-
tent the discount may have been warranted.

With respect to Section 23(e), the Com-
mission finds that the Respondent did, by his
conduct, give reasonable basis for the impression
that Bargain Center could unduly enjoy his favor
in the performance of his official duties. Specifi-
cally, the Commission finds that Respondent
personally performed inspections of merchandise
at Bargain Center and, in doing so, disregarded
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the procedures set forth in M.G.L. c. 94 and in
the Department of Public Health regulations.
According to Maxwell Van Dam’s testimony,
Respondent, on at least one occasion in 1980,
looked over a shipment of tuna, took an entire
case as a sample without leaving a receipt or a
copy of his inspection report, and never com-
municated with Van Dam any test results; it was
Van Dam’s understanding that if he didn't hear
from Respondent, he could sell the tuna. By his
disregard for established procedures in his official
dealing with a store which afforded him dis-
counts, Respondent gave reasonable basis for
the impression that Bargain Center could unduly
enjoy his favor in the performance of his official
duties, in violation of Section 23(e).

3. Value Village
a. Section 3

The Petitioner contends that, by receiving
discounts on merchandise he purchased at Value
Village, Respondent violated M.G.L. c. 268A,
§3(b). The Commission deems the record insuf-
ficient to support such a finding.

Although Melvin Van Dam, President of
Value Village testified that he extended a 10 to
15 percent discount to Respondent, he was cer-
tain as to the value of merchandise purchased
by Respondent; in his testimony, he estimated
total purchases of $200-$300 by the Respondent,
and was uncertain if this was correct, or a higher
figure he may have quoted during an interview.
Because the uncertainty was unresolved, and
because a 10-15% discount on purchases of
$200-$300 is arguably not substantial, the Com-
mission declines to rule that Respondent's con-
duct here violated Section 3.

b. Section 23

Petitioner alleges that Respondent used his
official position to secure unwarranted privileges
for himself or others, in violation of Section 23(d).
The Commission finds that, by accepting dis-
counts which were extended to him in part be-
cause of the prompt service his Division rendered
to Value Village, Respondent used his official
position to secure unwarranted privileges for
himself, and thus violated Section 23(d).

The Commission also finds that Respondent
violated Section 23 (e), by accepting discounts
from a business he regulated (Value Village),
and by taking personal action to expedite the



inspections necessary to that business on an oc-
casion when the commercial value of the mer-
chandise to be inspected depended on its quick
approval for sale. With respect to the latter, the
Commission points to the findings of fact, para-
graph 29,

4, Building 19, Bargain Center, Value

Village
a. Section 23(f)

Petitioner alleges that, by receiving dis-
counts from businesses subject to his inspection
and regulatory authority, and over which he ex-
ercised that authority for a number of years, the
Respondent pursued a course of conduct which
would raise suspicion among the public that he
was likely to be engaged in acts that were in
violation of his public trust. The Commission
agrees.

The record substantiates the Respondent’s
regulatory authority over the three businesses in
question (see, e.g. paragraphs 2 and 3 of the
Findings of Fact). It also supports the findings
that Respondent personally inspected and ex-
ercised other authority over these businesses. As
set forth in the Findings of Fact, Respondent
accepted discounts from all three businesses.

Respondent argues that, because the dis-
counts in issue were a “‘private matter” between
himself and the stores involved, they could in no
way give rise to suspicion on the part of the public.
The Commission finds this argument unpersua-
sive for several reasons: (a) Respondent cites no
authority to support his assertion that actual
public knowledge is an element of the offense
here charged; he instead argues an analogy to
M.G.L. ¢. 272 §§16 and 53, the statutes on
lascivious cohabitation and lewdness, and com-
mon night walkers, respectively, into which
courts have read a requirement of public in-
volvernent before a violation will be found; the
Commission considers those statutes and rulings
to be inapposite; (b) to read into Section 23(f) a
requirement of actual public knowledge of any
violation of the conflict of interest law is con-
trary to common sense and would render the
section meaningless in almost all cases. The
Commission considers a more reasonable reading
of the section to require that the course of con-
duct, if Anown, would raise suspicion among the
public that the employee is in violation of his
public trust; and (c) further, the Commission
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deems the Respondent’s conduct sufficient to
have given rise to such a suspicion, in this case.
Specifically, sales personnel in the stores involved
were aware of his public office and of the special
treatment he was afforded by the stores’ manage-
ment; one can infer that others were also aware,
For all of these reasons, the Commission finds
that Respondent violated Section 23(f).

5. Cumberland Farms
a. Section6

Petitioner contends that Respondent vio-
lated M.G.L. c. 268BA, §6 by participating in
his official capacity in testing, evaluating and
deciding to release ice cream products which
were owned by Cumberland Farms, at a time
when Respondent knew that his son had a fin-
ancial interest in the handling of the same matter
for Cumberland Farms. Respondent admitted
his participation in the matter as alleged, but
denied having known of his son's financial in-
terest in the matter. Respondent’s son confirmed
in testimony that his firm was in fact on paid
retainer with Cumberland Farms during the
period in question.

Section 6 prohibits a state employee from
participating as such in a particular matter in
which to his knowledge a member of his im-
mediate family has a financial interest (emphasis
added). Thus, the Commission must find that
Respondent knew of his son's interest in the
matter at the time of his participation in order
for a violation to be found.

In paragraph 41 of the Findings of Fact,
above, the Commission found that Respondent
did know of his son's financial interest in the
matter during the period when Respondent was
participatng in the matter in his official capacity.
In relying on this finding, the Commission ac-
knowledges that it is based on hearsay statements
of Respondent introduced through an inter-
viewer, Captain Agnes; however, the Commis-
sion considers these statements to be persuasive
because of the strength and credibility of Captain
Agnes' testimony; because, even if the Commis-
sion were bound by the Rules of Evidence in
these proceedings (which it is not), the state-
ments would be adrmissible as admissions of a
party-opponent,

In view of the facts found, and in the ab-
sence of any evidence that Respondent satisfied
any of the exceptions from Section 6, the Com-



mission finds that Respondent’s participation in
the Cumberland Farms matter violated Section 6.

b. Section 23(e)

The Commission finds that Respondent

also violated Section 23(e) by his participation
in the Cumberland Farms matter, in that he gave
reasonable basis for the impression that Cumber-
land Farms and his son could improperly influ-
ence him or unduly enjoy his favor in the per-
formance of his official duties.

By virtue of his participation in the testing,
evaluation and decisions in the Cumberland
Farms matter, and specifically by serving as a
contact person between the Division of Food and
Drug and the management of Cumberland
Farms, Respondent did give reasonable basis
for the impression that Cumberland Farms or
his son could enjoy his favor in the performance
of his official duties, or that he was unduly
affected by the kinship of his son or the position
of influence of his son or Cumberland Farms.
In particular, he gave basis for such an impres-
sion on the part of his employees at the Division
of Food and Drug, and those individuals at Cum-
berland Farms with whom he dealt personally.
Had the Respondent wished to avoid any im-
propriety in the matter, he should have abstained
from any actions in it and so advised Cumber-
land Farms and his son.

6. DeMoulas Markets
a. Section6

Petitioner contends that Respondent vio-
lated M.G.L. c. 268A, §6 by participating in
decisions and official actions affecting the federal
seizure of the DeMoulas Markets' warehouse in
1977, while knowing that his son had a financial
interest in the matter.

In paragraph 46 of the Findings of Fact, the
Commission found that Respondent participated
in a number of official actions with respect to
the DeMoulas consent decree (a judicial proceed-
ing which qualified as a “particular matter”
within the ambit of M.G.L. c. 268A). His par-
ticipation was personal and substantial, in view
of the findings that he, as the Division of Food
and Drug’s contact with the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, offered help in the investigation,
assigned the resources of his office to it, and
caused to be sent to the FDA documentation
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from the state agency which was necessary to the
release of the bond.

With regard to Respondent’s knowledge of
his son’s financial interest in the matter, para-
graph 48 of the Findings of Fact ascribes that
knowledge to the Respondent. As in the findings
in the Cumberland Farms matter, this is also
based in part on hearsay introduced through
Captain Agnes, but nevertheless would qualify
under the admissions exception as discussed
above.

In view of these facts, the Commission finds
that Respondent violated Section 6 as alleged.

b. Section 23

Petitioner alleges that, by his conduct, Re-
spondent violated M.G.L. c. 268A, §23(d). The
Commission agrees that Respondent used his of-
ficial position in the DeMoulas matter, and in
one respect finds the evidence sufficient to de-
termine that Respondent attempted to secure
unwarranted privileges or exemptions for himself
or others, in violation of Section 23(d). The
Commission is persuaded that, in his statement
to Jane Howell of the FDA on February 5, 1977,
Respondent’s representation that either the stores
or the warehouse were in satisfactory condition
was unwarranted (because not all retail stores
had been inspected by the Division as of that
date, nor had the warehouse); and that his state-
ment to her was made in an effort to affect the
actions of the federal inspectors and officers. In
that respect, the Commission finds Respondent’s
conduct violated Section 23(d). However, with
regard to Respondent’s subsequent actions on
the matter, the Commission finds no clear dem-
onstration in the record that his efforts were
directed towards an unwarranted release of the
DeMoulas bond and seizure, and thus the finding
of violation is confined to the incident outlined
above.

The Commission also finds that Respondent
violated Section 23(e), in particular by visiting
the warehouse with Michael DeMoulas on Febru-
ary 5, 1977 and by urging the federal inspectors
there to make arrangement to expedite the re-
conditioning process so that the DeMoulas stores
could be resupplied. In doing so, he gave the
federal inspectors reasonable basis for the im-
pression that Mr. DeMoulas unduly enjoyed his
favor in the performance of his official duties.



7. Seamark/Purity Supreme
a. Section 23

The Petitioner alleges that Respondent
violated Section 23(d) by directing the early and
unwarranted release of an embargo on frozen
shrimp owned by Purity Supreme Supermarkets,
which it had allegedly bought from Seamark
Corporation. The Commission finds the evidence
insufficient to support this allegation.

Although the record clearly demonstrates
that Respondent directed the lifting of the em-
bargo on the same day it was imposed, the Com-
mission finds the record unclear as to whether
the inspector involved imposed the embargo pro-
perly according to statutory standards, and if
not, to what extent Respondent’s action may
have been justified. Because the Commisison is
unwilling, without further evidence, to substitute
its judgment on what appears to be a matter of
discretion, it declines to find that the Respond-
ent's action was unwarranted.

Petitioner also alleges that Respondent
violated Section 23(e) by using his official po-
sition to secure the release of a product which
was imported and sold by a company which em-
ployed his son’s firm, thus giving reasonable basis
for the impression that the firm could unduly
enjoy his favor in the performance of his official
duties. The Commission also finds the evidence
insufficient to justify such a finding.

Specifically, while the record shows that
Seamark and Purity Supreme used the services
of DGM, the embargo documents state that the
shrimp in question originated from “Sea Corp.”
and there remains an uncertainty as to whether
the names “Sea Corp.” and “Seamark” referred
to the same company, either in fact or in the
understanding of those using the terms. In view
of this uncertainty, the Commission is not per-
suaded that a basis existed for an unfavorable
impression of Respondent’s actions in the matter.

8. Cumberland Farms, DeMoulas Markets,

Purity Supreme/Seamark
a. Section 23

With respect to his participation in the
Cumberland Farms and DeMoulas matters, the
Commission finds that Respondent engaged in a
course of conduct which would raise suspicion
among the public that he was likely to be acting
in violation of his public trust, as prohibited by
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Section 23(f). The Commission points to Re-
spondent’s communications with Cumberland
Farms personnel and his own employees on the
ice cream matter, and his contacts with federal
inspectors at the DeMoulas warehouse, in support
of this finding.

D. Chapter 268B Allegations

Petitioner has alleged that Respondent's
failure to include the value of the discounts,
which he received on purchases he made from
Building 19 in 1978 and 1979, on his 1978 and
1979 Statements of Financial Interest violated
M.G.L. c. 268B, §7, which states that

Any person who . . . files a false
statement of financial interests under

Section 5 of this chapter shall be pun-

ished by a fine . . .

In paragraph 15 of the Findings of Fact, the
Commission found that Respondent was extended
discounts totalling over $100 from Building 19
in both 1978 and 1979. It also is undisputed that
Respondent did not disclose these discounts on
his Statements of Financial Interests for those
years. The position of Respondent is that he was
not required to do so because discounts do not
fall within the definition of “gifts” which are
required to be so disclosed. The Commission
disagrees,

Although the definition of “gift” in the
Instructions for Statements of Financial Interests
in both 1978 and 1979 does not specifically in-
clude “discount,” it does include “anything of
value.” Respondent argues that he received
nothing of value in availing himself of the dis-
counts because he gave consideration (payment)
which was equal to or greater than the value of
the item received in exchange. The Commission
is not persuaded by this argument and finds that
the amount of the discount is something of value
which is included in the term “gift” and required
to be reported.

In making this finding, the Commission
points to an example given in the Filing Instruc-
tions for both years which discusses the filer's use
of a ski chalet for a weekend, where the fair
market value of the rental is $300 but the filer
pays the owner $100 in whiskey. The example
explains that this item is required to be listed,
and does not discuss whether the use of the chalet
was worth $100 or $300 or whether the amount



paid was sufficient to cover costs. The Com-
mission finds this example to be analogous to
Respondent’s payment of a price less than that
charged the public for merchandise he purchased
at Building 19.

The Commission concludes that the example
given in the instructions, even if not completely
identical to Respondent’s situation, was suf-
ficiently similar to put a reasonable person on
notice that he should be required to disclose the
discounts. As a result, the Commission finds that
his omission of this information was negligent,
in that he should have either requested further
clarification from the Commission, or listed the
itemns in question.

However, the Commission considers the
evidence in the record insufficient to support a
finding that Respondent intentionally omitted
the information. The best evidence on intent
would undoubtedly have come from the Re-
spondent himself, but due to his failure to take
the witness stand, the record contains inadequate
evidence to infer intentional failure to file, in
the Commission's view. For this reason, the Com-
mission finds that Respondent violated Section 7
of M.G.L. ¢. 268B, but will refrain from im-
posing the maximum penalty allowable under
that section.

IV. Order

On the basis of the foregoing, the Commis-
sion concludes that George A. Michael violated
M.G.L. c. 268A, §§3(b), 6, 23(d), (e) and (f),
and c. 268B. §7. Pursuant to the authority grant-
ed it by M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(d), the Commission
hereby orders Mr. Michael to pay the civil
penalties set forth below. In arriving at these
penalties, the Commission has carefully con-
sidered the differences in frequency and gravity
of the offenses, as reflected in the record, and
thus imposes less-than-maximum fines in some
instances. Accordingly, the Commission orders
George A. Michael to:

1. Pay $1,000 (one thousand dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for receiving
discounts and charge privileges of substantial
value for himself from Building 19 for each of
the years 1976, 1977, 1978, 1979 and 1980, in
violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §3(b), for a total
of $5,000 (five thousand dollars).

2. Pay $1,000 (one thousand dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for obtaining
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discounts and charge privileges for others from
Building 19 in 1975, 1976, 1977, 1979 and 1980,
in violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §23(d).*3/

3. Pay $500 (five hundred dollars) to the
Commission for the false filing of his 1978 State-
ment of Financial Interests in violation of M.G.L.
c. 268B, §7.

4. Pay $500 (five hundred dollars) to the
Commission for the false filing of his 1979 State-
ment of Financial Interests in violation of M.G.L.
c. 268B, §7.

5. Pay $1,000 (one thousand dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for receiving
discounts of substantial value for himself from
the Bargain Center in 1979, in violation of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §3(b).

6. Pay $1,000 (one thousand dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for obtaining
a discount of substantial value for another from
Bargain Center in 1980, in violation of M.G.L.
c. 2684, §3(b).

7. Pay $1,000 (one thousand dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for receiving
discounts for himself from the Bargain Center
in 1976, 1977, 1978 and 1980 in violation of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §23(b).

8. Pay $1,000 {(one thousand dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for his par-
ticipation in the Cumberland Farms matter in
violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §6.

9. Pay $1,000 (one thousand dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for his par-
ticipation in the DeMoulas Markets matter, in
violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §6.

We order Mr. Michael to pay these penalties
totalling $12,000 (twelve thousand dollars) to
the Commission within thirty days of the receipt
of this Decision and Order.

DATE: September 28, 1981

#/The Commission possesses the authority under M.G.L. c. 268B
§4(d) to assess civil penalties of up to §1,000 per violation of M.G.L.
c. 268A §28 for actions which occurred either prior to our subsequent
to the Commission’s creation in 1978. Although the Commission’s power
to do so was not established and therefore known to those subject to
§2% prior 1o 1978, thosc individuzls were on netice by virtue of the
language of §23 that administrative sanctions, which could include
financial loss {such as an unpaid suspension from public employment),
could be imposed for violations of §23.



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
'SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 149

IN THE MATTER
OF
EDWARD BROOKS

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethies Commission ("Commission”) and
Edward Brooks (“Mr. Brooks"”) pursuant to Section
11 of the Commission's Procedures Covering the
Initiation and Conduct of Preliminary Inquiries and
Investigations., The parties agree that upon its ex-
ecution, this Agreement shall constitute an assented
to final order of the Commission enforceable in the
Superior Court under §4(d) of G.L. c. 268B.

On June 11, 1981, the Commission initiated a
Preliminary Inquiry into possible violations of the
conflict-of-interest law, G.L. c. 268A, concerning
Mr. Brooks' involvement as a former employee of the
Boston Water and Sewer Commission (“BWSC") in
matters in which he had previously participated as
an employee of the BWSC.

The Commission has concluded its Preliminary
Inquiry into Mr. Brooks' involvement in the matters
set forth herein, and makes the following findings of
fact and conclusions of law to which the parties
hereto agree:

1. Mr. Brooks was employed by the BWSC as
a collection clerk from January 1980, through_Janu-

ary 2, 1981, and as such was a “municipal employee”
as defined in §1(g) of G.L.. c. 268A.

2. In his capacity as a collection clerk, Mr.
Brooks was assigned delinquent BWSC accounts for
collection.

3. During his employment at the BWSC, Mr.
Brooks was assigned and personally and substantial-
ly “participated” (as that term is defined in §1(j) of
G.L. c. 268A) in, the collection of the Long Bay
Management account and the accounts of Port
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Antonio Associates, Guscott Associates, Kensing-
ton Associates, and Nazing Court Associates, all of
which are affiliated with the Long Bay Management
account. '

4. During February and March of 1981, and
after leaving the employ of the BWSC, Mr. Brooks
was retained by Long Bay Management to provide
it with professional services relating to its outstand-
ing BWSC account. Mr. Brooks was paid $475 by
Long Bay Management for these services.

5. This compensation related to the delinquent
accounts of Long Bay Management and its affiliated
companies, accounts which Mr. Brooks had worked
on while employed at the BWSC.

6. By receiving private compensation as a
former municipal eniployee in relation to these de-
linquent accounts, the collection of which he had
handled as an employee of the BWSC, Mr. Brooks
violated §18(a) of G.L. ¢. 268A, which restricts the
activities of former municipal employees.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforcement
proceedings brought pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, on
the basis of the following terms and conditions
hereby made and agreed to by Mr. Brooks:

1. That Mr. Brooks will hereby cease and
desist from receiving compensation from, or acting
as agent for any party other than the City of Boston,
in relation to any BWSC delinquency which was out-
standing in 1980, the collection of which he person-
ally and substantially participated in while employed
at the BWSC; and

2. That he pay to the State Ethics Commission
within 45 days of the execution of this Agreement,
the sum of $500 as civil penalty for violating §18(a)
of G.L. c. 268A.

DATE: November 13, 1981



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 143

IN THE MATTER
OF
WILLIAM G. McLEAN

Appearances:
Robert J. Cordy, Esq: Counsel for the
Petitioner, State Ethics Commission
William C. Wagner, Esq: Counsel for the
Respondent, William G. McLean

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch., Brickman, Bernstein,
McLaughlin
DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

The Petitioner filed an Order to Show Cause
on July 14, 1981 alleging that the Respondent,
William G. McLean, had violated §§19, 20 and
23(a) of M.G.L. c. 268A, the Conflict-of-Interest
Law. The Respondent filed an Answer which
denied any violation of the aforementioned pro-
visions and which, in addition, raised certain
defenses based on the asserted lack of jurisdiction
of the Commission and on exemptions contained
in M.G.L. c. 268A.

The parties filled Cross-Motions for Sum-
mary Decision and submitted briefs on October
26 and 28, 1981. Pursuant to notice, a hearing
on the motions was conducted on November 13,
1981 before the Commission Vice-Chairman,
Linda H. Kistler, a duly designated presiding
officer. See, M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(c). In rendering
this Decision and Order, all members of the
Commission have read the evidence and argu-
ments presented by the parties.!/

II. Findings of Fact

1. Mr. McLean was appointed a member
of the Woburn Golf and Ski Authority (the
Authority) and served in that capacity during
the period of 1978 until March 7, 1981 when he

submitted his resignation.

2. The Authority was established by St.
1968, c. 526. Section 5 of the Authority’s enabl-
ing statute provides, in part, that “[alny member,
agent or employee of the Authority who con-
tracts with the Authority or is interested, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract with the
Authority shall be punished by a fine of not more
than one thousand dollars or by imprisonment
for not more than one year, or both.”

3. Mr. McLean was a director and officer
of the Woburn Golf and Social Club (the Club)
from August, 1978 until March 24, 1981 when he
submitted his resignation.

4. The Authority and the Club entered
into a contract in August, 1973 whereby the Club
would operate an earn income from the Author-
ity’s clubhouse facilities.

5. A member of Mr. McLean's immediate
family?/ was employed by the Club from January,
1978 through March, 1981 as its bookkeeper.

6. Mr. McLean received approximately
$12,700.00 from the Club between January 1,
1874 and March 31, 1981. These funds were paid
to him from the Club's income for accounting
services that he performed for the Club as its
Treasurer.

7. Mr. McLean participated as a member
of the Authority in the initial decision in 1973
approving the contract between the Club and the
Authority and in subsequent decisions to renew
the contract in 1977 and 1979.

8. The Club had no other sources of in-
come except those which it received from oper-
ating the Authority's clubhouse facilities pursuant
to the contract between the Club and the Au-
thority.

9. In February, 1981, Mr, McLean learned
that the Commission was investigating his receipt
of compensation from the Club as a possible
violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §20. In March,
1981, he submitted his resignations to both the
Club and the Authority in order to comply, in
his view, with the exemption contained in M.G.L.
c. 268A, §20(a).

'/Commissioner Kistler's term as a Commission member expired
following the hearing.

*/Far the purposes of M.G.L. c. 268A, “immediate family” is
defined as the employee and his spouse. and their parents, children,
brothers and sisters. M.G.L. c. 268A, §}(e). In this instance, Mr.
McLean's son was the family member in question.



10. Thomas Higgins, Mayor of the City of
Woburn since 1977, became aware of the con-
tract between the Club and the Authority and
of Mr. McLean's position as Treasurer with the
Club at the time of his election.®/

III. Decision

The Respondent has been charged with
violating M.G.L. c. 268A, §§19, 20 and 23(a).
We will address these charges separately.

A. Jurisdiction under Chapter 268A

Mr. McLean contends that he was not a
municipal employee within the meaning of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(g) because the Authority is
not a municipal agency within the meaning of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(f). Although Mr. McLean
raised these points as affirmative defenses in his
Answer, he failed to pursue them in either his
brief or oral argument in support of his Motion
for Summary Decision. For the reasons stated
below, we find that the Authority is a municipal
agency and that Mr. McLean was a municipal
employee for the purposes of M.G.L. c. 268A.

1. Authority

Section 1(f) of M.G.L. c. 268A defines a
municipal agency as “any department or office of
a city or town government and any council,
division, board, bureau, commission, institution,
tribunal or other instrumentality thereof or
thereunder.” On the basis of our review of the
Authority’s enabling statute, we conclude that
the Authority complies with this definition as an
instrumentality of the City of Woburn.

Under the terms of the Authority's enabling
statute, St. 1968, c. 526, the Authority was
created to establish, maintain and operate a ski
business and golf club. The Authority was de-
signated as a public instrumentality, the exercise
of whose powers are deemed to be the perform-
ance of essential governmental functions. The
members of the Authority are appointed by the
Mayor of the City of Woburn, and the Authority
makes an annual report of its activities for the
preceding calendar year to the Mayor. We re-
gard the interrelation between the Authority
and the city of Woburn to be sufficient for the
purposes of the application of M.G.L. c. 268A.
Further, §5 of the Authority’s enabling statute
demonstrates a legislative perception of the need
for standards of conduct by Authority’s enabling
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and members which are consistent with M.G.L.
c. 268A.4/ See, In the Matter of Louis L. Logan,
Commission Adjudicatory Docket No. 131, De-
cision and Order, p. 17 (April 28, 1981).

2. Status as a Municipal Employee
Section 1(g) of M.G.L. c. 268A defines a
municipal employee as follows:
A person performing services for
or holding an office, position, employ-
ment or membership in a municipal
agency, whether by election, appoint-
ment, contract of hire or engagement,
whether serving with or without com-
pensation, on a full, regular, part-time,
intermittent or consultant basis, but
excluding (1) elected members of a
town meeting and (2) members of a
charter commission established under
Article LXXXIX of the Amendments
to the Constitution.
Inasmuch as we have previously concluded that
the instrumentality which employed Mr. McLean
is a municipal agency within the meaning of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(f), we conclude that Mr.
McLean held a membership in a municipal
agency on a “full, regular, part-time, intermittent
or consultant basis” within the meaning of the
above-cited definition of municipal employee.

B. Chapter 268A Allegations

1. Section 19

We find that Mr. McLean violated M.G.L.
c. 268A, §19(a), by participating in the Author-
ity's decision to contract with the Club in 1973
while he was an officer of the Club; (b) by par-
ticipating in the Authority's subsequent decisions
in 1977 and 1979 to renew its contract with the
Club while he was being compensated by the
Club for his accounting services, and (c) by par-
ticipating in the Authority’s decision in 1979 to
renew its contract with the Club while his son
was employed as the Club’s bookkeeper.

(a) Mr. McLean admits that he voted on
the Authority's initial decision to contract with

3/ The affidavit of the Mayor further indicated that he {the Mayaor]
did not view Mr. McLean's activitics as a violation of M.G.L. c. 268A.
§19 or of §5 of the Authority’s cnabling statute. The sufficiency of the
affidavit as a defense will be discussed, infra.

+/The provision of St. 1968, c. 526 §5 appear in paragraph 2 of
the Findings of Fact



the Club. He also admits that he was an officer
of the Club at the time that he voted on the
matter and that the Club had no other source of
income than that which it derived from operating
the Authority’s clubhouse facilities pursuant to
the contracts in question. However, Mr. McLean
maintains that his act of voting did not amount
to “participation” within the meaning of M.G.L.
c. 268A, §1(j), since his vote was not proved to
be one of five that was necessary to carry any
Authority activity and further, since he had no
knowledge that he was in violation of the law,
no violation could exist.

Section 19 of M.G.L. c. 268A prohibits a
municipal employee from participating as such
in a particular matter®/ in which to his knowledge
an organization in which he is serving as an
officer has a financial interest. There is no ques-
tion that the Club had a financial interest in its
contracts with the Authority since the contracts
generated the Club’s only source of income. We
also find that Mr. McLean's vote as an Authority
member amounted to “participation” within the
meaning of M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(j), and that he
possessed sufficient knowledge of the financial
interest for the purposes of §19.

Under M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(j), “partici-
pation” means to “participate in agency action or
in a particular matter personally and substanti-
ally as a . . . municipal employee, through ap-
proval, disapproval, decision, recommendation,
the rendering of advice, investigation or other-
wise.” The act of voting and any number of other
activities is encompassed in the above definition
of participation. Graham v. McGrail, 370 Mass.
133, 138, 345 N.E. 2d 888, 891 (1976); Buss,
The Massachusetts Conflict of Interest Statute:
An Analysis, 45 Boston University Law Review
299, 320 (1965). Further, there is nothing in
M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(j) that indicates that partici-
pation occurs only when an individual's actions,
by voting or otherwise, are determinative.

The element of “knowledge” under §19 of
M.G.L. c. 268A does not apply to the violation
itself but to the financial interest in question.
Since Mr. McLean knew as Treasurer that the
Club’s only source of income derived from the
contracts it had with the Authority, he had to
know of the Club’s financial interest in the con-
tracts.

(b) Section 19 of M.G.L. c. 268A also pro-
hibits a municipal employee from participating
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as such in a particular matter in which to his
knowledge he has a financial interest. Mr. McLean
admits that he was compensated in the amount
of $12,700.00 for providing the Club accounting
services between January 1, 1974 and March 31,
1981 and that he voted on the Authority's de-
cisions to renew its contract with the Club in
1977 and 1979. Further, the Club had no other
source of income than the money it received
pursuant to its contracts with the Authority.
Therefore, based on our previous determination
that his act of voting amounted to “participation”
within the meaning of M.G.L. c. 268A, we find
that Mr. McLean violated. §19 by voting on the
Authority's 1977 and 1979 decisions to renew
its contract with the Club. We also find that Mr.
McLean had sufficient knowledge for the pur-
poses of §19 because he was clearly aware of his
own financial interest in the contract.

(c) Section 19 of M.G.L. c. 268A prohibits
a municipal employee from participating as such
in a particular matter in which to his knowledge
a member of his immediate family has a financial
interest. There is no question that Mr. McLean's
son had a financial interest in the 1979 contract
between the Club and the Authority since the
contract generated the Club’s only source of
income and Mr. McLean stipulated that his son
was compensated by the Club as its bookkeeper
from January, 1978 through March, 1981. Since
Mr. McLean worked for the Club and the Au-
thority when his son was also employed by the
Club, he clearly knew of his son’s financial in-
terest in the contract. Mr. McLean also admits
that he voted on the Authority's 1979 decision
to renew its contract with the Club. Therefore,
based on our determination that voting amounts
to participation within the meaning of M.G.L.
c. 268A, we find that Mr. McLean violated §19
in approving the contract renewal. Our previous
analysis of the element of knowledge under §19
also applies in this instance.

Mr. McLean submitted an affidavit of the
Mayor of the City of Woburn to support his
additional contention that because the Mayor

/For the purposes of M.G.L. c. 26BA, “particular mauer” is
defined as any judicial or other proceeding, application, submission,
reguest for a ruling or other determination, contract, claim, controversy,
charge, accusation, arrest, decision, determination, finding, but ex-
cluding enactment of general legislation by the general court. M.G.L.
c. 2684, §1(k). (Emphasis added.)}



had condoned his activities, Mr. McLean did not
know he was in violation of the law. However, we
have consistently held that condonation by one’s
appointing official or superior does not exempt
an employee from the prohibitions of M.G.L. c.
268BA. See, In the Matter of Louis L. Logan,
supra, at 29; In the Matter of the Collector-
Treasurer’s Office of the City of Boston, et al.,
Commission Disposition Agreement, p. 8 (March
2, 1981). Moreover, the United States Supreme
Court has reached a similar conclusion in inter-
preting comparable Conflict-of-Interest Laws
covering federal employees. In United States v.
Mississippi Valley Generating Co., .564 U.S.
520, 561, 81 St. Ct. 294, 315 (1961), the Supreme
Court held that government employees could not
claim exemption from a conflict of interest statute
simply because their superiors did not discern the
conflict. In order for Mr. McLean to have quali-
fied for the exemption with §19, he would have
had to comply with the specific disclosure re-
quirements of that section in each instance. Prior
to any participation, a municipal employee must
file a written statement with his appointing of-
ficial, of the circumstances and the interest at
stake. Additionally, the appointing official
must exempt the employee in writing by finding
that the financial interest is not so substantial
as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity of
the employee’s services. See, M.G.L. c. 268A,
§19(b). Mr. McLean did not comply with the
disclosure requirements of §19(b), and the affi-
davit of the Mayor did not fulfill this exemption
requirements. Furthermore, since the Mayor did
not take office until 1977, his affidavit could
have no bearing on Mr. McLean’s initial par-
ticipation in the Authority's decision to contract
with the Club in 1978.

2. Section 20

The Petitioner contends that Mr. McLean
had a prohibited financial interest in the con-
tract between the Club and the Authority when
he received $12,700.00 from the Club between
January 1, 1974 and March 31, 1981 for account-
ing services he performed as the Club’s Treasurer.
Mr. McLean responds that the Petitioner must
prove that he “substantially influenced” the
Authority to contract with the Club. He also
maintains that since the Club's by-laws provided
that members be compensated for their services,
his salary did not amount to a direct or indirect
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financial interest in a municipal contract. On the
basis of our review of the record, we find that
Mr. McLean had a prohibited financial interest
in a municipal contract in violation of M.G.L.
c. 268A, §20.

Initially, we have no doubt that Mr. Mc-
Lean’s salary constituted a direct or indirect fin-
ancial interest in a municipal contract. Mr.
McLean admitted that the Club had no other
source of income than that which it derived pur-
suant to the contracts it had with the Authority
to operate the latter's clubhouse facilities. He
also admitted that he received $12,700.00 from
the Club for performing accounting services. It
follows, therefore, that the Club would not have
been in a position to compensate Mr, McLean
had it not contracted with the Authority, not-
withstanding the fact that the Club's by-laws
provided that members be compensated for their
services. Since the income Mr. McLean received
from the Club can be directly attributed solely
to the contracts the Club had with the Authority,
we find that Mr. McLean had a prohibited in-
direct financial interest in a municipal contract
in violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §20. In analyzing
§20, it is the source of the compensation and
the existence of the financial interest that are the
crux of the violation. The fact that the Club's
by-laws provide that members be compensated
for their services does not supersede M.G.L. c.
268A, nor does it matter whether Mr. McLean
“substantially influenced” the parties to enter
into contract. “Because it is impossible to articu-
late a standard by which one can distinguish
between employees in a position to influence and
those who are not, all are treated as though they
have influence.” Buss, supra, at 874. While it
may be true that in order to prove a violation of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §21, one must show that the
employee “substantially influenced” the action
taken by the agency, this is not the case with
respect to §20. Compare, Charbonnier v. Amico,
367 Mass. 146, 324 N.E. 2d 895 (1975).

Section 20(a) of M.G.L. c. 268A provides
that it shall not be a violation for a municipal
employee to have a direct or indirect financial
interest in a contract if he “in good faith and
within thirty days after he learns of an actual or
prospective violation of this section makes full
disclosure of his financial interst to the contract-
ing agency and terminates or disposes of the
interest.” Mr. McLean argues that he fulfilled



the exemption provided in M.G.L. c. 2684,
§20(a) because he resigned within 30 days of
learning from the Commission in 1981 that his
relationship with the Club and the Authority
might be in violation of §20. He also maintains
that he fulfilled the “good faith” requirement in
§20(a) because he had no knowledge that he was
in violation of the law. The Petitioner responds
that the thirty-day time period is triggered at the
time that a municipal employee learns of his
financial interest in a contract, not when he
learns that such an interest violates the law.
Furthermore, the Petitioner argues that Mr.
McLean does not fulfill the “good faith” require-
ment of the §20(a) exemption because it only
applies to those employees who have no “day-to-
day knowledge"” of the activities of organizations
with which they are affiliated and which also
contract with the municipality. According to the
Petitioner, the thirty-day time period started to
run when Mr. McLean received his first check
from the Club in 1974 and, since he was Treasurer
of the Club, he had “day-to-day knowledge” of
the organization and could not have fulfilled the
“good faith” requirement of §20(a). For the
reasons stated below, we find that Mr., McLean
did not fulfill the requirements of the §20(a)
exemption.

Initially, we find substantial evidence which
weighs against the contention that Mr. McLean
met the “good faith” requirement of M.G.L.
c. 268A, §20(a). Mr. McLean provided services
for the Club while he was a member of the
Authority. He knew the Club was paying him
with funds it received pursuant to its contracts
with the Authority, and, as a member of the
Authority, he voted on establishing the contracts
between the two entities. One of the purposes
of §20 is to prohibit municipal employees from
acquiring a financial interest in subsequent
municipal contracts which they may have be-
come aware of through their official positions.
The exemption provided in §20(a) accommo-
dates those instances where an employee belatedly
discovers his interest and allows him to dispose
of it promptly without any penalty. This principle
does not apply to those employees who are in-
volved in the daily activities of companies which
also have contracts with the employee’s municipal
employer.

In the instant case, we find that Mr. Mc-
Lean did not fulfill the “good faith” requirement

79

provided in M.G.L. c. 268A, §20(a). As the
Club's Treasurer, not only did he have “day-to-
day knowledge"” of the Club’s activities, but, as a
member of the Authority voting on the contracts
between the two entities, he could not have be-
latedly discovered his financial interest in the
contracts. Even if we were to find that Mr.
McLean fulfilled the thirty-day time period, the
fact that he participated in the awarding of the
contracts to the Club demonstrates a lack of
“good faith"”. See, Braucher, Conflict of Interest
in Massachusetts, in Perspectives of Law, Essays
for Austin Wakeman Scott 3 (1964). On the
basis of the evidence, we find that where Mr.
McLean was instrumental in obtaining a fin-
ancial interest in a municipal contract for him-
self, he could not fulfill the requirement of
§20(a) and qualify for the exemption therein.

Additionally, if we were to accept Mr,
McLean's position with respect to when the
thirty-day time period starts to run, the enforce-
ment of §20 would be virtually impossible since
an employee could terminate his interest upon
learning of a Commission investigation, no
matter how long he had actually been in violation
of the law. Mr. McLean's position renders the
enforcement of §20 a nullity and gives this section
of the statute an unworkable meaning. See,
Graham v. McGrail, supra, at 140.

Lastly, ignorance of the law is no defense
to a violation of M.G.L. c. 268A. In the Matter
of Louis L. Logan, supra: In the Matter of
C. Joseph Doyle, Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 109, Decision and Order, p. 7 (June
18, 1980). See also, Scola v. Scola, 318 Mass. 1,
7, 59 N.E. 2d 769, 772 (1945). Mr. McLean
was responsible for being aware of any statutes
or regulations which governed his behavior as a
municipal employee including M.G.L. c. 268A
and the Authority's enabling statute, St. 1968,
c. 526. We find that both statutes put Mr.
McLean on notice that municipal employees are
prohibited from having a financial interest in
contracts made by an agency of the same mu-
nicipality.¢/ See, Conley v. Town of Ipswich,
352 Mass. 201, 224 N.E. 2d 411 (1967).

*/We reiterate the fact that the Mayor’s condonation of Mr.
McLean's situation does not eliminate the violation, but may be a
mitigating factor to be considered when determining sanctions,



8. Section 23(a)

The Petitioner finally contends that Mr.
McLean violated §23(a) of M.G.L. c. 268A by
holding the position of Treasurer with the Club
and accepting compensation for services he per-
formed in this office. Mr. McLean argues that
he did not viclate §23(a) because he was not an
“employee” of the Club, but was an officer per-
forming duties under and being compensated
pursuant to the by-laws of the Club. We find
that Mr. McLean violated §23(a) by receiving
compensation as the Club’s Treasurer while
maintaining his membership on the Authority.

Section 23(a) of M.G.L. ¢. 268A prohibits
a municipal employee from “accept[ing] other
employment which will impair his independence
of judgment in the exercise of his official duties.”
It is undisputed that Mr. McLean received
$12,700.00 in private compensation from the
Club while he served as its Treasurer. The fact
that Mr. McLean characterizes himself as an
“officer” rather than “employee” does not pre-
vent the enforcement of the law in this case. We
cannot accept Mr. McLean’s characterization as
it is a distinction without a difference under
M.G.L. c. 268A. Moreover, it would unduly
hamper the enforcement of §23(a) to give the
employment relationship such a narrow inter-
pretation. As the Club’s Treasurer, Mr. McLean
prepared the Club’s financial records, and, as
a member of the Authority, he reviewed these
same records. By simultaneously holding positions
with the Club and the Authority, Mr. McLean
had divided loyalties - those he owed the Club
in his private capacity and those he owed the
public as a member of the Authority. His in-
dependence of judgment was impaired because
he was on both sides of any issue concerning the
Club’s financial records. We find that this is
precisely the situation which §23(a) was designed
to prohibit. See, EC-COI-81-133; 81-73.

* % k k & %

On the basis of the foregoing, we conclude
that William G. McLean violated M.G.L. c.
268A, 8§19, 20 and 23(a). Pursuant to our au-
thority under M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(d), we hereby
order Mr. McLean to pay the civil penalties as
set forth below. In arriving at these penalties
for violations of M.G.L. c. 268A, we have care-
fully considered certain mitigating factors raised
by Mr. McLean, particularly the fact that the
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Mayor of the City of Woburn apparently con-
doned Mr. McLean’s dual employment arrange-
ment, and the fact that Mr. McLean may have
been unaware that his activities were in violation
of the law. While these factors do not excuse Mr.
McLean'’s violations of M.G.L. c. 268A, they do
furnish a basis for our decision to impose less-
than-maximum penalties in this case. Accord-
ingly, we order William G. McLean to:

1. Pay $500.00 (five hundred dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for participat-
ing by voting on a contract involving the Club
for which he served as an officer; for participating
by voting on a contract in which he had a financial
interest, and for participating by voting on a
contract in which a member of his immediate
family had a financial interest in violation of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §19.

2. Pay $250.00 (two hundred fifty dollars)
to the Commisston as a civil penalty for acquiring
a financial interest in a contract made by the
Authority in violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §20.7/

We order Mr. McLean to pay these penalties
totalling $750.00 (seven hundred fifty dollars)
to the Commission within thirty days of receipt of
this Decision and Order.

DATE: January 8, 1982

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

March 9, 1982
The Honorable Kevin H. White
Mayor, City of Boston
City Hall
Boston, MA
Compliance Letter 82-2
Dear Mayor White:
As you are aware, the Commission has con-

ducted a Preliminary Inquiry concerning possible
violations of the state’s conflict of interest law,

/Since we have already assessed penalties under §§189 and 20 for
conduct which also forms the basis of a violation of §25(a), we find no
need to impose a separate penalty for Mr. McLean's violation of §25(a).
See, In the Macter of James J. Craven, Jr., Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 110, Decision and Order (June 18, 1950),

™



G.L. c. 268A, arising out of a birthday party
planned in honor of your wife, Kathryn, by
members of her family for March 27, 1981 at the
Museum of Fine Arts. That Inquiry focused on
allegations that City employees and private in-
dividuals who did business with the City were
solicited to contribute monetary gifts to that
affairs.

Having concluded its Inquiry, the Commis-
sion finds reasonable cause to believe that in
connection with that party you failed to take
actions required by Sections 23(d) and 23(e) of
G.L. c. 268A as those provisions are interpreted
by the Commission. The Commission has de-
termined that an adjudicatory hearing is un-
necessary in this case because there appears no
substantial dispute about the facts essential to
the rulings made herein. Therefore, the Com-
mission has directed that this letter be sent to you
and made public in order to insure future com-
pliance with the law by you and other elected
officials and public employees. That determin-
ation was made primarily in view of the cancel-
lation of the party and return of the monetary
gifts. The Commission also took into consider-
ation the extent to which prior rulings might not
have given you sufficient notice that your conduct
in this matter violated the conflict of interest
law.

The Commission’s Investigative Findings

The Commission’s investigation of the cir-
cumstances surrounding the planning of a birth-
day party for Kathryn White which was scheduled
for March 27, 1981, revealed the following:

1. In January 1981, initial plans and ar-
rangements were made to hold a birthday party
in honor of Kathryn White on March 27, 1981.
The individual primarily responsible for the
party’s organization and planning was Carolyn
Connors, the sister of Kathryn White and a
former consultant to the Kevin White Commit-
tee. The impetus for the party came from the
Galvin family, of which Carolyn and Kathryn
are members. You were informed of the plan to
hold a birthday party for your wife during the
initial stages of its organization, and expressed
your view that a hotel was not an appropriate site,

2. On or about January 30, 1981, Mrs.
Connors and Peggy Dray, a close friend of your
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family, made arrangements with the Museum of
Fine Arts in Boston, to use their facilities for the
March 27th party. At the time that these arrange-
ments were made, the Museum was advised that
approximately 800-1,000 guests would be attend-
ing the affair.

3. During the first two weeks of February
of 1981, Mrs. Connors and Mrs. Dray arranged
to purchase and print 1,500 invitations together
with reply cards and printed envelopes. Those
reply cards included a statement which read “If
you wish to contribute to the birthday gift cele-
bration, make your check payable to the Birth-
day Celebration Committee.” The name “Birth-
day Celebration Committee” (BCC) was adopted
by Carolyn Connors. The BCC address was listed
as 49 Monument Avenue, Charlestown, which is
the residence of Mr. and Mrs. William Galvin,
Sr., the parents of Carolyn Connors and Kathryn
White. Mr. and Mrs. William Galvin, Sr. were
not present in Massachusetts during the months
of January through March of 1981. Reply cards
and contributions mailed to that address were
picked up by Carolyn Connors. Theodore Anza-
lone, Sr., a close friend of your family, and
at that time the Manager of the Hynes Auditor-
ium Commission, paid for the invitations.

4. Carolyn Connors mailed invitations to
the party during the last week in February and
the first week in March of 1981. One of the docu-
ments used by the BCC to draw up the guest list
was a 100 page listing of campaign contributors
to the Kevin White Committee filed with the City
Clerk or. September 17, 1979, by William J.
Galvin, Sr., as campaign treasurer of the Kevin
White Committee.

5. At precinct captain meetings in the City
two ward coordinators announced that they could
obtain “tickets” to the birthday party for anyone
who did not receive a printed invitation and that
invitees could contribute whatever amount they
wished. Further, an undetermined number of in-
dividuals who did not receive invitations con-
tacted your office to obtain invitations and/or
“tickets” to the affair. Those individuals were
referred by your office to the BCC and/or the
Galvin family.



6. Prior to the cancellation of the party
ont March 26, 1981, the BCC had received at least
$122,000 in contributions from 401 contributors.!/
Approximately $110,000 of these funds were re-
ceived from 167 contributors who gave in amounts
of $200 or more. Of the $122,000 in contributions
collected by the BCC, $75,000 was received from
275 contributors who were City employees or
members of their families.2/ An additional
$35,000 came from 75 individuals and businesses
which either did business with or were otherwise
licensed or regulated by the City.®/

7. Approximately 100 of the major con-
tributors (those contributing over $200) to the
BCC were interviewed during the course of the
Commission's investigation. Fifty percent of those
major contributors interviewed were City em-
ployees. Most of those City employees held non-
civil service positions in City departments under
the supervision and control of your Office, were
not personal friends of your wife, had never
attended or been invited to any other parties or
similar functions held in the past for her, and
had never given her any gifts in the past. None
of the City employees interviewed stated that
they were pressured by anyone to make a contri-
bution to the BCC.

Of the 50 private individuals and businesses
who made major contributions to the BCC, and
were interviewed during the investigation, most
did not characterize themselves as personal friends
of your wife, had never attended or been invited
to prior birthday parties or similar functions held
for her, and had never given her any gifts in the
past. Many acknowledged that their only con-
nection with your wife was their relationship with
you and the City, either as a contractor or licensee,
and/or their relationship as contributors to your
past election campaigns.

8. On March 10, 1981, Kathryn White
and Carolyn Connors selected and ordered 500
thank you notes for use after the party.

9. On March 10, 1981, articles appeared
in the Boston Herald American and the Boston
Globe citing unnamed sources alleging that as
many as 1,500 City employees and businessmen
who did business with the City of Boston had
been invited to the birthday party, and that some
pressure was being brought to bear on City em-
ployees for contributions. On March 17, 1981,
you responded to the media attention which had
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focused on this affair, and stated to news re-
porters that you had not heard any credible evi-
dence that City employees were being pressured
to contribute, and that if any such evidence were
brought to your attention “heads would roll.”
You have testified that no one ever came to you
with information or a complaint about such pres-
sure. However, you made no attempts to find out
from the BCC any details concerning who was
being invited to this affair, how those individuals
were being invited, who was involved in the in-
vitation process, or who was soliciting or accept-
ing contributions on behalf of the BCC.

10. On March 26, 1981, the party was
cancelled by the BCC at your request due to
public reports of planned demonstrations and
possible violence at the Museum of Fine Arts. At
the time of the cancellation you announced on
behalf of the Galvin family that the contributions
made to the party would be returned. Sub-
stantially all of the $122,000 in funds known to
have been contributed to the BCC, was returned
during the period May 1, 1981 - June 30, 1981.

11. The Commission’s investigation did
not reveal any evidence that you had direct know-
ledge of the specific individuals who were invited
to this party and/or who were making contri-
butions to it; nor was there any evidence that you
had any personal or substantial role in the plan-
ning and organization of the party. You testified
under oath, during the course of the investigation,
that you were generally aware that the event was
going to be held and of the size of the event, and
that people were contributing or making gifts to
the party. Other than that, you testified that
your only personal involvement in the planning
and organization of the party was your advice at

'/$122,000 in contributions can be documented through bank
records and partial records of the BCC which were obtained by the
Commission during its investigation. However, several individuals
interviewed during the investigation made contributions which were
returned 1o them in the form of their own unnegotiated checks - after
the party was cancelled. These individuals were not listed on the BCC
records as contributors, nor were their contributions reflected in any
bank records. The number of these contributers would be virtually
impossible to determine.

/92 of these individuals made contributions in amounts of $200
or more, totalling §66,000. Twenty-one Department heads and members
of your staff were invited to the party and made comtributions 1o
the BCC.

*/54 of those individuals and businesses contributed in amounts
of $200 or more, totalling $33,000.



an early stage concerning an appropriate site,
and your involvement at the end when you stepped
in to cancel the party because of the public safety
problems that arose. You testified that you did
not know who specifically was invited and who
had contributed. You also testified that you did
not ask Carolyn Connors or anyone else anything
about who was being invited or was contributing
to this affair, and never discussed with her who
should or should not be invited to the party.

The Conflict Law

Section 23 of the conflict of interest law
G.L. c. 268A sets forth standards of conduct for
all public employees and officials. The provisions
of Section 23 establish general guidelines and
principles for the conduct of public servants and
impose certain obligations not generally imposed
on private citizens. Since 1978, when the Com-
mission assumed administrative and civil juris-
diction over the conflict of interest law, the Com-
mission has actively interpreted and enforced the
provisions of §23 at all levels of government.

With respect to this matter, the Commission
finds that your course of conduct regarding the
birthday party planned for your wife was pro-
hibited by Sections 23(d) and (e). Section 23(d)
prohibits a public official from “us[ing] or at-
tempt[ing] to use his official position to secure
unwarranted privileges or exemptions for himself
or others.” Section 23(e) prohibits a public of-
ficial from “by his conduct giv[ing] reasonable
basis for the impression that any person can im-
properly influence or unduly enjoy his favor in
the performance of his official duties.”

You have testified that you were not in-
volved in the details of the plannng of the party,
that you had no specific knowledge of who was
invited or what they contributed, and that you
did not direct that anyone in particular be in-
vited. However, you also testified, you “[were]
aware the event was going to be held and the size
of the event.” You noted that it was “common
knowledge” that “people were contributing or
making gifts to the party.” You were certainly
aware that this was not going to be a private social
gathering in someone’s home. At an early stage
in the planning of the party, you knew it would
be held in a public place. In fact, you expressed
your view to the planners of the party that you
did not think a “hotel” was an “appropriate site.”
You also participated in decisions concerning the
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“security issues” surrounding the party. Moreover,
there were other indications from which you
should have realized the size and scope of the
party. Your wife purchased 500 thank-you notes
before the party. Employees at City Hall with
whom you would be expected to have daily con-
tact were planning to attend or had contributed.
The party had been the subject of much media
attention. Indeed, this attention focused on the
question as to whether City employees were being
pressured to attend and contribute.

Based on the knowledge that you clearly did
have, §§23(d) and (e) imposed certain affirmative
obligations on you with respect to the fundraising
aspects of this affair. The Commission holds:

No public official who controls the
jobs of large numbers of employees and

the awarding of important contracts

with vendors can permit a large event

to be planned that will raise money for

him or any members of his family*/

without making every reasonable effort

to insure that there is neither direct

solicitation of these employees or vendors

nor pressure, either implicit or explicit,

on such employees or vendors to attend

and contribute. In addition, public of-

ficials must instruct those planning

such an event that even unsolicited con-
tributions from employees or vendors
should not be accepted unless the cir-
cumstances make it clear that family

or personal relationships are the moti-

vating factors,

For a public official to do otherwise results
in the “use of his official position to secure un-
warranted privileges . for himself or [his
family].” In the Commission’s view, people will
be likely to contribute because of the importance
of the official’s position rather than any personal
relationship with the family member. Moreaver,
the official creates, “‘a reasonable basis for the
impression” that people attending and contribut-
ing would “unduly enjoy his favor”. The impres-
sion is created that contributors will be rewarded
and non-contributors may even be penalized in
their dealings with government.

#/The Commission's ruling here, of course, does not reiate to
legitimate political fundraisers. Such events are regulated by other
laws. See General Laws Chapter 55.



Indeed, the very abuses that §23 seeks to
avoid were realized in this case. The party was
viewed by many as a fundraiser. In fact, the
guest list was drawn, in part, from the 1979
campaign contributors’ list. The amount of
money collected was dramatically inconsistent
with the party's being a private social or family
affair. Individuals who never met your wife gave
amounts greater than they would be expected to
give their own wife or their own mother, and,
indeed, in some occasions gave the equivalent of
almost a month's salary. Someone holding a major
position of trust in public life must be charged
with sufficient political acumen to realize that
such occurrences are inevitable, and must af-
firmatively act to see that they do not occur.

It is simply not enough to say that you kept
away from direct involvement in the event and
that no one complained to you that they felt
pressured. Such pressure is implicit in the situ-
ation. The same pressure that would lead to their
contributions would preclude their complaining
about it. The kind of “hands off”’ approach you
took is unacceptable and insensitive to the special
obligations imposed on a person in your position.

Disposition

Based on its review of the evidence gathered
during the course of this Preliminary Inquiry,
and its application of the conflict-of-interest law
to that evidence, the Commission has decided
that further enforcement proceedings as regards
your conduct are not required. Rather, the Com-
mission has determined that its interpretation
of §23 of G.L. c. 268A, as applied to the facts
set out above, should be disseminated in the form
of a public compliance letter to serve as notice
to you and to all other public officials and em-
ployees throughout the Commonwealth of the
law's requirements. Any future actions by you or
other public officials or employees inconsistent
with the Comumission’s rulings set out in this
letter will lead to enforcement proceedings, in-
cluding, where appropriate, imposition of civil
penalties.

This matter with respect to your conduct is
now considered close by the Commission. How-
ever, please note that the issuance of a Com-
pliance Letter by the Commission does not pre-
clude any other agency with jurisdiction over

B4

this matter from taking any action it finds appro-
priate. Furthermore, the Commission’s deter-
minations in this regard are based upon the evi-
dence currently before it. This matter may be
reopened at any time if substantial evidence of
other conduct inconsistent with this letter is
brought to its attention.

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION

Robert Greco
General Counsel

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 162
IN THE MATTER
OF

HENRY A. BRAWLEY
DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”) and Henry
A, Brawley (“Mr, Brawley”) pursuant to Section 11
of the Commission's Procedures Covering the In-
itiation and Conduct of Preliminary Inquiries and
Investigations. The parties agree that upon its ex-
ecution this Agreement shall constitute a final order
of the Commission, enforceable in the Superior Court
of the Commonwealth, pursuant to Section 4{d} of
G.L. c. 268B.

On December 22, 1981, the Commission initiated
a Preliminary Inquiry into possible violations of the
Conflict-of-Interest Law, G.L. c. 2684, involving
Mr. Brawley's conduct as Chairman of the Hull
Sewer Commission. The Commission has concluded
its Inquiry into Mr. Brawley's involvement in the
matters set forth in this Agreement, and makes the
following findings of fact and conclusions of law
to which the parties hereto agree:

1. Mr. Brawley was the Chairman of the Per-
manent Hull Sewer Commission from May 21, 1980
until his resignation on July 17, 1981. He was also a



member of the Hull Zoning Board of Appeals, and the
Hull Town Surveyor through July of 1981. In ad-
dition, Mr. Brawley has for many years operated a
private surveying business D/B/A Brawley Associ-
ates.

2. Onor about March 5, 1981, the Town of Hull
entered into a contract with R. J. Delmonico Inec.,
General Contractors, for emergency sewer construe-
tion and repair work. The original amount of that
contract was $10,711.

3. The emergency construction work was per-
formed by the Delmonico company during the
months of March through May of 1981. Because
of difficulties encountered in that work, end the need
for repair work beyond the scope of the original con-
tract, change orders to this contract amounting to
over $40,000 were approved by all the members of
the Sewer Commisison, including Mr., Brawley,
during the term of this contract.

4, During the aforementioned construction,
Mr. Brawley acted as liaison between the Sewer
Commisison, the Board of Selectmen and the con-
tractor. He was often at the construction site moni-
toring the progress of the work, and participating in
decisions relating to the amount and scope of the
work necessary to complete the project.

5. During the period March through May of
1981, Brawley Associates was retained by J. R.
Delmonico, Inc., to do two surveying jobs for it. The
first job took one day in March to complete and Mr.
Brawley received a $200 fee for his work. The second
job took approximately three days in May for Mr.
Brawley and an associate to complete. In return
for his surveying company's work on this second job,
J. R. Delmonico, Ine., provided Mr. Brawley with a
newly paved driveway at no charge.

6. By accepting surveying work from J. R.
Delmonico, Inc., at a time when that company was
performing services under a contract which was
being supervised by the Hull Sewer Commission, Mr.
Brawley violated §23(a) of the Standards of Conduct
set out in G.L. c¢. 268A. Section 23(a) prohibits
municipal employees and officials from accepting pri-
vate employment which would impair their inde-
pendence of judgment in the performance of their
official duties.

7. By participating in decisions of the Sewer
Commission affecting the financial interests of J. R.
Delmenico, Inc., such as change orders, at a time
when he was performing or had an agreement to
perform private surveying work for that same com-
pany, Mr. Brawley violated §19 of G.L. ¢. 268A.

Section 19 prohibits municipal employees and of-
ficials from participating in decisions which affect
the financial interests of businesses for which they
are working, or with whom they are negotiating for
work,

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforcement
proceedings brought on its behalf pursuant to G.L.
c. 268B, on the basis of the following terms and con-
ditions hereby made and agreed to by Mr. Brawley:

1. That Mr. Brawley will pay to the State
Ethics Commission the sum of $1,000 as civil penalty
for violating §§23(a) and 19 of G.L. ¢. 268A; and

2. That Mr. Brawley waives all rights to con-
test findings of fact and conclusions of law in this
or any related judicial or administrative proceedings
in which the State Ethics Commission is a party.

DATE: March 16, 1982

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss: Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 154

IN THE MATTER
OF
GEORGE CUNNINGHAM

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commisison (“Commission") and George
Cunningham (“Mr. Cunningham”) pursuant to
Section 11 of the Commission’s Procedures Covering
the Initiation and Conduct of Preliminary Inquiries
and Investigations. The parties agree that upon its
execution this Agreement shall constitute a final
order of the Commission, enforceable in the Superior
Court of the Commonwealth, pursuant to Section
4(d) of G.L. c. 268B.

On November 10, 1981, the Commission, pur-
suant to §4 of G.L. c. 268B, initiated a Preliminary
Inquiry into possible violations of the Conflict-of-
Interest Law, G.L. c. 2684, involving: (a) Mr. Cun-
ningham’s role as a member of the Billerica Conser-
vation Commission ("BCC"), in the 1981 award of a



BCC contract to the J&G Construction Company;
and (b) Mr. Cunningham's financial interest in a con-
struction company which may have done subeontraet
work on this same BCC contract. The Commission
has concluded its Inquiry into Mr. Cunningham’s in-
volvement in the matters set forth in this Agree-
ment, and makes the following findings of fact and
conclusions of law to which the parties hereto agree:

1. Mr. Cunningham was a member of the BCC
from December, 1975, to November 18, 1981, when
he resigned from the position.

2, At alltimesrelevant to this Agreement, Mr.
Cunningham was the owner of the Greenbriar Con-
struction Company, a sole proprietorship.

3. On September 27, 1980, Mr. Cunningham
married Caren Carbone, who was at that time, and
at all times relevant herein, a partner in the J&G
Construction Company (J&G). J&G was founded in
the Spring of 1980, and as of December 31, 1980, had
not entered into any contracts under that name.

4, During the period from August 27,
1980, through March 4, 1981, Mr. Cunningham par-
ticipated in BCC discussions and decisions relative
to the award of a BCC contract to J&G for the re-
moval of sediment from the Nuttings Lake disposal
basin. The original contract was awarded to Middle-
sex Disposal Services, Inc. Middlesex Disposal de-
faulted in the performance of its agreement with
BCC. On March 4, 1981, Mr. Cunningham moved,
and the BCC voted to award this contract to J&G.
The BCC also decided at that meeting not to require
J&G to immediately post a $10,000 cash bond as
would otherwise have been required.

5. Subsequent to the award of this BCC con-
tract to J&G, Mr. Cunningham acted on J&G's behalf
to negotiate the rental by J&G of trucks and other
heavy equipment from Vinal Construction Company,
for use on the BCC contract. During the period from
approximately May 4 - June 19, 1981, Mr. Cunning-
ham was frequently at the job site supervising the
work for J&G and signing, on J&G's behalf, trucking
slips which acknowledged the number of loads of
sediment removed by Vinal's equpment from the
site. Vinal's bills for the rental of its equipment to
J&G were sent to George Cunningham at his mailing
address in Billerica.
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6. Also during the period of this contract, and
commencing on or about May 15, 1981, Greenbriar
performed subcontract work on this BCC contract
at J&G's request. Payments totalling $5,387.77 were
made by J&G to Greenbriar for this work.

7. On or about June 19, 1981, and continuing
through July 14, 1981, Greenbriar subcontracted
with J&G to remove gravel from the Nuttings Lake
basin. J&G had received permission from the BCC to
remove gravel from the basin floor in order to in-
crease its capacity. Pursuant to its agreement with
J&G, Greenbriar removed gravel from the Nuttings
Lake basin and sold it to the Atom Contracting Cor-
poration (Atom) for $20,855. Greenbriar paid J&G
$5,000 and incurred substantial excavation and
hauling expenses in the removal of the gravel. The
BCC was not advised by J&G of the subcontract
agreement with Greenbriar regarding the gravel.

8. By participating as a member of the BCC in
the award of & contract to J&G, at a time when his
wife was a partner in that company, Mr. Cunning-
ham violated §19 of G.L. c. 268A.

9, By performing work through his company,
Greenbriar, on the BCC contract, as a subeontractor
to J&G, Mr. Cunningham had a financial interest in
a BCC contract in violation of §20 of G.L. ¢. 268A.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforcement
proceedings brought on its behalf pursuant to G.L.
c. 2688, on the basis of the following terms and con-
ditions hereby made and agreed to by Mr. Cunningh-
ham:

1. That Mr. Cunningham will pay to the State
Ethics Commission the sum of $2,000 as civil penalty
for violating §§19 and 20 of G.L. c. 268A; and

2, That Mr. Cunningham waives all rights to
contest the findings of fact and conclusions of law in
this or any related judicial or administrative pro-
ceedings in which the State Ethics Commission is a
party.

DATE: May 6, 1982



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 132

IN THE MATTER
OF
JOHN P. SACCONE
AND
EDMUND W. DELPRETE

Appearances:
John H. Cunha, Jr., Esq.: Counsel for
Petitioner, State Ethics Commission
Donald L. Conn, Esq.: Counsel for Re-
spondent, Edmund W. DelPrete
Robert H. Quinn, Esq.: Counsel for Re-
spondent, John P, Saccone

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch.; Bernstein, Brickman,
McLaughlin, Mulligan.
DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

The petitioner filed an Order to Show Cause
on October 1, 1980, alleging that the Respondent
John P. Saccone had violated Sections 2(b), 3(b),
23(d), 23(e) and 23(f) of M.G.L. Chapter 268A,
the conflict of interest law, and that the Respond-
ent Edmund W. DelPrete had violated Sections
2(a) and 3(a) of the same statute. The Respond-
ents filed Answers which denied any violation of
the aforementioned provisions, and Respondent
Saccone raised defenses based on state and fed-
eral constitutional grounds and other legal
grounds.

Pursuant to notice, evidentiary hearings
were conducted on 27 days starting February 9,
1981 and ending on November 23, 1981,!/ be-
fore Rev. Bernard P. McLaughlin, a member
of the Commission duly designated as presiding
officer. See M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(c). The parties
thereafter filed post-hearing briefs on February
3, 4 and 8, 1982, and orally argued the case on
February 16, 1982 before the full Commission.
In rendering this Decision and Order, each
member of the Commission has heard and/or
read the evidence and arguments presented by
the parties.
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II. Findings of Fact

1. John P. Saccone (Mr. Saccone”) was at
all times relevant herein employed by the Mass-
achusetts Department of Public Safety as a Senior
Civil Engineer assigned to the Life Safety Code
Inspection Unit, and as such was a state employee
within the meaning of Section 1(q) of M.G.L.
chapter 268A.

2. Edmund W. DelPrete (“Mr. DelPrete”)
was at all times relevant herein the President of
North River Nursing Home, Inc., a Massachusetts
business corporation, which owns and operates
the North River Nursing Home located at 35
Washington Street, Pembroke, Massachusetts.

5. The North River Nursing Home at all
times relevant herein has been licensed by the
Massachusetts Department of Public Health as
an Intermediate Care Facility and has had to
comply with the Federal Life Safety Code and
State Physical Environment Standards (herein-
after collectively referred to as the “State and
Federal Standards”).

4, Mr. Saccone’s official duties as an em-
ployee of the Life Safety Code Inspection Unit
include conducting periodic surveys of nursing
homes to ensure compliance with the State and
Federal Standards, and filing reports that detail
whether each nursing home surveyed is in com-
pliance with those Standards.

5. The Life Safety Code Inspection Unit
has existed since September, 1973.

6. State Building Inspector Thomas J. Carr
conducted the first survey of North River Nursing
Home on March 11 and 12, 1975. This initial
survey cited the home for numerous violations of
the State and Federal Standards.

7. Sometime between March 12, 1975 and
May 12, 1975, Mr. Saccone was assigned respon-
sibility for surveying the North River Nursing
Home.

8. On or about May 12, 1975, the Life
Safety Code Inspection Unit received a form
entitled “Statement of Deficiencies and Plan of
Correction,” signed by Mr. DelPrete, in which he
requested that the Massachusetts Department of
Public Health waive violations of a State Standard
that were cited by Inspector Carr in his survey
report on March 11 and 12, 1975.

!/Hearing dates were February 9 and 10, March 28, 25 and 31,
April 13 and 21, May 1, 11, 21 and 26, June 2, 3, 18 and 19, July
%0 and 31, August 13, 14 and 24, September 18 and 24, October 14
and 15, and November 19, £3 and 25.



9. On May 12, 1975, Mr. Saccone, in an
official document, recommended that the Mass-
achusetts Department of Public Health grant the
waiver requested by Mr. DelPrete.?/

1¢. On July 7 and 8, 1975, Mr. Saccone
surveyed the North River Nursing Home.

11. Subsequent to his survey of July 7 and
8, 1975, Mr. Saccone filed reports with the Life
Safety Code Inspection Unit, which reports pur-
portedly detailed the compliance or non-com-
pliance of North River Nursing Home with the
State and Federal Standards.

12. In the reports he filed subsequent to
his survey of July 7 and 8, 1975, Mr. Saccone
reported that the North River Nursing Home
had complied with several of the State and Fed-
eral Standards when in fact material violations
of those Standards existed. Specifically, he re-
ported that corridor widths and smoke barriers
were in compliance with Federal Standards of
Fire Safety, and that the facility provided adeguate
dining facilities in accordance with State Stand-
ards for Physical Environment, when such was
not the case.

The Commission bases this finding primarily
upon the January, 1975 survey reports of Mr.
Carr, the July, 1975 survey reports of Mr. Saccone,
the December, 1979 survey reports of Stanley
Grass, and the testimony of Stanley Grass and
John Chleapas.

Mr. Carr’s 1975 fire safety survey report
noted in a general way that corridors were not
the required 48" wide, and Mr. Grass’ 1979 sur-
vey noted 5 specific areas in which this deficiency
existed. Mr. Chleapas, an expert witness, testified
that in his opinion there were improper corridor
widths in 1980 and that in his opinion some of
them had existed from 1975 to 1980 (when he
saw the facility). While the Commission acknow-
ledges that some of the deficiencies seen by Mr.
Chleapas in 1980 may have occurred subsequent
to Mr. Saccone’s inspection of July, 1975, namely
when the nursing home was renovated and a new
corridor created, there is sufficient evidence in
the record to support a finding that at least one
of these deficiencies existed when Mr. Saccone
inspected the nursing home in July, 1975. Further,
the Commission notes that this requirement was
material in that it related in a crucial way to fire
safety, specifically to whether a corridor's width
would accommodate the convenient remnoval of
non-ambulatory persons carried on stretchers
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or on mattresses serving as stretchers in the event
of a fire,

Similarly, the absence of an adequate smoke
barrier was noted by Mr. Carr in early 1975, by
Mr. Grass in 1979 and by Mr. Chleapas in 1980.
The Commission finds support in the record to
infer that some type of smoke barrier was erected
after Mr. Carr’s survey; however, Mr. Chleapas
testified that there was no evidence of such a
barrier ever having existed in interstitial spaces
or in the attic area and thus the barrier, if one
existed, still did not satisfy federal fire safety
requirements. Again, the existence of this feature
was not simply a physical amenity but a necessary
component to prevent fire spread, and thus it
was material.

With respect to the lack of a dining area,
both Mr. Carr’s earlier physical environment re-
port and Mr. Grass' 1979 report state there was
no dining room provided, and even Mr. Saccone’s
January, 1976 report stated that this requirement
was not met. The Commission, considering the
entire record, finds that the nursing home claimed
to use an enclosed, unheated, approximately
6-foot wide porch as a dining facility at times,
and that it fell short of the State Standards; and
that although the “multipurpose” room may also
have been used as a dining facility, it neverthe-
less also fell short of State Standards, based on
the testimony of Messrs. Grass and Chleapas and
related exhibits.?/

13. From October 3, 1975, to October 12,
1975, Mr. Saccone and Mr. DelPrete traveled to
Rome, Italy, with other members and guests of
the Ancient and Honorable Artillery Company
(the “"Company”), of which Mr. DelPrete was a
member, on a Company-sponsored trip.

t/However, the rooms included in the waiver recommended by
Mr. Saccane did not completely correspond to those cited by Mr. Carr.
The waiver recommendation will be [urther discussed in the Decision
Section, infra, ILI{C)!).

1/In making these findings, and similar ones regarding later survey
reports, the Commission acknowledges that evidence was presented
on many maore alleged unreported deficiencies. However, the findings
are confined to those here enumerated for several reasons: (a) they are
those which the Commission considers among the most marerial; (b) they
are generally not the subject of arguably shifting standards or, if so,
they did not meet any of the standards applied: (c) there is substantial
evidence in support of them, while evidence on other alleged deficiencies
is Jess persuasive; and (d} the Commission considers it unnecessarily
cumulative to include in its findings every possible instance of misreporting.

Because of the substantial evidence supporting these findings and
a desire to avoid further cumulative evidence of questionable relevance,
the Commission denies Petitioner's motion to admit the 1981 surveys
of the North River Nursing Home into evidence.
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14. On January 13 and 14, 1976, Mr.
Saccone again surveyed the North River Nursing
Home,

15. Subsequent to his survey of January
13 and 14, 1976, Mr. Saccone filed reports with
the Life Safety Code Inspection Unit, which re-
ports purportedly detailed the compliance or
non-compliance of North River Nursing Home
with the State and Federal Standards.

16. In the reports he filed subsequent to
his survey of January 13 and 14, 1976, Mr. Sac-
cone reported that the North River Nursing
Home had complied with several of the State and
Federal Standards when in fact material violations
of those Standards existed. Specifically, he re-
ported that corridor widths and smoke barriers
were in compliance with Federal Standards of
Fire Safety when such was not the case.

The Commission bases this finding primarily
upon the January, 1975 fire safety report of Mr.
Carr, the January, 1976 fire safety report of Mr.
Saccone, the 1979 fire safety report of Mr. Grass,
and the testimony of Messrs. Grass and Chleapas.
As in Finding No. 12, the Commission deems
there is sufficient evidence to support a finding
that these deficiencies existed when Mr. Saccone
inspected the nursing home in January, 1976,
and that these deficiencies were material.

17. On or about July 15, 1976, Mr. Del-
Prete paid $400 by check to the Company as a
down payment for himself and Mr. Saccone for
a Company-sponsored trip to Rio de Janeiro,
Brazil.

The Commission bases this finding primarily
on a cancelled check written by Mr. DelPrete,
dated 7/9/76, in the amount of $400, payable to
the Company; on the ledger page of the Com-
pany's account book which contains entries docu-
menting payments received on 7/15/76, and in-
cludes consecutive entries showing $200 each re-
ceived on behalf of Messrs. DelPrete and Saccone
on that date as first payment for the trip; on the
testimony of Lewis Whittemore, the Company’s
Executive Secretary, who made the aforemention-
ed entries and testified that Mr. DelPrete gave
him the deposit and would have given him Mr.
Saccone’s name in connection therewith in order
for it to be entered; and on the testimony of
Donald Dunbar, vice president and keeper of the
records of Plymouth Home National Bank, on
which the cancelled check was drawn, which
testimony authenticated the check and verified

its payment.
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Neither Mr. Saccone nor Mr. DelPrete testi-
fied; their most direct statements in the record
on this point are their interrogatory answers,
which were admitted as exhibits. The Commission
is not persuaded by Mr. DelPrete’s statement,
that the payment in question was made for him-
self and a Fr. Repole, since it is clearly contro-
verted by the Company's ledger, and was also
rebutted by Fr, Repole on the stand. Although it
is unnecessary in view of the evidence just de-
scribed, the Commission would also be warranted
in drawing an inference, unfavorable to Respond-
ents, based on their failure to testify.

18. On or about September 7, 1976, Mr. -
DelPrete paid $1,348 by check to the Company,
of which $599 was for his own and $749 was for
Mr, Saccone’s final payment for the trip to Rio
de Janeiro, Brazil. '

The Commission bases this finding primarily
on copies of a cancelled check written by Mr.
DelPrete, dated 9/8/76, in the amount of $1,348,
to the Company; on the ledger page of the Com-
pany’s account book which contains entries docu-
menting payments received on 9/7/76, and in-
cludes consecutive entries showing $599 received
on behalf of Mr. DelPrete and $749 received on
behalf of Mr. Saccone on that date, by way of
one check, as second payment for the trip; on the
testimony of Joseph Kreas, Paymaster of the
Company, who made the aforementioned entries
and testified that one check covered both of them:
and on the testimony of Donald Dunbar, who
authenticated the cancelled check and verified
its payment.

In his interrogatory answer 5(e), Mr. DelPrete
admitted that this payment was made on behalf
of himself and Mr. Saccone.

19. Mr. Saccone did not fully repay Mr.
DelPrete for the trip to Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

The Commission is not persuaded by Mr.
Saccone’s statement to investigator Karen
Schwartzman, to which she testified, that he
repaid Mr. DelPrete $550 in cash out of a Ply-
mouth Savings Bank savings account withdrawal
of $705 in October, 19764/; rather, the Com-
mission credits the testimony of Robert Tracy,
assistant treasurer and keeper of the records of

4/He also told Ms. Schwartzman that he had paid Mr. DelPrete
$250 in cash several weeks before this transaction, according to Ms,
Schwartzman's testimony. The Commission finds it unnecessary to de
termine the truth of Mr. Saccone’s statement on this point. See I11(C)
(2}, infra.



that bank, who testified that $§505 of that with-
drawal was used to purchase traveler's checks
and only $200 was taken by Mr. Saccone in the
form of cash. A withdrawal order and receipts
from the purchase of traveler's checks, produced
and authenticated by Mr. Tracy, document the
transactions to which he testified and refute Mr.
Saccone’s statement. In part because of this re-
futation, the Commission also does not credit
Mr. Saccone’s interrogatory answer to the effect
that he paid Mr. DelPrete for the trip in cash
from time to time in August and September,
1976, on bingo nights and [at] social functions,
with cash he had on hand or cash from his savings
account. A copy of the relevant pages of the
savings account passbook, produced by Mr. Sac-
cone and admitted into evidence, shows no other
withdrawals during the relevant period besides
that testified to by Mr. Tracy. The Commission
also draws an inference unfavorable to Mr. Sac-
cone because of his failure to testify, and the in-
consistencies in his statements.

The Commission is likewise unpersuaded by
statements of Mr, DelPrete on this issue. Investi-
gator James F. Sullivan testified that Mr. DelPrete
told him that he (DelPrete) paid for Mr. Saccone’s
trip and his own in cash and that Mr. Saccone
repaid him in cash. The first part of that state-
ment was contradicted by the evidence outlined
in Findings No. 17 and 18, and also by Mr. Del-
Prete’s own interrogatory answer to the effect
that he paid for the trip by check. The Commis-
sion also rejects Mr. DelPrete’s interrogatory
answer with respect to the form of Mr. Saccone’s
repayment to him, namely that Mr. Saccone
gave him $410 cash on 8/12/76 and $321 cash
on 8/27/76, both of which Mr, DelPrete said he
(DelPrete) desposited in account no. 207541-5
at the Plymouth Home National Bank. The
Commission instead credits the testimony of Mr.
Dunbar of that bank. He testified that the de-
posits made to that account on those two dates
consisted of checks, not cash, and he produced
copies of the deposit tickets and some of the de-
posited checks, none of which bore Mr. Saccone’s
name. In addition to the internal contradictions
in Mr. DelPrete’s statement and their refutation
by Mr. Dunbar, the Commission’s finding is
justified by an unfavorable inference to be drawn
as a result of Mr. DelPrete’s failure to testify.

20. Mr. DelPrete paid, in whole or in part,
for Mr. Saccone’s 1976 trip to Rio de Janeiro,
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Brazil, for or because of official acts performed
or to be performed by Mr. Saccone, namely Mr.
Saccone's surveys, survey reports and recommend-
ations for the certification of the North River
Nursing Home.

The Commission bases this finding upon
compelling inference. In doing so, it rejects the
argument of Respondents’ counsel that the moti-
vation for the joint trip was a longstanding friend-
ship between Messrs. Saccone and DelPrete. Not
only was no direct testimony of such friendship
introduced, but the Respondents’ descriptions
of their social relationship, contained in their
interrogatory answers, were inconsistent with
each other. They did agree however that they
had never before exchanged gifts, nor traveled
together until 1975.

The Commission’s inference here derives
from (a) the lack of evidence of friendship; (b} the
inconsistent statements of Respondents on that
issue; (c) their failure to testify; (d) the unques-
tionable fact that, as of May, 1975, when the
exchange of official documents between Messrs.
Saccone and DelPrete relating to North River
Nursing Home began, they were each aware that
Mr. Saccone had regulatory authority over North
River Nursing Home, and that this authority
continued until at least 1978, when Mr, Saccone
made his last survey visit to the home; and (e) the
fact that their trips together started the same year
that Mr. Saccone assumed this regulatory au-
thority.

21, From September 28, 1976, until Oc-
tober 9, 1976, Messrs. Saccone and DelPrete
traveled to Rio de Janeiro, Brazil with other
members and guests of the Company, on a Com-
pany-sponsored trip.

22. Mr. Saccone performed additional
surveys of the North River Nursing Home on
December 15 and 16, 1976, December 21 and
22,1977, and December 27 and 28, 1978.

23. Subsequent to his surveys of December
15 and 16, 1976, December 21 and 22, 1977,
and December 27 and 28, 1978, Mr. Saccone
filed reports with the Life Safety Code Inspection
Unit, which reports purportedly detailed the
compliance or non-compliance of North River
Nursing Home with the State and Federal Stand-
ards.

24. In the reports noted above in paragraph
23, Mr. Saccone reported that the North River
Nursing Home had complied with several of the
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State and Federal Standards when in fact material
violations of those Standards existed.
Specifically, in his report on the December
15 and 16, 1976 survey, he reported that corridor
widths and smoke barriers were in compliance
with Federal Standards for Fire Safety, when
such was not the case. The Commission bases this
finding on Mr. Saccone’s fire safety survey report
and on the same evidence recited in Findings No.
12 and 16. Similarly, in his reports on the De-
cember 21 and 22, 1977 and December 27 and
28, 1978 surveys, Mr. Saccone reported that
corridor widths and smoke barriers were in com-
pliance with Federal Standards for Fire Safety,
when such was not the case; he also reported that
there were adequate dining facilities to meet
State Standards when in fact there were not.
III. Decision
Respndent DelPrete has been charged with
violating M.G.L. c. 268A, §§2(a) and 3(a). Re-
spondent Saccone has been charged with vio-
lating M.G.L. c. 268A, §§2(b), 3(b) and 23(d),
(e) and (f). These charges will be addressed sep-
arately, First, however, the Commission will
address certain constitutional and other legal
issues raised by the Respondents.

A. Constitutional Issues

1. Combination of Investigatory, Pro-
secutorial and Adjudicatory Functions

In the course of these proceedings, Respond-
ents have alleged that their due process rights
under the federal and Massachusetts constitu-
tions are violated by virtue of the organization
and procedures of the State Ethics Commisison,
in which investigatory, prosecutorial and adjudi-
catory functions are combined in one agency.
The Commission rejects this argument as one
which is well settled in both federal and Mass-
achusetts case law. As the Commission has pre-
viously stated, in its opinion In the Matter of
George A. Michael, Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 137 (issued September 28, 1981),
the constitutional validity of such a combination
has been upheld by both the United States Su-
preme Court, in Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S.
35 (1975), and by the Massachusetts Appeals
Court in School Committee of Stoughton v.
Labor Relations Commission, 4 Mass. App. Ct.
262 (1976); in addition, Withrow has been cited
and applied by the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial
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Court in the case of Dwyer v. Commissioner of
Insurance, 375 Mass. 227 (1978). In George A.
Michael v. State Ethics Commission, Superior
Ct. No. 47401 (Ronan, J.), affirmed, Mass. App.
Ct. No. 81-0077-CV (April 3, 1981, Armstrong,
J.), the Superior Court cited with approval the
Withrow decision, in refusing to grant injunctive
relief to a Respondent then before the Commis-
sion; both upper and lower courts also cited the
Opinion of the Justices, 375 Mass, 795 (1978),
an opinion which was rendered to the Massa-
chusetts Senate prior to the passage of M.G.L.
c. 268B (the statute which created the Commis-
sion), and which noted no constitutional defect
in the statutory scheme under the Massa-
chusetts constitution.

2. The Characterization of these Pro-
ceedings as Civil, Quasi-Criminal or Criminal,
and the Constitutional Protections Afforded
Thereby.

Respondents have argued that the proceed-
ings in this matter are quasi-criminal or criminal,
and thus that they warrant a higher standard of
proof than “preponderance of the evidence,” and
other safeguards such as Miranda warnings and
the exclusionary rule.

The Commission affirms the characterization
of these proceedings as civil in nature. In doing
s0, it notes that it has the power to assess only
civil or regulatory sanctions under M.G.L. c. 268B
§4(d). The form of Commission proceedings is
clearly administrative and civil, as well. In the
Opinion of the Justices, supra at 819, the Su-
preme Judicial Court ruled that the imposition of
the contemplated penalties by the State Ethics
Commission would not violate Article 12 of the
Massachusetts Constitution, because it did not
appear that a purpose of the proposed law was to
punish the commission of a crime through the
imposition of a penalty. Rather, with the enact-
ment of M.G.L. c. 268B, the legislature created
a civil remedy to enforce the regulatory aims of
M.G.L. c. 268A, and entrusted the Commission
with such enforcement; the Attorney General
remains responsible for enforcing the punitive
sanctions.

The Commission finds that the Respondents’
reliance upon Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418
(1979), as support for engrafting a higher burden
of proof onto these proceedings, is misplaced.



In that case, the proceeding involved the invol-
untary commitment of a person to a state mental
institution for an indefinite period of time; the
degree to which such person’s liberty could be
curtailed as a result of that proceeding is clearly
distinguishable from the sanctions which may be
invoked in these proceedings. The Commission
therefore maintains that the standard of proof
appropriate to these proceedings is that used in
other civil cases, namely, a preponderance of the
evidence.

Where, as here, the proceedings and pos-
sible sanctions are clearly civil, the Commission
is not required to follow the procedures outlined
in Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)
and give warnings to those under investigation.
Further, even if these proceedings were quasi-
criminal or criminal, it is well settled that the
Miranda decision only applies where interro-
gation occurs during custody or while an in-
dividual'’s freedom of action is curtailed. See, e.g.,
Beckwith v. United States, 425 U.S. 341 (1976);
United States v. Mueller, 510 E2d 1116 (CA5
1975) (statements made by defendant to investi-
gator during “informal conversation”); United
States v. Carollo, 507 E2d 50 (CA5 1975), reh
den (CA5) 510 F.2d 1407 and cert den 423 U.5.
874 (statements made by defendant at his place
of business); Taglianetti v. United States, 398
F.2d 558, 566 (CAl 1968) affirmed on another
ground, 394 U.S. 316 (1969). In this case, neither
Respondent was ever in custody nor under any
constraint when giving information which was
later used at the hearing. Mr. Saccone voluntarily
came to the Petitioner's offices to be interviewed
informally, and also produced documents vol-
untarily; Mr. DeiPrete was at his own place of
business when he spoke with a Commission in-
vestigator who had come there to serve a summons
for records, and voluntarily produced documents
and gave other information forthwith rather
than waiting until the return date on the sum-
mons, Neither federal nor Massachusetts courts
have extended the Miranda requirements to
such situations. See Commonwealth v. Rawlins,
352 Mass. 293 (1967).

Because these proceedings are civil, not
criminal, in nature, the exclusionary rule is like-
wise inapplicable. Simply because the Commis-
sion is authorized to refer to the Attorney General
evidence which may be used in a crimninal pro-
ceeding, suppression of evidence is not warranted
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in this proceeding. Rather, a motion to suppress
might be appropriate in the context of a criminal
proceeding which resulted, were the allegedly
tainted evidence to be introduced in that forum.
The case at issue here is further distinguishable
in that it has been testified that the material
turned over to the Attorney General during the
investigation of this case related not to the charges
here, but to a separate matter.

Although the Miranda decision is inappli-
cable to these proceedings, the Commission ack-
nowledges that a standard of fairness should
guide its investigations and proceedings. Such a
standard must necessarily be analyzed in light of
the particular circumstances of each case. In this
case, given that the allegedly “tainted” evidence
was obtained through a voluntary interview of
Mr. Saccone, and from information voluntarily
disclosed by Mr. DelPrete at his own place of
business during the service of a summons, the
Commission finds that the introduction of such
evidence was not unfair.

3. Other Constitutional Issues

Respondent Saccone raised several other
constitutional defenses in his Answer which he
did not pursue further in his brief, namely that
M.G.L. c. 268A is unconstitutionally vauge and
that the proceedings are fundamentally unfair.
The Commission rejects these contentions.

With respect to the alleged vagueness, the
Commission considers the substantive provisions
of M.G.L. c. 268A (§§2-22) to be adequately
specific to put Respondents on notice as to what
behavior is proscribed. In particular, Sections 2
and 3, under which Respondents have here been
charged, are closely patterned after federal con-
flict of interest laws, 18 U.S.C.A. §§201(b), (c)
(1), (F) and (g), which have been upheld against
allegations of vaugeness. See e.g., United States
v. Irwin, (CA2 1965) 354 F.2d 192, 196-197,
cert den 383 U.S. 980 (1978) (interpreting §201
(f). M.G.L. c. 2684, §23(a-f) states in the ab-
stract the standards of conduct which the rest of
the statute attempts to accomplish by laying
down concrete prohibitions; yet the section ranges
beyond what is specifically prohibited elsewhere
in the act. Buss, The Massachusetts Conflict of
Interest Statue: An Analysis, 45 B.U.L. Rev.
299, 307 (1965). The fact that the prohibitions
are stated generally is not fatal; the vagueness



doctrine should not be used to convert into a con-
stitutional delimma the practical difficulty of
drawing a statute both general enough to take
into account a variety of human conduct and
sufficiently specific to issue fair warning that cer-
tain kinds of conduct are prohibited. Colten v.
Kentucky, 407 U.S. 104 at 110 (1972). A Re-
spondent cannot seek to prove vaugeness by sug-
gesting hypothteical cases taken from the peri-
pheral areas of a statute’s scope, but must show
that, as applied to his own case, the statute was
so vauge and uncertain that he was not presented
with an ascertainable standard of guilt. United
States v, Irwin, supra, at 196. Here, Mr. Saccone
has failed to do so.

With respect to the alleged fundamental
unfairness of the proceedings, the Commission
refers to the rulings made elsewhere in this De-
cision section and by the presiding officer at the
hearing as dispositive of those specific issues
raised by Mr. Saccone relating to the issue of
fairness. To the extent that his claim may relate
to other unspecified instances not pursued by
his brief, the Commission declines to rule on
them further.5/

B. Other Legal Issues

1. Statute of Limitations

In his Answer, Respondent Saccone raised
the statute of limitations as a defense to this
action, without further specifying what he con-
sidered to be the applicable limitation period,
nor in what respect he considered it to have
expired. The Petitioner did not affirmatively
respond to this defense in any supplemental
pleading, nor introduce any evidence specifically
directed toward it, and none of the parties ad-
dressed the issue in briefs or during oral argument
before the full Commission. Because of the po-
tential importance of the issue, during its de-
liberations the Commission requested that the
parties submit memoranda of law on the question
of which statute of limitation should be applied
to this proceeding.®/

Since the adoption of M.G.L. c. 268B in
1978, the Massachusetts courts have not had oc-
casion to rule on the question of which statute
of limitations applies to adjudicatory proceedings
before the Commission. However, in 1979 the
Supreme Judicial Court issued an opinion in
Nantucket v. Beinecke, 1979 Mass. Adv. Sh.
2623, which gives some guidance on the issue.
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That case involved a civil action brought under
M.G.L. c. 268A, §21, by the Town of Nantucket,
to recover real property which had been conveyed
by several town officials, allegedly in violation of
c. 268A, §§19 and 20. The defendant, to whom
one of the officials had conveyed the property
approximately eleven years before the suit was
brought, moved dismissal of the case on the
ground that the statute of limitations had run.
The court rejected the plaintiff's contention that
the absence of a limitation provision in c. 268A
indicated that no limitatin applied. Instead, the
court looked to “the gist of the action or the es-
sential nature of the plaintiff’s claim” and con-
cluded that the particular action at bar, which
concerned a violation of official duty, sounded
in tort. Id. at 2626.7/

Looking at the “gist of the action” here, the
Commission considers the conduct at issue in this
case, i.e., the misuse of official position, to be a
breach of duty, sounding in tort, as well. While
the relationship of a public employee to his em-
ployer is at its foundation a contractual one, the
obligations assumed by the employee go beyond
those in an ordinary express or implied contract
and encompass a broader assumption of public
trust, more analogous to a fiduciary relationship.
Many judicial decisions involving misconduct by
public employees similar to that alleged here
have used a fiduciary analysis:

. . . If he takes any gift, gratuity,

or benefit in violation of his duty, . . . it

is a betrayal of his trust and a breach of

confidence, and he must account to his

principal for all he has received.
The doctrine is well-established. . .

The disability results not from the sub-

ject-matter but from the fiduciary

character of the one against whom it is

applied. United States v. Carter, 217

U.S. 286, 306 (1909).

*/Ta the extent that Respondents’ Motions to Dismiss, Motion to
Strike, and Motions to Suppress were based on alleged constitutional
deficiencies, they are hereby denied, in accordznce with the conclusions
reached in the foregoing section,

*/With his memorandum, Mr. DelPrete submitted a motion to
amend his Answer to include the defense. The Commission’s ruling
in effect treats the issue as if raised by both Respondents.

/The court acknowledged that some vialations of the conflict of
interest law, c. 268A, might also sound in contract, but it declined to
pursue the argument, For reasons specified below, the Commission also
declines such a ruling here.



See, also, United States v. Podell, 572 F.2d 31
(CAZ 1978); United States v. Bowen, 290 F.2d
40 (CA5 1961); United States v. Eilberg, 507 F,
Supp. 267 (E.D. Pa. 1980). Indeed, the conflict
of interest law can be viewed as a codification
of fiduciary principles applicable to public em-
ployees. For these reasons, the Commission will
apply a tort statute of limitations to this action,
namely three years (M.G.L. c. 260 §2A).

There are additional reasons for this con-
clusion. Because it views its enforcement role as
civil, and not criminal or penal, the Commission
declines to adopt the limitation period applicable
to criminal actions®/ (sic years, M.G.L. c. 277
§63) or to forfeitures or penalties (two years,
M.G.L. c. 260 §5) as a standard for its causes
of action. While it is possible that another set of
facts not now before the Commission might sound
more properly in contract than tort, given the
particular facts of this case, the Commission
declines to use a contract theory, leaving open
the possibility that a contractual analysis might
be appropriate in other cases.

In applying a three-year statute of limit-
ations, one must look to see when that period
starts to run, and whether any circumstances
warrant the tolling of the statute. The limit-
ations period commences to run when the cause
of action accrues, usually the completion of the
last act which gives rise to the cause of action.
New Bedford v. Lloyd Investment Associates,
Inc., 363 Mass. 112, 119 (1973). However, in
causes of action which are based upon an “in-
herently unknowable” wrong, a discovery rule
has been applied, under which the cause of action
has not been held to accrue until the plaintiff
learned, or reasonably should have learned, that
he was harmed by the defendant’s conduct. See,
e.g., Franklin v, Albert, 1980 Mass. Adv. Sh.
2187; Friedman v. Jablonski, 371 Mass. 482
(1976); Hendrickson v. Sears, 365 Mass. 83
(1974). In the context of a civil action brought
under M.G.L. c. 268A, the Supreme Judicial
Court in Beinecke applied a discovery rule,
stating

[W]e suggest, as a general pro-
position, that only when those disinter-
ested persons who are capable of acting

on behalf of the town knew or should

have known of the wrong, should the

town be charged with such knowledge.®/
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Besides the common law discovery rule ap-
plicable to inherently unknowable wrongs, there
is also a statutory discovery rule applicable in
certain situations. M.G.L. c. 260, §12 delays
the start of the period in cases where

a person liable to a personal action
fraudulently conceals the cause of such
action from the knowledge of the person
entitled to bring it

in which case the period starts to run when the
latter person discovers the cause of action. Never-
theless, this rule has been interpreted strictly by
Massachusetts courts to cover only those situ-
ations where there is evidence that the conceal-
ment was accomplished “by positive acts done
with the intention to deceive . . . [by] active steps
taken . . . not merely constructive concealment
[but] active fraud of a kind calculated to conceal
the truth.”1%/ The fraud cannot be presumed?!!/
and ordinarily a defendant’s mere silence or fail-
ure to inform a plaintiff of the facts is not fraud-
ulent concealment.'?/ An exception, in which
the courts construe silence about one’s wrong-
doing to be active fraud and thus gounds for
tolling the statute of limitations, has been made
where the wrongdoer’s relationship to the wronged
is one of a trust or fiduciary nature and there is
a great disparity in expertise or knowledge which
would render plaintiff's discovery of the wrong
nearly impossible, or where there is some other
specific duty to disclose the matter,13/

*/Ci. Commonwealth v. Canon, 373 Mass. 494 (1877) (assumncs
the six-year limit is applicable to ¢riminal prosecutions under M.G.L.
c. 268A).

*/1979 Mass. Adv. Sh. at 2628, That casc applied a discovery rule
because Town Counsel, who would ordinarily bring suit on the town’'s
behalf, was one of the wrongdoers involved. In some cases, the running
of the statutory period is affected by the existence of a “continuing
violation,” sce, e.g. United States v. Hare, 618 F.2d 1085 (CA4 1980).
but the Commission considers that theory inapplicable here.

1*/Savoie v. Anezis, 55 Mass. App. Dee. 55 (1974), citing, in part,
Connelly v. Bartlett, 286 Mass. 311 (1934).

""/Maloney v. Brackett, 275 Mass. 479 (1931).

1/’ Brien v. McSherry, 222 Mass. 147, 150(1915).

"/Hendrickson v, Sears, supra (lawyer hired to perform title
search owes client 2 full and fair disclosure of facts, i.e._ clouds on title,
material to the client’s interests); Stetson v. French, 321 Mass, 195 (1947)
(businessman who employed two illiterate younger brothers had duy
to account to them for withheld wages). Compare Friedman v. Jablonski,
supra (sale of land is arm's length transaction; seller is not a fiduciary
and his silence cannot constitute fraudulent concealment); Savoic v.
Anezis, supra (plumber not required to disclose faulty work to customer).



The Commission will apply the foregoing
principles to the facts found to ascertain whether
Respondents in this case have violated M.G.L.
c. 268A as alleged by Petitioner.!4/

2. Alleged Failure to Comply with Dis-
covery Motions

Respondents have moved these proceedings
be dismissed based upon Petitioner’s alleged fail-
ure to produce documents called for during dis-
covery. Such alleged failures fall into several
categories which will be discussed separately.

a. At the commencement of hearings on
this matter, it was discovered that Petitioner in-
tended to introduce into evidence certain docu-
ments which had not previously been provided
to Respondents and which were arguably within
the latters’ discovery requests. The parties agreed
that such non-production was inadvertent, and
Petitioner supplied the documents in question to
Respondents forthwith; after the production,
there was a six-week recess in the hearing, in part
to allow Respondents adequate time to analyze
what was produced, and adjust their presentation
accordingly. In view of this accommodation, the
Commission does not consider Respondents to
have been prejudiced by the non-production,
and rules that dismissal is not warranted thereby.
Even if these proceedings were governed strictly
by the Massachusetts Rules of Civil Procedures
(which they are not), M.R.C.P. Rule 37, which
addresses failure to comply with a discovery
order, does not require dismissal but states that
a court may make such orders as are just, includ-
ing a stay of proceedings until a discovery order
is obeyed. The Commission notes that its actions
in the case at hand are consonant with the pur-
poses of such a rule.

b. In the course of discovery, certain in-
vestigative materials were not produced in their
entirety, but rather with certain portions deleted.
These documents were primarily interview re-
ports and a letter of complaint. Petitioner repre-
sented to the presiding officer that the omitted
material related to other investigative matters
not at issue in these proceedings. The presiding
officer, in turn, offered to inspect the documents
in camera to confirm that such was the case, but
such offer was refused by Respondents.

The Commission notes that under M.G.L.
c. 2688, §4(a), “all commission proceedings and
records relating to a preliminary inquiry shall be
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confidential,” and that §7 provides criminal pen-
alties for violation of such confidentiality. While
Respondents would arguably be entitled to
records concerning inquiry into their own actions,
the Commission finds that they are not so entitled
to documentation relating to alleged improprie-
ties of others, which under the statute is privileged.
In addition, even M.R.C.P. Rule 26(b)(1) limits
discoverable material to that which is relevant
and not privileged. In view of Petitioner’s repre-
sentation that the material here in question re-
lated to other investigations and was therefore
irrelevant and privileged (and Respondents’ re-
fusal to allow the presiding officer the means
to determine the truth of that representation),
the Commission sees no reason to allow discovery
of such material, and affirms the prior rulings
of the presiding officer in this regard.

c. The Respondents also objected to the
non-production of certain reports from inter-
views of individuals whom Petitioner did not call
to testify. The Commission notes such non-pro-
duction would be justifiable under the “work-
product” exemption in M.R.C.P. 26(b)(3), and
considers their non-disclosure appropriate in this
administrative context as well. !5/

8. Admissibility of Statements or Docu-
ments of One Respondent Against a Co-Re-
spondent

These proceedings are governed by the Rules
of Practice and Procedure, 930 CMR 1.01 et seq.,
which state that evidence is admissible if relevant,
not privileged, and “the kinds of evidence on
which reasonable persons are accustomed to rely
in the conduct of sertous affairs.” (930 CMR
1.01(9)(£)(2))-

In the course of the hearings, Respondents
objected to the introduction of written or oral
statements of one Respondent for use against
both Respondents because, they maintained, no
conspiratorial allegations had been made. In an
effort to accord Respondents as much protection
as possible, the presiding officer initially allowed
such objections and limited the admissibility of

14/Given the facts of this case, the Commission finds it unnecessary
at this time to decide whether issuance of a Preliminary Inquiry notice
or issuance of an Order to Show Cause constitutes the initiation of
proceedings.

13/To the extent that Respondents’ Motions to Strike, Motions ta
Suppress and Motions to Dismiss were based on alleged non-compliance
with discovery, they ate hereby denied.,



the material. However, when in the protracted
course of the proceedings the exclusions became
exceedingly complicated and a barrier to the
admission of clearly relevant evidence, the pre-
siding officer declined to continue such limitation
of evidence, and admitted it if relevant with the
proviso that the full Commission would decide
the admissibility and weight to be accorded it.

In view of the Rules which govern these
proceedings, the Commission considers the evi-
dence in question to be relevant and thus fully
admissible. With respect to those written and
oral statements whose admissibility was initially
limited, the Commission also rules them admissi-
ble for their full probative value,!'s/ In doing so,
it rejects what it considers to be an unworkable
evidentiary rule in the context of an administr-
ative proceeding.'?/

4. Admissibility of Expert Testimony

Respondents have moved to strike the expert
testimony of John Chleapas because of alleged
lack of foundation, irrelevance, and its reliance
upon documents not admitted against both Re-
spondents,

The Commission rejects these arguments.
With respect to the alleged lack of foundation,
the Commission agrees with the presiding officer’s
ruling that Mr. Chleapas was qualified as an
expert. In doing so, the Commission points to
Mr. Chleapas’s membership on professional com-
mittees of the National Fire Protection Associ-
ation and the American Society for Testing and
Materials which deal with building construction
types as they relate to fire safety and resistance,
his experience at the U.S. Department of Public
Health where he monitored construction of health
facilities in accordance with the Life Safety Code
and state and federal physical environment re-
quirements, oversaw the accuracy and complete-
ness of survey reports by state inspectors, per-
formed such surveys himself, and trained the
inspectors in the very unit in which Mr. Saccone
served (including Mr. Saccone). The Commission
recognizes that his knowledge of the internal
operations and administration of this state unit
was limited, and the Commission thus accords
lesser weight to that portion of his testimony, as
reflected in the violations discussed below (in
section III(C)(3)). However, this does not nullify
his expertise and testimony on the Code, its re-
quirements, and the construction of the North
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River Nursing Home, and the Commission up-
holds the validity and admissibility of that testi-
mony.

On the question of the basis of Mr. Chleapas's
testimony, the Commission points to its ruling
above (section III(B) (8)), to the effect that the
documents upon which he based his testimony
were fully admissible against both Respondents.
Further, to the extent that Mr. Chleapas's expert
testimony was based on his personal observation
of the North River Nursing Home, the Com-
mission does not agree that the passage of time
between the observations of Messrs. Saccone and
Chleapas rendered the latter’s findings irrelevant.
Rather, the Commission notes that a trier of fact
has broad discretion to decide the admissibility of
such evidence,'®/ and it affirms the prior ruling
of the presiding officer which allowed the testi-
mony and related exhibits.

5. Relevance of Original Complainant
and His/Her Motivation

In the course of these proceedings, both
Respondents addressed themselves at length to
the asserted necessity for disclosing the identity
of the individual who originally brought to the
Commission’s attention the allegations which led
to this inquiry and the subsequent proceedings.!*/
Briefly stated, they argued that the identity was
relevant to show that (a) the individual was some-
one within Mr. Saccone’s unit who had been ac-
cused (and censured) for dishonesty in the sub-
mission of expense vouchers, and therefore the
person was not credible; and (b) the person’s
complaint was motivated by racial animosity,
hatred and bigotry. Respondents introduced
several witnesses who testified to the base moti-
vation of the purported complainant. Respond-
ents also objected to the Petitioner’s failure to call
the individual as a witness.

"#/Tao the extent that Respondents’ Motions 1o Strike were based
on the admissibility issue just discussed, they are hereby denied.,

'7/The Commission also notes that the evidence in question would
also be admissible under exceptions to the hearsay rule, since it consisted
of official records, business records and admissions.

B/M.G.L. c. 30A, §§10, 11; Western Massachusetts Bus Lines,
Inc. v. Department of Public Utilities, 363 Mass. 61, 63 (1973); Town
of Sudbuty v, Department of Public Utilities, 351 Mass. 214, 219-220
(1966).

"/ The record discloses that the original allegations were made in
an anonymous letter received by the Commisison. Petitioner maintained
throughout these proceedings that the letter's author was unknown, at
least to the Commisison; Respondents professed to know the author's
identity.



At the outset, the Commission fails to see
any grounds for objecting to the non-production
of an allegedly incredible witness. The Commis-
sion also notes that if Respondents indeed con-
sidered it crucial to expose the individual's identity
and motivation, they were entirely free to call the
person as a hostile witness, which they did not.

Moreover, these arguments and objections
belie a fundamental misunderstanding of the
basis for Commission actions. An adjudicatory
proceeding such as this is predicated upon a
Commission finding that “reasonable cause”
exists to believe that M.G.L. c. 268A or 268B
has been violated (c. 268B, §4(C)). In finding
such reasonable cause, the Commission does not
rely upon the complaint alone, but rather upon
independently verified information gathered by
the Commission’s investigative staff pursuant to
the receipt of the complaint. As a matter of
Commission practice, a complaint alone does not
serve as the basis for such a finding, but must be
independently verified. Once reasonable cause
is found and proceedings commenced, it is the
independently verified information and corrobor-
ation which from the crux of Petitioner's present-
ation; the original complaint may well be wholly
superfluous.

In the case at hand, Respondents failed to
show any improper reliance by Petitioner upon
the original complaint; the complainant was not
produced, and investigators who testified dis-
closed no substantial credence given to the original
complaint once the case advanced beyond the
preliminary stages. Therefore, the Commission
rejects Respondents’ arguments on this issue as
irrelevant, and to the extent they form the basis
for any outstanding motions to dismiss by Re-
spondents, the motions are hereby denied.

6. Jurisdiction

All parties agreed that Respondent Saccone
was, at all times relevant, a state employee within
the meaning of M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(q) and thus
subject to the proscriptions of that chapter.

C. Chapter 268A Allegations

1. Section2

The Petitioner contends that, by taking Mr.
Saccone on two trips abroad in 1975 and 1976,
Mr. DelPrete corruptly gave him something of
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value with intent to influence Mr. Saccone’s of-
ficial acts and to induce him to do acts in vio-
lation of his lawful duty, namely to misrepresent
the condition of the North River Nursing Home
in his survey reports and recommendations, in
violation of Section 2(a); conversely, it is alleged
that Mr. Saccone corruptly received something
of value in return for being so influenced and
induced, in violation of Section 2(b).

The distinguishing element of §2 is the exist-
ence of a specific corrupt intent, of an understood
“quid pro quo,” and the Petitioner must show
such corrupt intent to sustain a violation. Com-
monwealth v, Dutney, 4 Mass. App. 363 (1976).
In the case at hand, Petitioner has presented no
direct evidence of intent, but has argued that it
is inferable from the record, particularly from
the coincidence of time between Mr. Saccone’s
assumption of duties regarding the North River
Nursing Home, and the first payment made for
his trip to Rome by Mr. DelPrete.

The Commission does not find the record
sufficiently complete or persuasive to give rise to
such an inference. The lack of direct evidence is
difficult to overcome, and here neither action
alleged to have occurred on or about May 12,
1975, giving rise to a corrupt agreement, was
persuasive. In particular, the waiver recommend-
ation made on that date by Mr. Saccone con-
cerned violations of only one Physical Environ-
ment Standard, one which had only been pro-
mulgated the month before, and under which
the Life Safety Code Inspection Unit arguably
had wide discretion. As for the payment made
on that date by Mr. DelPrete, the documentation
of that payment and its attribution to Mr. Sac-
cone’s trip was scant, and was not elaborated
upon in testimony. In view of the record, the
Commission declines to infer corrupt intent, and
therefore finds no violation of §2 in either 1975
or 1976.

2. Section 3

Petitioner has alleged that Mr. DelPrete
gave something of substantial value, to wit, a trip
to Rome in 1975 and a trip to Rio in 1976, to
Mr. Saccone, in violation of §3(a). Likewise, it
is alleged that Mr. Saccone twice violated §3(b)
by accepting these trips.

The Commission considers the evidence re-
lating to the 1975 trip to be insufficient to give



rise to the conclusion that Mr. DelPrete paid for
Mr. Saccone’s expenses for that trip, and thus
the Commission finds no Section 3 violation arising
from that trip.?*/ The record of payment for the
1976 trip, however, is much more complete and
thus the Commission finds that Mr. DelPrete did
pay for part or all of Mr. Saccone’s expenses for
that trip.2!/

Nevertheless, the findings relating to the
1976 trip do not give rise to a Section 3 violation,
because of the statute of limitations. Although
the Commission finds that Mr. DelPrete gave,
and Mr. Saccone received, part or all of the
latter's expenses for the 1976 trip, there is a lapse
of four years between the date of that trip and
the issuance of an Order to Show Cause in this
matter (October 1, 1980).22/ The limitation
period starts to run with the receipt of the gratuity
(the trip on September 27 - October 9, 1976)
and not the completion of the official acts which
motivated it; under Section 3, the official acts
are not viewed as part of a “quid pro quo,” nor
need there be a showing that there were any of-
ficial acts which were affected by receipt of the
gratuity, 2%/

The statutory period is not tolled by the
Commission’s failure to discover the violation
(the Commission did not exist until November,
1978), because the violation was not “inherently
unknowable.” Also, at the time of the offense
there were in existence other “disinterested per-
sons” capable of enforcing §3, namely the at-
torney general and the appropriate district at-
torneys. Petitioner did not show that they were
unable, despite due diligence, to discover the
violation earlier, nor does the record contain any
showing of fraudulent concealment of the trip by
Respondents.2¢/

3. Section 23(d)

The Commission finds that Mr. Saccone
violated §23(d), which states

[no state employee shall] use or

attempt to use his official position to

secure unwarranted privileges or ex-

emptions for himself or others
by virtue of his having submitted survey reports
on the North River Nursing Home in 1975-78,
in which he omitted citing material deficiencies.

The evidence Petitioner presented on the
alleged deficiencies of the North River Nursing
Home was voluminous; much of it was directed

98

toward showing that the home violated the State
and Federal Standards on Physical Environment.
Respondent Saccone, in turn, presented evidence
to show that his actions were justifiable and war-
ranted under the often-changing and easily-
waived standards as they were actually imple-
mented by the Life Safety Code Inspection Unit
during the years in question.

The Commission, in making its findings
with respect to the accuracy of Mr. Saccone’s
reports, wishes to avoid to the extent possible
substituting its judgment, regarding accept-
ability under the State and Federal standards,
for that of the inspectors and supervisors in the
Inspection Unit. The findings reflect, therefore,
an acknowledgement that some of those standards
were less than constant and inflexible, and that
the standards accorded considerable deference to
the judgment of the inspector. For these reasons,
the Commission has limited its findings to several
representative deficiencies under the fire safety
standards, which did not fluctuate as often as the
physical environment standards.

Nevertheless, the Commission finds that Mr.
Saccone’s repeated failure to cite those deficiencies
did in fact constitute “use [of] his official position
to secure unwarranted . . . exemptions” for the
North River Nursing Home. Although Messrs.
Hall and Boudreau of the Life Safety Inspection
Code Unit testified that inspectors commonly,
and with their tacit approval, omitted citation of
certain deficiencies, they did not clearly acknow-
ledge that this was true with respect to basic fire
safety features. In his testimony, Mr. Hall de-
scribed an alternative method of determining
fire safety. However, he admitted that this method
has only officially been in use since 1979, and

8/ Although the Commission finds that Respondents did make this
trip together, as mentioned in the previous section, documentation
and testimony regarding payment for this trip was scant.

11 /See Findings of Fact, Paragraphs 17.19.

/It is arguable that the cause of action is commenced when the
Commission sends notice to the subject of a preliminary inquiry that he
is such a subject; however the Commission leaves this issuec open, since
in this case the notice was sent on June 19, 1980, still more than three
years after the later trip.

1 /5ee United States v. Niederberger, 580 F.2d 63, 69 (CA3 1978),
cert den -13% U.S. 980 (1978) (interprering 18 U.5.C. §201g); United
States v. Irwin, supra.

/QOnce the statute of limitations was raised as a defense, the burden
rested upon Petitioner to show that it had not expired. Teller v. Schepens,
1980 Mass. Adv. Sh. 2199, 2200-2201; Breen v. Burns, 280 Mass. 222,
228 (1982).



that to the extent it was used in Massachusetts
prior to that time, it still assumed that a facility’s
deficiencies would be accurately recorded for
evaluation. Thus, the Commission considers Mr.
Saccone's failure to report such deficiencies was
unwarranted, and finds that he violated §23(d)
on each of the five occasions on which he sub-
mitted inaccurate survey reports.?%/

The facts found to constitute these violations
fall within the statutory period for commencing
these proceedings. Both Respondents admitted
in their answers that Mr. Saccone’s duties as a
Life Safety Code Inspector include conducting
periodic surveys of nursing homes to ensure com-
pliance with the State and Federal Standards,
and filing reports that detail whether each nursing
home surveyed is in compliance with those Stand-
ards (see Finding of Fact no. 4, above). As men-
tioned in the preceding paragraph, Mr. Saccone’s
supervisor did expect that a facility's deficiencies
would be accurately recorded. Here, then, the
record clearly indicates that Mr. Saccone had an
affirmative obligation to disclose the true con-
dition of the North River Nursing Home and
that he repeatedly failed to do so. Moreover, he
made active misrepresentations of that condition
each time he submitted a report on that facility,
and related documentation. Thus, at least until
Mr. Saccone signed his last survey report for the
North River Nursing Home on February 12,
1979, stating that the facility met state and federal
standards, he took active steps to fraudulently
conceal the true condition of the home, and the
statute of limitations did not start to run until
then.

4. Section 23(e)

Petitioner alleges that, by submitting inac-
curate inspection reports and by traveling as Re-
spondent DelPrete’s guest on two occasions, Mr.
Saccone by his conduct gave reasonable basis for
the impression that Mr. DelPrete could impro-
perly influence or unduly enjoy his favor in the
performance of his official duties, in violation
of §23(e).

For reasons similar to those discussed in con-
nection with §3, above, the Commission finds no
violation of §23(e) by virtue of the trips taken.2¢/
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The Commission declines to address the
allegation that the submission of false reports
by Mr. Saccone violated section 23(e), since the
facts which would give rise to such a violation
are the same as those which have already given
rise to a violation under §23(d) above.

5. Section 23(f)

Petitioner charged that Mr. Saccone “pur-
sued a course of conduct which would raise sus-
picion among the public that he was likely to be
engaged in acts that were in violation of his
trust,” in violation of §23(f), when he traveled as
Mr. DelPrete's guest on two occasions. Because
the facts which would give rise to such a violation
are again beyond the statute of limitations
adopted for the purpose of this decision, the
Commission finds no such violation.

IV. Order

On the basis of the foregoing, the Com-
mission concludes that John P. Saccone violated
M.G.L. c. 268A, §23(d). Pursuant to the au-
thority granted it by M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(d), the
Cormnmission hereby orders Mr. Saccone to pay a
civil penalty of $300 for each of the five occasions
upon which he submitted inaccurate inspections
reports, i.e., July, 1975, January, 1976, Decem-
ber, 1976, December, 1977, and December,
1978, for a total of $1,500 (fifteen hundred dol-
lars), within thirty (30) days of the receipt of this
Decision and Order.

DATE: June 1, 1982

#,/The Commission considers it unnecessarily cumulative to examine
whether the statute was similarly violated by each of Mr. Saccone’s
Statements of Deficiencies, Waiver Recommendations, and Post-Certift
cation Revisit Reports.

%,/1n invoking the statute of limitations, the Commission notes that,
unlike the substantive sections of M.G.L. ¢. 268A, §23 has also been
enforceable by an agency head, who may take administrative action
against an employee for violations of the section. Thus. there was in
1975 and 1976 another entity capable of bringing an action against
Mr. Saccone for the conduct alleged and found here, and which failed
to act within the required time,



COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory

Docket No. 162

IN THE MATTER
OF
JOHN A. PELLICELLI

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is entered into between the
State Ethics Commission (“Commission”) and John
A. Pellicelli (“"Mr. Pellicelli”) pursuant to Section 11
of the Commission’s Procedures Covering the
Initiation and Conduct of Preliminary Inquiries and
Investigations. The parties agree that upon its ex-
ecution this Agreement shall constitute a final order
of the Commission, enforceable in the Superior Court
of the Commonwealth, pursuant to Section 4(d) of
G.L. c. 268B.

On April 30, 1982, the Commission, pursuant
to §4 of G.L. c. 268B, initiated a Preliminary Inquiry
into possible violations of the Conflict-of-Interest
Law, G.L. c. 268A, arising from Mr, Pellicelli's par-
ticipation as a member of the Middleton Housing
Authority in the matter in which his brother had a
financial interest. The Commission has concluded its
Inquiry into Mr. Pellicelli's involvement in the
matters set forth in this Agreement, and makes the
following findings of fact and conclusions of law to
which the parties hereto agree:

1. Mr. Pellicelli is a member of the Middleton
Housing Authority (MHA) and has been since 1976.
He was most recently re-elected in 1981, There are
five members of the Authority.

2. Mr, Pellicelli's brother, Paul, has worked for
the MHA for 9 years at Orchard Circle, a 54-unit

elderly housing complex, the Authority’s only facility.

3. When PAUL Pellicelli was first hired, the
the maintenanceman’s duty was limited to outdoors
ground work. As the building has aged, the job of the
maintenanceman has expanded to include household
maintenance (i.e., plumbing, electrical) as well.

4. OnMay 22, 1980, at a special meeting of the
MHA, the members voted to approve its FY 1981
budget. Included in the budget was a provision that
Paul Pellicelli would continue to be paid as a main-
tenance/laborer for 30 hours per week and as a
maintenance/mechanic for 10 hours per week. Also
included, however, was the provision that upon sub-
mission of documentation over & 6-month period in-
dicating the number of hours devoted to different
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tasks, the members would re-evaluate the classifi-
cation for suitability to the duties actually performed.

5. In December of 1980, Paul Pellicelli sub-
mitted the requested records, which indicated that
he was spending more time performing tasks associ-
ated with the position of maintenance/mechanic.
However, because of the opposition by two members
of the Authority, no change was made in Paul Pelli-
celli's job title or pay at that time. John Pellicelli did
not participate in that vote.

6. On July 13, 1981, Michael DiPietro of the
Commonwealth’s Department of Labor and Indus-
tries wrote MHA Chairman Nathan Haywood a letter
in which he stated:

During a routine inspection of your
Housing Authority, the Department's field
inspector Robert Lamarre has found that a
Mr. Paul Pellicelli was not receiving the
proper rate of pay.

Rates sent to your Authority May 7,
1980 list 2 maintenance/mechanic for $9.39
per hour and a maintenance/laborer at$7.64
per hour. Mr. Pellicelli stated and con-
firmed by Ms. Alice D. Millbury that he
performed maintenance/mechanic work
50% of the time and maintenance/laborer
work 50% of the time.

The Department is requesting that
Mr. Pellicelli be paid at 50% of the time
performing maintenance/mechanics work...

7. On July 23, 1981 at a meeting of the MHA,
John Pellicelli moved that the MHA comply with the
Department of Labor and Industries’ request. Mr.
Pellicelli voted in favor, along with two other mem-
bers, and the motion carried., The effect of the
motions, which was clearly understood, was to re-
classify Paul Pellicelli's position to 20 hours as a
maintenance/mechanic and 20 hours as a mainten-
ance/laborer, retroactive to July 1, 1980. (On an
annual basis, the change results in an increase of
$910.20, from $16,801.20 to $17,711.20.)

8. By voting on July 23, 1981, to reclassify his
brother’s position, Mr. Pellicelli violated §19 of G.L.
e, 268A which prohibits a municipal employee, as
himself, from participating in a2 matter in which,
among others, a member of his immediate family has
a financial interest. That the vote was an effort to
comply with the request of the Department of Labor
and Industries did not render §19 inapplicable al-
though it is a factor in mitigation.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforcement



proceedings brought on its behalf pursuant to G.L.
c. 268B, on the basis of the following terms and con-
ditions hereby made and agreed to by Mr. Pellicelli:

1., That Mr. Pellicelli will hereby cease and
desist from participating in MHA matters which af-
fect the financial intersts of his brother;

2. That Mr. Pellicelli will pay the State Ethics
Commission the sum of $250 as civil penalty for vio-
lation §19 of G.L. ¢c. 268A; and

3. That Mr. Pellicelli waives all rights to con-
test the findings of fact and conclusions of law in this
or any related judicial or administrative proceedings
in which the State Ethics Commission is a party.

DATE: June 25, 1982

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 148

IN THE MATTER
OF
ROCCO ]J. ANTONELLI, SR.

Appearances:
Robert ]J. Cordy, Esq: Counsel for the
Petitioner, State Ethics Commission
Bernard A. Dwork, Esq: Counsel for the
Respondent, Rocco J. Antonelli

Commissioners Participating:
Vorenberg, Ch., McLaughlin, Bernstein,
Brickman, Mulligan

DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

The Petitioner initiated these adjudicatory
proceedings on October 7, 1981 by filing an
Order to Show Cause pursuant to the Commis-
sion's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 930 CMR
1.01(5)(a). The Order alleged that the Respond-
ent, Rocco ]J. Antonelli, Sr., had violated G.L.
c. 268A, §3(b) by soliciting and accepting private
loans and other accommodations from the Cool-
idge Bank and Trust Company (Coolidge), the
Capitol Bank and Trust Company (Capitol), the
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U.S. Trust Company (U.S. Trust) and the Suf-
folk Franklin Savings Bank (Suffolk Franklin})
for or because of his official acts as the Treasurer
of Middlesex County. The Petitioner also alleged
that the Respondent had repeatedly used or at-
tempted to use his position as County Treasurer
to secure unwarranted benefits for his private
businesses at these banks, and had also given
reasonable basis for the impression that these
banks could improperly influence him or unduly
enjoy his favor in the performance of his Trea-
surer duties in violation of G.L. c, 268A, §23(d)
and (e).

The Respondent’s Answer denied these al-
legations and raised several affirmative defenses
asserting the Commission’s lack of jurisdiction or
authority to adjudicate the factual allegations.
Prior to the commencement of adjudicatory
hearings in this matter, the Respondent filed
motions to dismiss the Order, for summary judg-
ment on the pleadings. These pre-hearing motions
were denied by Commissioner Bernard McLaugh-
lin, who was designated as the Presiding Officer.!/
See, M.G.L. c. 268B, §4(c).

Hearings were conducted on twelve days
between December, 1981 and February, 1982.
The parties thereafter filed briefs with the Com-
mission and presented oral argument before the
full Commission on April 6, 1982. In rendering
this Decision and Order, all members of the
Commission have considered the testimony,
evidence and arguments presented by the parties.

II. Findings of Fact
1. Mr. Antonelli was elected Treasurer of
Middlesex County (County) on November 7,
1978 and took office on January 8, 1979. His
responsibilities as Treasurer included the au-
thority to decide when and with which banks the
County, the County Retirement System or County
Hospital would open and maintain accounts, the
nature of the accounts, the amount of money to
be deposited into each account, the duration of
deposits in each account and when the accounts
would be closed.

2. At all times material, Mr. Antonelli

1/The substance of these motions is discussed, infra.



either owned or had a substantial financial in-
terest in R. J. Antonelli and Company, an ac-
counting firm; Urban Equity Development Com-
pany (UEDC) a limited partnership which was
engaged in a commercial redevelopment within
Davis Square, Somerville, and the Bartlett Manor
and Buchanan Nursing Homes located in Malden.

Coolidge Bank

3. In December, 1976, UEDC received a
$450,000 loan from the Coolidge Bank to finance
a commercial redevelopment in Davis Square,
Somerville. Mr. Antonelli and Coolidge Bank
subsequently became involved in litigation over
whether Coolidge Bank had agreed to lend Mr.
Antonelli an additional $225,000 for construction
costs, During the pendency of the litigation, Mr.
Antonelli ceased payments on the §450,000 loan,
Coolidge Bank took possession of the commercial
property, and the construction was halted.

4. Following a hearing before a court-
appointed master, the master released his pre-
liminary findings in July, 1979 which found in
favor of UEDC but which left unresolved the
issue of whether UEDC should be awarded dam-
ages or specific performance of its agreement.
Before July, 1979, Coolidge Bank was opposed
to both renegotiating its loan with Mr. Antonelli
and to considering granting to him new con-
struction financing.

5. In July, 1979, Mr. Antonelli learned
that Coolidge Bank had a new president, Harry
Klein, and he arranged a meeting with Mr. Klein
to discuss the financing of the Davis Square re-
development. At their first meeting in July, 1979,
Mr. Antonelli requested Coolidge to refinance
the loan and to put additional funds into the
project. Mr. Klein's initial response was not en-
couraging. Mr. Klein thereafter discussed with
other Coolidge officials the possibility of salvaging
the loan through a refinancing whereby Coolidge
would hold a mortgage over the entire Davis
Square development and would “wrap around”
the prior financing of other lending institutions.2/

6. In early August, 1979, Mr. Antonelli
and Mr. Klein met once or twice and came closer
to a refinancing agreement incorporating a
“wrap around” concept. At one of these refinanc-
ing meetings they discussed the subject of Cool-
idge Bank doing business with Middlesex County.
Mr. Antonelli told Mr. Klein that the County
would be interested in opening accounts with
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Coolidge, but he did not specify a particular
deposit amount. Prior to August, 1979, Coolidge
Bank did little, if any, business with either Middle-
sex County, the County Retirement System or
the County Hospital.*/

7. On either August 8 or 9, 1979, Mr.
Antonelli directed Assistant County Treasurer
James Ferretti to write a series of checks toalling
$500,000 made payable to Middlesex County
and to give the checks to him. On the same day,
Mr. Antonelli also directed the Chief Retirement
Officer of the County Retirement System, John
McMahon, to write out Retirement System checks
totalling $600,000 and to give the checks to him.
Mr. Antonell: did not explain the purpose of
these checks at that time to either Mr. Ferretti
or Mr. McMahon.

8. After banking hours on August 9, 1979,
Mr. Antonelli visited Mr. Klein's office in Water-
town and personally handed him the County
Treasurer and County Retirement System checks
totalling §1.1 million for the purpose of opening
accounts.*/ Mr. Antonelli customarily did not
make personal visits to banks to open accounts
or to deposit County funds. The letters signed by
Mr. Antonelli and which accompanied the initial
deposits into the accounts stated, “We are en-
closing herewith initial deposits with your financial
institution and trust that our future relationship
will prove to be mutually beneficial.”

9. At the time of the opening of these ac-
counts, Coolidge Bank was agreeable to the gen-
eral concept of a UEDC refinancing, but major
details over the terms of the refinancing remained
to be negotiated and finally ratified by the Cool-
idge Bank Executive Committee. On August 13,
1979, Mr. Antonelli submitted a formal refin-
ancing proposal to Coolidge. On August 23,
1979, Coolidge Bank's Executive Committee ap-
proved the refinancing proposal with some modi-
fication, including a requirement that Mr. An-
tonelli acquire $600,000 in construction financ-
ing from another bank.

!/The “wrap around” was a financial restructuring arrangement
under which Coolidge Bank would provide Mr. Antonelli with funds
to pay off his other outstanding obligations.

1/As of January, 1979, neither the County, County Retirement
System or County Hospital had accounts with Coolidge. During Mr.
Antonelli's first month in office, he received requests from Coolidge
sharcholders and clients 1o open County accounts with Coolidge, although
he had not opened any such accounts through July, 1979,

*/Mr. Antonelli did not recall this visic during his testimony a1
the adjudicatory hearing. The Commission credits Mr. Klein's testimony
on this point.

=,



10. In September, 1979, John Street, the
Coolidge Bank attorney who was negotiating the
refinancing, wrote a message to Seta Nercessian,
a Coolidge mortgage officer, instructing her to
make a “low-key” call to Mr. Antonelli and see if
Coolidge could help him secure financing. At the
time, Mr. Antonelli was being consistently turned
down by banks which did not regard offering a
$600,000 construction loan, under the circum-
stances, to be a sound investment. In the message,
Mr. Street stated that Mr. Antonelli had de-
posited substantial sums of County money in the
bank but was under no legal obligation to keep
them there and that he could in fact shift them
to another bank as an inducement to lend him
the construction money.

11. On October 9, 1979, Coolidge Bank
agreed to a $1.95 million “wrap around” re-
financing package which included lending Mr.
Antonelli $575,000 in construction loans at an
11% percent interest rate. The construction loan
was to be converted into a permanent loan in
1980 at the market rate of interest at the time the
permanent loan was placed. When Mr. Antonelli
objected on October 11, 1979 to the “market rate
of interest” provision, Coolidge agreed to set the
permanent financing at a fixed interest rate of
11% percent. The loan arrangements were fin-
alized on the next day.

Capitol Bank

12. Prior to his becoming County Treasurer
on January 3, 1979, Mr. Antonelli had been in-
volved with the Capitol Bank in two private loan
transactions as a borrower and guarantor. His
accounting firm, R. J. Antonelli, Inc., also had
a relatively inactive checking account which was
opened in 1975.

13. Prior to 1979, neither the County
Treasurer, the County Hospital nor the County
Retirement System had maintained any bank
accounts or investments in the Capitol Bank.
Capitol was anxious to do business with the County
when Mr. Antonelli took office.

14. On January 11, 1979, Mr. Antonelli
received on behalf of R. J. Antonelli, Inc. an
unsecured $18,000 loan for a one-month period
at a rate of 13 percent (two points over prime).
The loan had been requested during the previous
week. During the same week in which he had re-
quested the $18,000 loan, Mr. Antonelli invested
$3.7 million of County funds with the Capitol
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Bank in a six-day repurchase agreement.®/
During the subsequent one-month period, Mr.
Antonelli opened a County Treasurer’s checking
account ($500,000); a checking account for
Hospital funds ($300,000) and a Retirement Sys-
tem savings accounts ($300,000) at the Capitol
Bank. The $18,000 loan was received and ex-
tended and finally paid off in September, 1979.

15. On September 26, 1979, the Capitol
Bank loaned Mr. Antonelli $135,000 for R. J. An-
tonelli, Inc. to free up funds for the Davis Square
comrmercial redevelopment. The initial terms of
the loan were for one year at two percent over
prime, secured by Mr. Antonelli’s accounts re-
ceivable and two second mortgages on land in
Winchester and Somerville, and a reduction of
the principal by $3,000 monthly. In the process
of determining whether to grant Mr. Antonelli
the loan, Capitol Bank was lax in reviewing the
sufficiency of the collateral and the financial
statements of Mr. Antonelli's payment perfor-
mance at Capitol prior to granting the loan.®/

16. Following the execution of the loan,
Mr. Antonelli complained on or about October
10, 1979 that he was being unfairly penalized by
the two point over prime interest rate which he
claimed was out of line with rates which other
banks were offering him. The Capitol Bank Ex-
ecutive Committee thereupon voted at a later
date in October, 1979 to reduce the interest rate
from two to one point above prime.?/

17. On October 17, 1979, Capitol Bank
received $500,000 from Middlesex County to be
deposited in a County Treasurer’s checking ac-
count which Mr. Antonelli had opened in
January, 1979.8/

*/The repurchase agreement was a short term investment which
provided higher income potential than certificates of deposit but which
was not insured by the Federal Depaosit Insurance Corperation.

$/According to the testimony of Capitel Bank officials, Capitols
decision was made on the basis of Antonelli's relationship with them,
rather than on the sufficiency of the paperwork requirements. In
Match, 1980, an FDIC examiner classified this Joan as substandard.
The principal criticism was the lack of complete, reliable paperwork
to substantiate the sufficiency of Mr. Antonelli’s finances or his collateral.
The examiner also {elt that the loan should have clearly indicated the
remaining terms at the end of the one-year periodl.

'/ The record does not reveal the precise date in October, 1973 on
which the interest rate reduction decision occurred.

/It is unclear from the record whether Mr. Antonelli or his as-
sistant treasurer Mr. Ferretti decided to deposit these fund. However,
Mr. Antonelli's official responsibilities as County Treasurer included
decisions regarding the maintenance of accounts, and Mr, Antonelli
reviewed County bank status records on a weekly basis,



18. On July 7, 1980, Mr. Antonelli di-
rected Mr. McMahon, the Chief Retirement Of-
ficer, to deposit $300,000 into the County Re-
tirement System savings account at Capitol there-
by bringing the balance up to $400,000. The
account remained idle until December 29, 1980.

19. On July 17, 1980, Mr. Antonelli re-
quested from the Capitol Bank Executive Com-
mittee and received a six-month moratorium on
the payment of §3,000 monthly principal on the
loan.®/

20. Although the loan came due in Sep-
tember, 1980, Capitol continued the loan for two
months because of the pending sale of the Win-
chester land which secured the loan. Mr. An-
tonelli thereafter reduced the outstanding amount
by $45,000, and Capitol rewrote the loan for a
new one-year period at one percent over prime
on November 26, 1980.1¢/

2]1. On November 10, 1980, Mr. Antonelli
directed that $500,000 be deposited into the
County Treasurer’s checking account at Capitol
Bank.

22. In January, 1981, Mr. Antonelli con-
tacted Capitol Bank and applied for an $80,000
loan for computer equipment after another bank
which had previously committed itself to the loan
had backed out. Thereafter, on January 12, 1981,
Capitol loaned Mr. Antonelli $116,000 ($80,000
plus $36,000 interest) for a five-year installment
loan secured by the computer equipment. The
interest rate initially recommended by Capitol
Bank loan officer Peter Lane to the Capitol Bank
Executive Committee ws 18 percent. However,
the final interest rate approved by the Capitol
Bank Executive Committee was 16 percent.

23. On January 13, 1981, the County de-
posited $300,000 into the County Treasurer’s
checking account at Capitol where it remained
idle through the end of May, 1981. On January
19, 1981, Mr. Antonelli opened a County Re-
tirement System NOW account at Capitol with
a $100,000 deposit.

24. In May, 1981, Mr. Antonelli requested
and received from Capitol Bank two $7,500 short-
term loans to provide working capital for his two
nursing homes which were awaiting vendor pay-
ments or welfare reimbursements.

25. Mr. Antonelli's private checking ac-
count at Capitol was frequently and substantially
overdrawn in 1979 and 1980, and Mr. Antonelli
received accommodations from Capitol in the
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form of either covering the overdrafts or in not
charging an overdraft penalty.!!/

U.S. Trust

26. Prior to Mr. Antonelli assuming office
in 1979, U.S. trust had not received any deposits
or investments from the previous Middlesex
County Treasurer,

27. At the time of Mr. Antonelli’s assump-
tion of the County Treasurer office in 1979, Mr.
Quinn Sullivan was the President of U.S. Trust.
Mr. Antonelli had dealt with Mr. Sullivan fre-
quently during the previous fifteen years when
Mr. Sullivan was a lending officer for BayBank.

28. On January 17, 1979, Mr. Antonelli
received a $25,000 unsecured personal loan from
U.S. Trust at one point above prime. The original
request for the loan was made during a car ride
with Mr. Sullivan during the first week of January,
1979. Shortly after Mr. Antonelli became Trea-
surer, Mr. Sullivan made a goodwill visit to the
Treasurer’s office on behalf of U.S. Trust to let
Mr. Antonelli know that U.S. Trust was inter-
ested in County business and could provide favor-
able rates to the County. Mr. Antonelli made
no commitment to deposit County funds in U.S.
Trust but responded that the County would be
interested if the rates were competitive, Mr.
Sullivan and Mr. Antonelli left the County offices
together, and Mr. Antonelli asked Mr. Sullivan
to drop him off on the way home, During the car
ride to Somerville, they discussed the progress
of Mr. Antonelli’s Davis Square project. When
Mr. Sullivan asked Mr. Antonelli if he had any
requirements which U.S. Trust could help him
with, Mr. Antonelli responded that he needed a

$/Capito]l Bank officials testified at the hearings that their rationale
for the moratorium included Mr, Antonelli’s stature in the community,
his creditworthiness, and an effort to ease Mr. Antonelli's financial
difficulty at the time.

*/A follow-up FDIC review in 1981 continued the substandard
classification of this loan.

' /Capitol Bank officials explained during the hearings that Capitol
had no fixed customer policy on overdrafts, and accommodated Mr.
Antonelli based on efforts to ease his business difficulties. However,
following the FDIC substandard classification of the $135,000 loan in
March, 1980, Capitol informed Mr. Antonelli that it would no longer
cover his overdrafts and would charge him far each overdraft. The
bank also arranged for Mr. Antonelli 10 have a §5.000 overdraft coverage
provision through an AMEX Gold Card. Mest of the overdrafts in 1980
and 1981 were due to the sequence of check clearing procedures rather
than from insufficient deposits, Testimony was offered at the hearings
that the sums which would have been amessed for overdraft penalties
would have been less than §500.



personal loan of $25,000 to reimburse a family
member, Sullivan responded that it would not be
much of a problem and that his bank would be
willing to lend him the money.

29. Mr. Antonelli opened up three County
accounts with U.S. Trust on January 30, 1979,
The initial deposits were $10,000 (County Trea-
surer checking account), $100,000 (Retirement
System checking account) and $750,000 (Retire-
ment System savings account).

30. Mr. Antonelli requested and received
from U.S. Trust private loans of $15,000 and
$35,000 in July and October, 1979,

31. Mr, Antonelli requested and received
from U.S. Trust in June and July of 1980 a series
of loans for his nursing homes totalling $35,000.

32. On July 7, 1980, Mr. Antonelli directed
Mr. McMzhon to deposit $300,000 into the County
Retirement System account at U.S, Trust, where
it remained idle through the end of the year.

33. On August 12, 1980, Mr. Antonelli
received a short-term $75,000 loan from U.S.
Trust in connection with the mortgage financing
of his Davis Square, Sommerville commercial
property.

34. Mr. Antonelli arranged for a deposit
of $250,000 into the County Hospital mainten-
ance account one week later on August 20, 1980.
The funds remained idle through mid-1981.

35, On October 15, 1980, Mr. Antonelli
received from U.S. Trust an eight-month $100,000
loan for roof work on his Somerville commercial
property. The loan was secured by a second
mortgage on the property. On February 12, 1981,
at Mr. Antonelli’s request, U.S. Trust agreed to
lift its secured mortgage position to allow Mr.
Antonelli to borrow an additional $25,000 from
Somerset Savings Bank, the holder of a $300,000
first mortgage on the property.

Suffolk Franklin Bank

36. In November, 1971, the Suffolk Frank-
lin Savings Bank agreed to lend to a company
owned by Mr. Antonelli and which later became
UEDC $500,000 for commercial redevelopment
in Davis Square, Somerville. Suffolk Franklin
had difficulties with Antonelli because of frequent
delinquency payments, and it had authorized
foreclosure proceedings on two occasions prior
to 1979.

37. In August, 1979, Suffolk Franklin in-
structed its attorney to commence foreclosure

proceedings against Mr. Antonelli and notified
Mr. Antonelli that it would increase the interest
rate to 1114 percent even if all of the back pay-
ments were brought up-to-date. Mr. Antonelli
thereafter arranged a meeting with a Suffolk
Franklin official, Mr. Charles Douglas, on Aug-
ust 30, 1979 to discuss whether the Bank would
increase the interest rate on the loan.

38. At that meeting, Mr. Antonelli de-
livered a check to Mr. Douglas bringing the
mortgage loan account up to date. Mr. Douglas
informed Mr. Antonelli that Suffolk Franklin
would rescind its rate increase if Mr. Antonelli
kept his payments up-to-date. At that same meet-
ing, after the Bank had agreed to reduce or re-
voke its rate increase, Mr. Antonelli advised Mr.
Douglas that he was the Treasurer of Middlesex
County and suggested that he could deposit
County funds or would consider opening a savings
account on behalf of the County at Suffolk Frank-
lin Bank. Mr. Douglas felt that Mr. Antonelli
was paving the way for leverage with the Bank in
the event that the mortgage loan account went
into default, again. When Mr. Douglas indicated
that he did not think opening an account would
be appropriate, Mr. Antonelli responded that he
might open an account anyway in five or six
months.'?/

Decision
Mr. Antonelli has been charged with vio-
lations of G.L. c. 268A, §§3(b), 23(d) and (e).
Prior to determining the merits of these alleg-
ations, the Commission will address certain con-
stitutional and procedural issues raised by Mr.
Antonelli.

I11.

A. Constitutional Issues

1. Combination of Accusatory and Ad-
judicatory Functions

The Respondent alleges in his Answer that
the combination of the Commission’s accusatory
and adjudicatory functions within the same agency
violates his due process and fair hearing rights
under the federal and Massachusetts constitutions.
The Commission rejects this argument as one
which is well settled under both federal and
Massachusetts law. In two recent decisions, In the

*/An examination of the County banking records does not reveal
the subsequent opening of any County accounts with Suffolk-Franklin.



Matter of George A. Michael, Commission Ad-
judicatory Docket No. 137, Decision and Order,
pp. 24-25 (September 28, 1981) and In the
Matter of John P. Saccone and Edmund W.
DelPrete, Commission Adjudicatory Docket No.
182, Decision and Order, pp. 12-13 (June 1, 1982),
the Commission reviewed federal and Mass-
achusetts decisions which affirm the constitu-
tional validity of combining accusatory and ad-
judicatory functions within the same agency. See,
e.g., Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 46-54,
(1975). The mere authorization by the Commis-
sion of an investigation or Order to Show Cause
in fulfillment of its obligation under G.L. c.
268B, §4 does not constitute a prejudgment of
the merits of a case. See, School Committee of
Stoughton v. Labor Relations Commission, 4
Mass. App. Ct. 262, 272 (1976); Saccone and
DelPrete, Decision and Order, pp. 27-29. More-
over, the Respondent has not suggested how the
combination of functions violates the federal and
state constitution when applied to the facts of his
case.

2. Standard of Proof

The Respondent contends that the civil
“preponderance of evidence” standard which the
Commission applies to its proceedings is improper
and constitutionally defective inasmuch as G.L.
c. 268A and c. 268B do not prescribe a prepond-
erance standard.

The Commission reiterates that it is a civil
enforcement agency which possesses the authority
to assess only civil or regulatory sanctions. See,
G.L. c. 268B, §4(d). The Attorney General and
District Attorneys remain responsible for enforc-
ing the criminal provisions which may result in
punitive sanctions, including imprisonment.
Commission proceedings have been consistently
characterized as civil in nature and are therefore
not subject to the constitutional standards appli-
cable to criminal proceedings. See, Opinion of
the Justices, supra, at 819; Saccone and Del-
Prete, at 13. In the Matter of James J. Craven,
Jr. Commission Adjudicatory Docket No. 110,
Decision and Order pp. 10-12 (June 18, 1980)
aff'd sub nom. Craven v. Vorenberg, Suffolk
Superior Court Civil Action No. 43269, (further
appeal pending) the Commission determined that
the preponderance of evidence standard, rather
than a higher standard of clear and convincing
proof or proof beyond a reasonable doubt, was
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applicable to Commission adjudicatory proceed-
ings. In rejecting the adoption of these higher
standards, the Commission reasoned that its po-
tential sanctions were not sufficiently severe to
warrant departure from the traditional prepond-
erance standard applicable to civil administrative
proceedings. The Commission has applied the
preponderance standard to every adjudicatory
proceeding under G.L. c. 268A and G.L. c. 2688
since Craven and believes that these decisions
provide sufficient notice of its standard of proof
to Respondents such as Mr. Antonelli.'*/

3. Vaugeness

The Respondent further asserts that G.L.
c. 268A is unconstitutionally vague, overbroad
and ambiguous. In Saccone and DelPrete pp.
16-17, the Commission fully responded to similar
contentions and finds no reason to repeat those
responses in their entirety here. In summary, the
Commission regards the provisions of G.L. c.
268A to be adequately specific to put Respond-
ents on notice as to what behavior is proscribed.
See, United States v. Brewster, 506 F.2d 62
(D.C. Cir. 1974); United States v. Irwin, 354
F.2d 192, 196-197, (2nd Cir., 1965), cert den.
883 U.S. 967 (1966); Colten v. Kentucky 407
U.S. 104, 110 (1972).14/

4. Other Constitutional Issues

The Respondent alleges in his Answer that
the Commission has exceeded its statutory and
constitutional authority by adjudicating matters
during the pendency of a criminal investigation
of these same matters by another agency. In the
absence of any evidence in the record verifying
the pendency of other investigations, the Com-
mission finds no need to address this contention

11/The Comrmnission regards the statutory scheme of G.L. c. 2688,
§4, as applied in this case, 1o be sufficient te satisfy amply due process
requirements, Moreover, the Respondent chose not ta pursue his con-
stitutional arguments following the filing of his Answer and has offered
no precedent to support his contention. '

14/The standards of conduct appearing in §23 have been enforced
and interpreted by the Commission on hundreds of occasions since 1980.
These standards, and in particular the provisions under which Mr.
Antonelli has been charged, are sufficiently clear to satisfy constitutional
standards, see, Tenney v. State Commission on Ethics 895 50.2d 1244
{Fla. 2nd D.C.A., 1981) and arc commonly employed to enforce the
principles of conflict of interest statutes, See, i.¢.. Presidential Execultive
Order 11222, §201(c) (1965); 5 C.F.R. 735.201(a} (1976); N.Y. Public
Officers law, §74 (3] (F) {McKinney Supp. 1981} Del Code Ann Tit.
29, §5855(d), (g) (Supp. 1974); Michigan Stat. Ann_, §15.275.



in any detail. However, even assuming that the
record confirmed such an investigation, the Com-
mission finds no basis for either dismissing or de-
laying the adjudication of the Petitioner’s alleg-
ations in the Order to Show Cause. The Com-
mission’s statutory scheme clearly anticipates
that the Commission may act concurrently with
criminal investigations by other agencies. See,
G.L. c. 268A, §9, 15(b); G.L. c. 268B, §4(a).
Moreover, delaying the Commission’s adjudication
of alleged violations of G.L. c. 268A would be
contrary to the legislative goal of a speedy Com-
mission determination, see, G.L. c. 268B, §4(c),
and would effectively bar the Commission from
proceeding in cases for which the statute of limit-
ations is a relevant factor. See, Saccone and
DelPrete, pp. 17-21.

The Respondent also alleges that the ad-
judication of this case results in an arbitrary and
selective enforcement. However, there is no evi-
dence in the record to support his general con-
tention, and the Commission finds no basis for
concluding that the Petitioner has abused its
broad enforcement discretion. See, Borden-
kircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357, 865 (1978);
Oyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 456 (1962); Com-
monwealth v. King, 374 Mass. 5, 20 (1977);
see, generally, 2 K. Davis, Administrative Law
Treatise, 2nd ed., §§9.1-9.22 (1979).

B. Procedural Issues

Prior to the commencement of the adjudi-
catory hearings, the Presiding Officer ruled on
a series of procedural motions. For the reasons
set forth below, the Comnmission affirms each
ruling.

1. Sufficiency of Evidence

The Respondent contends that the evidence
surrounding Capitol Bank's granting of overdraft
accommeodations to him was not sufficient to
warrant inclusion of this allegation in the Order
to Show Cause. In the Matter of John R,
Buckley, Commission Adjudicatory Docket No.
108, Decision and Order, pp. 7-14 (May 7, 1980),
the Commission fully articulated the well-estab-
lished principle that the sufficiency and adequacy
of evidence which forms the basis of a Commis-
sion Order to Show Cause is not subject to pre-
hearing challenge. See, Buckley, at pp. 11-14
and cases cited therein. Any prejudice which
may have accrued to the Respondent by defend-
ing those allegations is outweighed by the re-
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quirement that the Petitioner prove the suf-
ficiency and adequacy of the evidence through
the adjudicatory hearing process.%/

2. Discovery

The Respondent urges dismissal of these
proceedings on the grounds that the Petitioner
has failed to provide transcriptions of pre-hearing
conversations and interviews of witnesses who
were not appearing at those interviews pursuant
to a subpoena. However, G.L. c. 268B, §4(c)
requires the Commission to record and preserve
the testimony of witnesses only where the wit-
nesses have testified pursuant to a subpoena.
Inasmuch as there is no requirement that Com-
mission investigators record their conversation
or interviews with witnesses who are not under
oath or who voluntarily testify, the Commission
was under no obligation to provide transcriptions
of such conversations or interviews.

3. Signature on Order to Show Cause

The Respondent also urges dismissal of these
proceedings on the grounds that the Order to
Show Cause was signed by the Associate General
Counsel for Enforcement. However, the fact that
the Order to Show Cause was issued by the As-
sociate General Counsel for Enforcement rather
than the General Counsel does not warrant the
dismissal of the proceedings. Both the Com-
mission and General Counsel possess the au-
thority to delegate the power to sign Orders
to Show Cause and to initiate adjudicatory
proceedings on behalf of the Commission.
See Commission Rules of Practice and Pro-
cedure, 930 CMR 1.01(1)7. This authority
was properly delegated to the Associate General
Counsel for Enforcement. Moreover, the purpose
of the issuance of an Order to Show Cause is to
notify a Respondent of the facts and law upon
which the adjudicatory proceeding will be con-
ducted. The fact that this purpose has been sub-
stantially satisfied in this case outweighs whatever
prejudice the Respondent may have incurred by
receiving an Order to Show Cause signed by the
Associate General Counsel for Enforcement.

W/Even if the sufficiency and adequacy of the evidence forming
the basis of the Commission’s allegations in the Order to Show Cause
could be independently adjudicaced in a pre-trial proceeding, the alle-
gations in the Order o Show Cause related to the Capitol overdraft
accommodations were within the scope of the Petitioner's preliminary
inquiry report which was presented to the Commission.



4. Duration of Full Investigation

The Respondent also seeks dismissal of the
Order to Show Cause on the grounds that the
Commission based its September 22, 1981 vote
for an adjudicatory proceeding on the same evi-
dence upon which its earlier September 2, 1981
vote finding reasonable cause to believe that vio-
lations of G.L. c¢. 268A had occurred and au-
thorizing a full investigation into this matter
had been based. In essence he alleges that he has
been deprived of the benefits of a full investi-
gation. However, the Commission fails to see how
the duration of a full investigation can furnish
a basis for dismissing an Order to Show Cause
or for otherwise examining the sufficiency or
adequacy of evidence presented to the Commis-
sion during the investigative stage of these pro-
ceedings. See, Buckley, supra. The Commission
reiterates that the sufficiency and adequacy of
evidence is measured through the adjudicatory
hearing process.

C. G.L.c.268A Allegations'/

1. Coolidge Bank

The Commission concludes that Mr. An-
tonelli solicited and accepted something of sub-
stantial value from Coolidge Bank in 1979 for or
because of his official acts as County Treasurer
in violation of G.L. c. 268A, §3(b).}"/

Section 3(b) prohibits a county employee

otherwise than as provided by law

for the proper discharge of official duty,

directly or indirectly [from] . . . solicit-

[ing], accept[ing] [or] receiv[ing] any-

thing of substantial value for or because

of any official act or act within his of-

ficial responsibility performed or to be

performed by him.

To establish a violation of §3(b) the Petitioner
need not demonstrate either a corrupt intent in
an employee’s conduct or an understood “quid
pro quo” between the receipt of the thing of sub-
stantial value and the performance of official
acts. Commonwealth v. Famigletti, 4 Mass.
App. 584, 587 (1976); Commonwealth v. Dutney,
4 Mass. App. 363, 375 (1976); Michael, supra,
at p. 29.'%/ Further, there need be no showing
that the performance of any official acts was in
fact influenced by the receipt of the thing of sub-
stantial value. Under §3(b) the Petitioner must
establish a relationship between the solicitation
or receipt of the thing of substantial value and
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the performance of an employee’s official acts.
Commonwealth v. Dutney, supra. “All that is
required to bring §3 into play is a nexus between
the motivation for the gift and the employee’s
public duties.” Michael, supra, at p. 31, The
purpose of statutes such as §3(b) is to reach any
situation in which the judgment of a government
official might be clouded because of the receipt
of gifts or other things of substantial value. “Even
if corruption is not intended by either the donor
or the donee, there is still a tendency in such a
situation to provide conscious or unconscious
preferential treatment of the donor by the donee,
or the inefficient management of public affairs.”
United States v. Evans, supra, at 480. On the
basis of these principles, the Commission makes
the following findings with respect to the Coolidge
Bank allegations.

a) “‘Something of Substantial Value”

The Commission finds that the terms of the
refinancing and other loan requests which Mr.
Antonelli made to Coolidge Bank on behalf of
UEDC in 1979, whether examined individually
or as part of a single ongoing transaction between
August and October, 1979, were “something of
substantial value” within the meaning of §3(b).
When viewed in terms of the dollar value involved,
the $1.95 million refinancing package, which
included a new $575,000 construction loan, is
something of substantial value. Compare, Com-
monwealth v, Famigletti, supra [$50 constitutes
something of substantial value]. Further, the re-
financing which Mr. Antonelli requested was
intended to salvage a commercial development
which was at a construction standstill and for
which other banks were refusing to lend addition-
al funds. Mr. Antonelli was therefore seeking a
refinancing which would allow completion of the

1%/As an clected County official, Mr. Antonelli is a “County
employce” within the meaning of G.L. c. 268A, §1(d).

17/These same facts also constitute a violation of §23(e) which
prohibits a County employee from, "by his conduct giv[ing] reasonable
basis for the impression that any person can improperly influence or
unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his official duties or that
he is unduly affected by the kinship, rank, position or influence of any
party or person.” See discussion of §28, infra.

18/See, also United States v. Niedberger, 580 F.2d 63, 69 (8rd Cir.
1978), cert. den. 45% U.S5. 980 (1978), United States v. Evans, 572
F.2d 455, 480 (5th Cir., 1978); United States v. Irwin, 354 F.2d 192,
196 {2nd Cir. 1965), which reach the same conclusins under comparable
federal provisions. See, 18 U.5.C. §201(g).



construction and which would necessarily result
in substantial benefit to him. %/

b) ‘Official Acts Performed or to be Per-
formed”

Mr. Antonelli decided to open the County
and County Retirement accounts with the Cool-
idge Bank and to deposit initially funds totalling
$1.1 million in these accounts on August 9, 1979.
These decisions were official acts which Mr.

Antonelli performed as County Treasurer.

c) *“For or Because of”

The facts amply support the allegation of a
relationship or nexus between Mr. Antonelli’s
solicitation and receipt of the refinancing pack-
age from Coolidge Bank and his official acts in
opening County Treasurer and County Retire-
ment System accounts with Coolidge Bank in
August, 1979:

1. The opening of the County Treasurer
and County Retirement System accounts and the
deposit of funds occurred during an important
stage of UEDC negotiations with Coolidge Bank
in which major details of the terms of the re-
financing package had not yet been worked out.

2. Mr. Antonelli chose that particular
period to open accounts and to deposit funds into
a bank which had done little, if any, previous
business with the County.

3. The initial deposits made with Coolidge
on August 9, 1979 exceeded $1 million.

4. The facts surrounding Mr. Antonelli’s
interaction with Messrs. McMahon and Ferretti
prior to opening the accounts, and Mr, Antonelli’s
actions in personally appearing after banking
hours to open the accounts and to deposit the
funds suggest an urgency to make the deposits
while UEDC negotiations were ongoing.

5. In the week prior to the opening of the
accounts, Mr. Antonelli had discussed with Mr.
Klein the possibility of opening County accounts
with the Coolidge Bank. This discussion occurred
during a meeting whose subject was Mr. An-
tonelli's UEDC refinancing request. Mr. Antonelli
personally delivered the County checks to Mr.
Klein the following week.
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The “for or because of”’ determination is a
question which must be resolved in light of the
facts of each case. Compare, Michael, supra,
at p. 29; Saccone and DelPrete, supra, at p. 10.
The Commission has carefully considered Mr.
Antonelli’s explanations for opening County ac-
counts and for depositing large sums in Coolidge
during this period but finds these explanations
unpersuasive. In particular, Mr. Antonelli’s
testimony that he wished to deposit funds in banks
with several branches located within Middlesex
County does not rebut the strong inferences sup-
porting a relationship.

d) “Otherwise than as Provided by Law
for the Proper Discharge of Official Duty”

The Commission finds that the solicitation
and acceptance by Mr. Antonelli of the UEDC
refinancing requests and loan from Coolidge
Bank was not provided by law for the proper dis-
charge of his official duties.?®/

Capitol Bank
The Commission concludes that Mr. An-
tonelli violated §23(e) in his dealings with the

,/See, Final Report of the Special Commission on Code of Ethics,
1962 House Doc. No. 3650 at 11 upon which the provisions of §3 were
based. (“Significant in these subsections is the provision that the thing
given must be of 'substantial value.’ The Commission concluded that
this was a standard 1o be dealt with by judicial interpretation in relation
to the facts of the particular case and that it was more desirable
than the imposition of a fixed valuation formula.”) In his Answer,
Mr. Antonelli admitted that the refinancing was something of substantial
value to Coolidge Bank.

0,/ The Commission does not agree with the Respondent’s contention
that his activities prior to the passage of St. 1981, c. 293 were implicitly
lawful under G.L. c. 268A. In 1981, the Legislature amended G.L. c.
35, §10 to prohibit county officials from accepting loans ar ather things
of value from an institution or business where they have invested or
committed county funds as part of their official duties. See, St. 1981,
c. 298. Nothing in the language or legislative history of the amendment
suggests that the Legislature intended to confer immunity on county
officials for prior violations of other statutes such as G.L, c. 268A
Moreover, the Commission's findings of violations of G.L. c. 268A in
this matter do not rest merely on Mr. Antonelli's dual status as a County
Treasurer and businessman.



Capitol Bank during the period of January, 1979
through May, 1981.21/

Under §23(e) a county employee may not
“by his conduct give reasonable basis for the im-
pression that any person can improperly influence
or unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of
his official duties, or that he is unduly affected
by the kinship, rank, position or influence of any
party or person.” A major purpose of §23(e) is
to prohibit an employee from engaging in con-
duct which will raise questions over the credibility
and impartiality of his work as a public employee.
The Commission has consistently applied the
§23(e) prohibitions whenever a public employee
has had private financial dealings with the same
parties with whom he deals as a public employee.
See, e.g. In the Matter of William L. Bagni,
Sr., Commission Adjudicatory Docket No. 124,
Decision and Order (January 29, 1981) [state in-
spector violates §23(e) by repeatedly soliciting
private work from businesses over whom he has
official responsibility]; In the Matter of Louis
L. Logan, Commission Adjudicatory Docket
No. 131, Decision and Order (April 28, 1981)
[state employee violates §23(e) by advancing his
personal funds to a company while the company
is applying for a large loan which the employee
will review in his state position]; EC-COI-81-134
[state official violates §23(e) by taking a foreign
charter trip which is paid for by private individ-
uals whom the official regulates in his official
capacity.]

In reviewing Mr. Antonelli's public and
private dealings with Capitol Bank during the
period of January, 1979 through May, 1981, the
Commission finds a troublesome pattern of de-
cisions either made by Mr. Antonelli or within
his official responsibilities as County Treasurer
to open County accounts or to deposit and retain
large amounts of County funds in Capitol Bank
during the same period in which he was either
seeking or receiving private loans from Capitol
Bank. For example, Mr. Antonelli requested
an $18,000 loan from Capitol Bank during the
same week in which he invested $3.7 million in
county funds at Capitol Bank; within one month,
he had opened three County accounts at Capitol
Bank. On October 17, 1979, three weeks after
Mr. Antonelli received a $135,000 loan from
Capitol Bank, $500,000 was deposited into the
County Treasurer’s checking account at Capitol
Bank. Further, Mr, Antonelli received a $116,000
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loan from the Capitol Bank on January 12, 1981,
On the following day $300,000 was deposited
into the County Treasurer’s checking account at
Capitol Bank where it remained idle through the
end of May, 1981. The Commission finds that
the time pattern of Mr. Antonelli's public and
private dealings with Capitol Bank during the
period of January, 1979 through May, 1981 gives
a reasonable basis for the impression that Capitol
Bank could improperly influence him or unduly
enjoy his favor in the performance of his official
duties as County Treasurer, in violation of §23(e).
While the facts also reveal other violations of
§23(e) as well, the Commission believes that the
three aforementioned fact patterns exemplify the
kind of conduct which §23(e) was designed to
prohibit and therefore finds that the consider-
ation of additional violations would be unneces-
sarily cumulative.??/

The Commission has carefully considered
the merits of the Petitioner’s allegation of a §3(b)
violation with respect to Mr. Antonelli's public
and private dealings with Capitol Bank. While
the facts present a clear pattern of §23(e) vio-
lations, the Commission is not persuaded that the
inferences from the coincidence of Mr. Antonelli's

t/Contrary to the Respondent’s pre-hearing assertion, the Com-
mission possesses the authority under G.L. ¢. 268B, §4 to investigate,
adjudicate and impose penalties for any violation of G.L. c. 268A,
including the six standards of conduct contained in G.L. c. 268A, §23.
The reference in G.L. c. 268B, §3(i) to the Commission’s status *as the
primary civil enforcement agency for violations of c. 268A, as specified
in §§9 and 15 of that chapter . . ." is not inconsistent with G.L. c.
2688, §4. G.L.c. 268A, §§9 and 15 authorize the Commission to initiate
an additional action for the recovery of damages on behalf of the Com-
monwealth or county where a party's violation of c. 268A has resulied
in an economic advantage. The Commission's authority to initiate such
civil enforcement actions can only be reasonably read as a supplement
to, rather than a limitation on, the Commission's broad authority under
G.L. c. 268B, §4. Sce, Graham v. McGrail, 370 Mass. 138, 140 (1976)
[G.L. c. 268A must be given a workable meaning.]

The Commission's policy of adjudicating violations of G.L. c.
268A, §28 has received judicial approval. See, Craven v. Vorenberg,
supra. While it is true, as the Respondent suggests, that the Commission
could have chosen to exercise its authority over §23 in a different manner,
for example, by merely reporting previously investigated viclations of
§23 to an employee’s appointing official rather than by initiating ad-
judicatory procecdings, the policy which the Commission has adopted
is a permissible exercise of its discretion under G.L. ¢, 268B, §¢. More
over, the adoption of the Respondent's alternate suggestion would render
§23 ineffective in cases involving clected officials such as Mr. Antonelli
who do not have an appointing official who can exercise disciplinary
authority over them,

*/For the same reasons, the Commission does not reach the issue
of whether the same facts which form the basis of the §23(e) violations
would also violate §23(d).



public and private dealings with Capitol Bank,
without more, establish facts sufficient for a
violation of §3(b). Compare, Michael, supra,
at p. 34; Saccone and DelPrete, supra, at pp.
10-11; discussion of Coolidge Bank violations,
supra, at pp. 29-30.

U.S. Trust

The Commission similarly concludes that
Mr. Antonelli violated §23(e) in his dealings with
U.S. Trust during the period of January, 1979
to May, 1981.

A review of Mr. Antontelli’s public and pri-
vate dealings with U.S. Trust during this period
again reveals, as with Capitol Bank, a trouble-
some pattern of decisions by Mr. Antonelli to
open County accounts or to deposit and retain
large amounts of County funds in U.S. Trust
during the same period in which he was seeking
or receiving private loans from U.S. Trust. In
particular, the Commission finds that Mr. An-
tonelli's solicitation or receipt of three specific
loan transactions during the same period in which
he opened County accounts and deposited County
funds exemplify conduct which violates §23(e).

Within two weeks after Mr. Antonelli had
received an initial $25,000 personal loan from
U.S. Trust, he opened three County accounts,
including a Retirement System savings account
of $750,00. Additionally, a series of U.S. Trust
loans to Mr. Antonelli’s nursing homes in June
and July, 1980 totalling $35,000 occurred during
the same period in which Mr, Antonelli directed
a $300,000 deposit into a County Retirement
Systemn account at U.S. Trust where it remained
idle through the end of the year. Further, within
one week after Mr. Antonelli received a $75,000
loan in August, 1980, he arranged for a deposit
of $250,000 in the U.S. Trust County Hospital
account where it remained idle through the
middle of 1981.

For the reasons expressed in the discussion
of Capitol Bank, the Commission finds that the
time pattern of Mr. Antonelli's public and private
dealings with U.S. Trust during the period of
January, 1979 to May, 1981 gives a reasonable
basis for the impression that U.S. Trust could
improperly influence him or unduly enjoy his
favor in the performance of his official duties as
County Treasurer in violation of §23(e).?*/
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Suffolk Franklin Bank

The Commission concludes that Mr. An-
tonelli violated §23(e) on August 30, 1979 by
offering to either open a County account or de-
posit County funds in the Suffolk Franklin Bank.
The facts warrant no extended discussion. Mr.
Antonelli’s offer occurred at a meeting with a
Suffolk Franklin Bank official who had agreed
during the meeting to rescind an interest rate
increase gn a $500,000 UEDC private loan ac-
count whrch was delinquent. The Commission
finds that the timing of Mr. Antonelli's offer
created a reasonable basis for the impression that
Suffolk Franklin would unduly enjoy Mr. An-
tonelli’s favor in the performance of his official
duties in violation of §23(e).**/

IV. Order

On the basis of the foregoing, the Com-
mission concludes that Mr. Rocco J. Antonelli,
Sr. viclated G.L. c. 268A, §§3(b) and 23(e).
Pursuant to its authority under G.L. c. 268B,
§4(d) the Commission hereby orders Mr. An-
tonelli to pay the civil penalties set forth below.
In arriving at these penalties, the Commission
has carefully considered the differences in the
gravity of the offenses. Accordingly, the Com-
mission orders Mr. Antonelli to:

1. Pay $1,000 (one thousand dollars) to
the Commission as a civil penalty for soliciting
and accepting something of substantial value
from the Coolidge Bank in violation of G.L. c.
268A, §3(b).2%/

2. Pay $750 (seven hundred and fifty
dollars) to the Commission as a civil penalty
for each of the three violations of G.L. c. 268A,

1, The three cited fact pattemns arc merely examples of violation
of §2%(c) and are not a complete recitation of all such violations within
the record. For the reasons stated previously, the Commission finds no
need to either accumulate additional violations of §23{(e) in this case or
adjudicate further violations of §23(d) based upon those sarne facts.

The Commission also notes that it is not persuaded that the inferences
from the coincidence of Mr, Antonelli's public and private dealings with
U.5. Trust establish facts sufficient for a violation of §3(b).

4,/ The Petitioner did not pursue the allegation of a §3(b) violation
from these facts in its post-hearing brief. See, Bricf of Petitioner at p. 43.
The Commission does not find a sufficient “relationship” to warrant a
§5(h) violation. The Commission also finds that the consideration of
additionat violations under §23(d) would be unnecessarily cumulative.

=, 'T'he Commission finds no need Lo impoie a separate penalty for
Mr. Antonelli’s violation of §23(e) for Coolidge Bank since the same facts
form the basis of both vialations,



§23(e) relating to the Capitol Bank, for a total
of $2,250 (two thousand two hundred and fifty
dollars).

3. Pay $500 (five hundred dollars) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for each of the
three violations of G.L. c. 268A, §23(e) relating
to the U.S. Trust, for a total of $1,500 (fifteen
hundred dollars).

4. Pay $500 (five hundred dollars) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for his violation
of G.L. c. 268A, §23(e) relating to the Suffolk
Franklin Savings Bank.

The Commission orders Mr. Antonelli to
pay these penalties totalling $5,250 (five thousand
two hundred and fifty dollars) to the Commission
within thirty days of the receipt of this Decision
and Order.28/

DATE: June 29, 1982

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 167

INTHE MATTER
OF
WILLIAM J. HULBIG

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This disposition agreement (“agreement") is
entered into between the State Ethics Commission
(“Commission”) and William J. Hulbig (“Mr. Hulbig")
pursuant to Section 11 of the Commission’s Pro-
cedures Covering the Initiation and Conduct of Pre-
liminary Inquiries and Investigations, The parties
agree that this agreement constitutes a consented to
final order of the Commission enforceable in the
Superior Court, pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On June 1, 1982, the Commission initiated a
preliminary inquiry, pursuant to G.L. ¢. 268B, §4(a),
into possible violations of the Conflict-of-Interest
Law, G.L. c. 268A, involving Mr. Hulbig, Building

' /Commissioner McLaughlin dissents from the Commission’s con-
clusion of a §3(b) violatien but concurs in the conclusion of 2 §23(c)
violation with respect ta the allegations invelving Coolidge Bank as well
as the other banks,
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Commissioner of the Town of Westwood. The Com-
mission has concluded that preliminary inquiry and,
on July 19, 1982, found reasonable cause to believe
that Mr. Hulbig has violated G.L. c. 268A, §19. The
parties now agree to the following findings of fact
and conclusions of law:

1. At all times material herein, Mr. Hulbig
was Building Commissioner of Westwood, and as
such was a municipal employee as defined in
G.L. c. 268A, §1(g).

2. As Building Commissioner, Mr. Hulbig was
responsible for issuing building permits upon sub-
mission of plans which complied with state and local
codes and laws, and for conducting inspections of
work done pursuant to those permits.

3. General Laws, Chapter 268A, §19 provides
in pertinent part that a municipal employee shall not
participate in a particular matter in which to his
knowledge a member of his immediate family has a
financial interest unless he first advises his appoint-
ing authority of the nature and circumstances of the
particular matter and the finaneial interest in it and
receives a written determination made by that of-
ficial that the interest is not so substantial as to
be deemed likely to affect the integrity of the ser-
vices the municipality may expect from the em-
ployee.

4. Mr. Hulbig violated §19 by participating in
the following particular matters in which his son,
Phillip E. Huibig, as president, treasurer and princi-
pal employee of Chris Construction Company, had
a financial interest:

a. On three occasions, Mr. Hulbig
issued building permits upon application by
Philip E. Hulbig or Chris Construction
Company. These were Westwood Building
permits #5481, #5617 and #5618.

b. On seven occasions, Mr. Hulbig
acted as Building Commissioner in in-
specting work performed by Phillip E.
Hulbig pursuant to building permits issued
by Mr. Hulbig. These inspections were
related to Westwood building permits
#4953, #5027, #5032, #5481, #5597, #5617
and #5618.

5. The Commission has found no evidence of
corrupt intent on behalf of Mr. Hulbig nor any pre-
ferential treatment of his son in the issuance of per-
mits or the inspection of work performed.

WHEREFORE, The Commission has deter-
mined that the public interest would be served by the



disposition of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceeding on the basis of the following repre-
sentations agreed to by Mr. Hulbig:

1. That, in light of the ten individual instances
of conduct enumerated above, he pay the Commis-
sion the sum of $1,000 forthwith as a civil penalty for
violating G.L. c. 2684, §19; and

2. That he waive all rights to contest the find-
ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms and con-
ditions contained in this agreement in this or any
related administrative or judicial proceedings.

DATE: August 23, 1982

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 170

IN THE MATTER
OF
MICHAEL MARTIN

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This disposition agreement (agreement) is
entered into between the State Ethics Commission
{Commission) and Michael Martin (Mr, Martin) pur-
suant to Section 11 of the Commission’s Procedures
Covering the Initiation and Conduct of Preliminary
Inquiries and Investigations, The parties agree that
this agreement constitutes a consented to final Com-
mission order enforceable in the Superior Court pur-
suant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On February 2, 1982, the Commission initiated
a preliminary inquiry, pursuant to G.L. c. 268B,
§4(a), into possible violations of the Conflict-of-In-
terest Law, G.L. c. 268A, involving Mr. Martin,
formerly a selectman of the Town of Swampscott
(town). The Commission has concluded that pre-
liminary inquiry and, on September 7, 1982, found
reasonable cause to believe that Mr. Martin has
violated G.L. ¢. 268A, §17(c). The parties now agree
to the following findings of fact and conclusions of
law:

1. Mr. Martin served as a selectman in the
town from April of 1975 to April 26, 1981, He there-
fore was a “municipal employee” as defined in G.L.
c. 268A, §1(g).
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2, At all times material hereto, Mr. Martin was
also an attorney.

3. On July 25, 1980 the town obtained a final
decree in a tax lien case regarding property owned
by Anthony V, Grieco at 17 King Street, Swampscott
(property).

4. On April 1, 1981, Mr. Grieco submitted a
letter to the town Board of Selectmen (board) re-
questing that he be allowed to redeem his property
by settling his tax debt with the town. That request
was taken up by the board at its meeting on April
16, 1981,

5. Inthe weeks before the April 16th meeting
of the board, Mr. Martin tock the following actions in
relation to the property:

(a) Mr. Martin met with Mr. Grieco
and Deems Hatch at Grieco’s house on two
or three separate occasions to discuss Mr.
Grieco's tax troubles and the possible pur-
chase of the property by Mr. Hatch;

{b) in late February or early March,

Mr. Martin telephoned the town tax title

attorney, James Coppola, to ascertain the

status of the property and to inquire about

the laws relating to town tax takings and

foreclosures, and during this conversation

Coppola informed Martin that the town

could rescind the foreclosure;

{c) on March 12, 1981, Mr. Martin,
stating that he was calling on behalf of Mr.
Hatch, contacted a real estate appraiser and
asked him to contact Mr. Hatch to arrange
for an appraisal of the property; and

{d) on or about April 16, 1981, Mr.
Martin called another attorney and asked
him to prepare a purchase and sale agree-
ment.

6. At the April 16th meeting of the board, Mr.
Martin, in his capacity as a member of the board,
noted that Mr. Grieco had had financial difficulties
not of his own making and stated that he felt it was
in the town’s best interest to assist the man, Mr.
Martin then moved that the board allow Mr. Grieco
three weeks to pay his back taxes. That motion
carried. There was no evidence of any misrepre-
sentation made by any party before this vote.

7. Subsequent to the April 16 meeting of the
board:

(a) Mr. Martin instructed the attor-
ney as to the terms of the agreement; and

(b) Mr. Martin suggested to Mr.
Grieco and to Mr. Hatch the use of a2 mort-
gage instrument to protect Mr. Hatch's



interest in the over $9,000 which he would

have to advance to Mr. Grieco in order for

Mr. Grieco to clear the tax debt.

8. Mr. Martin was present when Mr. Hatch
and Mr. Grieco signed a purchase and sale agreement
at Mr. Grieco's house on April 18, 1981,

9. On April 21, 1981, Mr. Grieco delivered a
check to the town in the amount of $9,379.31 to clear
the tax debt on the property.

10. Sometime in June or July of 1981, Mr.
Martin telephoned a title examiner and asked him to
do a title examination for the property.

11. Mr, Grieco and Mr. Hatch passed papers
with respect to the property on August 14, 1981. Mr.
Martin was present at that closing. He inspected the
checks Mr. Hatch gave to Mr, Grieco and notarized
Mr. Grieco's signature on the deed.

12. On August 17, 1981, Mr. Martin recorded
the deed to the property.

13. General Laws Chapter 268A, §17(c) pro-
hibits a municipal employee, otherwise than in the
proper discharge of his official duties, from acting
as agent for a private party in connection with any
particular matter in which his town has a direct and
substantial interest. By his actions set out in para-
graph 5 above, Mr. Martin violated §17(c) because:

a, the sale of the property was a “par-
ticular matter” (as that term is defined in
G.L. c. 268A, §1(k)) in which the town had a
direct and substantial interest by virtue of
the tax debt owed;

b. he was acting on behalf of at least
Mr. Hatch, if not on behalf of both Mr.
Hatch and Mr, Grieco; and

¢. because of this degree of particip-
ation in advising both Mr. Hatch and Mr.
Grieco in this matter, Mr, Martin’s conduct
cannot be characterized as in the proper dis-
charge of his official duties.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforcement
proceedings on the basis of the following represent-
ations agreed to by Mr. Martin:

1. that he pay the Commission the sum of
$1,000 forthwith as a civil penalty for his violation of
G.L. c.268A, §17; and

2. that he waive all rights to contest the find-
ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms and con-
ditions contained in this agreement or in this or any
related administrative or judicial proceedings to
which the Commission is a party.

DATE: September 7, 1982
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 168

IN THE MATTER
OF
DANIEL SHARRIO

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This disposition agreement ({(agreement) is
entered into between the State Ethies Commission
(“Commission”) and Daniel Sharrio (Mr. Sharrio)
pursuant to Section 11 of the Commission's Proced-
ures Covering the Initiation and Conduct of Pre-
liminary Inquiries and Investigations. The parties
agree that this agreement constitutes a consented to
final order of the Commission enforceable in the
Superior Court, pursuant to G.L. c. 268B, §4(d).

On March 16, 1982, the Commission initiated a
preliminary inquiry, pursuant to G.L- ¢, 268B, §4(a)
into possible violations of the Conflict-of-Interest
Law, G.L. c. 268A, involving Mr. Sharrio, Deputy
Director of the Worcester Housing Authority
(“WHA"). The Commission has concluded that pre-
liminary inquiry and, on June 16, 1982, found reason-
able cause to believe that Mr. Sharrio has violated
G.L. c. 268A, §23(d). The parties now agree to the
following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

1, At all times material herein, Mr. Sharrio
was Deputy Director of the WHA, and as such was a
municipal employee as defined in G.L. ¢. 2684, §1(g).

2, General Laws Chapter 268A, §23(d) pro-
vides in pertinent part that no municipal employee
shall use or attempt to use his official position- to
secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions for
himself or others.

3. Mr. Sharrio violated Section 23(d) by using
his official position as Deputy Director of the WHA
to secure the following unwarranted privileges:

a, On three occasions during 1980,

he secured discounts in the amount of $20,

$44, and $60, respectively, on personal pur-

chases from private businesses which did

business with the WHA;

b. On one oceasion in 1980, by using

the WHA tax exempt organization number,

he failed to pay a state sales tax and a fed-

eral excise tax totalling approximately $20

on a personal purchase;

¢. On one occasion in 1980, by using a

WHA purchase order to make a personal



purchase from a department store, he was

able to make the purchase on credit, a

method of purchase not available to the

general public, and, at the same time, he
again avoided state sales tax, amounting to
approximately $5.00; and

d. On one occasion in 1980, he with-
drew items from the WHA storercom for

his personal use valued at approximately

$60. One item, valued at approximately $50,

was later returned, but only after the Com-
mission notified Mr. Sharrio that it was re-
viewing his conduct.

WHEREFOQRE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforce-
ment proceedings on the basis of the following repre-
sentations agreed to by Mr, Sharrio:

1. That in light of the five individual instances
of misconduct enumerated above, but more par-
ticularly, because of the pattern of misconduct
thouse instances represent, he pay the Commission
the sum of $500 forthwith as a civil penalty for violat-
ing G.L. c. 268A, §23(d); and

2. That he weive all rights to contest the find-
ings of fact, conclusions of law and terms and con-
ditions contained in this agreement in this or any
related administrative or judicial proceedings.

DATE: September 14, 1982

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 155

INTHE MATTER
OF
HENRY M. DOHERTY

Appearances:
David J. Burns, Esq.: Counsel for the Peti-
tioner, State Ethics Commission
William A. McDermott, Jr., Esq.: Counsel
for the Respondent, Henry M. Doherty

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch., McLaughlin, Brickman,
Mulligan
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DECISION AND ORDER
I. Procedural History
The Petitioner filed an Order to Show Cause
on May 27, 1982 alleging that the Respondent,
Henry M. Doherty, had violated §7 of M.G.L.
c. 268A, the conflict of interest law. The Re-
spondent filed an Answer which denied any vio-
lation of the law and which, in addition, raised
defenses based on the asserted unconstitutionality
of the Commission’s enforcement action and on
other legal grounds.

The Petitioner filed a Motion for Summary
Decision and submitted a brief in support thereof
on August 25, 1982. Pursuant to notice, a hearing
on the motion was conducted on August 25, 1982
before Commissioner David Brickman, a duly
designated presiding officer. See, M.G.L. c.
268B, §4(c). The parties thereafter filed post-
hearing briefs and presented oral argument
before the full Commission on October 19, 1982,
In rendering this Decision and Order, the four
participating members of the Commission have
considered the evidence and arguments presented
by the parties.

II. Findings of Fact

1. Mr. Doherty is the Assistant Director of
Recreation at the Metropolitan District Com-
mission (MDC).

2. Mr. Doherty’s working hours at the
MDC are from 8:45 a.m. to 5 p.m., Monday
through Friday, and he earns $21,010 per year
from the MDC.

3. Mr. Doherty is also employed by the
Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority
(MBTA) as a Car Cleaner. He began working for
the MBTA in May, 1960.

4, Mr. Doherty's working hours at the
MBTA are from 12 a.m. to 7 a.m., Sunday
through Thursday, and he eamms $22,308 per
year from the MBTA.

IIXI. Decision

For the reasons stated below, the Commis-
sion concludes that Mr. Doherty is in violation of
M.G.L. c. 268A, 87 by having a financial interest
in a contract made by a state agency.

A. The MBTA as a state agency

Section 7 prohibits a state employee from
having a financial interest “. . . directly or in-
directly, in a contract made by a state agency in



which the commonwealth or a state agency is an
interested party, . . ." Mr. Doherty admits that
he is a state employee under M.G.L. c. 2684,
§1(q) by virtue of his position with the MDC but
denies that the MBTA is a state agency under
M.G.L. c. 2684, §1(p).

For the purposes of M.G.L. c. 268A, “state
agency” is defined as

any department of a state govern-

ment including the executive, legislative

or judicial, and all councils thereof and

thereunder, and any division, board,

bureau, commission, institution, tri-

bunal or other instrumentality within

such department, and any independent

state authority, district, commission,

instrumentality or agency, but not an

agency of a county, city or town. M.G.L.

c. 268A, §1(p). (emphasis added)
The MBTA's enabling legislation, M.G.L. c.
161A, §2, defines it as a body politic and cor-
porate and a political subdivision of the Com-
monwealth which has the power to hold property,
to sue and be sued and to prosecute and defend
actions relating to its property and affairs. The
language of M.G.L. c. 161A, §2, clearly estab-
lishes the MBTA as an “independent state au-
thority” and, as such, it is within the aforemen-
tioned definition of state agency. This conclusion
is consistent with previous Commission and At-
torney General Advisory Opinions. The Com-
mission has included transit authorities compar-
able to the MBTA in structure as state agencies.
Commission Advisory Opinions EC-COI-81-119
and 79-91 define regional transit authorities
(RTA) as state agencies. The statute creating
RTAs, M.G.L. c. 161B, §2, uses language iden-
tical to that found in the enabling legislation of
the MBTA. Moreover, Attorney General Con-
flict Opinions Nos. 795 and 823 specifically con-
clude that the MBTA is a state agency for the
purposes of M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(p).

B. Mr. Doherty’s financial interest in
the MBTA contract

Mr. Doherty contends that his financial in-
terest in the MBTA contract does not violate
M.G.L. C. 268A, §7, and he raises four argu-
ments in support of his position.

1. Mr. Doherty initially maintains that
M.G.L. c. 268A, §7 was not intended to cover
contracts entered into prior to the enactment of

M.G.L. c. 268A in 1962. However, the Com-
mission finds no support for this contention in
either the plain language of §7 or in the outside
sections which accompanied the enactment of
M.G.L. c. 268A. See, St. 1962 c. 779, §§1 et seq.
Absent a specific grandfather or saving clause
reflecting a legislative intention to exempt pre-
existing contracts from the prohibitions of §7,
the Commission cannot infer an intent to have
§7 operate prospectively. To the contrary, §7
established a procedure for employees to divest a
prohibited financial interest within thirty (30)
days after they learn of the actual or prospective
violation. M.G.L. c. 268A, §7(a).!/ Accordingly,
when M.G.L. c. 268A was enacted, Mr. Doherty
had the opportunity under the statute to resign
from one of his state positions and divest his fin-
ancial interest.

2. Mr. Doherty also argues that an em-
ployment contract is distinguishable from other
contracts for “goods” or ‘“services” which are
prohibited under §7. This argument is also with-
out merit for several reasons. First, a contract for
personal services is viewed as a contract of em-
ployment within the §7 prohibitions. Buss, The
Massachusetts Conflict of Interest Statute: An
Analysis, 45 B.U.L. Rev. 299, 368, 372 (1965).
Second, the Commission considered and rejected
this distinction in 1980. Pursuant to this deter-
mination the Commission has consistently found
that contracts for personal services fall within the
purview of §7. EC-COI-80-118, 80-97 and 80-88.
Third, since the policy behind §7 is to prevent
state employees from using their positions to in-
fluence the awarding of state contracts in a way -
beneficial to themselves, Mr. Doherty’s interpret-
ation is too limited and defeats the legislative
intent of this section.

3. Mr, Doherty also contends that he is not
in violation of §7 since his salary under the second

-contract is not derived from the treasury of the

116

Commonwealth. To support this contention Mr.
Doherty cites M.G.L. c. 30, §21 which prohibits
a person from receiving more than one salary
from the treasury of the Commonwealth. He

'/This provision states that “(Section 7) shall not apply (a) to a
state employee who in good faith and within thirty days after he
learns of an actual or prospective violation of this section makes full
disclosure of his financial interest to the comtracting agency and ter-
minates or disposes of the interest,. . .”



maintains that because his MBTA salary does
not constitute a “‘salary from the treasury of the
Commonwealth,"” his compliance with M.G.L.
c. 30, §21 satisfies the requirements of M.G.L.
c. 268A, §7.

The Commission finds, however, that the
scope of the §7 prohibition is significantly broader
than the restrictions of c. 30, §21 and prohibits
state employees from having a financial interest
in a state contract irrespective of whether the
contract funds pass through the treasury of the
Commonwealth. Moreover, in a recent Advisory
Opinion, the Commission concluded that a state
employee’s violation of § 7 required his divestiture
of a prohibited financial interest in a state con-
tract notwithstanding his compliance with M.G.L.
c. 30, §21. See, EC-COI-82-102.

4. Mr. Doherty further contends that the
Order to Show Cause does not allege facts which
form a violation of §7. Specifically, he contends
that the Commission’s proceeding is premised on
the time which he accepted the MBTA position
in 1960, prior to the enactment of M.G.L. c.
268A in 1962. However, it is clear from both the
Petitioner's argument and 48 of the Order to
Show Cause that the focus of this proceeding is
on Mr. Doherty’s present financial interest in the
MBTA contract and not on his conduct in 1960.2/
The Commission finds that the Order to Show
Cause sufficiently notified the parties that Mr.
Doherty’s present financial interest was at issue
in the adjudicatory proceedings. Mr. Doherty
does not contend that he lacked a reasonable
opportunity to prepare and present argument on
this issue, and the Commission notes that the
issue was fully briefed and argued by the parties.
See, M.G.L. c. 30A, §11. Compare, Aristocratic
Restaurant of Massachusetts, Inc. v. Alcoholic
Beverages Control Commisison (No. 1), 374
Mass. 547, 551 (1978); Golden Grain Macaroni
Company v. F.T.C., 472 F.2d 882, 886 (9th
Cir., 1972).

C. Affirmative Defenses
1. Ex Post Facto

Mr. Doherty alleges that the enforcement of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §7 in this instance operates as
an ex post facto law as applied to him. To sup-
port his position, he argues that the Commission
is seeking to punish him under a penal statute for
past activity which was legal before the enactment
of M.G.L. c. 268A. The Commission finds this

argument without merit. The United States Su-
preme Court has held that a law is not character-
ized as ex post facto where it seeks to regulate
current conduct rather than to punish an in-
dividual for past activity. De Veau v. Braisted,
363 U.S. 144, 160 (1960). In the instant case,
the Commission is not addressing Mr. Doherty’s
conduct prior to 1962, but, as stated above, is
addressing his ongoing activity. Furthermore,
Mr. Doherty's argument characterizing M.G.L.
c. 268A as a penal statute for the purposes of the
Commission's proceedings has been rejected by
the Supreme Judicial Court in Opinion of the
Justices, 375 Mass. 795, 819 (1978). The Com-
mission has also rejected the applicability of the
ex post facto prohibition to its proceedings by -
noting that it is not applicable to administrative
proceedings, such as the Commission’s, which
involve the imposition of civil sanctions. In the
Matter of George A. Michael, Adjudicatory
Docket No. 137, Decision and Order pages 27-28
(September 28, 1981).

2. Laches

Mr. Doherty also argues that the Commis-
sion is barred from pursuing this matter on the
basis of laches. He maintains that he has relied
to his detriment on the Commonwealth’s failure
to notify him that he was in violation of the law
for the past nineteen (19) years.

The defense of laches is not available to de-
fendants where the proceeding is brought by an
authorized public agency to enforce the laws of
the Commonwealth. Board of Health of Hol-
brook v. Nelson, 351 Mass. 17 (1966). Mr.
Doherty attempts to distinguish Holbrook on the
grounds that the Commission proceeding repre-
sents an attempt by the Commonwealth to “en-
trap” him. He further argues that the Common-
wealth owes a higher standard of duty to its em-
ployees in this instance. However, Mr. Doherty
offers no proof of his allegation of entrapment
and fails to cite any authority for his position on
the duty owed by the Commonwealth. Moreover,
even if laches were available as a defense, it was

1/The second sentence of I8 of the Order to Show Cause contains
the Petitioner's allegation that, “[Mr. Doherty] has a financial interest
[in the MBTA contract] in violation of §7 of G.L. ¢. 268A." The pre-
ceding sentence within 18 identifies the MBTA contract which Mr,
Doherty accepted in 1960. The acceptance of the contract in 1960,
however, is not an element of the §7 violation.



incumbent upon Mr. Doherty to prove that the
Commission knew of the violation and thereafter
waited several years before enforcing the law
against him. Mr. Doherty failed. to meet his
burden of proof on this issue. Compare, Gates v.
Department of Motor Vehicles, 94 Cal. App.
3d. 921 (1979).

3. Statute of Limitations

Finally, Mr. Doherty argues that the Com-
mission is barred from enforcing the law by the
statute of limitations. He supports his argument
by maintaining that the Commission is seeking to
enforce against activity dating back to 1960. As
stated earlier, this enforcement proceeding is
premised on ongoing activity. Therefore, the
Commission finds that the statute of limitations
is not a relevant factor in this proceeding.

IV. Order

On the basis of the foregoing, the Com-
mission concludes that Henry M. Doherty is in
violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §7. Pursuant to the
Commission’s authority under M.G.L. c. 268B,
§4(d), the Commission orders that Mr. Doherty
cease and desist from such violation and pay the
civil penalty as set forth below. In arriving at these
sanctions for a violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, the
Commission has carefully considered certain
mitigating factors raised by Mr. Doherty, specifi-
cally, the fact that he entered into his employ-
ment arrangement with the MBTA prior to the
enactment of M.G.L. c. 268A and the inaction
of other law enforcement agencies subsequent to
the law's enactment. While these factors do not
excuse Mr. Doherty's violation of M.G.L. c.
268A, they do furnish a basis for the Commis-
sion’s decision to impose a less-than-maximum
penalty in this case.’/ Accordingly, the Com-
mission orders Henry M. Dcherty to:

*/Through this Adjudicatory Decision, the Commission intends
to put state officials and employees on notice that §7, in general, pro-
hibits employees from holding two state jobs and that violations of §7
will be prosecuted and enforced through cease and desist orders as well
as civil fines. Because this is the first Commission Adjudicatory Decision
involving a violation of M.G.L. c. 2684, §7, the Commission concludes
that a minimum fine together with a cease and desist. order is an ap-
propriate sanction. However, subsequent cases based upon comparable
violations of §7 will be subject to a more substantial civil fine.

1. Cease and desist from violating M.G.L.
c. 268A, §7 by terminating one of his employ-
ment arrangements with the state.

2. Pay $100 (one hundred dollars) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for having a fin-
ancial interest in a contract made by the MBTA
in violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §7.

The Commission directs Mr. Doherty to
comply with these orders within fourteen days of
receipt of this Decision and Order.

DATE: November 18, 1982

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 156

IN THE MATTER
OF
DAVID 1. FLEMING, JR.

Appearances:
David J. Burns, Esq.: Counsel for the Peti-
tioner, State Ethics Commission
Richard F. Fell, Esq.: Counsel for the Re-
spondent, David I. Fleming, Jr.

Commissioners:
Vorenberg, Ch., Brickman, McLaughlin,
Mulligan

DECISION AND ORDER

I. Procedural History

The Petitioner filed an Order to Show Cause
on May 27, 1982 alleging that the Respondent,
David 1. Fleming, Jr., had violated §7 of M.G.L.
c. 268A, the conflict of interest law. The Re-
spondent filed an Answer which denied any vio-
lation of the law.

The Petitioner filed a Motion for Summary
Decision and submitted a brief in support thereof
on October 1, 1982. Pursuant to notice, a hearing
on the motion was conducted on October 6, 1982
before Commissioner David Brickman, a duly
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designated presiding officer. See, M.G.L. c.
268B, §4(c). The parties thereafter filed post-
hearing briefs and presented oral argument be-
fore the full Commission on November 9, 1982,
In rendering this Decision and Order, the four
participating members of the Commission have
considered the evidence and arguments pre-
sented by the parties.

II. Findingsof Fact

1. Mr. Fleming is a Court Officer at the
West Roxbury District Court (the Court).

2. Mr. Fleming's working hours at the
Court are from 8:30 a.m. to 4 p.m., Monday
through Friday, and he earns $22,728 per year
from the Court.

3. Mr. Fleming is also employed by the
Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority
(MBTA) as an Assistant Automotive Maintenance
Foreman. He began working for the MBTA in
January, 1962,

4. Mr. Fleming's working hours at the
MBTA are from 12 a.m. to 7 a.m. on Saturday,
and from 1 a.m. to 8 a.m. on four other days.

5. During the calendar year 1981, Mr.
Fleming earned $34,109 from the MBTA.
II. Decision

For the reasons stated below, the Commis-
sion concludes that Mr. Fleming is in violation
of M.G.L. c. 268A, §7 by having a financial
interest in a contract made by a state agency.

A. The MBTA as a state agency

Section 7 prohibits a state employee from
having a direct or indirect financial interest in
a contract made by a state agency in which the
Commonwealth or a state agency is an interested
party. Mr. Fleming admits that he is a state em-
ployee under M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(q) by virtue
of his position with the Court but denies that the
MBTA is a state agency under M.G.L. c¢. 2684,
§1(p). Mr. Fleming argues that the MBTA is an
independent authority comparable in structure
to the Massachusetts Turnpike Authority (MTA)
and the Massachusetts Port Authority (Massport)
which he contends are not state agencies under
§1(p). Mr. Fleming is correct in his interpretation
that the MBTA, the MTA and Massport are in-
dependent state authorities but his contention
that they are not state agencies within the mean-
ing of §1(p) is erroneous.

119

For the purposes of M.G.L. c. 268A, “state

agency" is defined as
any department of a state govern-

ment including the executive, legislative

or judicial, and all councils thereof and

thereunder, and any division, board,

bureau, comrmission, institution, tri-

bunal or other instrumentality within

such department and any independent

state authority, district, commission,

instrumentality or agency, but not an

agency of a county, city or town. M.G.L.

c. 268A, §1(p). (emphasis added)
This definition includes the MBTA, the MTA
and Massport. This conclusion is consistent with
previous Commission and Attorney General Ad-
visory Opinions. Attorney General Conflict
Opinion Nos. 795 and 823 specifically conclude
that the MBTA is a state agency for the purposes
of M.G.L. c. 268A, §1(p). Furthermore, Com-
mission Advisory Opinions EC-COI-82-84, 81-127
and Attorney General Conflict Opinion No. 556
define the MTA and Massport as state agencies
within the meaning of §1(p). The identical con-
clusion is fully discussed in the Decision and
Order of In the Matter of Henry M. Doherty,
a companion case issued today.!/

B. Mr. Fleming's financial interest in
the MBTA contract

Mr. Fleming contends that his financial in-
terest in the MBTA contract does not violate
M.G.L. c. 268A, §7, and he raises two arguments
in support of his position.

1. Mr. Fleming initially maintains that
M.G.L. c. 268A, §7 was not intended to cover
employment contracts. The Commission has re-
jected this argument in the Doherty matter and
does so in the instant case as well. The Commis-
sion has consistently found that contracts for
personal services, such as employment contracts,
are within the purview of §7. EC-COI-80-118,
80-97 and 80-88. See, Buss, The Massachusetts
Conflict of Interest Statute: An Analysis, 45
B.U.L. Rev. 299, 368, 372 (1965). Furthermore,

'/Mr. Fleming also argues that because M.G.L. ¢. 258, §1 {the
Sovereign Immunity Act) excludes the MBTA from its definition of
public employer, the MBTA cannot be a state agency for the purposes
of M.G.L. c. 26BA. However, the exclusion of the MBTA from M.G.L.
c. 268, §1 is neither inconsistent with, nor relevant to the Commission's
conclusion that the MBTA is a state agency under ¢. 2684, §1(p).



since the policy behind §7 is to prevent state em-
ployees from using their positions to influence
the awarding of state contracts in a way beneficial
to themselves, Mr. Fleming's interpretation is
too limited and defeats the legislative intent of
this section.

2. Mr. Fleming further alleges that the
applicability to the MBTA of statutes other than
the conflict of interest law govern whether the
Commission may apply M.G.L. c. 268A in this
case. In support of this allegation, Mr. Fleming
relies on M.G.L. c. 30, §21 which prohibits a
person from receiving two salaries from the trea-
sury of the Commonwealth. He maintains that
since M.G.L. c. 268A, §7 and M.G.L. c. 30,
§21 address the same issue, his compliance with
M.G.L. c. 30, §21 satisfies the requirements of
M.G.L. c. 268A, §7. The Commission also re-
jects this argument.

The Commission finds here, as in the Do-
herty matter, that the scope of the prohibition
in M.G.L. c. 268A, §7 is broader than the restric-
tions of M.G.L. c. 30, §21. The former does not
address the source from which the funds derive,
but prohibits state employees from having a
financial interest in a state contract irrespective
of whether the funds pas through the treasury
of the Commonwealth. Moreover, the Commis-
sion has concluded in an Advisory Opinion that
a state employee violated M.G.L. c. 268A, §7
notwithstanding his compliance with M.G.L. c.
30, §21. See, EC-COI-82-102.

C. Affirmative Defenses

Mr. Fleming does not formally raise any
affirmative defenses, but he makes certain legal
and equitable arguments which warrant discus-
sion.

1. Grandfather Clause

Mr. Fleming contends that the Court Reform
Act, St. 1978, c. 478, §328, has a “grandfather
clause” which restricts the enforcement of M.G.L.
c. 268A. To support his contention, Mr. Fleming
argues that enforcement of M.G.L. c. 268A would
adversely affect his seniority and retirement rights
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in violation of St. 1978 c. 478, §328.2/ However,
the Commission finds that the “grandfather
clause” of St. 1978 c. 478, §328 does not address
M.G.L. c. 268A. Further, since the Commission’s
actions do not affect the benefits that Mr. Flem-
ing has previously acquired, there is no conflict
between this enforcement action and St. 1978
c. 478, §328.

2. Laches

Mr. Fleming also alleges that he has relied
on the inaction of law enforcement agencies to
his detriment. Mr. Fleming contends that the
Commonwealth had an obligation to notify him
that he was in violation of the law upon the
passage of St. 1978 c. 478. For the reasons stated
in Doherty, the Commission rejects this argu-
ment. There is no evidence in the record which
indicates that any law enforcement agencies of
the Commonwealth knew of Mr. Fleming's dual
employment arrangement prior to the initiation
of this proceeding. Moreover, the defense of
laches is not available to an individual against
a public agency authorized to enforce the laws
of the Commonwealth. The Board of Health
of Holbrook v. Nelson, 351 Mass. 17 (1966).

IV. Order

On the basis of the foregoing, the Commis-
sion concludes that David I. Fleming, Jr. is in
violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §7. Pursuant to the
Commission’s authority under M.G.L. c. 268B,
§4(d), the Commission orders that Mr. Fleming
cease and desist from such violation and pay the
civil penalty as set forth below.3/ Accordingly,
the Commission orders David 1. Fleming, Jr. to:

1/The pertinent language of 5t. 1878 c. 478, §328 states that
*. . . appointive personnel employed in the judicial system of the com
monwealth shall continue to serve therein . . . without Joss of seniority,
vacation or retirement rights.”

1/Consistent with the Doherty matier, the Commission has con-
sidered certain mitigating factors which furnish a basis for the Com-
mission's decision to impose a less-than-maximum penaly. Because
this and Doherty are the first Commission Adjudicatory Decisions
involving a violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §7, the Commission concludes
that a minimum fine together with a cease and desist order is an ap-
propriate sanction, However, subsequent cases based upon comparable
violations of §7 will be subject 1o 2 more substantial civi! fine.




1. Cease and desist from violating M.G.L.
c. 268A, §7 by terminating one of his employ-
ment arrangements with the state.

2. Pay $100 (one hundred dollars) to the
Commission as a civil penalty for having a finan-
cial interest in a contract made by the MBTA in
violation of M.G.L. c. 268A, §7.

The Commission directs Mr. Fleming to
comply with these orders within fourteen days of
receipt of this Decision and Order.

DATE: November 18, 1982

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

STATE ETHICS COMMISSION
SUFFOLK, ss. Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 187

IN THE MATTER
OF
ELLIS JOHN HATEM

DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

This disposition agreement (“agreement”) is
entered into between the State Ethics Commission
(“Commission”) and Ellis John Hatem (“Mr. Hatem")
pursuant to Section 11 of the Commission's Proced-
dures Covering the Initiation and Conduct of Pre-
liminary Inquiries and Investigations. The parties
agree that this agreement constitutes a consented to
final order of the Commission enforceable in the
Superior Court, pursuant to G.L. . 268B, §4(d).

On May 18, 1982, the Commission initiated a
preliminary inquiry, pursuant to G.L. ¢. 268B, §4(a),
into possible violations of the Conflict-of-Interest
Law, G.L. ¢. 2684, involving Mr. Hatem, Director of
Support Services at the Walter E. Fernald School
(“school”), a Department of Mental Health facility.
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The Commission has concluded that preliminary in-
quiry and, on September 7, 1982, found reasonable
cause to believe that Mr, Hatem has violated G.L.
c. 268A, §3(b}. The parties now agree to the follow-
ing findings of fact and conclusions of law:

1. At all times material herein, Mr. Hatem was
Director of Support Services for the school and, as

such, was a state employee as defined in G.L. ec.
268A, §1(q).

2. As Director of Support Services, Mr. Hatem
had administrative control over nine different de-
partments, including the laundry, housekeeping
and maintenance.

3. From 1979 through 1981, Charles Young
(“Mr. Young”} was a representative of various
chemical supply companies and sold housekeeping
chemicals to the school. Mr. Young also was used by
school officials to procure other items, e.g., trash
cans, paper towels, as needed.

4. During that period, Mr. Hatem made pur-
chases for or approved purchases by the depart-
ments under his supervision from Mr. Young. All
such purchases were subject to further approval by
the school steward's office.

5. In February of 1980, Mr. Hatem, his wife
and son travelled to Lake Placid, New York to attend
the Winter Olympics. The costs of their transpor-
tation and tickets to the Qlympics (valued at $110
per person) were paid for by Mr. Young.

6. General Laws, Chapter 268A, §3(b)} pro-
vides, in pertinent part, that a state employee, other
than as provided by law for the proper discharge of
official duty, shall not directly or indirectly accept,
receive or agree to receive anything of substantial
value for himself for or because of any official act or
acts within his official responsibility performed or to
be performed by him,

7. By receiving from Mr. Young items of sub-
stantial value, i.e. transportation and tickets to the
Olympics for himself and family, Mr. Hatem vio-
lated §3(b). These items were given to Mr. Hatem in
view of his official duties in making or approving
purchases of products from Mr. Young.



As the Commission stated in In the Matter of
George A. Michael, Commission Adjudicatory
Docket No. 137, Decision and Order, pg. 31 (Sept-
ember 28, 1981):

A public employee need not be impelled
to wrongdoing as a result of receiving a gift
or gratuity of substantial value, in order for
a violation of Section 3 to occur. Rather, the
gift may simple by a token of gratitude for
a well-done job or an attempt to foster good-
will, All that is required to bring Section
3 into play is a nexus between the motiv-
ation for the gift and the employee’s public
duties. If this connection exists, the gift is
prohibited. To allow otherwise would sub-
ject public employees to a host of tempt-
ations which would undermine the impartial
performance of their duties, and permit
multiple renumeration for doing what em-
ployees are already obliged to do - a good
job. Sound public policy necessitates a flat
prohibition since the alternative would
present unworkable burdens of proof. It
would be nearly impossible to prove the
loss of an employee's objectivity or to assign
a motivation to his exercise of discretion. If
public credibility in government institutions
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is to be fostered, constraints which are con-
ducive to reasoned, impartial performance
of public functions are necessary, and it is
in this context that Section 3 operates.

WHEREFORE, the Commission has determined
that the public interest would be served by the dis-
position of this matter without further enforcement
proceedings on the basis of the following represent-
ations agreed to by Mr. Hatem:

1. Thatin light of the conduct described above,
he pay the Commission the sum of one thousand
dollars ($1,000.00) forthwith as a civil penalty for vio-
lating G.L. c. 26BA, §3(b); and

2, That he pay the Commission three hundred
and thirty dollars ($330.00) as forfeiture of the
economic advantage gained by himself and his family
as a result of this violation of G.L. ¢. 268A, §3(b); and

3. That he waive all rights to contest the find-
ings of fact, conclusions of law and conditions con-
tained in this agreement in this or any related ad-
ministrative or judicial proceedings.

DATE: November 22, 1982



SUMMARIES OF
DISPOSITION AGREEMENTS

(Where an asterisk appears, the text of the agree-
ment has been included among the foregoing
actions. Agreements concerning the late filing of
Statements of Financial Interest have not been
surnmarized.)

In the Matter of Charles Hoen
(June 1, 1979)

An employee of the Department of Revenue
violates Section 4(a) and 4(c) of Chapter 268A
by serving on a local Board of Assessors. Sections
4(a) and 4(c) prohibit a state employee from
receiving compensation from or acting as agent
or attorney for anyone other than the state in
relation to matters of direct and substantial
interest to the state, No sanctions or penalties
were imposed in this case because the employee
resigned from the Board of Assessors.

In the Matter of Myron Koffman
(October 30, 1979)

A part-time state employee violates the
Standards of Conduct set out in Section 25(f)
of Chapter 268A by using his state position,
which required him to review and approve bid
specifications for local housing authority con-
struction projects, to obtain copies of bid specifi-
cations for his private employer (a construction
company) without registering the company with
the housing authority as an interested bidder or
depositing the amount required for all bidders.
The employee’s actions in this regard were “likely
to raise suspicions among the public that he was
acting in violation of his public trust and to the
advantage of his private employer.” By terms of
this Agreement, the employee agreed to pay a
civil penalty of $100 for this violation.

In the Matter of Rae Ann O’Leary
(October 30, 1979)

A state employee violates Section 6 of
Chapter 268A by also working for a private clinic
which contracted with the employee’s state
agency to provide client services, where the
employee's state position required her to make
decisions affecting the contract and; therefore,
the financial interests of her private employer.
This is true even though the employee neither
worked on the state contracts for the private

clinic nor derived funds from those contracts.
No sanctions or penalties were imposed in this
case.

In the Matter of Edward Pignone
(November 16, 1979)

A state employee violates the Standards of
Conduct set out in Section 23(e) of Chapter 268A
by using his official position to assist a private
individual in an attempt to secure an unwar-
ranted return of affidavits filed in a case pending
before the Massachusetts Commission Against
Discrimination. No sanctions or penalties were
imposed in this case.

In the Matter of Stephen Clifford
(December 12, 1979)

A state employee violates Section 7 of the
Financial Disclosure law, Chapter 268B, by
intentionally failing to disclose on his 1978
Statement of Financial Interests a transfer of
real property in which he had a finandial interest,
and which occurred during the reporting year.

In the Matter of Joseph Counter
(February 12, 1980)

A former Department of Education em-
ployee violates Section 5(a) of Chapter 268A
both by receiving compensation from a grant
which he approved while a state employee, and
by receiving compensation from a municipal
agency for evaluating a state funded project
which he had approved while a state employee.
By terms of the Agreement, the employee agreed
to pay $4,000 to the Commonwealth as reim-
bursement for compensation he received in vio-
lation of Chapter 268A and to pay a civil penalty
of $100.

In the Matter of Anthony C. Moshella
(February 13, 1980)

A treasurer of a regional school committee
(a municipal agency under Chapter 268A) vio-
lates Section 19 of Chapter 268A by depositing
school committee funds in a bank which em-
ploys him, since he had not advised the school
committee that he was an employee of the bank,
and had not requested or received a written
determination that his employment by the bank
would not substantially affect the integrity of
his services to the committee. By terms of the
Agreement, the employee agreed to pay a civil
penalty of $250,



*In the Matter of Frederick Hanna
(February 13, 1980)

A state seafood inspector violates Section 6
of Chapter 268A by personally conducting or
supervising inspections of seafood wholesalers
and retailers which stock seafood products pur-
chased from a company owned by the inspector
in his private capacity. This same inspector also
violates Section 6 by inspecting food retailers
which employed him as an independent snow
removal contractor. He violates the Standards
of Conduct set out in Section 23(e) and (f), by
producing and marketing products which he is
responsible for inspecting, and by selling those
products, and providing services, to businesses
which he is responsible for inspecting and regu-
lating. By terms of the Agreement, the employee
voluntarily terminated his state employment
and paid a civil penalty of $6,500.

In the Matter of Thomas Cummings
(April 23, 1980)

A full-time municipal employee who pri-
vately owns and operates a construction business
violates Section 20(a) of Chapter 268A by con-
tracting on fourteen separate occasions to pro-
vide services to the town which employs him.
No penalties or sanctions were imposed in this
case,

In the Matter of John Chmura
(April 30, 1980)

The chairman of a local sewer commission
violates Section 19 of Chapter 268A by partici-
pating in commission discussions and actions
concerning a proposed housing development
which was to be built on land owned by a cor-
poration in which he was a director and an in-
vestor. No sanctions or penalties were imposed
in this case.

In the Matter of Kenneth Masse
(September 17, 1980)

A state nursing home inspector violates
Section 23(a), (e) and (f) of Chapter 268A by
accepting part-time employment in nursing
homes which he is responsible for inspecting.
He also violates Section 6 of Chapter 268A when
he inspects the nursing homes which employ
him in his private capacity. Such inspections
violate Section 6 even though there is no evidence
that the inspection reports were influenced by
his employment by the homes, or that the part-
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time employment was offered or solicited with
the intent to influence official actions within the
inspector’s responsibility. If such additional
factors had been present, more serious violations
of Chapter 268A would have been found.

The employee agreed to pay a civil fine of
$500 and to avoid employment with nursing
homes or other facilities which are within the
inspection jurisdiction of the state unit which
employs him.

*In the Matter of Bernard J. Smith
(September 23, 1980)

A consultant, hired by the Department of
Public Health (DPH) to work on a full-time
basis as a personnel recruiter for a state hospital,
violates Section 4(a) of Chapter 268A by receiv-
ing compensation from a private firm in relation
to recruiting events which he attended on behalf
of the hospital, and for which he was paid by
the Commonwealth. He violates Section 6 of
Chapter 268A by contracting, on behalf of the
hospital and with the private firm that employs
him, to rent exhibitor’s booth space at recruiting
affairs. He also violates Section 23(d) of Chapter
268A by receiving $5,000 in reimbursements
from the Commonwealth for expenses owed to
private businesses and failing to turn over to
these businesses the funds received for a period
of six months, thereby securing the unwarranted
personal use of the Commeonwealth's funds for
that period.

The employee agreed to pay a civil penalty
of $1,500 - $500 for each of the three violations -
and to return to the Commonwealth $2,679.04
he received in state salary for work for which he
was also compensated by a private firm.

*In the Matter of Richard B. Simches

(October 7, 1980)

A member of the Governing Board of Auto-
mobile Reinsurance Facility is a “state employee”
(albeit a “special state employee” because Board
members are uncompensated), and, therefore,
subject to the provisions of the Conflict of In-
terest law. A Board member, therefore, violates
Section 4(c) of Chapter 268A by appearing be-
fore the Board as the corporate agent of one
of his companies which was seeking favorable
Board action on a matter. By terms of the Agree-
ment, the employee agreed to pay a civil penalty
of $500 for this violation.



*In the Matter of Badi G. Foster
(October 7, 1980)

A former state employee violates Section
5(a) of Chapter 268A by contracting with a pri-
vate party to evaluate a program which he had
reviewed and recommended for funding while
a grant reader for the state Department of Edu-
cation. Section 5(a) prohibits a former state
employee from receiving compensation in re-
lation to a matter of “direct and substantial
interest” to the state in which he participated
while a state employee. By terms of the Agree-
ment, the former employee agreed to pay a civil
penalty of $250 and an additional $1,800 as
recoupment of the economic benefit received
under the contract.

In the Matter of Vincent Caroleo
(January 5, 1981)

An employee of the Department of Com-
merce and Development violated Chapter 268A
by having financial interests in state contracts
prohibited for state employees under Section 7.
The employee had such an interest - through a
corporation of which he was president, a member
of the Board of Directors, and 50%, stockholder -
in state contracts on 39 occasions. The employee
agreed to pay a civil fine of $1,000 for this vio-
lation.

In the Matter of John Esdale
(January 6, 1981)

A former inspector of the Department of
Public Health’s Division of Food and Drug vio-
lated Section 3 of Chapter 268A by requesting
and accepting special charge privileges and dis-
counts from a business he was responsible for
inspecting. Such privileges and discounts were
not available to the general public and were ex-
tended to him because of his official acts and
responsibilities. He also violated Section 23(d)
because he used his official position to “obtain
unwarranted privileges” for himself and others.
By taking favors from a business he inspected,
he also violated Section 23(e) because his con-
duct gave a reasonable basis for the impression
that he could be influenced by that business in
the performance of his official duties.

The employee agreed to pay a civil penalty
of $1,000 for these violations, and to stop receiv-
ing anything of substantial value from businesses
or individuals he is responsible for inspecting or
regulating, or with which he had official dealings.

iii

In the Matter of Andrew Bayko
(February 9, 1881)

A former municipal wiring inspector vio-
lated Section 19 of Chapter 268A by allowing
his own private electrical work to go uninspected.
He also violated the Standards of Conduct in
Sections 23(d) and (e) of Chapter 268A which
prohibit municipal employees from engaging in
conduct which creates the impression that they
can be unduly affected in the performance of
their official duties, and from securing unwar-
ranted privileges or exemptions for themselves
or others.

The wiring inspector agreed to pay a civil
penalty of $250 and to stop participating in his
official capacity in matters in which he has a
financial interest.

*In the Matter of the Collector-Treasurer’s
Office of the City of Boston, et al
(February 27, 1981)

Municipal employees violate Chapter 268A
by charging private fees to expedite the prepar-
ation and issuance of municipal lien certificates.
For many years, employees had collected an
extra private fee to perform this service within
the time limit set by statute. By so doing, they
violated Sections 3 and 17 of the conflict law
which prohibits public employees from receiving
extra compensation for performing official acts
required by their jobs. Municipal officials who
authorize this improper practice violated the
Standards of Conduct in Section 23 of Chapter
268A because their authorization created the
impression that official acts could be influenced
by those willing to pay private fees for those
acts, and that employees were acting in violation
of their public trust.

Municipal officials put a stop to the practice
of accepting private expediting fees after being
advised by the State Ethics Commission that the
practice raised substantial questions under
Chapter 268A.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
this practice will not be resumed and steps will
be taken to alert employees to prohibitions
against the receipt of such private fees.



*In the Matter of David L. Dray
(August 19, 1981)

A municipal employee violated Section 20
of Chapter 268A by continuing to act and receive
fees under a contract as legal counsel to a munici-
pal agency at the same time he is that agency's
Acting Executive Director. Section 20 prohibits
a municipal employee from having a financial
interest in a contract with the same municipality
which employs him.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay the State Ethics
Commission $3,915 as recoupment of the salary
he received as legal counsel while simultaneously
serving as Acting Executive Director, and $1,000
as civil penaity for violating Section 20 of Chapter
268A. The Commission has returned the $3,915
recoupment to the municipality.

*In the Matter of Herbert Risser
(August 27, 1981)

A state employee violates Section 3 of the
conflict law by receiving private fees for pro-
cessing backlogged requests for copies of birth,
marriage and death records. State employees
are prohibited by Section 8 from receiving pri-
vate fees to expedite official acts which they are
required to perform as part of their state jobs,

By terms of the Disposition Agreement, the
employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of $250
and $670 as recoupment of monies received in
violation of the conflict law,

*In the Matter of Edward Brooks
(November 13, 1981)

A former municipal employee violated
Section 18 of Chapter 268A by accepting private
compensation in relation to a matter which (a)
was of direct interest to the municipality where
he had worked and (b) in which he had person-
ally participated while working for that munici-
pality. Specifically, after leaving his municipal
employment, the employee received a private
fee for helping a business settle a past due ac-
count which he had been assigned to collect as
a municipal employee.

By terms of the Disposition Agreement, the
employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of $500
for this violation.
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In the Matter of Victor Peters
(December 10, 1981)

A state employee violated Section 3 and the
Standards of Conduct in Section 23(e) by re-
questing and accepting charge privileges and
discounts extended to him and his family by a
store which he inspected for the state. Section 3
prohibits public employees from seeking or re-
ceiving anything of “substantial value” (including
gifts) over and above their regular government
pay for doing their jobs. Section 23(e) prohibits
them from giving by their conduct a reasonable
basis for the impression that they can be im-
properly influenced in the performance of their
official duties.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of
$1,000 for these violations.

In the Matter of Robert Morency
(February 17, 1982)

A “special” municipal employee violated
Section 17(a) by receiving private compensation
in relation to matters in which the municipal
agency for which he worked had a direct and
substantial interest. Specifically, the employee
was paid to provide services and materials to a
contractor working on the same municipal con-
struction project which the employee was super-
vising.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay $400 to the municipal
agency as recoupiment of the economic advant-
age he received in violation of the conflict law.

In the Matter of George J. O'Brien
(March 5, 1982)

A municipal employee violated Section 19
by participating in his agency’s decisions to
deposit funds in a credit union of which he was
a director. Under Section 19, a municipal em-
ployee may not participate in any matter involv-
ing the financial interests of a business organiz-
ation in which he is serving as director.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of
$1,000 for this violation.

—



*In the Matter of Henry A, Brawley
(March 16, 1982)

A municipal employee violated Sections
23(a) and 19 by, in his private capacity, per-
forming surveying work for a firm under con-
tract with his own municipal agency and by
participating in the agency's decisions (e.g.,
change orders), regarding that same firm. Ac-
cording to the Standards of Conduct in Section
23(a), a public employee is prohibited from
“accepting other employment which will impair
his independence of judgment in the exercise of
his official duties.” Section 19 prohibits a munici-
pal employee from participating in official de-
cisions affecting the financial interests of a firm
which employs him.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of
$1,000 for these violations.

*In the Matter of George Cunningham
(May 6, 1982)

A municipal employee violated Section 19
by participating in discussions and decisions
relative to the award of a municipal contract
to his wife's company and violated Section 20
by subcontracting through his own company to
do work for the town. Section 19 prohibits a
municipal employee from participating in mat-
ters in which a member of his immediate family
had a financial interest. Under Section 20 a
municipal employee may not have a financial
interest in a second contract with the town
which employs him.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of
$2,000 for these violations.

*In the Matter of John A. Pellicelli
(June 25, 1982)

A member of a municipal housing authority
violated Section 19 by participating in a decision
to reclassify his brother's employment, thus
granting him a pay increase.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of
$250 for this violation.

*In the Matter of William J. Hulbig
(August 23, 1982)
A municipal building commissioner violated
Section 19 by issuing three permits for, and

carrying out seven inspections of, construction
projects performed by his son. In light of the ten
individual instances of improper conduct, the
employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of $1,000.

*In the Matter of Michael Martin
(September 7, 1982)

A selectman viclated Section 17(c) of
Chapter 268A by acting as the agent for a pri-
vate party in connection with the sale of pro-
perty which was the subject of foreclosure pro-
ceedings by his town. Section 17(c) prohibits a
municipal employee from acting as agent for
any private party in connection with any par-
ticular matter in which his town has a direct
and substantial interest.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of
$1,000 for this violation,

*In the Matter of Daniel Sharrio
(September 14, 1982)

The deputy director of a municipal housing
authority violated the Standards of Conduct in
Section 23(d) of Chapter 268A by using his
official position to secure discounts, tax exemp-
tions, credit purchases and goods for his personal
use. Section 23(d) provides that no municipal
employee “shall use . . . his official position to
secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions for
himself or others.”

By terms of the Disposition Agreement, the
employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of $500
for his violations.

In the Matter of B. Joseph Tully
(September 15, 1982)

A city manager violated the Standards of
Conduct in Section 23(e) of Chapter 268A be-
cause he (1) asked an individual whose hotel
project was under consideration by the city to
make arrangements for his Florida vacation,
and (2) accepted “VIP” treatment and direct
billing privileges arranged by that individual.
Section 23(e) prohibits a public employee from
“giv[ing] a reasonable basis for the impression
that any person can improperly influence or
unduly enjoy his favor in the performance of his
official duties. . . .”

By terms of the Disposition Agreement, the
employee agreed to pay a civil penalty of $250
for this violation.



In the Matter of Robert L. Camandona
(October 25, 1982)

A police patrolman violated Section 20 of
the conflict of interest law by contracting with
his community’s School Committee to provide
school bus transportation. Section 20 prohibits
a municipal employee from having a financial
interest in a contract made by a municipal agency
of the same city or town.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay a $1,000 civil penalty
for this violation.

vi

*In the Matter of Ellis John Hatem
(November 22, 1982)

The Director of Support Services at a state
school violated Section 3 of the conflict of interest
law by accepting a trip to the Winter Olympics
for himself and his family from an individual
whose products he purchased for the school.
Section 3(b) prohibits a state employee from
receiving anything of substantial value for or
because of his official acts.

By the terms of the Disposition Agreement,
the employee agreed to pay a $1,000 civil penalty
and to return to the state the $330 economic
advantage he and his family had gained.









